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BACKGROUND

01. Founded in 1976, the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) is a Sri Lanka-based Tamil
terrorist organization that seeks to create an independent mono-ethnic homeland called "Tamil
Eelam" for Sri Lanka's only about 5 % ethnic Tamil minority living in North and East. Over the
years, the LTTE has waged a violent secessionist campaign with the help of ground, air, and
naval forces, as well as a dedicated suicide bomber wing. LTTE Tamil Terrorist organization is a

proscribed Terrorist organization, 32 countries, including Canada.

02. LTTE Tamil terrorists' activities caused billions of dollars of massive destruction to Sri
Lanka's economy. Many innocent civilians were killed as results of indiscriminate attacks on

civilians' centers across the country.

03. During the three decades of armed conflict, civilians of all ethnic groups, Sinhalese, Tamils,

Moor, Muslims, were affected.

04. LTTE Tamil terrorist group was militarily defeated on May 18, 2009, which ended the civil

war by killing a ruthless terrorist leader, Velupillai Prabhakaran.
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05. MP Gary Anandasangaree, among others (petitioners), submitted a Petition 432-00052 to the
Government of Canada (Foreign Affairs) requesting to refer Sri Lanka to the committee
established under the Convention Against Enforced Disappearances pursuant to Article 32 of the

Convention.

06. The petitioners also request to remove sovereign immunity as a defence by states, Sri Lanka
for alleged international crimes: genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes, torture, and

enforced disappearances.

07. Sri Lanka has not been referred to a competent judicial authority to investigate alleged

genocide and war crimes. Also, there is no decision against Sri Lanka and its administration.

08. While I admired the Petitioners' walk to Ottawa from Brampton and Montreal, their walk

does not substantiate against allegation as set out in the petition.

ISSUES

On its surface, petition 432-00052 submitted by MP Gary Anandasangaree and others is a

political stunt. However, I have identified four significant issues arising from the petition.

09. Issue 01
Have many of Tamil Diaspora's relatives living in Canada disappeared while in the

custody of the Sri Lankan Government (Enforced Disappearances)?

10. Issue 02
Is an OISL report determined that Sri Lanka has many disappearances as per established

principles?

11. Issue 03
Did the state (Sri Lanka) commit crimes, genocide, crimes against humanity, war crimes,

torture and enforced disappearances as per the Report of the Expert Panel (POE)
appointed by the UN Secretary-General on Sri Lanka and the OISL report?

12. Issue 04
Should Canada refer Sri Lanka to the committee established under the Convention

against Enforced Disappearances pursuant to Article 32 of the Convention?
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I will analyze all four issues as follows.
13. ISSUE 01 AND DISCUSSION

Have many of Tamil Diaspora's relatives living in Canada disappeared while in the

custody of the Sri Lankan Government (Enforced Disappearances)?

14. A armed conflict between the government of Sri Lanka and Tamil Terrorist Group Liberation
Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) ended May 18, 2009, after killing ruthless terrorist leader
Velupillai Prabhakaran.

15. The LTTE proscribed terrorist organizations in Canada. LTTE has waged a brutal 26 years-

long campaign against Sri Lanka to create a mono-ethnic state of Tamils.

16. During the three decades of armed conflict, not only Tamils, civilians belonging to all ethnic

groups, Sinhalese, Moor, Muslims also were affected.

17. The LTTE Tamil Terrorists had an extensive network of fundraisers, political and
propaganda officers, and arms procurers operating within Canada's Tamil diasporas. Although
the Tamil LTTE was militarily defeated on May 18, 2009, subversion, destabilization, and

fundraising continues, particularly within the diasporas.'

18. At the end of the armed conflict, the Sri Lanka government has recovered over US$
34,000,000.00” (Thirty-four million) of military hardware. It is reasonable to conclude that Tamil
diaspora in Canada actively provided financial support for three-decades-long armed conflict.

Many incidents were reported extortion from Tamils **in Canada too.

19. The CSIS (Canadian Security Intelligence Service) report says that between CDN $1-2

million is raised here each year for the Sri Lankan LTTE Tamil Terrorist group making Canada

" https://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/cnt/ntnl-scrt/cntr-trrrsm/lstd-ntts/crrnt-lstd-ntts-en.aspx#46

* Annex — A Ministry of Defence, Sri Lanka — Factual Analysis

3 https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/tamil-tigers-extorting-money-from-canadian-families-report-1.612015
* https://www.hrw.org/report/2006/03/14/funding-final-war/ltte-intimidation-and-extortion-tamil-diaspora
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one of the largest contributors worldwide, and alleges that some of the money is being

channelled to the LTTE's weapons procurement arm in Thailand.’

20. However, other reports suggested that Tamil diasporas in Canada sent anywhere from $7

million to $22 million a year in direct and indirect support for the LTTE Tamil terrorists.°

21. These financial contributions were utilized to procure weapons, and if any civilians caught

between armed conflicts will be affected. (died, wounded, or disappeared)

22. Regarding population statistics 2012, 997,754 Tamils were living in Northern Sri Lanka.’
Composition of population by ethnicity, Sri Lankan Tamil represents 11.2% of the total
population, 21,670,000, which is 2,427,040. 8 Population data is established that 41.10% of

Tamils live in the North (conflict zone), and 58.9% of Tamils live in the Southern part of Sri

Lanka, with the majority ethnic group Sinhalese.

23. When we transform population data to Tamil immigration to Canada, 59 (up to 98) percent of
Tamil arrived in Canada from the Southern part of Sri Lanka has not been directly affected by

the armed conflict.

24. There is no sufficient evidence that most Tamils living in Canada have directly affected the

war and disappeared during government forces' custody.

25. Abusing the Canada Asylum system has a connection to the bogus claim of enforced
disappearances

As an example, the petition submitted by MP Gary Ananadasangaree also arrived from Ireland to
Canada. He was living with his mother in Ireland before July 1983 incident. MP Ananasangaree
and many Tamils were living in Europe took advantage of Canada's asylum system. Most of
them are not real victims of armed conflict. They have arrived in Canada for purely economic

reasons, and they are bogus-refugees.

3 Munasinghege, S. 2000 'CSIS warned Ottawa of terror fronts' The Daily News 11 December
http://www.nytimes.com

® Sengupta, S. 2000 'Canada's Tamils work for a homeland from afar’ The New York Times 16 July

7 https://policy-research.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/EVE2011_FinalReport.pdf

¥ http://www.statistics.gov.lk/PopHouSat/CPH201 1 /Pages/Activities/Reports/ CPH 2012 5Per Rpt.pdf
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26. It is necessary to focus our attention on why Tamil diasporas in Canada funnel millions of
dollars to LTTE Tamil Terrorists in Sri Lanka if they are concerned about their relatives' safety

affecting the civil war.

27. The majority of Tamils living in Canada had no concern about civilians' safety in the North

of Sri Lanka since their relatives were not living there.

28. Their primary intention is to influence Canada's asylum policy to bring their relatives living

in the South part of Sri Lanka and other countries.

29. Tamil diasporas were succeeding in the manipulation of the Canadian Asylum system.
Between 1991 and 2001, Sri Lanka was the fifth largest source country of immigrants to Canada.
In the refugee category, Sri Lanka ranked second between 1998 and 2000 and was the largest

refugee-sending country in 1995. °

30. Bogus Tamil Asylum Factories

It has been reported that LTTE Tamil Terrorist agents in Toronto, Canada and London, UK ran
asylum factories and charged fees from US$ 35,000 to USS$ 65,000 for each asylum application.

They provided a full pledge service.

31. In August 2010, a rickety ship, the MV Sun Sea, arrived in Canadian waters off Vancouver
Island, carrying 492 Tamils to Canada. Ten months earlier, in October 2009, the MV Ocean
Lady had arrived on the west coast, carrying 76 Tamils. The passengers, all from Sri Lanka,
made refugee claims. However, some of the Tamil migrants who arrived on ships in British
Columbia waters were already rejected refugees from the United Kingdom. '’ It has been reported

that each asylum seeker paid US$ 35,000 to secure their passage.

32. Some of the missing, presumed dead live in the UK, EU, Canada, Australia or elsewhere. For

example, Kathiravel Thayapararaja said to have been tortured and killed by the Sri Lankan

? Citizenship and Immigration Canada, (CIC) (2001). 2001 Facts and Figures 2000: Immigration Overview
(Ottawa: Ministry of Public Works and Government Services Canada)
' https://www.ctvnews.ca/some-tamil-boat-people-already-rejected-in-u-k-1.565829
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security forces on September 13, 2009 (after LTTE defeat) but ended up very much alive when
arrested by Indian police 2014 (5 years later)."'

33. After the ending of armed conflict on May 18, 2009, North's peace and stability has
established. Tamil diasporas are living in Canada no longer cannot be used armed conflict as a
reason when seeking asylum for their relatives. Large numbers of Tamil asylum applications are

on hold and may not succeed.

34. Now, Tamil diasporas need to come up with a new strategy. Alleged Tamil Genocide,
Alleged enforced disappearances campaigns are among them. These campaigns have emerged

after ten years of ending armed conflict.

35. LTTE Tamil Terrorists are responsible for disappearances

LTTE Tamil terrorists assassinated Tamil Politicians and Tamil Academics, Tamil Intellectuals
and Tamil Government Officials. LTTE also attacked civilian targets and villages near the so-
called Tamil homeland. Their attack extended to army, navy and air force military

establishments. As a result of LTTE Tamil terrorist's brutality 29,033 civilians lost their lives,

wounded or disappeared.

36. LTTE Tamil Terrorists used Civilians as a human shield

UN Panel of Expert Report (POE) on Sri Lanka stated on Para 112, LTTE Killing and forced

recruitment as follows,

"As the situation in the second NFZ worsened, large numbers of civilians tried to
escape L TTE controlled areas, but the LITE sought to prevent this with
increasing brutality. Some LTTE cadre would let fleeing civilians through, but
others opened fire on them with AK47s, killing men, women and children, alike.
The IDPs, who attempted escape, desperately tried to run away and to reach SLA

lines, carrying their children or luggage or dropping them in their panic. Some

" hitps://www.shenaliwaduge.com/foreign-governments-disclose-all-tamil-refugees-asylum-seekers-to-conclude-
missing-disappeared-in-sri-lanka/
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were killed on the spot; others flailed in the shallow water or incurred terrible

injuries from stepping on landmines. Small children and others drowned in the

lagoon. While it is not known precisely how many people died this way, the

number was significant and rose as the armed conflict progressed."

37. Further on POE report para 113 stated as follows,

"Desperate for new troops, the LTTE again stepped up its policy of forced

recruitment, dragging away more and more youngsters, including the under-aged,

to be used in the first lines of defence. On one occasion in mid-April, LITE cadre,

led by the former Trincomalee Political Wing leader is known as Ezhilan, forcibly

recruited hundreds of young people from Valayamnadam Church and put them on

buses to Mullivaikkal. Parents begged and cried for them not to be taken away to

fight and to almost certain death, but no avail."

38. UN POE report concluded that many civilians died due to LTTE Tamil terrorist brutality.

The POE report unable to determine exact numbers but suggested civilians deaths are

significant.**

39. Here is a summary of the disappearances that occurred due to LTTE Tamil Terrorist

activities during three decades of armed conflicts. Please refer to Annex A '? for further analysis.

Category QOccurrences Disappeared*
Assassination of Tamil Politicians, Tamil Academics, Individually 160
Tamil Intellectuals and Tamil Government Officials

Attacks Carried Out By LTTE On Civilian Targets 137 5,162
LTTE Attacks On villages near so-called Tamil 109 2,872
Homeland

LTTE Attacks Launched on Army Camps and 33 19,970
Establishments

LTTE Attacks Launched on Navy Establishments 64 513
LTTE Attacks Launched on Air force Establishments 47 356

LTTE brutality at the final stage of armed conflict using civilians as a

human shield and forced recruitment

Unknown **

Total

29,033 + Unknown

* May dead, wounded, not accounted or disappeared

2" Annex — A Ministry of Defence, Sri Lanka — Factual Analysis
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40. Further, the POE report on para 177, the Panel's account of the allegations associated with
the final stages of the armed conflict, also reveals six core categories of grave violations
committed by the LTTE, i.e.

(1) Using civilians as a human buffer,

(2) Killing civilians attempting to flee LTTE control

(3) Using military equipment in the proximity of civilians

(4) Forced recruitment of children

(5) forced labour (6) Killing of civilians through suicide attacks.

41. As aresult of LTTE's brutality at the final stage of armed conflict, many Tamil civilians died,

wounded or missing, or disappeared.

42. Therefore, the petition submitted to the Government of Canada stating a large number of

Tamil civilians disappeared while in the custody of the Sri Lankan Government forces are

factually incorrect.

43. ISSUE 2 AND DISCUSSION

Is an OISL report determined that Sri Lanka has many disappearances as per

established principles?

44. UN Working Group on Enforced and Involuntary Disappearances (WGEID) Sri Lanka is part
of the UNOHCHR Investigation on Sri Lanka (OISL) report. 13

45. WGEID reported a total of 12,536 complaints of enforced disappearances and registered over
the years (OISL Report Para 387).

46. Further, WGEID has not accused the Government of Sri Lanka of all disappearances.
Further, the OISL report did not review individual cases of persons. (OISL report para 389).

47. The petition submitted to the Government of Canada intends to portrait the Government of
Sri Lanka is primarily responsible for forced disappearances of 12,536 cases or Amnesty's vague

number of disappearances 60,000 — 100,000.

13 https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/Pages/OISL.aspx
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48. As described above, LTTE was responsible for a large number of enforced disappearances.

49. WGEID committee collected information from their relatives and/or informants. It is
reasonable to believe they are associated with LTTE or its proxy organizations. There is no

mechanism in placed to determine the validity of their claims.

50. Regarding Article 19 of the International Convention for the Protection of All Persons from
Enforced Disappearance (Convention) states

"Personal information, including medical and genetic data, which is collected

and/or transmitted within the framework of the search for a disappeared

person....."

51. The WGEID committee has not collected any medical or genetic data to verify the

disappearances. The committee is merely relying on information gathered from the interviewers.

52. The majority of LTTE Tamil terrorists perished in the final stage of the armed conflicts. In
the report, the WGEID stated that "not all cases of 'missing' persons fall within the definition of
enforced disappearances" (OISL Report para 391). Some of the presumed missing claimed

asylum in Canada, the UK and other western countries.

53. OISL report states, "based on the information it gathered, OISL has grounds to believe that
LTTE committed human rights violations and violations of international humanitarian law by

torturing and ill-treating people it held in captivity." (OISL Report para 570)

54. OISL report has failed to establish enforced disappearances under establishing principles

such as collecting medical and biometric data.

55. For the above reasons, the petition submitted to the Government of Canada does not
substantiate, alleged enforced disappearances occurred under the custody of Sri Lankan

government forces.
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56. ISSUE 3 AND DISCUSSION

Did the state (Sri Lanka) commit crimes, genocide, crimes against humanity, war
crimes, torture and enforced disappearances as per the Report of the Expert Panel

(POE) appointed by the UN Secretary-General on Sri Lanka and the OISL report?

57. Genocide and crime against humanity, war crimes, torture and enforced disappearances are

criminal matters.

58. In the OISL report, its mandate was to carry out a human rights investigation, as this was

not a criminal investigation (OISL Report para 33).

59. OISL report also states the committee has utilized standard of proof "reasonable grounds to

believe" (OISL Report Para 33 and 14) for deriving recommendations.

60. If the OISL report considered the criminal nature of allegations such as genocide, a crime
against humanity, war crimes, torture, and enforced disappearances, the standard of proof should

be "Beyond Reasonable Doubt."

61. OISL report para 14 and 33 states investigation report is not a criminal investigation and

utilized standard of proof "reasonable grounds to believe."

62. The International Court of Justice and International Criminal Court are the only competent
judicial entity determining genocide. Alleged Tamil genocide claims have not been considered

for hearing before the International Criminal Court (ICC) or International Court of Justice (ICJ).

63. A fight against LTTE Tamil terrorism is purely armed conflict and does not meet the

threshold to establish Genocide and war crimes.

64. Therefore, allegations against Sri Lanka on the petition, genocide, crime against humanity,

war crimes, torture, and enforced disappearances based on the OISL report are not substantiated.
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65. OISL report provided impunity for LTTE Tamil Terrorists

OISL report states in para 41 as follows
"As the senior leadership of the LTTE was killed by the end of the conflict, OISL
could not access LTTE officials for direct information regarding the group's

policies, operations or responses to alleged abuses."

66. However, Adele Balasingham, leader of the women wing, is currently living in
London, UK. Further, LTTE legal advisor, a.k.a Tiger Lawyer, Visvanathan
Rudrakumaran, also lives in New York, USA. Both of them are directly involved in

LTTE atrocities.

67. It is reasonable to believe that the OISL committee purposely omits LTTE senior
leaders to provide impunity to the terrorist organization.
68. OISL Report not authenticated audio-visual material submitted to the committee

OISL committee collected submissions and accepted a large number of photographs and videos.

Those pieces of evidence are hearsay or double hearsay. OISL committee does not authenticate

any video and photographic submissions used for their investigation. It is a well-known fact that
LTTE Tamil terrorists manipulated video produced by Channel-4 in the UK. Forensic analysis

conduct on the Chanel-4 video revealed that it was a doctored documentary.

69. Analysis of Satellite images by the OISL committee not adequate and scientific

OISL committee states in its report para 21, it has analyzed satellite images and states UNOSAT
(United Nations Operational Satellite Application Program) provided invaluable analysis on

satellite imagery.

70. American Association of Advancement of Science (AAAS) conducted an extensive review
of high-resolution satellite images at the final stage of armed conflict in Sri Lanka. It has been

concluded LTTE Tamil terrorists moved civilians from one No Fire Zone (NFZ) to another.
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Analysis of the Civilians Safety Zone (CSZ) images showed three gravesites with 1,346 burials

between them. '*

71. An independent recollection of evidence can be found through satellite images. However,
there is no evidence on the OISL report; scientific analysis was carried out when deriving
recommendations and conclusions. Therefore, OISL report findings are highly questionable and

not substantiated against allegations.

72. The legal definition of the conflict ignored by OISL and POE committees

The Sri Lanka conflict qualifies as a Non-International Armed Conflict (NIAC).

73. The Appeals Chamber for the International Criminal Tribunal for the Former Yugoslavia
(ICTY), relying on existing custom, established what is now widely recognized as a two-part test

for determining whether a conflict qualifies as a NIAC, whether there is:

(1) protracted armed violence

(2) between governmental authorities and organized armed groups within a state.

74. This two-fold test has since been adopted by many other international criminal courts,
including the Special Court for Sierra Leone (SCSL) and the International Criminal Court (ICC)
and 1s widely considered authoritative. As to the first element, one highly dispositive factor is the
duration of the conflict. Here, the conflict between the LTTE and the Government of Sri Lanka
(GOSL) lasted almost 30 years, undoubtedly a sufficient period to satisfy the first element of the

definition.

75. As to the second element, the ICTY has made it clear that some degree of organization by the
parties will suffice, thereby establishing a very low threshold for what constitutes an organized
armed group. It is well documented that the LTTE has been a conventional fighting force since

the late 1990s, possessing both naval and air assets. The LTTE's military capabilities are

undoubtedly sufficient to establish the second element of the definition.

'* Annex B - High-Resolution Satellite Imagery and the Conflict in Sri Lanka (2020, October 12). American
Association of Advancement of Science (AAAS). https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-
imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka
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76. With both elements satisfied, that the Sri Lankan conflict is correctly categorized as a NIAC
and that any analysis of the legal issues appurtenant to that conflict should be categorized

accordingly.

77. Therefore, LTTE's utilization of civilians as a human shield needs to be addressed when

assessing civilian casualties and disappearances.

78. OISL and POE reports ignored Collateral damage

Also, protocol IT was added in 1977 to the under the Prevention and Punishment of the Crime
of Genocide Convention. It has given authority to defend any action against the state (Right to
defend). LTTE Tamil terrorism is a separatist agenda against sovereign state Sri Lanka, and the

state has a clear mandate to defend any aggression.

79. Therefore, the collateral damage principle must be considered. However, both OISL and

POE report completely ignored the collateral damage principle when deriving recommendations

and conclusions.

80. The conflict against the LTTE Tamil terrorist group should be studied in its entirety and not

only during its final months.

81. Under the preceding and for all of the reasons set out above, the allegation against Sri Lanka
on the petition, genocide, crime against humanity, war crimes, torture, and enforced
disappearances based on the OISL and POE reports do not substantiate.
82. ISSUE 04 AND DISCUSSION
Should Canada refer Sri Lanka to the committee established under the Convention
against Enforced Disappearances pursuant to Article 32 of the Convention?

83. Article 31 of the convention states

1. A State Party may at the time of ratification of this Convention or at any time
afterwards declare that it recognizes the competence of the committee to receive

and consider communications from or on behalf of individuals subject to its
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jurisdiction claiming to be victims of a violation by this State Party of provisions
of this Convention. The committee shall not admit any communication

concerning a State Party which has not made such a declaration.

2. The Committee shall consider a communication inadmissible where:
(a) The communication is anonymous;
( b)) The communication constitutes an abuse of the right of submission of
such communications or is incompatible with the provisions of this
Convention;
( ¢ ) The same matter is being examined under another procedure of
international investigation or settlement of the same nature; or where
(d) All effective available domestic remedies have not been exhausted.
This rule shall not apply where the application of the remedies is

unreasonably prolonged.

3. If the Committee considers that the communication meets the requirements set
out in paragraph 2 of this article, it shall transmit the communication to the State
Party concerned, requesting it to provide observations and comments within a

time limit set by the committee.

4. At any time after the receipt of a communication and before a determination on
the merits has been reached, the committee may transmit to the State Party
concerned for its urgent consideration a request that the State Party will take such
interim measures as may be necessary to avoid possible irreparable damage to the
victims of the alleged violation. Where the committee exercises its discretion, this
does not imply a determination on admissibility or on the merits of the

communication.

5. The Committee shall hold closed meetings when examining communications
under the present article. It shall inform the author of a communication of the

responses provided by the State Party concerned. When the committee decides to

14
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finalize the procedure, it shall communicate its views to the State Party and to the

author of the communication.

84. The petitioners, MP Gary Ananadasangaree and others, state that even though Sri Lanka
ratified the UN Convention on Enforced Disappearances, it made a reservation to Article 31 of
the Convention, which allows the committee to be established the Convention to receive

communication from the victims or on behalf of the victims.

85. The petitioners have requested that Canada should submit a complaint on behalf of them
based on POE and OISL reports. Canada, however, has not signed on to the Convention at all,

restricting it's standing to make such a complaint.

86. If Canada submits such communication to the committee, that communication is inadmissible

regarding Article 31 (2) (b), (c), (d) when applying to the current case.

87. Article 31 (2) (b)

The communication constitutes an abuse of the right to submit such

communications or is incompatible with the provisions of this Convention.

88. As described above, such communication with the committee is incompatible with the

Convention's provisions_because the OISL report finding of enforced disappearances is not

logical, not scientific, not reasonable, and arbitrary. Therefore, it is also now concluded that any

communication with the committee abuses the right to submit.

89. Article (2) (¢) and (d)
( ¢ ) The same matter is being examined under another procedure of
international investigation or settlement of the same nature; or where
(d) All effective available domestic remedies have not been exhausted.
This rule shall not apply where the application of the remedies is

unreasonably prolonged.
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90. The same matter is being examined under the Truth and Reconciliation Commission
(LLRC), a locally developed Sri Lankan mechanism. Sri Lanka is effectively utilizing
domestically available remedies. Please refer to Chapter 8, Reconciliation pages from 251 to

325. — Annex C.

100. All effective available domestic remedies have not been exhausted, and Sri Lanka is
engaging with all stakeholders regarding the reconciliation process. There are numerous
obstacles through the reconciliation process. However, there is no evidence to support Sri

Lanka; the remedies' application is unreasonably prolonged.

101. Here are the essential areas and measures and domestically designed mechanisms taken by

the Government of Sri Lanka.

» resettlement and livelihood issues;

» the difficulties experienced by the public due to the long period of displacement
during the conflict;

 shelter, education, problems of children without formal education in the North
and East, particularly in the rural areas;

* numerous land Issues arising due to the protracted conflict;

» medical facilities and transportation-related issues in rural areas;

» the law and order situation in the North and East and the continued existence of
illegal armed groups;

* compensation;

» alleged disappearances and abductions, robberies and extortion;

+ the apparent disappearance of family members during surrender;

+ the conduct of the LTTE during the conflict;

» incidents which had taken place during the conduct of the Security Forces
operations which had allegedly resulted in death or injury to civilians and damage
to property;

» concerns of vulnerable persons such as widows, disabled persons, children and

elderly persons;

'3 Annex C — Truth and Reconciliation Commission Report
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» the status of development in the Northern and Eastern Province;

» the need for People's participation in Governance;

 the re-establishment of civilian administration in the Northern and Eastern
Provinces,

» the role of Provincial Authorities;

» the intrusiveness of the presence of the Security Forces in the North and East,
including the engagement of Security Forces in civil administration matters,
business activities and their use of State buildings and private properties;

» apprehensions regarding changes to the demographic composition of the North
and East;

+ concerns of persons in Sinhalese villages adjacent to the former conflict-affected
areas;

» concerns of the displaced Muslim population;

» the existence of High-Security Zones and their impact on resettlement;

» mine clearance and related issues; and

» Post-conflict diaspora issues.

102. Therefore, for all of the reasons set out above, Canada shall refrain from communicating

with the committee under the Convention.

103. CONCLUSION

Regarding Article 31 (2) (b), (c), (d) of the Convention, communicating with the committee will

be inadmissible.

104. Also, MP Gary Anandasangaree and petitioners raised domestic issues of Sri Lanka.
Therefore, Canada also shall refrain from interfering domestic affairs of the sovereign state of Sri

Lanka.

105. By virtue of the foregoing and for all of the reasons set out above, Canada shall refrain from
communicating with the committee under pursuant to Article 31 of the Convention. Article 32 of

the Convention does not apply to the current case against Sri Lanka.
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106. I request the Government of Canada shall respond to the petition with a balanced view of
this matter.

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED

Submitted at the City of Ottawa, Province of Ontario, on October 14, 2020.

Neville Hewage, Ph.D.

Adjunct Professor and Research Fellow

International Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Law
Laurentian University

Sudbury, Ontario.

LSO No. P15799

Senior Policy Analyst

Ontario Centre for Policy Research

Consultant Lobbyist

Registered with Office of the Commissioner of Lobbying of Canada
Registration number: 946854-367285-2

Mailing Address:

2581 River Mist Road

Ottawa, ON K2J 6G1

Tel: 613 612 7615,

Email: nx_hewage@]laurentian.ca
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I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

A. Overview of this Report

1.

This report sets forth the factual background and operational context of the
Humanitarian Operation undertaken by the Government of Sri Lanka between July
2006 and May 2009 to free the country from the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam
(LTTE). An examination of these facts demonstrates why the Government of Sri Lanka
engaged in a military strategy against the LTTE, why Security Forces used the level of
force they did, and how at each stage in the operation Sri Lanka took extraordinary
steps to respect and protect the lives of civilians.

Part One of this report provides a detailed background of the LTTE, including its
historical record of atrocities, its scale and sophistication, and its repeated rejection of
options for a peaceful solution. At the end of Part One, it is clear why the Government
of Sri Lanka had no resort but to pursue a military strategy against the LTTE.

Part Two explores the rationale for Security Forces using the degree of force and
types of tactics they used, and demonstrates how all aspects of the Humanitarian
Operation were planned and executed in light of deep concern for the lives of all Sri
Lankan citizens. This section details the steps taken to minimise civilian casualties,
including an examination of pre-operation training and policies and specific tactics
used in the battles in the East and the Wanni.

Part Three concludes the report with an overview of the consequences of the war and
shows why the Humanitarian Operation was just—both in the way it was conducted
and in its result.

Overview of the Humanitarian Operation

For three decades, the LTTE unleashed a brutal campaign of terror and violence in Sri
Lanka that resulted in the deaths of tens of thousands of Sri Lankans of all ethnicities.
Using a combination of terrorist tactics and conventional forces, the LTTE carried out
massacres of innocent civilians, attacked economic targets and vital infrastructure
and created a fear psychosis that crippled everyday life for several generations of
Sri Lankans. The LTTE also assassinated over one hundred democratically elected
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political leaders and government officials from all ethnicities in Sri Lanka as well as
the head of state of Sri Lanka and a former Prime Minister of India.

6. In addition, the LTTE ceaselessly threatened and subjugated the civilians living in the
North and East, particularly in the areas it dominated, recruiting young children as
combatants, laying mines in civilian areas, engaging in ethnic cleansing campaigns
and denying the people basic human rights and democratic freedoms. People in
all parts of Sri Lanka were terrorised by the LTTE and forced to endure a state of
unending fear and insecurity.

7. The LTTE has been recognised as one of the most ruthless and sophisticated terrorist
organisations in the world. Its use of terrorist, guerrilla and conventional tactics
through its semi conventional fighting force, coupled with access to hundreds of
millions of dollars from criminal activities, voluntary contributions and the extortion
of individuals throughout the world, made the LTTE a formidable foe that repeatedly
eluded military defeat.

8. Throughout the protracted armed conflict with the LTTE, the Government of Sri
Lanka repeatedly tried to engage the LTTE in peace talks with the goal of reaching a
peaceful negotiated settlement. In two instances foreign governments also assisted
in this effort: in 1987, the Governments of India and Sri Lanka signed the Indo-Lanka
Accord, which led to the presence of an Indian Peace Keeping Force (IPKF) in Sri Lanka
for two years, and in 2002, a peace process was facilitated by Norway. During each
attempt for a negotiated settlement, the LTTE rebuffed the opportunity for peace
and used the cessation of hostilities during talks to regroup, rearm and strengthen
its military capabilities.

9. During the ceasefire that accompanied the last peace process, the LTTE closed a vital
sluice gate at Mavil Aru in July 2006, posing a dire threat to civilians of all ethnicities
in the Trincomalee District. This was immediately followed by a well-planned attack
by the LTTE on several fronts to take possession of the strategic Trincomalee Harbour
and the surrounding areas. Given the immediate threat to civilian lives, the history of
atrocities inflicted on its people, and the LTTE’s repeated violations of the ceasefire
agreement, Sri Lanka had no resort but to launch a Humanitarian Operation to liberate
the people of the East and North from LTTE control and free all Sri Lankans from the
LTTE’s terror.
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

As this Humanitarian Operation progressed in Sri Lanka’s favour, an increasingly
isolated LTTE leadership surrounded itself with a human shield of thousands of
civilians in a brutal attempt at self-preservation. The LTTE forcibly detained these
civilians and kept them hostage through violent means, and deliberately endangered
their lives by blurring the distinction between combatants and civilians, and by using
protected civilian sites for military activity.

Acutely aware of the atrocities committed by the LTTE, its scale and sophistication,
and the clear and present danger to thousands of civilians trapped by the LTTE, the
Government of Sri Lanka had a responsibility and a duty to defeat the LTTE and
liberate the civilians trapped in its clutches. Security Forces acted with the force
necessary to accomplish this task and proportionate to the threat they faced.

The Government of Sri Lanka made every effort to protect civilians in the conflict
zone through the creation of Safe Corridors and No Fire Zones, and by adhering to a
“Zero Civilian casualty” policy that had been conveyed to all troops through repeated
training and operational orders. Sri Lanka also took a proactive and extensive role
in delivering humanitarian assistance to these civilians before, during and after the
fighting. Despite the clear intent of the Government of Sri Lanka and the numerous
precautions taken, it was impossible in a battle of this magnitude, against a ruthless
opponent actively endangering civilians, for civilian casualties to be avoided.

On 18 May 2009, Sri Lanka defeated the LTTE, bringing to an end three decades of
conflict and suffering. The Government of Sri Lanka provided immediate humanitarian
assistance to the civilians who had been trapped by the LTTE and acted expeditiously
to resettle internally displaced persons in their original villages.

Today, Sri Lankans of all ethnicities, living in all parts of Sri Lanka, are free from
LTTE terror and no longer live in a state of fear. Democracy is restored in the North
and the East, the electoral process has been resuscitated after decades, internally
displaced persons have been resettled in their homes, infrastructure is being restored,
the economy has been revived, former armed groups have been disarmed and have
joined the political process, child soldiers conscripted by the LTTE are back with
their families, and other cadres who surrendered are being reintegrated into civilian
life after rehabilitation. Sri Lankans have begun the process of rebuilding their lives
and their country.
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PART ONE

II. BACKGROUND

A.

15.

16.

17.

Overview of the LTTE

The LTTE was one of a number of organised militant groups that increasingly sought
to take the Tamil community out of the democratic process in the 1970s. To achieve
their ends, these groups engaged in armed violence. During the 1980s, all of them
with the exception of the LTTE engaged in dialogue with the Government of Sri Lanka
and renounced violence.

Sri Lanka has a long history of persuading militant groups to enter the political
mainstream. The Janatha Vimukthi Peramuna (JVP), a radicalised Sinhalese movement
which attempted to overthrow the Government through armed violence in the
early 1970s and the late 1980s entered the political mainstream in 1994 following
negotiations with the Government of Sri Lanka, and has adhered to democratic means
ever since. Similarly, most of the armed groups emerging from the Tamil community
agreed to give up armed struggle and worked with the Government of Sri Lanka to
resolve their issues.

In contrast, the LTTE rebuffed peaceful methods, growing increasingly intransigent.
It systematically suppressed and eliminated competing Tamil armed groups and
political parties in the North and East, arbitrarily claiming to be the exclusive
representative of the Tamils, and assassinated dissenting Tamil individuals such as
political figures, government officials, academics and intellectuals elsewhere in Sri
Lanka. Some of these figures include:
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18.

19.

20.

27-Jul-75 Mr. Alfred Duraiappa MP & Mayor of Jaffna

2-0ct-80 Mr. Subramaniam UNP Organiser for Kilinochichi
16-Mar-81 [ Mr. C. Thanabalasingham Leader, TNT (armed group)

1-Jan-82 Mr. K. Sundaram Military Leader, PLOTE (armed group)
19-Jan-83 [ Mr. K. T. Pullendran Ex-MP & UNP Organiser for Vavuniya
12-Aug-83 |[Mr. A. G. Rajasooriyar UNP Chief Organiser for Jaffna
14-Aug-83 [Mr. Kulasekaran Leader, TELA (armed group)

1-Sep-85 Mr. K. Thurairathnam MP, TULF

6-May-86 | Mr. S. S. Sabaratnam Leader, TELO (armed group)
13-Jul-87 [Mr. A. Amrthalingam Past Opposition Leader, MP & SG TULF
13-Jul-87 Mr. V. Yogeshwaran MP, TULF

7-May-90 | Mr. S. Thambimuttu MP, EPRLF

19-Jun-90 | Mr. K. Pathmanabha Leader, EPRLF

29-Jul-99 Dr. Neelan Tiruchelvam MP, TULF

14-Aug-05 [Mr. Lakshman Kadirgamar | Foreign Minister

(Refer to Annex A for details)

From its inception, the strategic vision and end objective of the LTTE was to set up a
separate state — “Tamil Eelam” — exclusively for Tamils in the North and East of Sri
Lanka. This separate state was to comprise 28.7% of Sri Lanka’s landmass and 60% of
its coastline.

Towards the achievement of its objectives, the LTTE engaged in an armed struggle
of remarkable violence through a sustained campaign of guerrilla tactics, semi
conventional military action and terrorism. The armed conflict was concentrated
mostly in the North and East of Sri Lanka, while the terrorist campaign was carried out
throughout the entire country with far reaching consequences for political, economic
and social stability.

The LTTE’s operational concept on land was twofold. First, it aimed to infiltrate
civilian areas and conduct atrocities including mass killings in vulnerable villages
to weaken the security and administrative functions of the Government of Sri Lanka
and create panic and instability. Second, it aimed to cause maximum damage to
Security Forces and military establishments, mustering its full fighting power, using
multiple thrusts combined with semi conventional, guerrilla and terrorist tactics.

_5_
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21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

Apart from its advanced land fighting capability, the LTTE also developed a very
sophisticated naval wing known as the Sea Tiger Wing. This allowed the LTTE to counter
Security Forces through amphibious operations including direct confrontations and
suicide missions, and enabled it to maintain sea lines of communications for the
logistics supplies channelled through its international network.

Unique amongst terrorist organisations the world over, the LTTE was able to develop
an Air Wing. In addition to attacking military and civilian aircraft from the ground,
the Air Wing enabled the LTTE to carry out offensive operations throughout Sri Lanka
using its aircraft even in the latter stages of the conflict.

A crucial component of the LTTE’s offensive capability was the formidable Black
Tiger Wing. This was a special unit dedicated to conduct suicide attacks against the
Security Forces, as well as deep penetration terrorist attacks on civilians throughout
Sri Lanka. On at least one occasion, the Black Tigers also carried out a suicide attack
in south India.

LTTE Atrocities against Civilians

The LTTE’s terror campaign was a defining feature of the entire conflict. This campaign
was aimed at destabilising the Government of Sri Lanka, paralysing the economy,
suppressing the LTTE’s opponents, disrupting the military and engendering a fear
psychosis throughout Sri Lanka. Innocent civilians of all ethnicities were targeted in
these terrorist attacks, and many thousands were killed, maimed and wounded.

The LTTE carried out attacks on civilian targets throughout Sri Lanka using human
bombs, vehicle bombs, time bombs, claymore mines, different Improvised Explosive
Devices (IEDs) and armed attacks. The attacks on innocent civilians using these
methods killed over 9,800 and grievously injured more than 10,000 in Government
controlled areas. The number of civilians killed and injured by the LTTE in areas
under its dominance is unknown. Some of the deadliest bomb attacks include the
central bus station attack in Colombo in 1987 that killed over 100 people, and
the truck bomb attack at the Central Bank in 1996 that killed 86 whilst wounding
over 1,300. Several armed attacks were also carried out, including the massacre of
120 devotees at the sacred Buddhist site of the Sri Maha Bodhiya in Anuradhapura in
1985, the massacre of 37 civilians including 33 novice Buddhist monks aboard a bus
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26.

27.

at Aranthalawa in 1987, and the massacre of 147 Muslim devotees at prayer at the
Kathankudy Mosque in Batticaloa in 1995. Other large scale attacks included:

17-Apr-87 |Habarana 96 44 | Attack on passenger bus
6-Oct-87 Valachchenai 40 - | Setting fire to a mail train
13-Apr-89 | Trincomalee 51 43 |Car bomb

24-Jul-96 | Dehiwala 57 356 |Bomb on a train

5-Mar-98 |Maradana 36 270 [Attack on a passenger bus
29-Sep-98 | Jaffna 54 - | Attack on a civilian aircraft
20-Nov-99 |Madhu Church 38 66 |Small arms & mortar fire
15-Jun-06 |Kebetigollawa 48 86 | Claymore mine targeting a bus

(Refer to Annex B for details)

The LTTE also attacked civilians in vulnerable villages, using automatic weapons,
small arms, swords, machetes, clubs and other handheld weapons. These attacks were
mostly carried out under cover of night and indiscriminately targeted innocent men,
women and children. In sum, LTTE attacks on vulnerable villages are estimated to
have killed over 1,950 civilians and injured over 400. The worst of these attacks took
place at a Muslim village in Eravur, Batticaloa in August 1990, killing 173 civilians.
Other attacks included:

29-Nov-84 | Dollar Farm Welioya 33 0
10-Oct-88 [ Mahakongaskada Medawachichiya 44 4
11-Feb-89 [Dutuwewa & Sinhapura Welioya 37 5
29-Apr-92 | Karapola, Muthugala, A’thana | Polonnaruwa 130 71
15-Oct-92 | Palliyagodella & Ahamedpura |Polonnaruwa 146 83
25-May-95 | Kallarawa Polonnaruwa 42 15
2-Jul-97 Erakkandy Trincomalee 34 0
Galapitagala, Badirekka,
18-Sep-99 Ampara 50 5
Borapola

(Refer to Annex C for details)

LTTE attacks on economic targets and key civilian infrastructure facilities were
aimed at crippling economic activity within Sri Lanka. Its attack on the country’s
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28.

Central Bank in Colombo in 1996 imperilled the entire financial system. Its attack
on the country’s International Airport in July 2001, in which several passenger jets
including an Airbus A-340 and an Airbus A-330 were completely destroyed and many
others seriously damaged, had a devastating impact on the tourism industry for
many years. The LTTE also targeted the critical Kolonnawa Oil Refinery on several
occasions, the last of which was an air raid it carried out in 2007. The LTTE targeted
essential transport infrastructure facilities such as the Central Bus and Train Stations
in Colombo, and carried out attacks on numerous buses, trains and civilian aircraft.
Some of the LTTE’s attacks included:

. . Bomb on civilian
3-May-86 | The International Airport 16 0 _
aircraft

Central Telecommuni- )
7-May-86 ] 15 4 | Bomb explosion
cation Complex

Central Bus Station, Car bomb at
21-Apr-87 106 295 )

Colombo bus station
6-Oct-87 Valachchenai, Batticaloa 40 0 |[LTTE attack
20-Oct-95 [Kolonnawa Oil Refinery 17 35 |[Armed raid
31-Jan-96 | Central Bank, Colombo 86 1,338 | Truck bomb

_ Bomb on board

24-Jul-96 | Dehiwala, Colombo 57 356 _

a train
15-Oct-97 | World Trade Centre 12 113 [Vehicle bomb
24-Jul-01 The International Airport 6 16 | Attack on the airport
26-May-08 | Office Train, Dehiwala 9 80 | Time bomb

(Refer to Annex D for details)

The LTTE also engaged in a brutal campaign of assassinations. The victims of this
campaign include two national leaders. A female suicide bomber killed former
Indian Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi in 1991. Serving Sri Lankan President Ranasingha
Premadasa was also killed in a suicide bombing in 1993. In 1999, Sri Lankan President
Chandrika Kumaratunga narrowly escaped a similar fate. The LTTE also assassinated
Sri Lanka’s Defence Minister Ranjan Wijeratna in 1991 and, during the last ceasefire
period, killed Foreign Minister Lakshman Kadirgamar. Apart from the foregoing,
other notable victims of the LTTE’s assassination campaign included:
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29.

30.

27-Jul-75 | Mr. Alfred Duraiappa MP & Mayor of Jaffna

) . Past Opposition Leader,
13-Jul-87 | Mr. A. Amirthalingam

MP & Sec/Gen TULF
13-Jul-87 | Mr. V. Yogeshwaran MP, TULF
23-Apr-93 | Mr Lalith Athulathmudli Former Minister of National Security
Mr. Gamini Dissanayake Opposition Presidential Candidate
Mr. G. M. Premachandra MP, Leader of the DUNF
24-Oct-94 MP, Former Minister of

Mr. W. Mallimarachchi )
Food & Cooperatives

Mr. O. Abeygunasekera MP, Leader of the SLMP
29-Jul-99 [ Dr. Neelan Tiruchelvam MP, TULF
7-Jun-00 Mr. C. V. Gooneratne Minister of Industrial Development
8-Jan-08 Mr. D. M. Dasanayake Minister of Nation Building

] Minister of Highways &
6-Apr-08 [ Mr. Jayeraj Fernandopulle

Road Development

(Refer to Annex E for details)

In addition to its assassination of political figures throughout Sri Lanka, the LTTE
killed government officials, public servants, members of the judiciary and other
individuals in its efforts to undermine law and order in Sri Lanka. This included
364 policemen in the East of Sri Lanka, who were Killed after surrendering on orders
and being guaranteed safety by the LTTE during peace talks with the Government of
Sri Lanka in June 1990.

The terrorist campaign carried out by the LTTE throughout Sri Lanka had far
reaching consequences. The atmosphere of fear and instability fostered by its
numerous attacks had a devastating impact on the country’s economy. The LTTE’s
indiscriminate attacks on civilians, including the butchering of children, and its
targeting of places of religious worship, made it clear that no one and nothing was
safe from its violence. This placed tremendous strain on ordinary life in Sri Lanka,
causing incalculable psychosocial harm to several generations of Sri Lankans of all
ethnicities and disrupting civilian life.
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C.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

Use of Child Soldiers by the LTTE

The LTTE made ruthless use of children. It forcibly recruited even children as young
as 10 years in the areas it dominated. Families were coerced to provide at least one
child for its cause during the initial stages of the conflict. The LTTE ideology was
promoted at ceremonies forcibly held in schools, and children were abducted even
whilst in school. Conscripted children were subject to indoctrination as well as brutal
training. Some were even brainwashed into becoming suicide cadres.

Even after the signing of the ceasefire agreement of 2002, recruitment of children
by the LTTE continued unabated. Although the LTTE agreed to release child soldiers
in its custody and to refrain from such recruitment in the future, it failed to honour
either of these undertakings. In 2006, UNICEF estimated that over 5,700 of the LTTE’s
cadres were children.

Ethnic Cleansing carried out by the LTTE

To further its ambition of creating a mono-ethnic separate state for the Tamils, the
LTTE systematically attacked Sinhalese and Muslim civilians and attempted to drive
them out of the areas it dominated.

Starting in the early 1980s, the LTTE drove out the Sinhala residents from the Jaffna
peninsula. Attacks carried out on Sinhala civilians in the North and East during the
1980s accounted for close to 500 deaths, while over 150 more Sinhala civilians were
killed in vulnerable villages near LTTE dominated areas during the same period. The
brutal impact of the LTTE’s ethnic cleansing programme can be gauged from the fact
that, of the 19,334 Sinhala civilians recorded in the census of 1981 as residents of
the Northern Province, virtually none remained a few years later.

The LTTE was also determined to drive out the Muslims from the North. The most
blatant example of this was in October 1990, when it expelled 75,000 Muslim residents
of the Jaffna peninsula, ordering them to leave their homes within 48 hours. The
LTTE carried out several brutal attacks on Muslim villages in the North and East,
massacring almost 600 civilians.

—10 =
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E.

36.

37.

38.

Attacks on Democracy by the LTTE

The LTTE’s campaign of terrorism struck at the very roots of democracy. In addition
to assassinating its opponents in the areas it claimed to dominate, including three
sitting Mayors of Jaffna, the LTTE’s victims throughout Sri Lanka included President
Ranasinghe Premadasa, former Opposition Leader A. Amirthalingam, and Opposition
Presidential Candidate Gamini Dissanayake. An attempt was also made on the life of
President Chandrika Kumaratunga in 1999. The political figures killed in Sri Lanka
included the following:

Political Figures Assassinated
President of Sri Lanka 1
Opposition Presidential Candidate 1
Leaders of Political Parties 10
Cabinet Ministers 7
Members of Parliament 37
Members of Provincial Councils 6
Members of Pradeshiya Sabha 22
Political Party Organisers 17
Mayors 4

The LTTE denied democratic rights to the people in areas it dominated. Free elections
could not be held in any area with a strong LTTE presence as it used violence to
prevent people from exercising their franchise. In 2005, it was reported that the one
person in the Kilinochchi District who disobeyed the LTTE and cast his vote in the
Presidential election was dismembered and killed by the LTTE as a lesson to others.
The LTTE did not allow dissent or plurality in any form, and regularly used violence
to silence those who expressed contrary views.

The Global threat posed by the LTTE

From the 1980s onward, the LTTE developed a global network with cells in over
50 countries. In addition to furthering the LTTE’s objectives through the ruthless
conduct of a propaganda war, this network engaged in a number of illegal activities.
These activities include human trafficking, narcotics smuggling, arms smuggling,
money laundering and extortion. The primary purpose of these activities was to

—11 -
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39.

40.

4].

raise funds to enable the LTTE to procure arms. Even after the demise of the LTTE’s
military organisation in Sri Lanka, the LTTE’s global network remains strong and
continues to pose a significant threat to law and order around the world.

Proscription of the LTTE

The unambiguously terrorist nature of the LTTE led to its being designated and
proscribed as a terrorist organisation in 32 countries, including India (since 1994),
the United States (since 1997) the United Kingdom (since 2001) and the European
Union (since 2006).

The LTTE’s primary front organisation, the Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation (TRO),
was designated as a terrorist organisation and banned in the United States in 2007,
and has been delisted as a charity in the United Kingdom since 2005. The TRO was the
primary entity through which the LTTE collected funds used for arms procurement,
in the guise of collecting money for charitable projects in Sri Lanka.

The Government of Sri Lanka initially proscribed the LTTE in 1978, but lifted the
proscription in 1987 as part of the Indo-Lanka Accord. The proscription was again
imposed on the LTTE in 1998 after the bombing of the Sri Dalada Maligawa, one of the
foremost Buddhist shrines in the world. The ban was suspended in 2002 following the
ceasefire agreement that accompanied the peace process. Sri Lanka re-imposed the
proscription on the LTTE in January 2009, when it was clear that the LTTE leadership
had no interest in a peaceful solution.
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III. SIZE AND SCOPE OF THE LTTE

A. Potency of the LTTE

42. The LTTE’s military capabilities defined the challenges the Government of Sri Lanka
faced in its efforts to prevent the LTTE’s attacks against its citizens and the state.
An examination of the LTTE’s scale and its military capabilities demonstrates the
necessity for the types of force that had to be used by Security Forces to defeat

them.
Sole Commander
Intelligence Wing LTTE Leader Procurement Wing
Velupillai Prabhakaran
Military Secretariat
(Central Commitee)
Military Office Division
Military Research Black Tiger Sea Tiger Air Tiger
Wwing Wing Wwing Wing Wing
Communications Political

Department Wwing

Outline of the LTTE Organisation

43. The determination of the LTTE for a prolonged war against Security Forces can be
gauged from the capabilities it developed over the years, particularly during the period
of the last ceasefire. The LTTE constructed technologically sophisticated underground
bunkers for its leaders, established factories to manufacture ammunition and mines,
built afood canning factory, set up boatyards to develop suicide boats and submersible
vessels, and maintained hangars as well as service centres for its aircraft. Foreign
expertise was obtained on several occasions for this capacity development, and LTTE
cadres were also sent abroad for extensive training in certain fields.
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B.

44.

45.

46.

47.

48.

Number of Cadres

At the beginning of the Humanitarian Operation in July 2006, the LTTE maintained
approximately 25,000 cadres including regular cadres and auxiliary forces that had
been given combat training and were employed for both offensive and defensive
operations. As the Humanitarian Operation progressed, the LTTE escalated its
recruitment process, forcibly conscripting and training many more civilians, including
child soldiers, to fight in the battlefront. At the start of 2008, it was estimated that
the LTTE maintained approximately 30,000 cadres in its ranks.

Theregular cadres of the LTTEwere supported by an auxiliary force that had been given
basic military training. This auxiliary force comprised two distinct organisations:

a. Eelapadai - This was an auxiliary force comprising approximately 5,000
volunteers initially employed as home guards and subsequently used for both
offensive and defensive operations. They were on the payroll of the LTTE.

b. Gramapadai - This was an auxiliary force also comprising approximately 5,000
individuals, who helped resist Security Forces ingress into LTTE dominated areas
in the North. They were also used to assist the LTTE in meeting its logistics
requirements as well as for carrying out defensive operations, and were employed
for offensive purposes during the later stages of the Humanitarian Operation.

Land Fighting Forces

Starting from a small group of armed militants, the LTTE grew into a large experienced,
battle-hardened land fighting force over the years. The vast majority of LTTE cadres
comprised its land fighting forces.

The LTTE’s land fighting units had intimate knowledge of the ground terrain, and
often fought in civilian clothing. This made it possible for its cadres to blend in with
civilians and penetrate areas close to the detachments of the Security Forces. The
knowledge of the ground and intelligence gathered about Security Forces deployments
proved a formidable threat when coupled with the scale of the land fighting forces
and the tactics it employed.

By attacking isolated military establishments, mustering its full fighting power and
denying Security Forces reinforcement capability through multiple thrusts using
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49.

50.

guerrilla and semi conventional tactics, the LTTE proved a significant threat to
Security Forces. The LTTE attempted to create a fear psychosis amongst Security
Forces personnel with its fearsome unceasing waves of combatants prepared to die,
and through its ability to inflict maximum casualties with its artillery and mortar.

The LTTE’s land fighting capabilities were augmented by advanced training programs,
sophisticated military hardware and equipment, and the formation of special
regiments, including:

a. Special Reconnaissance Group - This regiment consisted of many of the most
accomplished cadres from all other regiments, who assisted the Intelligence
Wing collect information prior to offensive operations.

b. Snipers - LTTE deployed snipers to limit the freedom of movement of Security
Forces. Snipers were used during large scale offensives carried out by the LTTE,
and were also used for assassinations.

c. Assault Pioneers and Mine Laying Teams - These teams performed all critical
engineering tasks including the laying of mines.

d. Tank Regiment and Anti Tank Regiment - The main task of this regiment was to
act against the armoured vehicles of the Government of Sri Lanka and the Indian
Peace Keeping Force (IPKF). The LTTE captured armoured vehicles from Security
Forces during their many attacks, and improvised ones of their own.

The arms, ammunition and equipment used by the land fighting units of the LTTE
included artillery guns, heavy and medium mortars, rocket propelled grenades, RCLs,
anti-aircraft guns, Surface to Surface Missiles, Surface to Air Missiles, small arms,
anti-tank mines and anti-personnel mines. A list of weapons recovered by Security
Forces during the Humanitarian Operation is attached as Annex F. Most of the
LTTE’s heavy and sophisticated weapons were destroyed by the LTTE to avoid capture
by Security Forces just prior to the end of the Humanitarian Operation. The table
illustrates overleaf the estimated number of certain LTTE weapons:
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51.

52.

T - 55 Main Battle Tank 1
130mm Cannon Type 59-1 12
152mm Gun-Howitzer Type 66 9
122mm Gun 2
107mm Rocket Artillery 2
140mm Mortar 4
120mm Mortar 150+
82/81 mm Mortar 500+
RPG 7 350+
IGLA - 1 Missile ( SA - 16) 16+
IGLA - 1 Missile Launcher 5+

The training given by the LTTE for its land fighting groups could be broadly divided
into three categories:

a. Basic Training - Civilians and newly recruited youth underwent basic training at
LTTE bases, which were established in almost every village under its control.

b. Refresher Training - Serving members in the various fields of operation and
specialisation of the LTTE’s different regiments were expected to follow refresher

courses.

c. Special Operations Training - This training was given to selected groups of
cadres and dealt with attacks on specific targets, which also included Black Tiger
operations both on land and sea, as well as deep penetration attacks throughout
the country.

The capabilities of the LTTE’s land fighting units can be gauged from the several
successes the organisation had against Security Forces in various battles over the
years. In all, 19,282 Security Forces personnel were killed and 82,104 were maimed
or wounded in battles against the LTTE and 2,609 were missing in action prior to the
launch of the Humanitarian Operation in 2006. The losses sustained by the Security
Forces during major battles illustrates the formidable nature of the LTTE’s land
fighting forces. Some of these included:
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53.

54.

55.

5-Jul-87 Nelliady 19 31

7-Dec-90 Kokavil 48 18

10-Jul-91 Elephant Pass 156 748

11-Nov-93 | Pooneryn 229 561 92
18-Jul-96 Mullaitivu 1,173

9-Jan-97 Paranthan 158 392 65
6-Mar-97 Batticaloa 73 98 2
2-Jan-98 Kilinochchi 89 405 26
27-Sep-98 | Kilinochchi 857 936 171
2-Nov-99 Oddusudan 117 1,459 94
11-Dec-99 [ Vettilaikkerni & Thanankilappu 197 1,921 28
23-Apr-00 | Elephant Pass 708 2,576

10-May-00 [ Ariyalai / Thanankilappu 628 5,129 301

(Refer to Annex G for details)

The Sea Tiger Wing

The LTTE possessed a highly trained and well-equipped maritime fighting force,
known as the Sea Tiger Wing, which was capable of countering the operations of the
Security Forces through semi-conventional naval tactics as well as suicide missions.
The Sea Tiger Wing was a critical component of the LTTE, as the seas were its main
supply route for bringing in weapons and other military equipment. The Sea Tiger
Wing posed a grave threat to civilian harbours and vessels, as well as to the naval
units of the Security Forces. It also allowed the LTTE to induct its cadres into sensitive
areas from the sea, enhancing the LTTE’s deep penetration capability.

Immediately after its inception in the early 1980s, the Sea Tiger Wing used fishing
boats to carry out smuggling and gun running. In the 1990s, the LTTE employed fast
boats fitted with Outboard Motors (OBMs) in groups of five to six, which enabled
them to engage the Security Forces naval units in “Wolf Pack” attacks. Each vessel
was equipped with formidable weaponry and each of its occupants was armed with
personal weapons such as machine guns and grenade launchers.

When counter action by Security Forces naval units including Fast Attack Craft began
to hinder LTTE sea movements, the LTTE developed suicide boats. These were mostly
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56.

57.

58.

fibreglass dinghies fitted with several OBMs, carrying minimum crew but packing
high-powered explosives. The abundance of civilian fishing craft in the seas off the
North and East coasts of Sri Lanka was used as a cover by the LTTE to carry out
suicide attacks, endangering not only Security Forces personnel but also civilians
who used the sea for peaceful purposes.

In addition to its attack craft, the LTTE extensively used sub-surface attacks through
its suicide divers and semi-submersible craft, which it began developing in the mid
1990s. In the 2000s, the LTTE also began developing mini submarines. The Sea Tigers
also made substantial use of sea mines and Improvised Explosive Devices, with which
it targeted Security Forces as well as infrastructure.

The main equipment used by the Sea Tiger Wing was as follows:

Cargo Boats 25+

Fast Attack Crafts 20/30

Transport Boats 20+

Suicide Boats 23

Submarines (Locally Manufactured) 6

Water Jets Unknown Quantity
Underwater Scooters/Diving Scooters 20+

Remote Control Boats 01

Fibre Glass Boats 76

Fibre Glass Dinghies 115

OBMs (300-40HP) Large Quantity
Different type of Radars (KODEN / FURUNO / S0+

JRC / JMA / TOKIMEC / RAY MARINE)

GPS Navigations / Navigation Watches / Compasses Large Quantity
GPS Tracking Systems Unknown Quantity
KE - 04 Electronic Remote Control Systems Unknown Quantity

From 1986 to 2009, the Sea Tigers gradually increased in strength and carried
out many cluster attacks using attack boats. Suicide boats were their primary and
deadliest weapon, and were mainly used against the Sri Lanka Navy. The Sri Lanka
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Navy lost 8 major vessels, 20 fast attack craft and 28 inshore patrol craft due to such
cluster attacks and suicide attacks by the Sea Tigers. 52 Officers and 348 sailors were
killed during these sea battles. The attacks carried out by the Sea Tigers included:

4-May-91 |[Abheetha (Surveillance Command Ship): 9 4 -
Suicide attack (SA) - Point Pedro
19-Sep-94 [ Sagarawardana (OPV): LTTE attack - Mannar 1 7 20
19-Apr-95 [ Ranasuru (FGB): Suicide diver - Trincomalee 6 10 -
2-0Oct-95 |Ranaraja (LCM): LTTE attack - Mullaitivu 4 6 -
17-Oct-95 [ A 512 (Auxillary Ship): Suicide diver - Trincomalee 7 5 -
31-Jul-96 |Ranaviru (FGB): Suicide attack - Mullaitivu 8 - 22
23-Feb-98 | Valampuri I (Ferry): Suicide attack - Point Pedro 20 - -
25-Mar-06 | P 431 (FAC): Suicide attack - Kudiramalai - 11 8
9-Nov-06 |P 416 (FAC): Suicide attack - Thondiaimanaru 10 7 -
22-Mar-08 | P 438 (FAC): Suicide attack - Nayuru 3 5 9

(Refer to Annex H for details)

59. The Sea Tigers also engaged in sea piracy on several occasions, attacking merchant
vessels off the coasts of Sri Lanka. The vessels attacked are:

9-Oct-94 Off Vettilaikerni MV Ocean Trader
9-Aug-95 Off Pulmoddai MV Princess Wave
29-Aug-95 Off Mullaitivu Irish Moana
29-Aug-96 Off Trincomalee MV Athena

1-Jul-97 Off Pesalai (Mannar) MV Misen

7-Jul-97 Off Point Pedro MV Morong Bong
9-Sep-97 Off Pulmoddai MV Cordiality
25-Jul-99 Off Trincomalee MV Newko
26-Jun-2000 Off Point Pedro MCS Uhana
20-Mar-03 Off Trincomalee Fuyuan Ya 225 (Chinese Trawler)
23-Dec-06 Off Muallaitivu MV Farha III
21-Jan-07 Off Point Pedro MYV City Of Liverpool
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E.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

The Air Tiger Wing

Unparalleled among terrorist organisations the world over, the LTTE had a fledgling
air force that was obtaining aircraft and developing infrastructure at a rapid pace.
The LTTE aircraft were civilian craft that were obtained through front organisations
abroad, smuggled into Sri Lanka through LTTE ships and modified for offensive
capabilities. The LTTE maintained several runways in the Iranamadu, Mullaitivu and
Kilinochchi areas. The main runways were set up in a conventional configuration and
included associated facilities such as hangars, clearways, navigation aids and parking
areas.

A considerable number of LTTE cadres serving in the Air Tiger Wing underwent
training in private flying schools in South East Asian countries and in Europe.
A number of training programmes including aircraft maintenance, flying instructions
and parachute jumping were also conducted prior to 2005.

During the last two decades, the ground operations of the LTTE Air Wing shot down
or destroyed 52 airplanes and helicopters including civilian aircraft using Surface to
Air Missiles as well as ground attacks.

The LTTE carried out air attacks against military bases and Government of Sri Lanka
installations outside North and East areas using light aircraft. Most of the targeted
installations, which included the International Airport at Katunayake and the Oil
Refinery at Kolonnawa, survived these attacks with minimal damage.

However, the fact that the LTTE’s offensive capabilities had an air dimension was
particularly worrying. Its occasional night raids caused panic amongst civilians
throughout the country, and led to Colombo being blacked out on several occasions
as a precautionary measure. In addition, the main International Airport at Katunayake
had to be shut down on occasions when LTTE air raids were carried out, and some
international airlines cancelled flights to Colombo as a result of these raids.
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65. The Air Tiger Wing possessed the following aircraft:

Micro Light Air Craft
Light Air Craft - ZLIN 143
Helicopters

NN U] N

UAVs / Remote controlled planes

66. The attacks carried out by the LTTE’s Air Tiger Wing against military and civilian
aircraft and targets of the Government of Sri Lanka include the following:

28-Apr-95 Avro Missile - off Palaly 48
29-Apr-95 Avro Missile - off Palaly 52
22-Nov-95 | AN 32 Missile - off Palaly 63
22-Jan-96 MI 17 Missile - off Palaly 39
29-Sep-98 AN 24 Missile - off Mannar 54
3xMI17
MI 17
MIG 27 Attack on Katunayake Base
24-Jul-01 2 x KFIR 6
3xK8
A 340 . )
Attack on International Airport
A 330
26-Mar-07 Air attack on Katunayake Air Base 3
Air attack on Kolonnawa Oil Refinery
24-Apr-07 |B 212 : - -
Air attack on Muthurajawela Gas Storage
3XPT6
K8
22-0Oct-07 MI 24 Attack on Anuradhapura Base 20
MI 17
B 206
Beech Craft
28-0Oct-08 Air attack on Kelanitissa Power Station 1

(Refer to Annex I for details)
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F.

67.

68.

69.

70.

Black Tiger (Suicide) Wing

The Black Tiger Wing consisted of an elite group of cadres specialised in suicide
operations. These cadres underwent specialised training for suicide operations in
groups or as individuals. These trainings included reconnaissance training, language
instruction, training on handling weapons and explosives, training on driving vehicles,
training on piloting boats, training on maintaining supplies, as well as mission oriented
training on a replica of the target. In addition, extensive indoctrination ensured that
the cadres remained motivated and focused on the task.

The Black Tigers were utilised in offensive operations against Security Forces. Cadres
from the Black Tiger Wing were also attached to infiltration teams to conduct sabotage
operations. The Black Tigers regularly targeted civilians throughout Sri Lanka.
According to a public declaration by the LTTE, a total of 274 male suicide bombers
and 104 female suicide bombers died in action between July 5, 1987 and November
20, 2008. In addition to cadres who perished while attacking Security Forces, these
figures include the cadres who assassinated numerous VIPs and civilians. Each attack
was unique and most were meticulously planned; for example, the suicide cadre who
assassinated President Ranasinghe Premadasa was effectively embedded in his circle
of associates for more than two years. Other victims of the Black Tigers included
Opposition Presidential Candidate Gamini Dissanayake and former Indian Prime
Minister Rajiv Gandhi.

Intelligence Wing

In carrying out assassinations as well as in facilitating its terrorist campaign
throughout Sri Lanka, the LTTE relied heavily on its extensive intelligence network.
Cadres from the LTTE’s Intelligence Wing infiltrated Colombo and the rest of the
country, establishing a substantial network of cells. The intelligence network carried
out reconnaissance on targets, facilitated the entry of suicide cadres from the LTTE’s
Black Tiger Wing to safe houses, and acted as their handlers in guiding them to their
targets and in ensuring that these attacks were carried out. The Intelligence Wing
also successfully inveigled certain Security Forces personnel and police personnel, as
well as several civilians in the rest of the country, to aid and abet its actions.

In the North and East, cadres from the LTTE’s Intelligence Wing were stationed in
proximity to Security Forces establishments and vital infrastructure. They gathered
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71.

72.

73.

74.

information that was used in attacks carried out by the LTTE’s offensive units. Apart
from such information gathering exercises, cadres from the Intelligence Wing were
actively involved in detaining suspected informants as well as civilians who expressed
dissent against the LTTE in areas dominated by them. The Intelligence Wing ran the
camps in which such civilians as well as captured Security Forces personnel were
incarcerated. These Security Forces personnel and many of the incarcerated civilians
were eventually killed.

Supply Network

In order to build its formidable arsenal, the LTTE developed a sophisticated arms
procurement and delivery network that operated around the world through LTTE
front organisations, shipping networks and a fleet of floating warehouses stationed
in international waters off Sri Lanka.

Funds were raised from a range of sources including voluntary and coerced
contributions from individuals; income from businesses such as fuel stations,
supermarkets and communication centres; income from fraudulent humanitarian
relief charities; and criminal activities such as drug running, trafficking in persons
and credit card fraud. These funds were laundered through the LTTE’s sophisticated
international network, and used for the procurement of arms, ammunition and
equipment from a variety of sources.

Once procured, these items were sent to Sri Lanka through the LTTE’s shipping
network. Starting with small-scale gun running and human smuggling efforts between
Sri Lanka and South India in the 1980s, this network had grown by 2005 to include
over 20 large vessels and a considerable number of trawlers registered under different
flags. Boatyards were also established in South East Asian countries to facilitate this
shipping operation. The crewmembers of these ships were LTTE cadres travelling
under various assumed identities using the passports of several nations, and they
transported the items procured under the guise of normal cargo.

Several large vessels were anchored in international waters off the coast of Sri Lanka
to serve as floating warehouses for the LTTE. Smaller boats were dispatched through
the Sea Tiger Wing to smuggle the items to Sri Lanka. Large items were disassembled
for transport and reassembled at LTTE bases in Sri Lanka. Among the items smuggled
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in were missiles, artillery guns, anti-aircraft guns, armoured vehicles, light aircraft,
machine guns, small arms, ammunition and large quantities of explosives. The LTTE
vessels captured or destroyed include:

12-Dec-90

MV Sunbird

Penang Malaysia

Detained by the Malaysian
Authorities

01-Nov-91

MV Ongova

North East Coast
of India

Seized by the Indian Navy.
The ship was carrying arms
and ammunition

28-Nov-92

MYV Checesri

Penang Malaysia

Detained by the Malaysian
Authorities

16-Jan-93

MV Yahath

Bay of Bengal

The ship carrying arms and
ammunition was detected
by the Indian Navy and
scuttled by the LTTE to
avoid capture

14-Feb-96

MV Horizon

Off Mullaittivu /
Nayaru

The ship was detected by the
SLN whilst unloading arms
and ammunition to smaller
LTTE vessels. SLN and SLAF
destroyed the vessel

02-Nov-97

MV Fratzescom

Off Mullaittivu

SLN and SLAF destroyed
the vessel after it was
detected unloading arms &
ammunition

11-Mar-98

MV Mariamman

Off Andaman Islands

This ship carrying arms and
ammunition was destroyed
by the Indian Navy

01-May-98

MV Showamaru

Off Mullaittivu

SLN craft on patrol detected
a vessel unloading cargo
off Mullaittivu. The vessel
escaped approaching SLN
craft

10-Mar-03

MV Koimar

Off Mullaittivu

This vessel carrying arms
was destroyed by the SLN

14-Jun-03

MV Shoshan

Off Mullaittivu

This ship carrying logistics
was destroyed by the SLN

17-Jun-06

Name of the
ship unknown

Off Kalmunai

This ship carrying logistics
was destroyed by the SLN
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28-Feb-07 MV Koyei Southern Coast This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN
18-Mar-07 | MV Seyo Off Arugambay This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN
10-Sep-07 | MV Manyoshi South of Sri Lanka This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN
10-Sep-07 | MV Seishin South of Sri Lanka This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN
11-Sep-07 | MV Koshia South of Sri Lanka This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN
07-Oct-07 [ MV Matsushima | South of Sri Lanka This ship carrying arms was
destroyed by the SLN

I. International Support Mechanisms

75. Facilitating the procurement and supplies network of the LTTE was its international
network, which has been functioning since the mid-1980s. This network was
established to carry out the LTTE’s propaganda campaign, organise its international
arms procurement, and assist its various fundraising and criminal activities. The
network comprised a number of front organisations as well as propaganda offices

that operated in various parts of the world prior to the proscription of the LTTE.

Finance Controller LTTE Leader Legal Advisor
S Sanachandran V Prabhakaran Rudrakumaran
(Netherlands) | (USA)
Head of the LTTE International Secretariat
Mannivannan @ Castro
|
Deputy Head of the LTTE Operations
Nediyavan (Norway)
|
[ [ [ |
LTTE Front Procurement Shippin Media/
Organisations pping Propaganda
|
[ [ [ [ [ |
TRO TCC
Europe/West Europe/West BTF - UK BTA - UK BTC - UK WTM - Canada
ISA Europe TYO - Europe IFT = TLP - UK
Switzerland
Proscription of the LTTE
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76.

77.

78.

Since the ban imposed on the LTTE by various governments, including those of the
United States, the United Kingdom and the European Union, many of the LTTE’s
international activities have been conducted through its front organisations. LTTE
front organisations have been set up in 54 locations in 32 countries around the
world. These front organisations, which work through radicalised elements in the
Tamil Diaspora, enabled the LTTE to lobby foreign governments, some international
non governmental organisations, media outlets and opinion makers for propaganda
purposes, and network with various international actors, including arms dealers.

The LTTE maintained a number of television and radio stations, websites, and printing
presses in several European capitals which have a significant Tamil Diaspora presence.
These were used to propagate the LTTE’s ideology amongst the Tamil Diaspora and
assist in raising funds for its military operations. The LTTE also established links
with several popular independent media networks and influenced them to publish or
broadcast material sympathetic to their cause.

In addition, several hundred Tamil schools were set up all over the world under
patronage of the LTTE or its front organisations. These were used to indoctrinate
second and third generation Tamils whilst also providing a cover for organised
fundraising. Children attending such schools were often made to participate in
protest and propaganda campaigns of the LTTE.

LTTE / PRO LTTE MEDIA NETWORK

TV STATIONS RADIO WEBSITES PRINTED MEDIA

TTN - (Closed) VOT - Norway Tamilnet.com Ulagar Thamilar - Canada
Tharisanam - Australia IBC - UK Tamilwin.com Eelamurusu - Paris
Thenral - (Closed) TRT - Paris Sangathi.com Erimalai - Paris

TV1 - Canada CMR Puthinam.com Tamil Guardian - UK

TV1 - Canada CTR Athirulu.com Pulathil - Canada
GTV-UK ATBC LankaSri.com Oru - UK

Tamil 24 - Paris Tamilstar - Canada

NTT - USA (Closed)

Euro Television - Italy (Closed)

Mathuran - Singapore (Closed)
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J.

79.

80.

81.

82.

International Criminal Network

In order to finance its terrorist activities in Sri Lanka, the LTTE utilised a global
criminal network. Since the mid-1980s LTTE cadres have been involved in narcotics
smuggling in Europe. The LTTE’s one time drug couriers formed trafficking groups
located in Europe and Southeast Asian countries. Numerous arrests of LTTE cadres
have been made abroad. For example, in 1986, a former head of the LTTE International
Secretariat was arrested and convicted in France for smuggling illicit drugs into
Paris.

The LTTE’s involvement in human trafficking also dates back to the 1980s. The
earliest known case involving the LTTE was when 155 Tamils were smuggled into
Canadian waters from West Germany and set adrift in lifeboats. In subsequent years,
the human trafficking operation became centred on some Southeast Asian nations
including Cambodia, Laos, Thailand, Indonesia, Malaysia and Singapore, which
became transit points and gateways to western states. The LTTE’s involvement in
human trafficking has been reported in the Thai port of Songkla, where a small vessel
with a Sri Lankan crew was seized, and in the city of Pattaya, where 49 Sri Lankans
were arrested in an apartment in 2005. The latest case reported in connection with
the LTTE’s involvement in human smuggling concerned the two vessels “Sun Sea”
and “Ocean Lady”, which travelled from South East Asia to Canada in 2010.

The LTTE also extorted contributions for its operations from members of the Tamil
Diaspora. While some contributions were voluntary, intimidation, threats and
violence were used to collect a significant amount of these funds. Those who resisted
contributing were told that no guarantee could be given about the safety of their
relatives still living in Sri Lanka, nor could their safety be guaranteed if they returned
to Sri Lanka.

Taking into account voluntary and coerced contributions as well as the income
generated from its many illegal activities, it is estimated that the LTTE raised funds
on the scale of US$ 50 - 75 million each year between 1993 and 2002, and over
US$ 200 million on an annual basis from 2002 to 2008. These funds were laundered
through the LTTE’s sophisticated international financial network using hard to trace,
document-less transactions. Some of the funds raised were transferred to Sri Lanka
through LTTE front organisations such as the Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation and
utilised for the LTTE’s local expenditure, while the bulk of the funds was used for its
international procurement activities.
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IV.

A.

83.

84.

GOVERNMENT EFFORTS FOR A NEGOTIATED SETTLEMENT

Overview

Successive governments of Sri Lanka tried to engage the LTTE in negotiations to
achieve a peaceful solution to the conflict. In addition to three peace processes
consisting of direct talks between the Government of Sri Lanka and the LTTE, there
were also two peace processes facilitated by third parties - India and Norway. In each
case, the LTTE put forward obstinate demands and pre-conditions and demonstrated
an unwillingness to discuss political issues that could have brought the two sides
closer to a sustainable solution.

In none of the peace talks did the LTTE seriously address the issues confronting
Tamil people that, in its rhetoric to the outside world, it claimed to care deeply
about. Instead, it was the Government of Sri Lanka that put forward proposals and
took action to address many of these concerns. In contrast, the LTTE took positions
and actions during the peace talks that advanced only its own agenda - its quest for
absolute power over all Tamils, status of sole representative for the Tamil people,
and domination of the North and East. The history of efforts to talk peace with
the LTTE, and the reasons for successive failures, clearly show that for the LTTE,
a negotiated solution was not a viable option, and that it was always determined
to confront the Government of Sri Lanka through violent means. In the course of
every negotiation, the LTTE took the opportunity to destroy other Tamil political and
militant organisations.

Peace Talks 1

13-Jul-85
J Bhutan: Thimpu City Dr. HW Jayawardena Mr. L Thilakar
12-Aug-85
Indo Lanka Talks
July-87 Sri Lanka: Colombo The talks were between the Indian and Sri

Lankan Governments
Peace Talks 2

3-May-89 Sri Lanka: Colombo
6-Mar-90 - Jaffna

Minister A C S Hameed | Mr. A Balasingham
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85.

86.

Peace Talks 3

1st Round 13-Oct-94 Mr. Karikalan
2nd Round | 2-Jan-95 ) Mr. K Balapatabandhi
Sri Lanka: Jaffna .
3rd Round 14-Jan-95 Mr. S P Tamilselvam
4th Round 10-Apr-95 Rt. Rev. Bishop K Fernando

Peace Talks 4

16-Sep-02 Thailand: Sattahip Naval
18-Sep-02 | Base, Chonburi

1st Session

31-Oct-02 Thailand: Rose Garden
3-Nov-02 Hotel, Nakhorn Pathom

2nd Session

2-Dec-02 Norway: Radisson SAS
5-Dec-02 Plaza Hotel, Oslo

3rd Session

- Minister G L Pieris Mr. A Balasingham
6-Jan-03 Thailand: Rose Garden

9-Jan-03 Hotel, Nakhorn Pathom

4th Session

7-Feb-03 Germany:  Norwegian
8-Feb-03 Embassy, Berlin

5th Session

18-Mar-03 | Japan: Hakorn Prince
21-Mar-03 Hotel, Kanagawa

6th Session

Resumption of Peace Talks

22-Feb-06
Geneva Switzerland: Geneva Minister N S de Silva Mr. A Balasingham
23-Feb-06
8-Jun-06 LTTE came to Oslo but
Oslo Norway: Oslo Dr. P Kohona . o
9-Jun-06 did not participate
28-0ct-06 ) o ) )
Geneva II 50-0ct.06 Switzerland: Geneva Minister N S de Silva Mr. S P Tamilselvam
- C -

The Thimpu Talks - 8 July 1985 to 17 August 1985

The first attempt by the Government of Sri Lanka to negotiate a peaceful settlement
to the conflict was initiated by President J.R. Jayawardene and the talks took place in
Thimpu, Bhutan. During these talks, the LTTE was one amongst several Tamil groups:
the Tamil United Liberation Front [TULF], the Tamil Eelam Liberation Organisation
[TELO], the People’s Liberation Organisation of Tamil Eelam [PLOTE], the Eelam People’s
Revolutionary Liberation Front [EPRLF] and the Eelam Revolutionary Organisation of
Students [EROS].

The Government of Sri Lanka came prepared for these talks with comprehensive
proposals for the devolution of power. In contrast, the LTTE and the other Tamil
groups did not agree to enter into discussions about political proposals and instead
put forward four demands which they insisted had to be agreed to by the Government
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88.

89.

90.

91.

of Sri Lanka, in totality, as a pre-condition for the continuance of the talks. The four
demands were:

a. The recognition of the Tamils as a Distinct Nationality;
b. The recognition of the right of the Tamils to an identified Tamil Homeland;
c. The recognition of the right of self-determination of the Tamil Nation; and

d. The recognition of the right to full citizenship of all Tamils living in Sri Lanka

The fourth demand was specific to the conditions of Tamils from India living in Sri
Lanka, which was in the process of being granted. Since the Tamil groups refused to
proceed with the talks without the Government of Sri Lanka’s acceptance of the other
three demands, the talks collapsed.

The LTTE, however, used the ceasefire granted by the Government of Sri Lanka
accompanying these talks as a means to strengthen itself militarily. Thus, shortly
after the breakdown of the talks, the LTTE was able to take control over the Jaffna
Peninsula. During the ceasefire period, the LTTE had purchased a number of M-16s,
AK-47s and Rocket Propelled Grenades (RPGs) and large quantities of explosives
and they used these weapons and explosives extensively against Security Forces and
civilian targets.

It was during this period that the LTTE established itself through violence as the
dominant Tamil militant group. The LTTE decimated the Eelam People’s Revolutionary
Liberation Front (EPRLF) and eliminated Sri Sabaratnam, the leader of the Tamil Eelam
Liberation Organisation (TELO). Subsequent to the talks, the LTTE used the military
advantages it had established to systematically assassinate the leaders of other Tamil
groups, and wipe out several of the groups in entirety.

Using international contacts established during the Thimpu Talks, the LTTE purchased
its first ship named “Cholan” in 1986. This marked the beginning of its international
shipping network.

The Indo-Lanka Accord - July 1987

In 1987, Sri Lanka was in a position of military strength and dominance over the
LTTE. However, a successful offensive by Security Forces in the North, Operation
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92.

Liberation, was abated and the Government of Sri Lanka agreed to a cessation of
hostilities. Subsequently the Indo-Lanka Accord was signed in Colombo on 29
July 1987, between Indian Prime Minister Rajiv Gandhi and Sri Lankan President
J.R. Jayewardene. This led to the arrival of an Indian peacekeeping force in Sri Lanka.
The Government of Sri Lanka took the concrete step of amending the national
constitution, adding a thirteenth amendment that provided for a provincial system
of governance, the Provincial Council system. Subsequently, by Gazette Notification,
the Northern and Eastern provinces were merged.

An important feature of this agreement was that the LTTE was required to surrender
its arms, together with all other militant groups. Unlike all the others, the LTTE
only made a token insignificant handing over of some weapons, and instead used
the ceasefire to further consolidate its power in the North and East. On 01 October
1987, just four days after falsely claiming it had surrendered all its arms, the LTTE
launched a pogrom against Sinhalese civilians in the East, killing 211 civilians within
two weeks and wounding 39. These attacks were as follows:

6-Oct-87 Batticaloa Town 18 6 Armed attack on civilians
6-Oct-87 Valachchenai 40 0 Setting fire to malil train
6-Oct-87 Talawai, Batticaloa 25 0 Armed attack on village
6-Oct-87 Sagarapura, Trincomalee 27 6 Armed attack on village
7-0ct-87 Lahugala, Pottuvil 30 0 Attack on a bus
10-Oct-87 | Gantalawa, Kantalai 9 3 Armed attack on village
15-Oct-87 | Ellakantalai, Trincomalee 14 0 Armed attack on village
16-Oct-87 | Pulmoddai - Anuradapura 8 0 Attack on a bus
19-Oct-87 |Kalkudah 40 24 Landmine explosion

93. Shortly thereafter, 17 LTTE cadres were arrested when they were caught on board

94.

two trawlers, on their way to rendezvous with a supply ship. Prior to being brought
to Colombo for law enforcement action, 11 of the LTTE cadres committed suicide on
5 October 1987 by ingesting cyanide smuggled in by the LTTE.

Within a few days the LTTE reacted by attacking two army camps and murdering
eight soldiers in their captivity and killing 23 civilians. A few days later, the LTTE
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killed five or six Indian soldiers. This open hostility of the LTTE, following its refusal
to surrender arms, led to the Indian Peace Keeping Force (IPKF) becoming an active
participant in the conflict. The IPKF directly fought the LTTE for the following two
years, during which the LTTEkilled 1,138 Indian soldiers and wounded 2,762 according
to IPKF records. The fact that the LTTE embroiled third-party peacekeepers in a full-
scale conflict and persisted in committing terrorist acts despite the Government of
Sri Lanka’s reconciliatory actions demonstrates the LTTE’s inherent violent nature
and its insincerity in exploring peaceful alternatives.

Peace Talks - 3 May 1989 to 10 June 1990

After 18 months of war with the IPKF, the LTTE sought the respite of a ceasefire.
To buy time and strengthen its forces, the LTTE agreed to a series of peace talks with
newly elected President Ranasinghe Premadasa, commencing on 25 April 1989. To
show goodwill to the LTTE during these talks, the Government of Sri Lanka compelled
the IPKF to enter into a ceasefire with the LTTE and, on 8 June 1989, ordered the IPKF
to depart from Sri Lanka. In its attempt to engage with the LTTE and as a gesture
of goodwill, the Government of Sri Lanka also agreed to a number of other LTTE
demands, including closing down several strategic army camps. The LTTE continued
to make further demands for concessions.

During the second round of talks that took place on 11 June 1990, while the LTTE
delegation was in Colombo under the protection of Sri Lanka’s Security Forces and
Police, the LTTE surrounded and attacked over a dozen police stations in the East,
taking hundreds of police officers as prisoners. Over the course of one day, the LTTE
killed 364 of these police officers after they surrendered to the LTTE as instructed by
the Government, most of them Sinhalese and Muslims. During the following week, the
LTTE continued to attack and capture police stations throughout the East and North.
The Government of Sri Lanka was committed to not giving up on the negotiations, and
so dispatched a senior Minister to Jaffna for further negotiations with the LTTE. As
a result of these negotiations, on 17 June 1990, a ceasefire between the Government
of Sri Lanka and LTTE was declared.

The LTTE proceeded to break this ceasefire too, attacking numerous Air Force and

Army camps as well additional police stations, killing an additional 342 and wounding
412. In this way, the LTTE once again exploited a period of peace talks and ceasefire
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E.

102.

to advance its interests, recovering from near military defeat to a position of tactical
and psychological advantage over Security Forces.

During these peace talks, the LTTE also further consolidated its power over other
Tamil groups through a campaign of assassination and targeted violence. The chief
victims this time were the leaders of the TULF. The former Leader of the Opposition,
A. Amirthalingam, was killed along with Mr. V. Yogeshwaran, MP for Jaffna, in July 1989.
In addition, one of the leading Tamil politicians in the East, Mr. Sam Thambimuttu,
MP of the EPRLF, was also killed by the LTTE in May 1990.

With the commencement of war in June 1990, the LTTE recommenced its suicide
attacks and expanded its suicide operations from the areas where the conflict
prevailed to the areas outside the North and East of the country including to India.
The main targets were political and military leaders who had been identified by the
LTTE leader as potential threats to the attainment of his ultimate objective.

The LTTE also targeted Muslims in its killing spree. In August 1990, the LTTE killed
147 Muslim devotees praying at a mosque in Kathankudy and 173 Muslim villagers
in Eravur, Batticaloa. Later that same year, the LTTE expelled all Muslims from
Jaffna.

This period also marked the beginning of suicide attacks against naval craft
operating off the Eastern coast of Sri Lanka. The first sea borne suicide attack
was reported on 10 July 1990 at Velvettithurai, Jaffna, where the Black Sea Tigers
made an attempt to ram an explosive laden boat on the Sri Lankan Naval vessel
“Edithara’”.

Peace Talks - 13 October 1994 to 18 April 1995

President Chandrika Kumaratunga initiated “unconditional talks” with the LTTE
within days of assuming office as Prime Minister on 17 August 1994. Subsequently,
a “Declaration of Cessation of Hostilities” was agreed upon, that provided for
both the LTTE and Security Forces to maintain their then present positions on the
ground. The LTTE, however, steadfastly refused to engage in any discussion on
substantive political issues until a series of additional demands, none of which
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106.

were provided for in the ceasefire agreement, were agreed to by the Government.
These demands included that the Government of Sri Lanka remove a strategic Army
Camp at Pooneryn, open up a strategic land route to the mainland for LTTE use,
allow LTTE cadres to carry arms in the East, exempt LTTE cadres from checkpoints
and screening on roadways, and relax restrictions on fishing activities in the East.
Although the LTTE alleged these were for humanitarian reasons, it was clear that
the granting of each of these demands would grant the LTTE a military advantage
that would help advance its separatist agenda.

Nevertheless, for the sake of pursuing a peaceful settlement with the LTTE,
President Kumaratunga accommodated the LTTE on most of these demands except
the closure of the Pooneryn camp, although the LTTE still was not satisfied and
insisted that every demand must be met before political discussions could proceed.
While the talks were continuing, the LTTE suddenly blasted two naval gunboats in
Trincomalee Harbour, killing 12 sailors and wounding 21 others. The LTTE not only
failed to provide the 72 hours notice of termination of the ceasefire agreement as
required in that agreement, but showed blatant disregard for the peace process by
responding to the Government of Sri Lanka’s concessions with such violence.

The LTTE significantly enhanced its strength during this period of ceasefire.
The LTTE formed four new Infantry and Support Arms Regiments namely Anbarasi
(anti aircraft), Malathi (female infantry regiment), Kittu (artillery regiment) and
Victor (anti tank regiment). The LTTE also purchased large quantities of artillery
guns, anti aircraft and anti tank weapons and explosives from Eastern European
and Eastern Asian countries.

For the first time in the conflict, the LTTE used Surface to Air Missiles against the
Sri Lanka Air Force, which it had procured during the ceasefire period. The LTTE
shot down two Avro aircraft of the Sri Lanka Air Force on 28 and 29 April 1995,
killing 100 unarmed military personnel returning on leave as well as some civilians.
Missile attacks in this period also accounted for an AN-32 aircraft in November
1995 and a MI-17 passenger transport helicopter in January 1996, killing a further
102.

In 1996, the LTTElaunched amassive attack targeting a Security Forces establishment
in Mullaitivu killing more than 1,100 soldiers.
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With the commencement of Eelam War III, the LTTE expanded its suicide operations
targeting religious places and economic establishments. The attack launched on the
Sri Dalada Maligawa or Temple of the Tooth — the Buddhist Shrine housing the sacred
tooth relic of Lord Buddha — using an explosive laden vehicle was the first suicide
attack launched by the LTTE on a religious place. The suicide attack launched on
the Oil Refinery Complex at Kolonnawa and Oil Tanks at Orugodawatta in Colombo
on 20 October 1995 can be identified as the first suicide attack conducted by the
LTTE on economic targets, which adversely affected the economy of the country.
This was followed in January 1996 by an attack on the Central Bank.

These examples make clear that the LTTE exploited the peace talks and ceasefire
period to markedly increase its military strength and acquire sophisticated
equipment that was then used against Security Forces and civilians with detrimental
consequences.

F. Norwegian-facilitated Peace Process - 21 February 2002 to 16 January 2008

109.

110.

The United National Front (UNF) government led by Prime Minister Ranil
Wickremasinghe came into power in December 2001 promising to end military
operations against the LTTE and restore peace through negotiations. Shortly after
the UNF victory, the LTTE unilaterally offered a ceasefire and unconditional talks on
24 December 2001, which was accepted by the UNF Government. The Government
and the LTTE signed a formal Ceasefire Agreement (CFA) on 22 February 2002.

The Government of Norway functioned as facilitator of the peace process,
coordinating communication between the parties and arranging logistics before
and during the peace talks. In addition, the Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission (SLMM),
comprising members from Nordic countries, was appointed to supervise the
implementation of the ceasefire agreement. The SLMM monitored events on the
ground and was required to make determinations regarding allegations of ceasefire
violations in keeping with their mandate. In addition, the governments of the United
States, Japan and Norway and the European Union were appointed as Co-chairs
of the Tokyo Conference on Re-Construction and Development of Sri Lanka on
10 June 2003, and in this role served to encourage the peace process through the
provision of funding for economic development projects in the North and East.
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As in previous peace talks, the LTTE insisted on numerous concessions by the
Government of Sri Lanka and pre-conditions before it would sit down to negotiate.
These included demands to ease restrictions on transport of dual purpose (civilian
and military) goods to LTTE-controlled areas, provision of transportation for LTTE
cadres, access to foreign funding, supplying of communication equipment and
access to international training programs for its cadres. The LTTE stated that these
were necessary for “confidence building” and “humanitarian reasons,” but did not
allow any concessions to the Government of Sri Lanka. Despite the Government of
Sri Lanka’s granting of almost all of the LTTE’s demands during this time, the LTTE
still balked, stalled and ultimately walked out of the peace talks when it was time
to commit to taking action on substantive political issues. Although there was a
standstill with regard to the resumption of the peace talks, the ceasefire continued,
mainly because the LTTE continued to benefit from the ceasefire and waited for an
opportune moment to break it.

Shortly after winning the presidential election in November 2005, President Mahinda
Rajapaksa successfully restarted the stalled talks with the LTTE. Aware of the LTTE’s
tactics of insisting on short-term demands whilst avoiding discussing substantive
political issues, the Government of Sri Lanka delegation this time refused the LTTE’s
demand to limit the discussion to the ceasefire agreement and instead insisted on
an open agenda. While progress was made in beginning the dialogue on an array
of issues in the first round of peace talks under President Mahinda Rajapaksa, the
LTTE subsequently reverted to its usual tactics and made logistical excuses and
additional demands that had the effect of halting the talks.

In June 2006, the LTTE delegation took the opportunity to fly to Oslo, Norway
for a round of scheduled talks with the Government of Sri Lanka, but refused to
show up for the negotiation session, stating that they were not satisfied with the
composition of the Government of Sri Lanka delegation. In the last round of talks
in October 2006, the LTTE refused to proceed with further peace talks until the
Government of Sri Lanka agreed to open up the A-9 highway, a demand that the
Government of Sri Lanka could not meet for security reasons. When talks broke
down this time, however, the LTTE had achieved what it needed under the ceasefire
agreement and was ready to resume hostilities.
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G. LTTE Behaviour During 2002-2006

114.

From the signing of the Ceasefire Agreement in February 2002 by the Government
led by Prime Minister Ranil Wickremasinghe, until the breakdown of peace talks in
October 2006, the LTTE significantly and measurably increased its military strength.
There is documented evidence that the LTTE exploited the ceasefire period to
rearm and build stockpiles of weapons and ammunition, engage in a large-scale
recruitment drive to markedly increase its strength, and assassinate its political
opponents to consolidate its power in the North and East. During this period, the
LTTE also engaged in a campaign to provoke, threaten and demoralise the Security
Forces, who were precluded from retaliating due to their adherence to the terms
of the ceasefire agreement. LTTE also repeatedly and systematically violated the
ceasefire agreement, increasing the frequency and seriousness of such violations
beginning in late 2005. The massive number of violations confirmed by the SLMM
make clear the LTTE’s contempt for the Ceasefire Agreement.

Acquisition of Arms and Ammunition

115.

116.

The LTTE engaged in upgrading weapons systems and stockpiling large quantities of
weapons during the ceasefire. [t managed to procure anumber of arms consignments
from abroad and was successful in unloading them to its strongholds in Mullaitivu
utilising sea routes. These armaments included large quantities of personal
weapons, mines, artillery guns, aircraft, missiles and large quantities of explosives.
The LTTE maintained a fleet of merchant vessels that transported weapons for
the group. These vessels would voyage to international waters off the coast of Sri
Lanka and transfer consignments of weapons to multi-day fishing trawlers that
would smuggle them to the coastline. Details of the reported arms procurements
are available in Annex J.

The detection of such weapons laden trawlers by the Sri Lanka Navy with SLMM
ceasefire monitors is recorded in the SLMM reports of 14 July 2002 and 10 February
2003. In these instances the SLMM ceasefire monitors on-board the Sri Lanka Navy
vessels documented evidence of weapons transfer by the LTTE during the ceasefire.
The detection and destruction of 10 LTTE vessels carrying thousands of tons of
weapons and equipment by the Sri Lanka Navy between the period of September
2006 to October 2007, establishes empirical evidence on the modus operandi used
by the LTTE to transport weapons during the ceasefire.
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Acquisition of Aircraft

117. The LTTE, which had earlier been limited to land and sea, added a new dimension to

its warfare by introducing aerial attacks with the use of aircraft that were procured
during the ceasefire. The LTTE also exploited the ceasefire by managing to send
its cadres abroad for flight training and built a number of airfields during this
period.

Recruitment of Cadres

118.

119.

The LTTE also capitalised on the ceasefire period by significantly increasing its
recruitment activities, including in Government controlled areas. This included
the abduction of adults and children. The SLMM determined that the LTTE was
responsible for 1,743 instances of child recruitments, 253 abductions of children
and a further 579 abductions of adults during the ceasefire. These SLMM records
only refer to complaints made by relatives to the SLMM regarding LTTE recruitments
and abductions. As the SLMM did not have a process to monitor CFA obligations
and receive public complaints in areas controlled by the LTTE, it is likely that a
substantial number of such incidents in these areas have not been reported.

The LTTE also significantly increased the strength of its auxiliary forces, and provided
mandatory training to civilians within its areas of control. LTTE’s recruitment
drive during the ceasefire period led to a significant increase in its strength: from
a strength of less than 14,000 cadres in 2002 it grew to 25,000 cadres by June
2006.

Exploitation of LTTE Political Offices

120.

Under the ceasefire agreement, the LTTE was permitted to engage in political
activity in government controlled areas. It was the expectation that the LTTE would
make best use of this opportunity to transform from a militant organisation to
a political one. Unfortunately, the indulgence of the Government of Sri Lanka to
facilitate such a transition was misused by the intransigent LTTE. For example, the
ceasefire agreement provided for LTTE combatants to enter government controlled
areas, which resulted in the LTTE establishing several “LTTE Political Offices” in
areas controlled by the Government of Sri Lanka. The LTTE used these “Political
Offices” to organise recruitment drives, spearhead intelligence efforts, collect arms
and threaten and intimidate residents.
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Strengthening of International Funding and Arms Procurement Operations

121.

122.

During the ceasefire, the LTTE actively engaged in restructuring its international
network to improve its fundraising and weapons procurement operations.
In July 2003, the international coordination centre of the LTTE convened a
meeting of key leaders of the overseas branches and provided them direction on
re-organising the international network. This re-organisation took effectimmediately
and the Tamil Diaspora was persuaded, or in many cases coerced, to contribute
money towards the resumption of war. The LTTE message to the Tamil Diaspora
was that large sums of funding is required as the LTTE was preparing for a decisive
battle to achieve its goal. This was referred to as the final war.

The LTTE exploited every source of revenue to sustainits fastgrowing expenditure and
develop military infrastructure facilities in the North and East during the ceasefire,
including using funds it received following the December 2004 tsunami. The LTTE
collected funds from overseas in the guise of utilising the funds for development
and rehabilitation work in the North and East. The funds were channelled through
its primary front organisation, the Tamil Rehabilitation Organisation (TRO), which
was later banned by several countries for supporting terrorism. The LTTE also
established an illegal bank during the ceasefire, the “North and East Development
Bank,” based in Killinochchi, and channelled money from the TRO to this bank.

Assassination of Opponents

123.

During the ceasefire period, the LTTE commissioned a fresh campaign of
assassinations targeting its opponents. The LTTE used its newly-formed “political
offices” in government controlled areas to plan and support these covert operations.
An LTTE sniper killed Foreign Minister Lakshman Kadirgamar in August 2005,
and Kethesh Loganathan, the Deputy Secretary General of the Secretariat for
Coordinating the Peace Process, was shot and killed outside his home in August
of the following year. During the ceasefire, the LTTE also killed a number of Tamil
political party leaders and members who had opposed it and entered the democratic
mainstream.
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Provocative Acts

124.

After the signing of the ceasefire agreement in February 2002, LTTE gradually
increased its provocative acts against Security Forces, attempting to provoke the
Security Forces to react and violate the ceasefire agreement. These included several
acts of intimidation, inclusive of abductions, attacks and assassinations targeting
the Security Forces, as well as smaller acts that attempted to elicit an immediate
response. At checkpoints throughout the North and East, the LTTE engaged in
taunting, throwing stones, spitting and other acts intended to humiliate individual
soldiers. There are several incidents where LTTE cadres in civilian attire brutally
attacked and killed Security Forces personnel while they were on patrol on the
streets in government controlled areas. LTTE cadres dressed in civilian clothing also
engaged in acts such as burning tires on the street, blocking traffic and otherwise
disrupting civilian life. Despite these provocations by the LTTE, Security Forces
acted with restraint in keeping with the spirit of the ceasefire agreement.

Violations of the Ceasefire Agreement

125.

126.

127.

Between February 2002 and May 2007, the SLMM ruled that the LTTE violated
the ceasefire 3,830 times, compared with just 351 violations attributed to the
Government of Sri Lanka. It should be noted that the SLMM monitoring and ability to
investigate complaints was limited by its permitted role and resources, particularly
in LTTE controlled areas. Therefore, it is likely that the LTTE violated the ceasefire
far more times than even this number indicates.

After the LTTE was banned by the European Union, the LTTE retaliated by saying
that it could no longer guarantee the safety of SLMM personnel. As a result of these
threats by the LTTE, the SLMM significantly reduced its presence and role in Sri Lanka
from September 2006. From May 2007, the SLMM ceased making determinations on

ceasefire violations.

Given the SLMM'’s inability to consistently investigate complaints made against the
LTTE in LTTE controlled areas, and the reductions in its personnel and presence
necessitated by LTTE provocations, it is prudent to also examine the record of
complaints made against the LTTE during the ceasefire period. The table opposite
summarises the nature and number of these complaints.
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Abduction of Civilians 102 147 753 186 1 1,189
Provocative Activities 221 101 218 118 1 659
Protest Campaign 45 16 42 21 124
Demanding Ransom 1 36 9 46
Conscription 85 96 213 40 434
Forcible removal of Private Vehicles 4 1 79 9 93
Hoisting of LTTE Flag in public institutions 111 97 20 19 247
Harassment to Civilians 37 30 251 55 373
Carrying Weapons in Cleared Areas 11 28 35 39 1 114
Construction of new Camps/Bunkers 4 2 5 11
Killing of Civilians 243 99 311 112 30 5 800
Killing of Security Personnel 593 265 225 152 29 105 | 1,369
Naval Exercise with live fire 1 1 2
TOTAL 1,456 | 884 | 2,183 766 60 | 112 | 5,461

128. It should be noted that while the ceasefire agreement formally ended on 16 January
2008, the ceasefire was effectively over by July 2006 due to the LTTE’s marked
increase in violence and effective abrogation of the agreement subsequent to this
time.

LTTE’s Preparation for War

129. An examination of complaints made against the LTTE in the period leading up
to July 2006 shows an increased quantity and severity of ceasefire violations,
evidence of military build-up, and a record of increasingly brazen provocations
of Security Forces. Evidence of the LTTE trajectory toward war is documented in
SLMM correspondence. The chart overleaf shows a clear increase in the number of
allegations in 2005 and 2006 compared to the previous years.
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Violations of the Ceasefire Agreement by the LTTE

Year 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Total
Number of Violations 815 871 702 975 2,098 5,461
Number of Ceasefire Violations
2,500
2,000 -
1,500
1,000
500
0 I I I I I
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

130. The statistics above demonstrate the clear intention of the LTTE to provoke the

131.

Government of Sri Lanka to a military response. At the same time, the nature of
the targets selected by the LTTE clearly indicates its intention at the time to limit
the ability of the Government of Sri Lanka to wage a military response successfully.
During the ceasefire, the LTTE succeeded in assassinating 24 Sri Lankan intelligence
agents. In April 2006 the LTTE attempted to assassinate the Commander of the
Sri Lanka Army through an attack carried out by an LTTE suicide bomber who
infiltrated Army Headquarters. A suicide bomber assassinated the Deputy Chief of
Staff of the Sri Lanka Army in June 2006. An attempt was also made on the life of
the Secretary to the Ministry of Defence in December of the same year.

Despite the many attempts of the LTTE to provoke the Government of Sri Lanka to a
military response, such a response was not forthcoming until military intervention
became the last resort to prevent the burgeoning humanitarian crisis caused by the
LTTE’s closure of the Mavil Aru sluice gates in July 2006.
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PART TWO

V. RESUMPTION OF HOSTILITIES

132.

On or about 21 July 2006 villagers of Muslim, Sinhalese and Tamil origin reported to
the Irrigation Engineer of the Mavil Aru sluice gates that they observed an unusual
reduction of the water flow in the Kallar inlet channel. The Irrigation engineer
on going out to inspect the sluice gates was prevented by the LTTE at gunpoint.
It became apparent that the head sluice gates were closed by the LTTE on their
suddenly taking control of the area, which resulted in the stoppage of the flow of

water.
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Mavil Aru Sluice Gate
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Mavil Aru comprises three sluice gates - Head Sluice, Source Sluice and Radial Gate.
The Source Sluice and Radial Gate have been constructed across two streams of
Verugal Aru, which flows eastwards. The Head Sluice controls the water flow to the
Kallar Inlet Channel, which flows northwards and provides water for the villages.

The population of the Mavil Aru area to which water was provided included 9,510
Muslims, 8,013 Sinhalese and 4,439 Tamils living in 20 villages. The closure of
the sluice gate gravely affected their livelihood and domestic requirements. The
primary occupation of the villagers was farming and their lifeline to water was
from this source. The families engaged in animal husbandry and fishing trade in
tank water were also affected. A catastrophe was in the making as livelihood and
survival were under threat.

The matter was reported to the Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission (SLMM) and other
relevant authorities but the situation remained unchanged. All peaceful efforts
to have the flow of water restored failed. With the passing of days the problem
remained unresolved. If the water supply was not restored, the entire crop would
have been ruined. The community was becoming desperate.

The villagers wanted to march towards the point of stoppage with the intention
of opening the Sluice Gates. This would have led to confrontation with the LTTE,
which had to be prevented. The denial of water, a basic right to life of a community,
seemed designed by the LTTE to provoke the Government of Sri Lanka to react after
previous attempts had failed. The community was being used as a pawn by the
LTTE.

This situation demanded action by the Government if the villagers were not to
be forced to abandon their livelihood and lands. The Government was compelled
to launch a limited military operation to open the sluice gates. Security Forces
commenced operations at 0500 hours on 28 July 2006.

The momentum of the Security Forces was slowed because of the high concentration
of mines placed by the LTTE, and heavy resistance from recently constructed and
heavily fortified trenches and bunkers. Troops also faced artillery and mortar
barrages from the LTTE.
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139.

Whilst the Mavil Aru operation was in progress, the LTTE launched simultaneous

attacks at approximately 0200 hours on 2 August 2006 on Army Camps in

Kaddaiparichchan, Selvanagar and Mahindapura and the Mutur Naval Detachment

and Mutur town. Security Forces also now had to counter the LTTE attacks on these

new fronts around the Trincomalee Harbour. The main troop carrier, the Jetliner,

was also attacked whilst entering the Trincomalee Harbour.
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The town of Mutur which faces the Trincomalee Harbour fell into the hands of
the LTTE while fierce fighting took place at Kattiparichahan at the entrance to
Mutur. Attacks on Selvanagar and Galkanda also made the civilian population in
the entire area to the south of Trincomalee Harbour flee their homes. The Internally
Displaced Persons that fled to camps in Kantale amounted to 76,745, comprising
5,848 Sinhalese, 29,620 Tamils and 41,277 Muslims.

The intention of the LTTE was to capture Trincomalee Harbour, which was the main
logistics base for the transport of supplies to Jaffna for the civilian population as
well as for the Security Forces. The alternate mode of transport was by air as the land
route A-9 (Main Supply Route) was partly controlled by the LTTE. If Trincomalee fell
into the hands of the LTTE, the Jaffna peninsula would have been in great jeopardy
as ready access would not have been available for men and material.

On the morning of 6 August 2006, the Security Forces commenced clearing Mutur
Town, and troops consolidated the area by evening. Kattaparichchan was also
cleared around this time. Total control of Trincomalee South was regained by
7 August 2006.

Having successfully controlled Trincomalee South, troops were re-launched to
continue the effort to liberate Mavil Aru. On 10 August, Security Forces consolidated
on the western bank of Radial Gate, ending the battle for water. The sluice gates
were reopened, and water flowed freely into the cultivation areas.

To halt Security Forces operations in the East and divert troops to Jaffna, the LTTE
expanded its theatre of operation on 11 August 2006. Just 15 minutes before
the close of function for the day, the LTTE attacked the Muhamalai Entry/Exit
point on the Kandy-Jaffna A-9 road, seriously violating the ceasefire agreement.
Approaching the Entry/Exit Point on board a bus, taking cover behind another bus
carrying pilgrims, the LTTE mounted a well coordinated ground assault, closely
supported by concentrated artillery and mortar fire, killing the unprepared military
personnel who were busy winding up the day’s activities at the check point.
The attack also killed civilians near the scene. Simultaneously, attempts were
launched by the LTTE to capture the Naval Detachment at Kilaly and the Forward
Defence Line in Muhamallai. The LTTE had partially succeeded in these attempts
by 2300 hours.
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145. Subsequently, LTTE Sea Tiger cadres conducted a sea landing and captured a portion
of defences held by the Naval troops at Kayts Island while engaging Ariyalai with
concentrated artillery fire. Naval troops had to vacate the positions in the Forward
Defence Line and occupied their alternative positions located in the interior. The
initial success achieved was exploited by the LTTE, which established a stronghold
at Allaippiddi.
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Attacks on Jaffna peninsula

146. Troops encountering the initial thrust had to redeploy to occupy the counter
penetration positions to prevent further penetration. Reinforcements were sent
to take control of the situation in the Kilaly front, whilst containing the LTTE at
Muhamallai including the area north of the Entry/Exit Point. Troops manning
counter penetration positions launched a series of local counterattacks without
achieving much success. From 11 to 14 August 2006, Security Forces made several
attempts to recapture the Forward Defence Line but were halted effectively by the
LTTE.

147. A counterattack was launched to recapture the Naval Detachment at Kilaly. Security
Forces successfully recaptured the Naval Detachment under heavy resistance with
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the help of Armour and Artillery fire. By 0400 hours on 12 August 2006, the defences
in the Kilaly Lagoon front were re-established.

At Kayts, Sri Lanka Navy troops held the bases having redeployed themselves,
vacating some of the strong points along the coastal belt. Security Forces launched
a successful counterattack on 12 August 2006 and recaptured the positions
occupied by the LTTE. Sri Lanka Navy troops consolidated the liberated defences at
Mandaitivu on the following day.

Security Forces managed to contain the LTTE penetration until 17 August 2006 by
successfully occupying counter penetration positions and then launched counter
attacks of different magnitudes. The degradation exerted by Security Forces reduced
the LTTE combat efficiency which prevented it launching deliberate attacks on
the counter penetration positions and shoulders occupied by the troops. Security
Forces and the LTTE both suffered heavy casualties during the confrontation.

Security Forces completed the recapture by 27 August 2006 and established the
Forward Defence Line in Muhamallai intact.

Having failed in their earlier major offensive to capture the port of Trincomalee,
the LTTE continued to fire artillery and mortar from Sampoor and Ralkuli (situated
on either side of Mutur inside the harbour basin) towards the Naval Dockyard, SLAF
Base at China Bay and threatened the Mitsui Cement Factory, the Prima Flour Mill
and the Oil Tanks. This was a serious threat to the Trincomalee area, and civilians
started to move out due to fears for their safety.
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LTTE major offensive to capture Trincomalee

Security Forces initiated providing shelter and necessary amenities to the people,
which was later undertaken by the civil administrative machinery. The LTTE was
continuously attempting to attack Naval Craft sailing in and out of the Trincomalee
Harbour and Mutur Jetty. This disruption of the sea lines of communication to
Jaffna would have given a tremendous military advantage to the LTTE.

In addition to these factors, displaced civilians of Mutur and the Trincomalee
South area, who had experienced the recent LTTE assaults and artillery and mortar
fire, demanded that the Security Forces guarantee their safety by evicting the LTTE
and the constant threat it presented. In this situation, given the series of attacks
previously experienced, it was deemed essential to secure Sampoor and adjacent
areas and ensure the safety of the civil population.

The LTTE increased its strength and fortified the area to deny Security Forces ingress
and prevented any sea landing from the general area Foul Point. LTTE activities
in the areas of Sampoor and Ralkuli continued to pose a direct threat on naval
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activities in the Trincomalee Harbour. There was an increase of Sea Tiger activities
with the arrival of senior Sea Tiger leaders along with fast craft and suicide boats
that made a significant change in their strike capabilities.

The Government of Sri Lanka, having been forced to react to the brazen provocations
of the LTTE at Mavil Aru and Trincomalee South in the East, and Muhamallai and
Kayts in the Jaffna peninsula, was impelled to counter this unceasing threat by
launching a proactive operation against the LTTE.

The Security Forces launched the Humanitarian Operation to secure the Sampoor
area at 0300 hours on 24 August 2006. The accuracy of artillery and precision of
air interdictions combined with small group actions caused heavy casualties to
the LTTE, whilst the tactical manoeuvring of the main column created confusion
among the LTTE leadership. By 3 September it was observed by Security Forces as
well as through technical sources that the remaining LTTE cadres were attempting
to withdraw southwards. The Navy prevented sea withdrawals by the LTTE. By 1400
hours on 4 September 2006, Security Forces were able to gain full control of the
Sampoor area.

The successful completion of the operation had a tremendous impact on the
confidence of the civilians and boosted the overall image of the Government. Further,
the regained area provided much needed depth for the safety of Trincomalee Town,
Harbour and the Naval Dockyard. Manirasakulam which the LTTE had seized during
the ceasefire period was recaptured, which prevented terrorist movements between
the Wanni, Trincomalee and Batticoloa.

After the area was secured, all those who had left the area were able to return
in full confidence for their safety. Normal activity resumed and fields that had
been abandoned for years were cultivated again. The rice bowl around Trincomalee
began to flourish in the absence of the LTTE.

A salient feature of this operation was that civilian life and property were by and
large safeguarded. However, civilian deaths were caused by the LTTE, including
through shooting at a passing ambulance at Galkanda. Muslim civilians fleeing
from artillery attacks were targeted by withdrawing LTTE cadres.
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160. The Humanitarian Operation continued to liberate the rest of the East including

161.

Vakarai, the Batticaloa bowl, Thoppigala and Trincomalee North. By 10 July 2007,
Security Forces completed the liberation of the Eastern Province.

The sustained violations of the Ceasefire Agreement by the LTTE had made it
abundantly clear that the LTTE used the ceasefire only as a cover for achieving its
military objectives. The need for a measured response had been amply proven, and
the success of that response ensured relief for civilians. As a sovereign state with
legitimate authority, Sri Lanka had an obligation to protect all its citizens, and in
particular those under the LTTE yoke, so that they too could enjoy the same rights
and benefits as other citizens.
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VI. THE WANNI OPERATION

162. While the Humanitarian Operation in the East was reaching its climax, it was decided
to open a frontage in the Wanni theatre. During this period, an area of 6,792 sq km
was under the control of the LTTE. Security Forces manned an 11 km long Forward
Defence Line (FDL) from Kilaly to Nagarkovil via Muhamallai in the North and a
140 km long FDL from Mannar to Kokkuthuduwai via Omanthai in the South. The
operation in the Wanni was launched on 5 March 2007.

Bay:
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Wanni Theatre

163. Initial confrontations took place in the primary jungle, thus restricting effective
use of Armour and Artillery. Built up areas were carefully avoided in keeping with
the “Zero Civilian Casualty” policy that had been adopted. Before the campaign
began, substantial work was done to identify locations where the civilian population
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resided, with the assistance of public servants in those areas, to avoid making them
conflict zones. Such areas were comprehensively avoided even after the civilians
had left.

Security Forces operations were carried out by small groups that maintained some
distance between them and operated ahead of the strongly held defence line,
known as the base line. The deployment of small groups reduced the requirement
for artillery assets. Further, task oriented training imparted on small groups on
Forward Observer duties also proved very effective in their ability to call for accurate
indirect fire when such was required, greatly increasing the effectiveness of fire
and reducing casualties to civilians and own troops. The demand for Armour fire
support was also reduced as a result of the small group operations, which in turn
greatly reduced the risk of causing civilian casualties.

The LTTE, after its defeat in the East, realised the damage caused by these small
groups and modified its tactics. LTTE lines were highly fortified unlike in the East,
and the LTTE strongly resisted the forward movement of Security Forces using
a heavy concentration of mines, booby traps and artillery fire. Troops sustained
heavy casualties as a result, and progress was slow.

During the Humanitarian Operation in the East, the strategy adopted with careful
use of terrain imperatives by the Security Forces successfully managed to separate
terrorists from civilians to a large extent. This denied the LTTE the opportunity of
exploiting civilians as a human shield, except at Vakarai. However, having learned
a lesson in the East, the LTTE prevented civilians escaping from the initial stages of
the operation in the Wanni. Therefore they deployed armed cadres at the Entry/Exit
points at Omanthai and Ulliyankulam. Against all odds, a small number of civilians
were able to evade these cadres in March 2008, when 46 families comprising
138 members were able to cross into government controlled areas. Such attempts
to flee the LTTE continued until the conclusion of the Humanitarian Operation.
Several safe corridors were kept open between the A-9 and A-32 roads for such
civilian movement as well as for the uninterrupted supply of essential items,
especially food convoys along the A-9 road by UN agencies, coordinated by Security
Force Headquarters Wanni.
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Having planned from the inception of the Wanni operation to use civilians as a
human shield, the LTTE compelled civilians to move to points behind their rear lines
to use them when the occasion arose. The LTTE carried the civilian population with
them also to recruit them to their ranks, to use as labour particularly in constructing
bunds and ditches, and to obtain free food and medicine from the Government of
Sri Lanka. LTTE moved all the civilians out of their homes long before the arrival of
the Security Forces in built up areas.

Security Forces gave public notice through leaflets and amplifiers to encourage
civilians to leave the combat zone, in case there were people left behind that the
LTTE had not taken with them. More sophisticated systems were installed in the
Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVS’) after the Eastern operation to enable pictures to
be dispatched to the level of Formation Commanders for identification of military
targets. Instructions were strictly adhered to by having Commanders up front in
charge of operations monitor and safeguard civilian locations. All available high
techresources including highly experienced and skilled personnel ensured precision
targeting of military objectives, which minimised collateral damage.

The recapture of Madhu on 24 April 2008 was considered the first major objective
liberated during the Wanni operation due to its significance for Sri Lankan Roman
Catholics. The LTTE had built bunkers around the church and launched artillery
attacks from the premises. It also used the church premises to treat its wounded
cadres. In keeping with the instructions given to avoid any harm to places of religious
and cultural significance, Security Forces avoided offensive operations in proximity
of the church. Instead, troops cut off LTTE supply routes around the church, causing
the LTTE to withdraw. The liberation of Madhu whilst avoiding direct engagement
was greatly appreciated by the Church authorities, and the annual feast was held
on schedule with support of the Security Forces.

The Humanitarian Operation continued, liberating Adampan, the Rice Bowl of
Mannar and Periyamadhu. Security Forces captured Veddithalathive, a major Sea
Tiger base, by July 2008. The ditch cum bund prepared and manned by the LTTE,
which ran from Nachchikudah to Therumurukandi via Akkarayankulam stalled
progress. Heavy artillery fire by the LTTE caused heavy casualties amongst Security
Forces, which used UAVs and Radars to accurately locate and destroy the LTTE’s
artillery assets. Nachchikuda was liberated in October 2008.
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Security Forces captured Veddithalathive

171. The capture of the Akkarayankulam earth bund was a key event in the Humanitarian
Operation as the LTTE had planned to fight its main battle there by launching a
full-scale counterattack. Security Forces negotiated a series of ditch cum bunds that
had been heavily mined and booby trapped, and repulsed the LTTE counterattacks.
This engagement was critical: having been beaten comprehensively in a terrain
which favoured guerrilla warfare, the LTTE shifted its modus operandi to a
semi conventional defensive posture. Due to a shortage of resources, the LTTE
forcibly employed civilians for the construction of ditch cum bunds and mobilised
earthmoving machinery forcibly taken from civilians and INGOs. This was evident
from reconnaissance conducted through the Beech Craft of the Sri Lanka Air Force.
During this time, the LTTE also used civilians who had been given training in
weapons handling along with LTTE cadres in defensive operations, preserving its
experienced cadres for counterattacks and future offensives. Akkarayankulam was
captured in November 2008.
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172. Security Forces operations continued steadily on all axes in the other fronts of the

Wanni theatre.

173. When Security Forces entered the town of Kilinochchi, LTTE’s administrative hub,
all civilians had been driven to Vishvamadhu. The LTTE’s aim was to create a human
shield to block the Security Forces’ advance to Puthukudirippu, where the LTTE
leadership was in its military stronghold. On 2 January 2009, President Mahinda
Rajapkasa called upon the LTTE to lay down its arms and surrender. The LTTE did
not heed this call. It continued to occupy successive lateral lines and deployed its

cadres near the people, to fire on the troops.
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174. The Government declared the first No Fire Zone (NFZ) in January 2009 in the area of
the greatest concentration of civilians being forcibly held by the LTTE at that time.
It was not the case that the Security Forces declared areas as NFZ and then pushed
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175.

176.

people to such areas. The creation of the NFZ was a precautionary measure taken
by the Government to safeguard people still under LTTE control.

Security Forces, in moving nearer to the NFZ, aimed to facilitate the escape of people
from the zone. By the first week of February, over 20,000 civilians had crossed to
Government controlled areas, at which point the LTTE reacted by sending a suicide
bomber who intermingled with the civilians and detonated herself at a reception
centre in Vishvamadu on 9 February 2009, causing many civilian and military
casualties. This had the effect of discouraging civilians crossing, though many still

continued to try.

As a result, the LTTE moved people from this relatively large and accessible NFZ,
into increasingly smaller and less accessible areas of land. These are the areas
that became the subsequent NFZ. The carriage of people was the act of the LTTE.
It became obvious that the people wanted to escape from the clutches of the LTTE;
at every available opportunity civilians crossed to the sanctuary offered by Security
Forces and many made desperate attempts to come over. Many such civilians were
killed by the LTTE.
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177.

destroyed the Kalmandukulam Tank entrapping the civilians and preventing them
from moving to Government controlled areas. The LTTE also attempted to destroy
the Iranamadu Tank bund, the largest water reservoir in the North. This would have
resulted in a major humanitarian catastrophe had it succeeded, but the cadres who
were to carry out the mission refused to do so and surrendered to Security Forces.

In its relentless movement of civilians to smaller and smaller areas, the LTTE
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178.

and used the food rations which they stole and held for their consumption leaving
the people in hunger. Whilst on the run, LTTE had often used these siphoned heaps
of food bundles especially the rice, flour and sugar to construct makeshift bunkers
and covered them with canopies distributed among civilians by the UN agencies, to

attack or launch suicide attacks on advancing troops.
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183.

At the later stages of the Wanni operation the LTTE intermingled with the civilians
to launch attacks, including artillery and mortar attacks, on Security Forces. LTTE
cadres dressed as civilians, and fired from amongst civilians. This hampered
Security Forces operations since return fire to neutralise targets had to be greatly
reduced. The LTTE also launched attacks from areas supposed to be free of combat,
such as hospitals, with similar results.

From the beginning in January 2009, the LTTE moved its cadres and weapons into
areas that had been declared NFZ. It attacked Security Forces from these positions,
using artillery, tanks, mortar and other heavy calibre weapons. The LTTE was also
constructing obstacles to prevent civilians crossing over to Government controlled
areas. It was a daunting task to separate the civilians from the LTTE as the cadres
were dressed in civilian attire as camouflage.

The LTTE haphazardly and irrationally directed violence at civilians to create
humanitarian issues—a role the LTTE traditionally employed in desperation in
most losing battles. Balancing the required imperatives complicated the operations
but Security Forces maintained a strict vigilant enforcement regime of avoiding
civilian casualties in a difficult and complicated environment. The prime intention
was saving civilians from LTTE clutches that required neutralising the grip that the
LTTE asserted over them.

The LTTE, upon realising that their ability to control the civilians in larger expanses
of territory was limited, kept forcefully moving the civilians to smaller and smaller
extents of land until they reached Putumattalan. This was a narrow stretch of
land bounded by the sea and a lagoon, which formed natural obstacles to civilians
escaping in addition to the LTTE’s hostile actions to keep them trapped. In a well
documented incident, the LTTE started shooting at many thousands of civilians
amassed on the border of the lagoon, attempting to cross over to the safety of
government controlled areas. This compelled Security Forces to expeditiously
launch a hostage rescue mission.

With the commencement of the hostage rescue mission Security Forces on
instructions ended the use of heavy calibre guns and combat aircraft and aerial
weapons that might cause civilian casualties. The operations were confined to the
mission of rescuing civilians.
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VII. THE CIVILIAN RESCUE OPERATION

184. The Humanitarian Operation that commenced in Mavil Aru, converted itself to a
civilian rescue mission in the last phases of the war as the civilians were forcibly
held against their will by the LTTE, in the areas of Putumattalan, Karayamullivaikkal
and Vellamullivaikkal, where geographical location (between the lagoon and the
sea) made it difficult to create safe passages for the civilians to cross over to the

liberated areas.
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Crossing the canal was a water based operation where sometimes a home base
was related to an island in the water via which small groups carried out initial
reconnaissance drives, adopted stealth moves and made surprise entries. Initial
surprise entry was of prime importance. Ropes, barrels, tubes, logs, sticks and
inflated tubes were placed in the water along with divers and skilled swimmers as
water scouts for evacuation of civilians. Dinghies were not used to avert possible
detection by LTTE listening posts. Safe lanes were secured to facilitate rescue of
civilians.

The stealth operation was initiated by small groups in locally created rafts without
the aid of rope as it may have led to detection. Instead divers and skilled swimmers
assisted in direction and guidance.

The LTTE countered by constructing earth-bunds and multiple layers of obstacles
creating twin complications to delay entry and hinder entrapped civilians’ access
to freedom. During this period, there was a considerable increase in the atrocities
committed by the LTTE against the incarcerated civilian population, i.e., shooting
those attempting to leave the control of the LTTE, permanent deployment of
civilians as human shields, forced labour, forced recruitment of children, and
forced construction of large earth bunds by civilians coerced by armed guards.
The civilians who crossed over to the liberated areas confirmed that the civilian
population was subject to severe violence by the LTTE.

Small groups on surprise landings under cover of night crawled inland and were
met by earth bunds. Maximum surprise was utilised in negotiating the earth bunds
while reserves stood in the background. The task was to open mobility corridors
for civilians to find a way to safety. Behind the bunds were the LTTE bunkers. Once
the bunds were occupied, snipers were employed to pin down the LTTE guns and
take shots at the bunkers. Small groups moved forward with scouts and navigators
in the front. LTTE fire caused many casualties that required evacuation. Gradual
move forward meant slow entry after capturing congested territory with temporary
huts and tents. Civilians ran desperately towards the oncoming Security Forces and
were directed in language and signals to move to safe positions. Sick and elderly
with their baggage had to be carried and some required medical attention. Many
servicemen lost their lives while assisting civilians to safety, struck by LTTE snipers
from the NFZ. Considering the safety of the civilians, Security Forces throughout the
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189.

190.

rescue mission used minimum force to retaliate to LTTE fire and targeted clearly

identified armed cadres with aimed fire of limited arms. These precautions led to

unavoidable casualties among Security Forces personnel.

There was clear evidence of the civilians’ desperation to get away from the clutches

of the LTTE. Security Forces provided maximum support to the civilians.

a.

From the time the LTTE began keeping the civilians captive, many attempts
were made by the civilians to cross the lagoon and come over to Government
controlled territory. The Security Forces announced frozen periods during which
they would be on a standstill position to tempt the LTTE to release the persons
held in captivity, to no avail as the LTTE failed to respond favourably.

When the civilians gathered in numbers to make the crossing or to board an
ICRC boat, the LTTE rounded the civilians attempting to leave and shot at the
gathering and dispersed the people. It was obvious the captives were hostile
to the LTTE. The LTTE at the later stages attempted to recruit the civilians
forcibly to their fighting ranks. The LTTE killed and injured several civilians
who attempted to cross the lagoon. Security Forces placed ropes, tubes and
boats along with divers to assist the civilians attempting to make the crossing
in the night on water.

When the ICRC was ferrying the sick and the aged to safety, the LTTE placed
their own injured fighting cadres on those boats, depriving the sick and aged
civilians from securing the medical care they required.

Security Forces had to re-locate the centres that received civilians and provided
assistance away from the LTTE artillery as the LTTE was using artillery on these
locations to deter civilians from crossing the lagoon.

The civilians who escaped incarceration were transported to the camps in
protected vehicles as LTTE engaged suicide cadres to blow themselves up and
the civilians, after disguising themselves as civilians.

The other methods adopted locally by Security Forces to free the civilians, included

asking civilians who had escaped the LTTE to make announcements over loud

speakers encouraging those civilians forcibly held to stage similar escapes. Some

of the male civilians volunteered to return to the LTTE held territory and were

allowed to go back in an effort to rescue more of their own kith and kin. Leaflets
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192.

193.

194.

195.

196.

were dropped in areas where the civilians were being held hostage by the LTTE and
loudspeaker and radio announcements were made, encouraging the civilians to
escape.

Despite these measures, the UAVs deployed over the uncleared territories revealed
an increase in the force used against the civilians by the LTTE who were shooting
at any civilians attempting to escape their control. Therefore the Government of
Sri Lanka decided to use force to rescue the civilian population from the imminent
danger they were facing under the LTTE. But the force used was limited nature
weapons as per instructions.

Security Forces were well trained in armed combat and rescue mission operations
and had the professional expertise to control extreme situations in a way consistent
with the human rights obligations of the State.

Furthermore, prior to embarking onrescue operations, model training and rehearsals
and situation training mainly focusing on rescue operations were conducted; these
included recreation of the NFZ and rehearsals.

The Sri Lanka Army has elite units specialised in Hostage Rescue Operations who
were deployed for the task, who in turn gave leadership and training to the other
units of the Security Forces engaged in the rescue operations.

Information relating to hostages was gathered with the means of UAV footage that
was received by Security Forces, as well as through military intelligence and civilian
sources and through international networks. Civilians who crossed over were
debriefed by Security Forces. This exercise was carried out to ascertain the factual
situation even though it was exceptionally challenging to access all the necessary
information in order to assess the full factual picture, including the imminence of
the deadly threat. The prime consideration was to minimise the risk to civilian lives
in planning strategy.

With the utilisation of this information meticulous pre-planning was carried out

prior to commencing each phase of the rescue operation. The chief objective being
the minimising of casualties, the following strategies were adopted:
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197.

a.

Model training and rehearsals and situation training mainly focusing on rescue
operations and protecting civilian lives; UAV images were used on an actual
size model and series of rehearsals were conducted.

Specially trained anti-hijacking and hostage rescue troops were deployed
during the hostage rescue operations along with the ground troops;

Change of weaponry — i.e., no artillery power was used in the NFZs. However,
small arms fire including sniper attacks were used for the rescue operations;

Snipers were constantly used since the LTTE were intermingling with civilians.
This had a tremendous impact on the civilians as they observed that the targets
taken were the LTTE combatants engaged in the act of firing, and Security
Forces carefully avoided the civilians in the vicinity. This action on the part of
Security Forces gave a strong message that helping hands would come to their
assistance in making the crossing and encouraged more civilians to cross the
lagoon.

Deliberate change in the use of weaponry from rapid fire to deliberate fire.

Maximum utilisation of the skills of the SOF and their night fighting capabilities.
Night operations were carried out with great caution as it had disadvantages
on visibility issues, though special equipment was used.

The concept of small groups (4/8 man teams) — the accent was on strategic
attacks with the use of personal arms on an aim and fire at the target rule.

Construction of trenches and approaching through these trenches.

By establishing secure launching pads for subsequent operations it was possible to
open more secure passages for evacuation, and over 42,000 civilians were rescued
on 20 April 2009. They were initially conducted to receiving stations via the safe
passages and their immediate medical needs and basic comforts were attended to.
Then they were transferred to civilian centres for occupation. The rescued civilians
became a mine of information for activities in the LTTE positions that assisted
greatly in operational plans of rescue missions. LTTE control of the civilians reduced
when the NFZ was partitioned into two sectors by the troops, creating a passage
to the sea. As the troops went forward the LTTE compelled the civilians to move

south.
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199.

200.

201.

202.

On 21 and 22 April 2009 over 60,000 civilians were saved from the hands of the
LTTE, demonstrating the magnitude of the operation and the logistic support
necessary. The civilians were determined to escape and they were able to do so
with the assistance offered by Security Forces. The civilians came to Government
controlled area in small groups or in large numbers wherever and whenever possible.
Night moves were often resorted to in order to make the opening for the civilians.

Open areas made Security Forces vulnerable and the LTTE had constructed bunkers
with forced labour to prevent the onward drive. Several forays were launched using
the lagoon to make surprise entries. The LTTE, desperate and taxed, resorted to
sending suicide motorcyclists and infiltrations by boat movement. Security Forces
held the advantage with strong reserves and multiple lines in the rear to repulse
possible counterattacks. Rotating fresh troops at each phase also kept morale
high.

Security Forces that ferried civilians to safety had to encounter water filled
ditches heavily mined with anti personnel mines and booby traps. There were also
earthworks that extended from sea to lagoon that had to be overcome.

In the last stages, the LTTE adopted a new tactic of using isolated small groups
to fight until death to hinder the advance of Security Forces. This seemed a last
desperate attempt to save the leadership by gaining time to facilitate intended
departure or rescue for the leadership by external forces. Sources reported the
remaining civilians were at the edge of the lagoon in the south expecting assistance
to escape. Estimates indicated around 70,000 civilians trapped. Troops had to
make their way through sand banks (270m long and 40m wide) for which exercise
previous trainings were undertaken. A long trench was cut to secure the remaining
causeway for the extraction of the trapped civilians.

Due to oncoming attacks, Security Forces had to dig positions in the ground.
The trenches had to be dug at night to avoid visibility, a hazardous operation since
the LTTE kept on firing during construction. In one week alone, Security Forces lost
47 personnel digging such trenches. These trenches had a protective wall constructed
in some places for cover. Security Forces were entrenched in pre-fabricated bunkers
(routed in zigzag curvature to reduce the impact of oncoming indirect fire) long
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204.

before action was to commence and thereafter inched their way forward in slow
leap frogging movements. Strict instructions were given and followed of observing
the fire and taking targets in the face of the fire from close range.

The LTTE also used snipers and anti tank guns. The approaches were heavily mined
and attacks against the escaping civilians by the LTTE became more frequent
and LTTE Sea Tigers became operative to damage the coastal belt by carrying
suicide cadres in explosives filled sea craft. Security Forces used protective walls,
prefabricated bunkers and tin sheets to overcome the difficulties encountered in
the sand and to improve mobility. Security Forces also had to be in readiness, using
radar too, to prevent LTTE cadres escaping by boat. Some of the leaders and cadres
also attempted to reach the jungles by night to escape. Confrontations to prevent
this sometimes went on till dawn.

Security Forces engaged the LTTE in the Nanthi Kadal lagoon area on three fronts
(North/West/South) to gain the tactical advantage. The LTTE terrorists were
entrenched in a limited space, with the sea and the lagoon on east and west. Security
Forces advanced from north and south in order to directly target the LTTE gunmen.
This exercise resulted in exceedingly slow movement but, due to close proximity,
the LTTE could not use their artillery fire. Small arms fired from diverse positions
by Security Forces at close range often succeeded in disorienting and thereafter
eliminating LTTE firepower.
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Security Forces engaging the LTTE in three fronts

The constant use of UAV pictures flashed to the forward commanders in up front
positions were the most useful source to identify combatants with weapons, even
though some of these were in civilian attire.

The hostage rescue operations were conducted with careful supervision and
monitoring. Monitoring was carried out through the chain of command and radio
monitoring. The supervision and monitoring process ensured:

a. Commanders were “well forward” to monitor all action on the ground. This
ensured proper implementation of the commands by the troops;
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209.

b. UAV monitoring was available at all command centres;

c. Brainstorming sessions and debriefing with assessments of the situation were
made very frequently; since it was a NFZ and the use of arms was narrowed
to weapons of a limited nature as per instructions, the task was onerous and
therefore high priority was given to briefing/debriefing sessions for the troops
as manoeuvres had to be performed with care and caution;

d. Situation reports were regularly given to the higher command.

The LTTE built their bunkers and fortifications close to areas where the civilians
were and also moved some of their heavy weapons to civilian locations. The LTTE
began to destroy most of its military hardware and communication equipment
during the last stage of the humanitarian operations in order to prevent them
falling to Security Forces. The LTTE also destroyed a number of its ammunition
dumps, heavy guns and other logistics using explosives devices, causing casualties
among the civilians. The fire destroyed hundreds of IDP shelters. Video footage
taken by UAV on 17 May 2009 confirms the magnitude of these explosions and the
destruction caused in the area. As per civilian sources, a number of LTTE cadres too
committed suicide by self detonation after destroying their equipment.

When Security Forces came reasonably close to the remaining civilians and secured
safe passage, they felt confident to move towards them. It was only after the
military established a foothold across the Vadduvakkal Lagoon that the civilians
started moving past the lagoon towards Security Forces in large numbers. This
group of approximately 80,000 were the last to escape from the LTTE leadership.
However, some of the LTTE cadres who had been with the leaders also escaped
with the civilians having discarded their combat wear. With this, the Security Forces
completed the civilian rescue mission.

The hostage rescue operation against the LTTE was launched as a last resort by the
Government of Sri Lanka, after exploring all other avenues and imploring the LTTE
to release the civilians. The numerous requests from the international community
and the Government of Sri Lanka to the LTTE, to refrain from using civilians as
human shields and for their release, had been unheeded by the LTTE.
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VIII. RECEPTION OF CIVILIANS

210.

211.

212.

213.

214.

All those who crossed over to Government controlled areas received immediate care
and attention. Reception centres had been established and detailed preparations
had been made beforehand. Screening locations had to be established at such
centres following the earlier incident of the LTTE suicide bombing at Vishvamadu
in February 2009.

Medical teams from the Sri Lanka Army Medical Corps evaluated all those received
for injuries and illness, and evacuated them to medical stations for treatment.
Dehydration and hypoglycaemia were treated at the initial point of contact, and
anyone with bleeding was given emergency treatment to arrest the flow of blood.
No distinction was made between civilians and combatants in the services
provided.

A large number of medical officers and trained medics were deployed. Eight
Advanced Dressing Stations were established within 500 meters to 1 kilometre of
the front lines for minor surgical procedures. More complex procedures were carried
out at the five Main Dressing Stations established in the divisional headquarters
area. Those with severe injuries were evacuated to hospitals at Vavuniya and
Anuradhapura using helicopters.

After initial screening, all civilians not requiring medical treatment were sent to the
relief villages established by the Government of Sri Lanka in the Vavuniya.

LTTE cadres who surrendered were taken to centres for further investigation, and
for rehabilitation. Former child combatants were looked after separately.
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IX. HUMANITARIAN ASSISTANCE

215. A comprehensive account of the humanitarian assistance provided by the
Government of Sri Lanka prior to, during and after the Humanitarian Operation is
documented in the companion report to this one: “Sri Lanka’s Humanitarian Effort”
issued by the Presidential Task Force for Resettlement, Development and Security
in the Northern Province. Readers are advised to refer to this Report for detailed
coverage of this topic.
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X. GENERAL OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES AND

PREPARATIONS TO SAFEGUARD CIVILIAN LIVES

A. General Procedures

216.

217.

218.

219.

220.

221.

222.

In advance of the Humanitarian Operation, Security Forces underwent extensive
training and preparation tailored to achieve a high standard of protection for
civilians and to minimise civilian casualties.

Training was conducted towards efficient Command, Control, and Communi-
cation.

Efficient weapons handling and precision in targeting were primary objectives in
training courses.

Tamil language was taught to all personnel, to ensure the ability to communicate
with Tamil speaking civilians.

Materials, including leaflets, instruction booklets, placards and Power Point
presentations, dealing with offences in armed conflict and rules of conduct, were
widely distributed to ensure that personnel understood and abided by the legal
framework of Laws of Armed Conflict.

Regular delivery of lectures and workshops on the Laws of Armed Conflict and related
rules of conduct, as an integral part of the Security Forces training programmes
for senior and junior commanders, contributed immensely towards recognising
command responsibilities and to abiding by these throughout the Humanitarian
Operation.

While human errors were mitigated through training, regular inspections, periodical
checks and sight tests were carried out on all weapon systems to minimise technical
errors.

B. Sri Lanka Army

223.

Training focused on improving of individual and small unit skills as well as efficiency
and effectiveness of supporting elements, which paid dividends in minimising
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225.

226.

227.

228.

collateral damage. Focused training programmes such as Advance Infantry Platoon
Training (AIPT) and Special Infantry Operation Training (SIOT) to develop small group
skills contributed significantly to identify precise targets during the Humanitarian
Operation.

Realisticmodel training and battle drills designed and putinto practice by operational
divisions, particularly to capture fortified localities including earth bunds, ensured
precision and effectiveness. This was augmented by effective employment of radar
and UAVs.

Cultural properties such as Holy Madhu Shrine and Hindu Temples were protected
from attacks and restrictions were imposed on the use of force against them,
unless used for military activities by the LTTE or in the case of imperative military
necessity.

Induction of artillery and mortar detecting radars, extensive use of UAVs and fire
controllers with forward troops, helped verify targets and ensure precision.

Accurate Battle Damage Assessment was carried out to minimise collateral damage
and to maintain effective engagement against identified LTTE targets.

Multiple warnings for civilians were provided as needed prior to attacks, and
used sophisticated technology to confirm the departure of civilians and minimise
collateral damage.

C. Sri Lanka Navy

229.

230.

The Sri Lanka Navy established secure sea corridors for civilians escaping from the
LTTE held areas and these areas were continuously kept under close surveillance.

During daytime, boats carrying civilians were identified with the naked eye and
escorted to the nearest Security Forces positions on land. Small boats with 2 crew
members were used to close in and identify the civilian character of the occupants,
taking risks inasmuch as the LTTE deployed suicide boats amongst the escaping
boats.
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232.
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235.
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During the dark hours, craft fitted with Electro Optical Devices (EOD) were used
to identify the escaping boats. Even the smaller Inshore Patrol Craft (IPCs) were
equipped with EODs. Aerial illuminating parachutes were used to guide the boats
closer to naval craft.

Chemmalai and Chilawatta, in the East Coast south of Mullativu, had Electro Optical
Surveillance System (EOSS) fitted on the radar mast to have continuous surveillance
on the sea front and beach area, which helped to monitor escaping boats from the
beach.

During the entire Humanitarian Operation, there were no incidents of misidentifi-
cation or firing at escaping boats as strict restrictive conditions were issued to all
naval units not to fire unless they were fired upon.

Boats with excess civilians and civilians with urgent medical needs were assisted by
naval craft taking people on board to avoid any possible accident.

Sick and wounded civilians were provided urgent first aid by Navy Personnel and
then evacuated to Pullmodai and Point Pedro for more comprehensive medical
treatment by naval medical personnel at makeshift hospitals.

Telephone facilities were provided to the escaped civilians to allow them to contact
people remaining in LTTE custody in the No Fire Zone and encourage them to escape
by taking sea route for their survival.

D. Sri Lanka Air Force

237.

238.

Having a battle ready inventory in its possession and with the battle infrastructure
set up, a stringent and meticulous mission execution procedure was laid down by
the Sri Lanka Air Force (SLAF) in undertaking any type of offensive action.

Presence of civilian population was thoroughly investigated from informants,
captured LTTE cadres, and whenever possible from Security Forces who penetrated
into enemy territory, once areas for engagement were received. In cases where the
slightest doubts were present, such places were avoided.
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240.

241.

242,

243.

Targets were re-evaluated using the sources held/maintained by other intelligence
organisations prior to engagement. i.e., whenever a target was given by Directorate
of Military Intelligence (DMI), it was crosschecked with State Intelligence Service
(SIS), Directorate of Naval Intelligence (DNI) and other intelligence agencies. This
multiple verification ensured that no doubt was present when targeting was done.
Single source targeting was never done.

All the targets were re-evaluated using imagery by Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAV)
or other aerial reconnaissance platforms and other sources like aerial photography/
satellite images. This positively confirmed the absence of civilians in those areas
targeted by air.

SLAF exercised maximum precautions on weapon to target matching and selecting
munitions. Various types of conventional, general purpose bombs were in the
warehouse to select and various types of aircraft to suit any type of target. When
weapon to target matching is done, higher Command was vested with the decision
making process. The selection of weapons to be deployed was decided having
regard to the target that was to be taken.

In destroying those targets, SLAF ensured accuracy by observing high discipline
and detailed procedures:

a. Pilots’ accuracy was developed by constant training. Pilots were specifically
and carefully selected for various missions as per their levels of experience
and skill. The highest level of the SLAF was involved in this decision making
process.

b. Once areas of engagement were decided, the strike pilots were extensively
briefed prior to engagement. In some cases, separate UAV missions were
conducted to familiarise the pilots with targets. Pilots were not sent if there was
the slightest doubt about the identification of targets. Furthermore, the pilots
were given the sole discretion of aborting an attack should the slightest doubt
prevail at the time of engagement. In order to enable the proper execution of
battle damage assessment, all air strikes were made under surveillance.

SLAF deployed only Precision Guided Munitions (PGM) for those targets that
demanded a high degree of accuracy.
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244. Battle damage assessment was carried out using real time imagery soon after the

245.

246.

strike. Even the attack process was filmed for review. It must also be mentioned

that the information collection process recorded all information, even though the

sources were not reliable, and was given due consideration until its validity was

confirmed.

In carrying out Battlefield Air Interdictions (BAI), the SLAF had certain advantages

as well as certain limitations:

a.

All BAI missions occurred within a belt of 3 - 5 km from the enemy Forward
Defence Lines (FDL). This ensured the absence of civilians for a considerable
distance during the battle. However, this liberty was lost in the final stages
as the LTTE took up strategic positions mingled with the civilian population
effectively ending SLAF’s BAI missions.

In order to address the shortcoming of reduced state of ground intelligence,
aerial reconnaissance equipment was extensively used to obtain final
confirmation.

In carrying out Close Air Support (CAS) certain other measures had to be curtailed

in order to address the urgency and efficiency of the battlefield. As such, the

constraints are examined below.

a.

CAS missions were carried out as per the requirement of the field commander.
This took place directly within the battle theatre, which reduced the likelihood
of civilian presence.

However, the requirement projected by the field commanders was channelled
to Air Force Headquarters and followed the usual process, whilst the strike
was carried out under surveillance and strict rules of engagement.

Target identification was at a professional standard as the pilots were provided
with updated satellite imagery. Due to this reason, when the pilots were over
the target, they were quite familiar and comfortable with the geographical
terrain enabling positive identification of the target.

—-75 -



HUMANITARIAN OPERATION—FACTUAL ANALYSIS

XI. PROTECTION OF CIVILIAN RIGHTS

A.

247.

248.

Institutional Frameworks

As shown in the foregoing, the Humanitarian Operation was carried out with utmost

care to safeguard civilian lives. Several measures were also in place to ensure that

civilian rights were also well protected.

Security Forces have several institutional mechanisms in place to safeguard human

rights.

a.

The Directorate of Human Rights and Humanitarian Law of the Sri Lanka
Army (SLA) was established in January 1997. Its role is to further improve the
appreciation and knowledge of SLA personnel of International Humanitarian
Law (IHL) and Human Rights (HR) through training, monitoring the compliance
of its personnel to these norms, and inquiring into and reporting alleged
transgressions.

The Sub Directorate on Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law in
the Sri Lanka Navy (SLN) was established in June 2002 as a means of providing
advice, conducting training programmes for naval personnel, disseminating
information and coordinating work with various agencies on all matters related
to HR & IHL.

The International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights cell of the Sri Lanka
Air Force (SLAF) was established in 2002 along similar lines.

B. Training on Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law

249. Security Forces personnel receive in-depth training on HR and IHL through the

directorates described above. In particular, officers and soldiers actively engaging

in operations are trained to be aware of their responsibilities with regard to the

safety of civilians and the protection of human rights, and to make appropriate and

informed decisions in the heat of battle.

250. Training comprises three distinct programmes:

d.

Training of instructors to conduct seminars and awareness programmes on
HR and IHL for other personnel on a continuous, full time basis
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251.

252.

b. Regular field level training for other personnel conducted by these trained
instructors in the operational areas

c. Formal training for officers and other ranks at established training centres

These training programmes are supported by the dissemination of written materials,
including leaflets, instruction booklets, placards etc., dealing with human rights,
codes of conduct, offenses in armed conflict and other relevant material.

Assistance for these training programmes has been obtained from Governmental,
non-governmental and international organisations such as the Ministry of Disaster
Management, the ICRC, the UNDP, the British Council, the National Commission on
Human Rights, the National Institute of Education, the Centre for the Study of Human
Rights at the University of Colombo and the Sri Lanka Foundation Institute.

Overall, more than 175,000 personnel of the SLA have undergone training in this
subject area since the year 2001. Education on IHL and HR has been a compulsory
subject for all SLN personnel in induction training courses, on the job training and
all mandatory courses pertaining to promotion. More than 24,000 personnel of the
SLAF have also received training in this subject area.

C. Monitoring of Alleged Infringements

253.

254.

Monitoring of Security Forces conduct and the process of investigating alleged
infringements by its personnel is an integral part of the effort to safeguard human
rights. The sophisticated institutional support mechanism within the SLA, which is
the security force that has the greatest interactions with civilians due to its ground
role, illustrates the monitoring mechanism.

A national level network of Human Rights cells was set up within the SLA under
its Directorate of Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law. These cells
comprise groups of officers holding senior appointments within each division,
brigade and battalions of the SLA. These officers have a wide mandate to monitor the
human rights situation and send fortnightly reports to the Directorate. In addition
to their reporting function, the cells are charged with assisting in the investigations
carried out by the Directorate of Legal Services and the Military Police of the SLA on
alleged violations, as well as the civil Police and other relevant agencies.
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255.

256.

257.

D.

258.

259.

260.

In the case of complaints being lodged, the following actions were taken:

a. Conducting of inquiries by the Military Police

b. Handing over of suspects to the civil Police

c. Assisting the civil Police conduct their investigations

d. Making the suspects and witnesses available to the civil Police and Courts

e. Conducting internal inquiries in parallel and prosecuting per military law

Another mechanism that is available to a person seeking to complain of an alleged
violation of his fundamental rights is the mechanism whereby a complaint can be
referred to the Human Rights Commission, which is a constitutionally appointed
forum. The Human Rights Commission is further empowered to refer matters which
they deem fit for further inquiry to the Supreme Court.

It may be noted that the Constitution of Sri Lanka affords entrenched guarantees
with regard to any alleged infringement of Human Rights which can be referred
to the Supreme Court, which has been vested with exclusive jurisdiction. There
have been several petitions referred to the Supreme Court, wherein Security Forces
personnel have been cited as respondents.

Investigations and Prosecutions

Security Forces have in place a military justice procedure, whereby allegations of
offences are investigated by the military police, and processed by a military Court
of Inquiry and, in the case of major offences, also by the civilian police and civilian
courts of law. There have been several instances where military personnel have
been subject to indictments preferred by the Attorney General to the High Court.

Irrespective of the outcome of a case referred to the civil courts, if there is a prima
facie case made against the accused after the military inquiry, the accused is
discharged from the Security Forces.

The military justice procedure is set forth below. This is a procedure that Sri Lanka
inherited from the British, post-independence. This procedure has now been laid
down statutorily in the Sri Lanka Army, Navy and Air Force Acts, and subsidiary
legislation has been enacted under those laws.
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MILITARY JUSTICE PROCEDURE

Step Action
1. Receipt of Information with regard
to the alleged offence

2. Military Police Investigation | ------- Criminal offences » Police
3. Court of Inquiry
4. Summary of Evidence
l l \ 4 \/ \/
5. Courts Martial/Summary Trial Action filed in Courts of Law
6. Right to judicial review to the Court of Appeal

by an application for a writ of certiorari

7. Right of appeal to the Supreme Court with the leave of the Court.

261. A summary of major offenses committed by Sri Lanka Army personnel between
2005 and 2010 in the North and East and the resultant actions taken by the Army
and the civil courts is set forth below:

MURDER

RAPE 1 1|11 1
SEXUAL ABUSE 1
TOTAL

262. For each offense, the Army has taken prompt disciplinarian action, and the cases
are also pending in the civil courts.
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PART THREE

XII. CONSEQUENCES OF THE HUMANITARIAN OPERATION

263. The successful conclusion of the Humanitarian Operation resulted in incalculable
positive consequences not only for the civilians freed from LTTE captivity, but also
for Sri Lankans of all ethnicities in all parts of Sri Lanka. The positive benefits of
the end of the conflict were both immediate and long-term.

Eradication of Terrorism

264. For the first time in three decades, Sri Lankans can go about their everyday lives
without the constant fear of a terrorist attack or the palpable sense of insecurity
that plagues a nation under constant threat of terrorism. Leaders of the Government
of Sri Lanka, political representatives and innocent civilians are no longer under the
constant risk of death by terrorist action. This is a benefit that is hard to quantify,
but of enormous significance in that it has positively changed the day-to-day lives
of all Sri Lankans.

Restoration of Elections

265. The right of franchise has been restored for thousands of residents of the North
and the East, and democratic elections are now taking place regularly. The following
elections took place in Sri Lanka subsequent to the end of the Humanitarian
Operation in May 2009:

Local Authorities Jaffna & Vavuniya
. . 08 August 2009
Elections (Northern Province)
Eastern Province 10 May 2008
Provincial Sabaragamuwa & North Central Province |23 August 2008
Council Central & North Western Province 14 February 2009
Elections Uva Province 08 August 2009
Western Province 25 April 2009
Presidential Election [Countrywide 26 January 2010
General Election Countrywide 8 & 20 April 2010
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The Government of Sri Lanka acted expeditiously to enable Provincial Council
elections to take place in the Eastern province shortly after the East was liberated
from the LTTE. During that election, an ex-LTTE combatant who rejected terrorism
and joined the democratic process was elected as Chief Minister of the Eastern
Province. The Presidential Election, which took place in January 2010, was the first
election in decades in which the residents of the North and East were able to vote
freely without being subjected violence and threats of violence by the LTTE. The
General Election in April 2010 soon followed, in which the Tamil National Alliance
emerged as the party with the third highest number of seats in Parliament, winning
the Northern Province as well as the Batticaloa District in the Eastern Province.
Provincial Council Elections have already been held in the East, and local government
elections are scheduled to be held in the North on 23 July 2011.

Restoration of Democracy in the North and East

266. For the first time in decades, the people in the areas previously dominated by the
LTTE have the opportunity to participate in the democratic process without duress.
The flourishing of political plurality in these areas can be seen by the triumph of
an Opposition party in the North, whereas the main Government party emerged
triumphant in the East and came second in the North during the General Election
held in 2010. The emergence of a large number of independent political parties
during that election also demonstrates that electoral politics in these areas is
regaining vitality after the dismantling of the dictatorial LTTE.

Disarming of Armed Groups

267. The armed groups that opposed the LTTE in the East have been disarmed and
transformed into political parties within the democratic mainstream seeking to
represent the people through the electoral process. The Government of Sri Lanka
took concrete steps to disarm these groups after the success of the Humanitarian
Operation. With the demise of the LTTE, it was no longer imperative for members of
such groups to carry weapons to protect themselves. The Government of Sri Lanka
also issued firm directions to the police to arrest any person carrying arms illegally
to ensure that disarmament was comprehensively carried out.
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Right to Dissent and Freedom of Expression

268. Inthe North, where the LTTE successfully wiped out any resistance to its dominance,
the Right to Dissent has finally been re-established. Throughout the areas formerly
dominated by the LTTE, Freedom of Expression has been restored to the people,
and people have regained the freedom to participate in civic life without fear of
being subjugated.

Demining of the North and East

269. A major impediment to the swift resettlement of internally displaced people was the
extensive presence of land mines placed by the LTTE in civilian areas. To meet this
challenge, Security Forces conducted a comprehensive demining operation to clear
the North and East of this hazard. Several foreign governments and international
agencies provided support for this endeavour. As a result, tens of thousands
of families have been able to return to their homes in an expeditious manner.
As importantly, not a single incident of a landmine explosion causing injuries to
civilians has been reported since the internally displaced were resettled.

Rehabilitation of Former LTTE Cadres

270. Rehabilitation efforts of former LTTE cadres have been largely successful.
Of the more than eleven thousand LTTE cadres who surrendered or were detained
by Security Forces, the 595 former LTTE child soldiers were rehabilitated under
a programme assisted by UNICEF and were then reunited with their families by
May 2010. A policy decision was made by the Government of Sri Lanka to not
prosecute any child soldiers. A further 6,130 adults were successfully rehabilitated
and re-integrated into civilian society by June 2011. Most of the remaining
ex-combatants are undergoing further rehabilitation, while some have been
identified for prosecution through the legal system for their greater culpability in
terrorist activities.

Freedom of Movement

271. All Sri Lankans can now go to any part of the country, without being impeded
by LTTE threats, violence, or checkpoints necessitated because of LTTE activities.
Many in the Tamil Diaspora who did not co-operate with the LTTE’s international
network have also felt free to return to Sri Lanka for the first time in decades.
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Normalcy in the North and East

272. The people living in the North and East of Sri Lanka enjoy a state of normalcy
- children freely go to school and no longer need to fear being forcibly recruited
by the LTTE; the judicial system is functioning without impediment; farming is
possible in areas that were previously full of mines; in all other facets of life for the
people in these areas, life is returning to normal after a prolonged period of living
in a state of fear. Any person irrespective of ethnicity can own land in any part of
the country.

Removal of Restrictions on Fishing

273. The extensive restrictions that had to be in place in the North and East due to the
adverse security situation caused by the LTTE’s Sea Tiger Wing have been lifted. The
restrictions on the capacities of Out Board Motors were relaxed, while the extent
of the “No Fishing Zones” near critical harbours were also greatly reduced. More
critically, the restrictions on the timings during which fishing could take place were
gradually phased out between June 2009 and February 2010.

Economic Development in the North and East

274. The Government of Sri Lanka launched a rapid infrastructure development
programme soon after the liberation of the East in 2007. In the North, a diverse
programme of projects was launched in fields such as Transport & Highways,
Railways, Irrigation & Agriculture, Fisheries, Power Supply, Education and Financial
Services etc., encompassing the gamut of services and needs essential to life in
the community. As a result of peace and the rapid development of infrastructure,
the Northern and Eastern provinces are benefitting from new commercial activity
undertaken by small and medium businesses. Large investments are also starting
to be made in these areas, which were previously mostly ignored by the commercial
sector - or, in the case of the formerly LTTE controlled areas, completely
inaccessible.

Economic Revival in Sri Lanka

275. The potential of Sri Lanka’s economy has been stifled for decades because the
threat of terrorism had driven away investment and tourists. Further, the adverse
environment caused by the conflict had taken a toll on the economy and precluded
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successive governments from investing in beneficial infrastructure projects over
the years. The end of the Humanitarian Operation marked a period of growth and
economic opportunities despite the unfavourable economic conditions prevalent
globally.

Communal Harmony

276. Without the provocations and threats of the LTTE, communities of different
ethnicities and religions have returned to co-exist peacefully throughout Sri
Lanka.

Safety and Security

277. With the eradication of the LTTE in Sri Lanka, all residents of Sri Lanka who lived
under a fear psychosis caused by terrorism can now enjoy living in one of the
most stable and secure environments in the world. Countries that used to issue
cautionary travel advisories to their citizens warning them against traveling to Sri
Lanka have now withdrawn those advisories.

Reconciliation and Accountability

278. Due to the success of the Humanitarian Operation, the country now has an
opportunity for reconciliation both on a national and local level. On 15 May 2010,
President Mahinda Rajapaksa established the Lessons Learnt and Reconciliation
Commission (LLRC) with the objective to heal the wounds created as a result of the
protracted conflict and to bring about reconciliation and unity among the people
of Sri Lanka. The Commission has the authority to investigate and report on, inter
alia, the facts and circumstances which led to the failure of the ceasefire agreement
and the sequence of events that followed thereafter up to 18 May 2009, inclusive of
identifying persons or groups responsible for those events. The LLRC has conducted
public hearings and sought testimony from a wide spectrum of individuals, from
government officials to military officers to ordinary civilians, including through field
visits to the conflict-affected areas. On 13 September 2010, the LLRC submitted its
interim recommendations, and the Government of Sri Lanka has appointed a high
level committee to implement these recommendations through practical measures
and to strengthen the related processes that are already underway.
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XIII. CONCLUSION

279.

280.

281.

282.

283.

Sri Lanka engaged in a military strategy against the LTTE as a last resort, after
enduring decades of violence and terrorism committed against its citizens and
the State. The LTTE attacks documented in this report are not exhaustive but
illustrative of the sheer scale and intensity of LTTE attacks on civilians, political
leaders, political opponents and vital infrastructure.

Despite the enormity of the losses suffered and tribulations endured by Sri
Lanka and its people because of LTTE attacks and threats of attack, successive
Governments of Sri Lanka were willing and eager to negotiate with the LTTE for the
sake of achieving peace. The details of the previous peace processes attempted by
the Government of Sri Lanka described in this report, including the corresponding
atrocities committed by the LTTE during each period of ceasefire, make it clear that
the LTTE never intended to settle for anything less than a military victory to achieve
its aim of a separate state.

Having exhausted all alternatives, Sri Lanka used military force at the point when
it was necessary to defend its citizens and state from the LTTE. The amount of
force used was determined based on a consideration of the strength, resources and
sophistication of the LTTE.

The details provided in this report about LTTE’s human resources, weapons, funding
sources and other resources show why defeating the LTTE could not be achieved
with a minimal operation or single tactic. Military victory required a large-scale,
coordinated effort, combining the strength of all three armed forces, a high level
of discipline and the use of multiple tactics, adapted for different terrains and
contexts.

Recognising the amount of force necessary for a Humanitarian Operation of this
magnitude, Security Forces were equally aware of the possible adverse consequences
of such force - namely, civilian casualties. As a result, Security Forces took utmost
care prior to, during and after the operation to keep collateral damage at a
minimum, having regard to the Zero Civilian Casualty policy of the Government.
This is demonstrated by the precautions taken before the operation, the specific
guidelines issued and the tactics employed in the Humanitarian Operation.
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284.

285.

286.

287.

The narratives of the battles in the East, in Wanni and in the final hostage rescue
operation presented in this report show how in different environments, and at
different stages of the war, Security Forces adapted their tactics and the level of
force used in achieving the overall goal of defeating terrorism. This report has shown
how in the last stage of the conflict, at the point when the LTTE was weakened and
reduced in size, Security Forces adapted their tactics to the new environment.

What the narrative has made clear is that while Security Forces were able to change
their tactics as needed, they could not cease their offensive. The threat of the LTTE
remained until the last hour, and certain success required continued, focused and
disciplined force to meet the new challenge created by the LTTE: the thousands of
civilians trapped by, and exposed to imminent harm and violence at the hands of a
desperate LTTE, had to be skilfully extricated from a precarious situation. Security
Forces successfully met this challenge by using the right amount of force, and
minimising the resulting losses.

The result for the civilians, and for Sri Lanka, has been overwhelmingly positive.
Thousands of lives that would have been lost had terrorism continued and war
remained in Sri Lanka, have been saved. The quality of life of all Sri Lankans as
well as Sri Lanka’s prospects in the world economy have markedly improved. The
positive consequences of the Humanitarian Operation described in this report
are representative and not exhaustive; the benefits of defeating terrorism are
immeasurable.

From the initial rationale for undertaking an operation utilising military force, to

the amount of force used during the operation, to the eventual result, this report
has shown how, in all respects, the Humanitarian Operation was just.
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ANNEXES
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ASSASSINATION OF

ANNEX A

TAMIL POLITICIANS /ACADAMICS /INTELLECTUALS / GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS

ER MOD
?\IO. DATE LOCATION NAME OPE?{AII{ISDI
TAMIL POLITICIANS

1 27/07/1975 | Jaffna Mr. Alfred Duraiappa - MP and Mayor of Jaffna By gunning down

2 02/10/1980 |Kilinochchi Mr. Subramaniam - UNP Organiser for Kilinochchi By gunning down

3 24/05/1981 | Batticaloa Dr. Thiyagarajah - UNP Candidate for District Development Council (DDC) | By gunning down
elections - 1981

4 15/11/1982 | Jaffna Mr. Vallipuram Thambipillai - UNP Organiser for Punnalaikadduvan By gunning down

5 19/01/1983 | Vavuniya Mr. K T Pullendran - Ex-MP/UNP Organiser for Vavuniya By gunning down

6 29/04/1983 | Jaffna Mr. K V Rathnasingham - UNP Candidate for UC elections - Point Pedro By gunning down

7 30/04/1983 | Jaffna Mr. S S Muttiah - 1st Candidate for UC elections, Chavakachcheri (retd By gunning down
PWD)

8 04/06/1983 | Jaffna Mr. Sinnathambi Thilagar - UNP, Candidate for Local Govt. elections - By gunning down
1983

9 12/08/1983 | Jaffna Mr. A G Rajasooriyar - UNP Chief Organiser for Jaffna By gunning down

10 [01/09/1983 |Batticaloa Mr. Mala Ramachandran - UNP Member of Municipal Council By gunning down

11 |01/09/1985 | Jaffna Mr. K Thurairathinam - TULF MP for Point Pedro By gunning down

12 [03/09/1985 |Jaffna Mr. K Rajalingam - TULF, MP for Uduppiddi By gunning down

13 | 03/09/1985 | Jaffna Mr. V Dharmalingam - TULF MP for Manipai. Father of Mr. D Siddharthan | By gunning down
(PLOTE Leader)

14 |[03/09/1985 |Jaffna Mr. K Alalasundaram - TULF, MP for Kopay By gunning down

15 | 08/03/1988 | Jaffna Mr. S Vijayanatham - Secretary of the Ceylon Communist Party in Jaffna | By gunning down

16 |20/03/1988 | Batticaloa Mr. Velumurugu - TULF organizer By gunning down

17 |25/01/1989 | Jaffna Mr. N K Sivagnanam - All Ceylon Tamil Congress (ACTC) Candidate By gunning down

18 |[08/03/1989 |Jaffna Mr. Sinnathambi Sabanandan - Chief Organiser of TULF By gunning down

19 |13/07/1989 |Batticaloa Mr. Sinnathambi Sambandanmoorthi - Chairman of District Development | By gunning down

Council / Chief Organizer of the TULF in Eravur
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SER MODUS

No. DATE LOCATION NAME OPERANDI

20 [13/07/1989 |Colombo Mr. A Amirthalingam, MP, Secretary General of the TULF/ a Former By gunning down
Opposition Leader

21 [13/07/1989 | Colombo Mr. V Yogeshwaran - TULF, MP for Jaffna By gunning down

22 128/01/1990 | Trincomalee Mr. P Ganeshalingam - EPRLF, Ex-Provincial Council Member By gunning down

23 |107/05/1990 | Trincomalee Mr. Sam Thambimuttu - EPRLF MP for Battialoa By gunning down

24 119/06/1990 |India Mr. V K Yogasangari - EPRLF, MP for Jaffna District By gunning down

25 119/06/1990 |India Mr. Periyathamby Kirubakaran - Finance Minister of North East Provincial | By gunning down
Council

26 [19/06/1990 |India Mr. Kandasamy Pathmanabha - EPRLF Leader

27 115/07/1990 | Ampara Mr. K Kanagaratnam - MP for Pottuvil By gunning down

28 [15/07/1994 |Batticaloa Mr. Velepodi Alagiah - TELO, Pradesiya Sabha Member By gunning down

29 103/09/1994 |Batticaloa Mr. T Jayarajan - Deputy Leader of TELO / Chairman of the Provincial By gunning down
Council in Batticaloa

30 [31/12/1994 |Colombo Mr. Arumugam Chelliah @ Karavai Kandasami - Vice President of DPLF / | By gunning down
Leader of PLOTE

31 |28/04/1995 | Colombo Mr. K Vinodan - Former SLFP Organiser, Jaffna By gunning down

32 [11/06/1995 | Ampara Mr. Pathmanandan - Chairman of Thirukkovil Pradesiya Sabha By gunning down

33 |26/10/1995 |Batticaloa Mr. Anthony Thomas - Deputy Mayor (TELO member) By gunning down

34 |05/07/1997 | Trincomalee Mr. Arunachalam Thangathurai - TULF MP for Trincomalee By gunning down

35 103/10/1997 |Jaffna Mr. S P Tharmalingam - President of SLFP Jaffna office By gunning down

36 [16/05/1998 |Jaffna Mrs. Sarojini Yogeshwaran - Mayor of MC, Jaffna / By gunning down
Wife of Mr. V Yogeshwaran TULF MP for Jaffna who was killed by the
LTTE on 13/07/1989

37 [15/07/1998 | Vavuniya Mr. Saravanabawanandan Shanmuganathan @ Vasanthan - PLOTE, MP for | By claymore mine
Vavuniya District attack

38 |11/09/1998 |Jaffna Mr. Ponnadurai Sivapalan - TULF / Mayor of MC, Jaffna Time Bomb

Explosion
39 |26/12/1998 |Jaffna Mr. Ponnadurai Mathimugarajah - District Secretary of the TULF, Nallur/ | By gunning down

The Chairman of the International M G Ramachandran Organisation
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No. DATE LOCATION NAME OPERANDI

40 |04/02/1999 | Jaffna Mr. Nadarajah Sivarajh - The Vice Chairmen of Valikamam East Provincial | By gunning down
Council and an EPDP member

41 104/02/1999 | Jaffna Mr. Bandari Kandasami - EPDP member of Valikamam East Provincial By gunning down
Council

42 105/05/1999 | Vavuniya Mr. Veerahathahy Gunarathnam - PLOTE Provincial Council member for By gunning down
Pachchilaipalli

43 [13/05/1999 | Jaffna Mr. Kailasapathi - PLOTE, Pradesiya Sabha member of Valikamam East By gunning down

44 129/05/1999 | Batticaloa Mr. Moorthilingam Ganeshamoorthi - RAZIK Group Leader Suicide Attack

45 |31/05/1999 | Jaffna Mr. Thiyagarajah Rajkumar - EPDP/Member and Vice Chairman of By gunning down
Provincial Council, Nallur

46 |16/07/1999 | Vavuniya Mr. Baskaralingam - PLOTE Leader in Vavuniya By gunning down

47 116/07/1999 | Jaffna Mr. Piyasena Karunarathne - Chief Organizer of EPDP By gunning down

48 129/07/1999 | Colombo Dr. Neelan Thiruchelvam - TULF MP (National list)/Constitutional Lawyer | Suicide Attack

49 102/09/1999 | Vavuniya Mr. K Manickadasan - Deputy Leader of PLOTE

50 [12/10/1999 |Ampara Mr. Thambirasa Vinayagamoorthl @ Vasikaran - EPDP Co-ordinating By gunning down
Officer

51 [02/11/1999 |Colombo Mr. Nadarajah Atputharajah - EPDP, MP/Secretary of the Politbureau of By gunning down
the EPDP/Editor of “Thinamurusu” (a Tamil tabloid)

52 [05/01/2000 |Colombo Mr. Kumar Ponnambalam - General Secretary of the All Ceylon Tamil By gunning down
Congress (ACTC)/ leading lawyer

53 |13/01/2000 |Jaffna Mr. Vadivelu Wijayarathnam - UC Chairman, Point Pedro By gunning down

54 |02/03/2000 |Jaffna Mr. Anton Sivalingam - EPDP/Member of Municipal Council, Jaffna By gunning down

55 | 07/06/2000 |Batticaloa Mr. Kanapathipillai Navarathna Rajah @ Robert - TELO, member of By gunning down
Pradesiya Sabha, Arapathi, Batticaloa

56 [10/09/2000 |Ampara Mr. R J Perimanayagam - PA Candidate for Batticaloa - General Election By gunning down
2000

57 |07/11/2000 |Batticaloa Mr. Ashley Nimalanayagam Saundranayagam - TULF MP for Batticaloa By gunning down

58 |[17/11/2001 |Batticaloa Mr. Sinnathamby Rajkumar - UNP Candidate for Batticaloa district By gunning down

- General election 2001
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No. DATE LOCATION NAME OPERANDI

59 [18/04/2003 |Ampara Mr. Mariyamuttu Rajalingam @ Jegadeesan the Chairman of the By gunning down
Alayadivembu Pradeshiya Sabha (Member of EPDP).

60 [03/05/2003 | Jaffna Mr. Dharmarajah Jeyarasa - EPDP, Former Chairman of the Nelliady By gunning down
Pradeshiya Sabha

61 |01/06/2003 |Batticaloa Mr. Kalirajah Ramanan - Former member of the Batticaloa Minicipal By gunning down
Council and Former TELO member

62 |14/06/2003 | Jaffna Mr. Subaddiran @ Robert - Deputy Leader of PLOTE By gunning down

63 |16/06/2003 |Batticaloa Ponniah Ramachanran @ Prathab - Candidate Contesting the Local Govt. | By gunning down
Election for the Batticaloa Urban Council

64 |01/03/2004 |Batticaloa Mr. Sinnathambi Sundarampillai - UNP candidate for the Batticaloa By gunning down
District at the General Election 2004

65 |30/03/2004 |Batticaloa Mr. Rajan Sathyamoorthy - TNA Candidate for Batticaloa District By gunning down

66 |21/07/2004 |Batticaloa Mr. Ravindran Velaudan @ Kamalan - the Chairman of the Alayadivembo | By gunning down
Pradeshiya Sabha (Member of EPDP)

67 |16/08/2004 | Colombo Mr. Balraj Nadarajah Aiyar @ Ileiyavan - EPDP Tamil media spokesman / | By gunning down
an EPDP candidate for the Jaffna District at the General Election 2004 and
a senior journalist

68 |10/09/2004 |Trincomalee Mr. Athmalingam Ramani @ Pandiyan - the Deputy Orgniser of the EPDP | By gunning down
for Trincomalee

69 |11/09/2004 | Jaffna Mr. Mayan Chandra Mohan @ Aruldas - An EPDP member, By gunning down
(Ex-member of Kayts Atchuveli Pradeshiya Sabha).

70 |18/09/2004 |Puttalam Mr. Thambithurai Sivakumar @ Bawan - the EPDP leader of Thilladi, By gunning down
Jaffna. (An EPDP candidate for the Jaffna District Parliamentary Election
2004)

71 |27/09/2004 |]Jaffna Mr. Vallisundaram - a former member of the Valikamam North Pradeshiya | By gunning down
Sabha (from 1998-2002) and a member of the EPRLF (Vardaraja Perumal
group)

72 |19/10/2004 |Batticaloa Mr. Kingsly Rajanayagam - a former TNA MP for Batticaloa By gunning down

73 |28/04/2005 |Batticaloa Mr. Murugesu Wardaraja, EPRLF - A member of Porathivu Pradeshiya By gunning down
Sabha (former EPRLF deputy leader in Batticaloa)

74 |25/05/2005 |Trincomalee Mr. Periyapudi Sooriyamoorthi - Former Mayor of Trincomalee By gunning down

(A TELO member)

on 18/05/2005
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75 |12/08/2005 |Colombo Hon. Lakshman Kadiragamar - Minister of Foreign Affairs By gunning down
76 |28/11/2007 |Colombo Mr. Stephen Peiris - MP Dougals Devananda’s Secretary Coordinator Suicide Attack

77 101/01/2008 |Colombo Mr. T Maheswaran - A former Minister of UNF government By gunning down
78 106/04/2008 | Gampaha Mr. Jeyaraj Fernandopulle - Minister of Highways & Road Development Suicide Attack

and Chief Government Whip
79 [13/05/2008 |Jaffna Miss Maheshvari Velautham - MP Dougals Devananda’s Adviser By gunning down
80 |02/06/2008 |Batticaloa Mr. Pushpanadan Aiyathure - Vice Chairman of Kaluthavali Pradeshiya By gunning down
Sabha
81 |06/10/2008 | Anuradhapura | Dr. Raja Johnpulle - Organizer of Anuradhapura District Suicide Attack
82 |11/10/2008 | Vavuniya Mr. T M Tavachelvam - UNP Organizer, Vavuniya By gunning down
GOVERNMENT OFFICIALS

83 |25/05/1984 | Jaffna Mr. Vaththiyampillai Francis - Gramasevaka of Madagal By gunning down
84 |18/09/1984 |Batticaloa Mr. Samythambi Gopalapillai - Special Service Officer of Thambiluvil By gunning down
85 [08/12/1984 | Jaffna Mr. U Ramaiah - Supervisor of Cement Corporation - Kankesanthurai By gunning down
86 |[24/02/1985 |Kilinochchi Mr. S Gnanachandiram, GA, Mullaitivu By gunning down
87 |03/10/1985 |Batticaloa Mr. Vadivel Perimbam - Gramasevaka By gunning down
88 [23/08/1986 | Trincomalee Mr. S Vishvalingam - Gramasevaka By gunning down
89 |09/04/1987 |Batticaloa Mr. Kanapathipillai Sundaralingam - Gramasevaka By gunning down
90 |15/09/1987 | Ampara Mr. P Vignarajah - AGA, Samanthurai By gunning down
91 |28/09/1987 | Trincomalee Mr. Arumugampillai - Secretary UC, Trincomalee By gunning down
92 |08/10/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. S S Jeganathan - AGA, Batticaloa By gunning down
93 |06/11/1987 | Trincomalee Mr. V S Paramaguru - Dept. Engineer By gunning down
94 |26/11/1987 | Trincomalee Mr. P Sinnadurai - AGA, Mr. Haniffa - Gramasevaka By gunning down
95 |17/12/1987 | Trincomalee Mr. P Sundaranayagam - Gramasevaka, Kokkadichoalai By gunning down
96 |17/12/1987 |Batticaloa Mr. P Undaranayagam - Gramasevaka of Kokkadicholai By gunning down
97 |11/05/1988 |Batticaloa Mr. Nadarajah Kugadasan - Co-operative Manager By gunning down
98 |07/04/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Ramanathan - AGA, Jaffna By gunning down
99 [01/05/1989 | Jaffna Mr. V M Panchalingam - GA for Jaffna By gunning down
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No. DATE LOCATION NAME OPERANDI
100|02/05/1989 | Kilinochchi Mr. Panchalingam - Assistant Manager of Marketing Depot - Kilinochchi By gunning down
101|10/05/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Mahalingam - Asst. Manager of Marketing Depot - Kilinochchi By gunning down
102 03/08/1989 | Batticaloa Mr. Arasaratnam Ganeshapillai - Supervisor of the Irrigation Department | By gunning down
103|28/06/1989 | Jaffna Mr. K Pulendran - AGA, Jaffna By gunning down
104 06/09/1989 | Kilinochchi Mr. P Ravindran - Station Master By gunning down
105]09/09/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Krishnamooth - Gramasevaka By gunning down
106|09/09/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Shammughanathan - Gramasevaka By gunning down
107112/10/1989 | Batticaloa Mr. Sivendraraja - Gramasevaka By gunning down
108 |21/11/1989 | Ampara Mr. P L Anthonees - Doctor By gunning down
109|30/11/1989 | Batticaloa Mr. K Sundaralingam - Clerk of the MPCS Union, Pandirippu By gunning down
110|28/01/1990 | Trincomalee Mr. Kandasamy Sadanandan Jothi - Gramasevaka of Nilaveli Division By gunning down
111)20/11/1991 | Batticaloa Mr. S Wijeratnam - Gramasevaka, Kokkadicholai By gunning down
112|23/11/1991 | Batticaloa Mr. K Podiweerartnam Gramasevaka - Pandariyawela By gunning down
113]09/09/1993 | Ampara Mr. S M Chandrapala - Post Master of Bakitiyawa By gunning down
1141 09/07/2004 | Batticaloa Mr. Kunjitahmbi Sivaraza - Gramasevaka Karadyanaru By gunning down
115]|04/04/2005 | Batticaloa Mr. Thyagaraja Kailanadan - Director of Vocational Training Ministry of | By gunning down

Agricultural Marketing Development Co-operative Development and Hindu

Affairs
116|10/04/2005 | Ampara Mr. Sivarathnam Arunambalam - Development Registrar of Samurdhi By gunning down
117115/04/2005 | Ampara Mr. T Thawarasa - Divisional Secretary By gunning down
118]20/06/2005 | Ampara Mr. Marimuttu Paskaran - Gramasevaka Kalmunai - 3 By gunning down
119]21/09/2005 | Batticaloa Mr. A Jeevaratnam - Gramasevaka - Kinniady Hand Grenade

attack

120]19/10/2005 | Vavuniya Mr. Peraira Weerasingham - Gramasevaka - Kankankulam By gunning down
121|02/12/2005 | Batticaloa Mr. A L M Falleel - Divisional Secretary - Kattankudy Pistol Group
122|24/04/2006 | Batticaloa Mr. Ariyarathnam Linkgeshwaram (Education Office - Valachchenai) By gunning down
123]26/05/2006 | Batticaloa Mr. Rathnam Rathnarajah - Provincial Official Director, Irrigation Engineer | By gunning down

- Batticaloa
124 21/06/2006 | Jaffna Mr. Sinnamam Tharmarajah - Manager of URELU Co-operative Society By gunning down
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No. DATE LOCATION NAME OPERANDI
125]04/08/2006 | Jaffna Mr. Ponnaturai Ganesha Moorthi - Bank Manager of People’s Bank - By gunning down
Kankesanthurai
126|12/08/2006 | Colombo Mr. Kethesh Loganathan - Deputy General of Secretariat Coordinating for | By gunning down
Peace Process
127116/10/2006 | Jaffna Mr. Marakandu Mahendran - Gramasevaka - J/95 Arialai
128 30/10/2006 | Jaffna Mr. Qubat Anand Rajah - Gramasevaka - J/70 GS Division By gunning down
129 05/01/2007 | Vavuniya Mr. V Ganeshalingam - Agricultural officer Claymore mine
130|05/01/2007 | Vavuniya Mr. V Mahendran - Agricultural officer Claymore mine
131]12/01/2007 |Jaffna Mr. Vellayan Premachandran - Gramasevaka - J/383 GS Division By gunning down
132|22/01/2007 | Vavuniya Mr. Daramakulasingham - CTB Depot Manager - Vavuniya By gunning down
133]20/09/2007 | Batticaloa Mr. Muthukumaran Paramasodi - Gramasevaka - Palaththadichenai By gunning down
1341 07/01/2008 | Batticaloa Mr. Parasuraman Nanthakumar - President of Batticaloa District Volunteer | By gunning down
Teacher’s Union
135]20/04/2008 | Batticaloa Mr. Kanagarathnam Anadi - Gramasevaka - Kalmunai By gunning down
136|16/11/2008 | Batticaloa Dr. Palitha Padmakumara - Thavakkadu Hospital By gunning down
INTELLECTUALS
137101/07/1979 | Jaffna IP Mr. Gurusamay - A witness of the SANSONI Commission By gunning down
138105/05/1984 | Mullaitivu Sinnathammby Appukutty Ambalavanar, JP By gunning down
139|22/08/1985 | Mullaitivu Mr. D K Thambipillai - President of Citizen Committee By gunning down
140|14/12/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. Kanapathipillai Sundaralingam - Member of Gramodaya Mandalaya By gunning down
141117/12/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. K Sugathadasan - Ex-President of Ambalanthurai Citizens Committee |By gunning down
142127/10/1988 | Jaffna Mr. Raja Shankar - President of the Citizens Committee By gunning down
143|18/02/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Mylvaganam editor of the Daily “Elamurusu” By gunning down
1441 14/07/1989 | Batticaloa Mr. Krishnapillai - Ayuvedic Physician By gunning down
145|10/05/1989 | Jaffna Mr. Mahalingam - Reporter of the Island Newspaper By gunning down
146 | 27/05/1990 | Batticaloa Mrs. Thambimuttu - Social worker/Wife of Mr. Sam Thambimuttu, EPRLF | By gunning down
MP for Batticaloa
147124/05/2004 | Batticaloa Mr. Kumaravellu Thambaiya - Lecturer of Eastern University By gunning down
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148 107/04/2006 | Trincomalee Mr. V Wignashwaram - Leader of North and East Tamil Organization in By gunning down
Trincomalee
ACADEMIC PERSONNEL

149 26/06/1985 | Jaffna Mr. C E Anandarajah - Principal of St. Johns College Pistol Group

150 05/08/1986 | Batticaloa Mr. Sivalingam - Principal, Sittandy Ramakrishnan Mission School By gunning down
151|03/11/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. E Dharmalingam - Principal of Puttur College By gunning down
152|14/12/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. K Eliyathambi Kandasamy - Principal of Palugamam Maha Vidyalaya By gunning down
153|14/12/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. Velamppodi Gunaratnam - Teacher of Palugamam Maha Vidyalaya By gunning down
1541 14/12/1987 | Batticaloa Mr. K E Kandasamy - Principal of Palugamam Maha Vidyalaya By gunning down
155|13/05/1988 | Batticaloa Mr. Masalamani Kanagaranam - Principal of Arampathi Maha Vidyalaya By gunning down
156|01/11/1995 |Jaffna Mrs. Pasupathipillai - Principal of Manipay Hindu Vidyalaya By gunning down
1571 03/10/2005 | Jaffna Mr. Parameshvaram - A Teacher of OLR School Jaffna By gunning down
158 11/10/2005 |Jaffna Mr. Nadaraja Shivagadasan - Principal of J/Christian College - Kopay By gunning down
159|11/10/2005 | Jaffna Mr. Kanabathi Rajadorai - Principal of Central College - Jaffna By gunning down
160|11/10/2006 | Batticaloa Miss Shivaghana Selwam - Teacher of Saraswathi College - Kinnlady By gunning down
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ANNEX B

SOME OF THE ATTACKS CARRIED OUT BY LTTE ON CIVILIAN TARGETS

ﬂ*ﬁ;{ DATE LOCATION KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING DESCRIPTION
1 14/05/1985 | Sri Maha Bodiya 120 85 0 LTTE massacred Buddhist devotees at the Sri Maha
- Anuradhapura Bodhiya
2 14/05/1985 | Wilpattu Jungle 18 0 0 Armed terrorists shot dead 18 Sinhalese
- Puttalam
3 02/08/1985 | Thirukonamadu 6 0 0 Armed terrorists attacked Ruhunu Somawathiya Temple
- Polonnaruwa
4 03/05/1986 |Katunayake - 16 0 0 Bomb exploded in Tristar aircraft at the Bandaranaike
Gampaha International Airport, Kkilling foreigners and local
travellers
5 07/05/1986 | Colombo 14 0 0 Bomb exploded in Central Telecomminucation Office
complex
6 30/05/1986 | Colombo 11 0 0 Bomb explosion at the Elephant House Supermarket
killing civilians
7 30/05/1986 | Pahala Thoppur 5 0 0 Land mine explosion on a moving Bus carrying Security
- Tricomalee Force personnel and civilians
8 31/05/1986 | Veyangoda Railway 10 0 0 A bomb explosion in Yaldevi train
Station - Gampaha
9 11/06/1986 | Trincomalee 22 75 0 Killing of a large group of people in a bomb explosion in
a bus at Inner Harbour Road - Trincomalee
10 25/06/1986 | Sittaru Kantalai 16 0 0 Killing of a large group of people in a Bomb explosion in
- Trincomalee the area
11 13/07/1986 | Pavakkulam - 11 0 0 04 armed terrorists had come in a jeep to Pavakkulam
Trincomalee and attacked the civilians
12 17/07/1986 |Block 4 Sugar Corp,| 10 0 0 Terrorists had exploded a bomb
- Trincomalee
13 22/07/1986 | Mamaduwa - 32 2 0 Terrorists exploded a Land Mine on a civilian bus
Vavuniya
14 24/07/1986 |Issenbessagala 17 40 0 Killng a large group of people in a Bomb explosion
- Anuradhapura
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15 18/02/1987 | Nelumgama - 7 0 0 A time bomb explosion
Badulla

16 17/04/1987 | Habarana - 96 44 0 LTTE massacred 96 civilians and 31 SF personnel who
Tricomalee were travelling in a passenger bus

17 21/04/1987 | Central Bus Stand, 106 295 0 The LTTE exploded a car bomb at the Pettah Bus Stand
Pettah - Colombo

18 02/06/1987 | Arantalawa - 35 14 0 Massacre of 31 Buddhist Priests and 04 civilians
Ampara

19 11/06/1987 | Veppankulam - 13 0 0 Killing a large group of people in a presure mine
Trincomalee explosion

20 12/06/1987 | Godapotha - 8 6 0 Terrorists surrounded a temple and attacked
Polonnaruwa

21 29/07/1987 | Thoppur - 9 0 0 Terrorist attack on civilians
Trincomalee

22 06/10/1987 | Batticaloa Town 18 6 0 Armed terrorists fired at civilians

23 06/10/1987 | Valachchenai - 40 0 0 LTTE set fire to the Batticaloa mail train
Batticaloa

24 07/10/1987 | Lahugala - Pottuvil 30 0 0 The LTTE killed 30 Civilians travelling in a passenger bus
- Ampara from Moneragala to Pottuvil

25 16/10/1987 | Pulmoddai - 8 0 0 A bus proceeding from Pulmoddai was stopped by
Anuradhapura terrorists and attacked

26 19/10/1987 | Kalkudah - 40 24 0 LTTE exploded a landmine
Batticaloa

27 09/11/1987 |Maradana - 23 106 0 Vehicle bomb explosion opposite Zahira College
Colombo

28 22/12/1987 | Morawewa - 6 0 0 Terrorists abducted 06 fishermen and later killed them.
Trincomalee

29 11/03/1988 | Horowpothana 19 9 0 A group of armed terrorists had attacked a private bus at
- Polonnaruwa Suhadagama with small arms and grenades

30 27/03/1988 | Wewalketiya - 9 14 0 A bomb which was hidden in a gunny bag inside a CTB
Anuradhapura bus plying from Medawachchiya to Horowpathana

exploded
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31 30/04/1988 | Awarathalawa - 4 5 0 Terrorists attack on a civil bus
Vavuniya

32 01/05/1988 | Sittaru/Kantalai 26 35 0 Terrorists exploded a Land Mine on a civilian bus
- Trincomalee

33 09/07/1988 | Irattaperiyakulam 2 10 A passenger bus leaving Jaffna was ambushed by LTTE
- Vavuniya

34 21/07/1988 | Trincomalee town 5 15 0 A time bomb explosion in Bandula Hotel causing damage

to the Building

35 16/08/1988 | Trincomalee town 9 19 A bomb was exploded by the LTTE

36 25/08/1988 | Marawila - 11 0 0 Armed terrorists had killed civilians by cutting their
Polonnaruwa throats

37 14/11/1988 | Peniketiyawa - 28 2 0 Terrorists ambushed a civil bus
Trincomalee

38 13/04/1989 | Centre Road - 51 43 0 A Car bomb explosion
Trincomalee

39 17/08/1989 | Nochchikulam 8 4 0 An IED explosion
- Vavuniya

40 25/07/1990 | Meeyankulam - 8 0 0 Civilians were hacked to death by terrorists
Polonnaruwa

41 29/07/1990 | Samanturai - 5 3 0 Terrorists fired at a Mosque
Ampara

42 30/07/1990 | Akkaraipattu - 14 0 0 Terrorists abducted and killed 14 Muslims
Ampara

43 03/08/1990 |Kathankudy - 147 70 0 Terrorists massacred Muslim devotees at a Mosque
Batticaloa

44 05/08/1990 | Mullayankadu - 17 0 0 Terrorists killed civilians working in a paddy field
Ampara

45 06/08/1990 | Ampara area 34 0 0 Terrorists killed civilians working in a paddy field

46 | 08/08/1990 |Meegaswewa - 26 7 0 A Private coach proceeding from Morawewa to
Trincomalee Horowpathana was attacked by Terrorists

SISATVNYV TVNLIOVI—NOILLVEIAdO NVIUV.LINVIN(IH



ﬂi? DATE LOCATION KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING DESCRIPTION

47 12/08/1990 | Weerachcholai 4 10 0 Terrorists attacked Muslim civilians working in a paddy
- Ampara field

48 13/08/1990 | Muttur - 6 0 0 06 Muslim fishermen were killed and burried at Gengai
Trincomalee villiage by terrorists

49 13/08/1990 |Pulmoddai - 14 0 0 Terrorists ambushed a lorry travelling from Negombo to
Welioya Kokkuvil

50 09/09/1990 | Uhana - Ampara 7 2 0 Terrorists attacked farmers who were travelling on a

tractor

51 13/09/1990 | South of Poonani 7 0 0 Security Forces recovered 07 mutilated bodies of Muslim
- Anuradhapura villagers. The deceased had been hacked to death.

52 24/09/1990 | Gajabapura - 4 0 0 Terrorists set fire to 05 houses
Welioya

53 30/09/1990 | Maha Oya - Ampara 9 0 0 Terrorists hijacked civilians and killed them

54 11/10/1990 | Arugam Bay - 9 0 0 Terrorists shot and hacked to death 09 Muslims who
Ampara were collecting fire woods near Kirankove Jungle

55 02/03/1991 | Havelock Road 19 70 0 A suicide vehicle bomb explosion
- Colombo

56 24/03/1991 | Fish Market 9 32 0 Bomb explosion at Fish Market
- Akkaraipattu
- Ampara

57 03/04/1991 |Keviliya - 10 11 16 Terrorists attack on fishing vallams
Trincomalee

58 12/06/1991 | Kokkadicholai - 10 0 0 Bomb explosion on Manmunai Ferry
Batticaloa

59 08/08/1991 | Samanturai - 6 0 0 08 Muslim farmers who were on their way home from their
Batticaloa paddy fields had been killed by a group of terrorists

60 26/01/1992 | Between Aratalawa 10 26 0 Killing a large gp of people who were travelling in a
and Borapola - private bus playing between Maha Oya and Ampara
Ampara through a land mine explosion

61 10/04/1992 | Ampara 28 36 0 A bomb exploded in a private bus which was parked at

the Ampara bus stand
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62 10/04/1992 | Maharagama - 9 23 0 At the Maharagama town a bomb exploded in a car close
Colombo to the National Youth Council building
63 10/04/1992 | Maradana - 8 23 0 Killing a large group of people in a car bomb explosion
Colombo
64 02/06/1992 | 209 mile post - 14 3 0 Terrorists stopped a private bus plying from Akkaraipattu
Pottuvil - Ampara to Pottuvil and opened fire
65 15/07/1992 | Kirankulam - 19 7 0 Terrorists attacked a civil bus proceeding from
Batticaloa Kathankudy towards Kalmunai
66 |21/07/1992 | Batticaloa 8 4 0 Terrorists stopped the Colombo-Batticaloa train and
ordered the passengers to get down and opened fire at
the Muslim passengers
67 30/07/1992 | Trincomalee 9 34 0 Killing a group of people in a explosion by a bomb
planted in a private bus at the bus stand
68 01/09/1992 | Saindamadu - 0 0 22 LTTE launched a bomb attack
Ampara
69 10/09/1992 | Trincomalee 6 2 0 Blasted a ferry at Kiliveddy Point
70 26/12/1992 | Vakaneri South 6 0 0 A Maruti Jeep (17 - 5747) carrying the Additional AG
- Batticaloa (Batticaloa), AGA (Valachchenai) and 04 others was
caught in a land mine explosion
71 01/05/1993 | Armour Street 13 23 0 A suicide bomb explosion killing HE R Premadasa, the
Junction - Colombo President of Sri Lanka
72 19/01/1994 | Rambawewa - 10 0 0 Bomb blast in a bus at Rambawewa
Anuradhapahura
73 16/03/1994 | Kudiramalai - 17 3 0 Approx. 10 boats that had gone fishing close to
Puttalam Kudiramalai point were attacked by terrorists
74 24/10/1994 | Thotalanga 54 72 0 A suicide bomb explosion
Junction - Colombo
75 07/08/1995 | Independence 23 40 0 A suicide cadre pushing a cart fixed with a bomb

Square - Colombo

exploded it at the gate of the Ministerial office of the
Western Province Chief Minister
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76 25/10/1995 | Panama - Ampara 8 0 0 Terrorists kidnapped 02 villagers from Panama village
and killed them. Later they kidnapped another 06 and
killed them.
77 11/11/1995 | Slave Island - 11 52 0 A suicide bomber who had been in the vicinity of AHQ
Colombo detonated himself in close proximity to the Slave Island
Railway Station
78 05/12/1995 | Puthukudirippu 12 0 0 A vehicle bomb exploded in front of the Puthukudirippu
- Batticaloa camp
79 31/01/1996 | Colombo 80 1200 0 A large group of people were killed in a bomb explosion
in front of the Cental Bank
80 18/06/1996 | Meegasgodella 6 2 0 A vehicle belonging to Survey Department was fired
- Trincomalee on by a group of terrorists while it was returning from
Kantalai to Kallar
81 04/07/1996 | Jaffna Town 12 50 0 Suicide bomber exploded
82 24/07/1996 | Dehiwala - 57 356 0 Bomb explosion on the Alutgama train at Dehiwala
Colombo station
83 12/09/1996 | Arantalawa - 11 31 0 Terrorists attacked the SLTB bus plying from Ampara to
Ampara Kandy
84 15/10/1997 | Colombo Fort 11 105 0 Terrorists activated lorry bomb at Galadari Hotel and at
the World Trade Centre
85 25/01/1998 | Kandy 9 15 0 A large group of people were killed when a LTTE suicide
bomber exploded 02 bombs in the vicinity of Dalada
Maligawa in Kandy
86 |05/03/1998 | Maradana - 36 270 0 Vehicle bomb explosion near Maradana Police Station
Colombo
87 09/03/1998 | Eravur - Batticaloa 26 0 Claymore mine explosion in the centre of Eravur town
88 11/09/1998 | Nallur - Jaffna 12 0 Bomb explosion that took place in the Municipal
Commissioner’s Office close to Nallur Kovil
89 29/09/1998 | Jaffna 54 0 0 LTTE attack on a passenger aircraft belonging to Lion Air
Flight killing 54 civilians including the crew members
90 20/11/1999 | Madhu Church 38 66 0 Terrorists fired small arms and mortars on the Madhu

complex - Mannar

Church complex
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91 18/12/1999 | Town Hall - 16 106 0 A suicide cadre exploded herself at a Presidential Election
Colombo Campaign Meeting
92 18/12/1999 | Ja-Ela - Gampaha 12 45 0 A LTTE suicide bomber attacked a UNP election meeting
93 05/01/2000 |Flower Road - 9 16 0 A female suicide bomber exploded herself when police
Colombo officers attmpted to check her in front of the Prime
Minister’s Office
94 27/01/2000 | Vavuniya 13 58 0 A Parcel bomb planted in the Vavuniya post office
exploded
95 10/03/2000 |Rajagiriya - Borella 15 76 0 The LTTE killed a large group of people when their
- Colombo mission of assassinating cabinet ministers and top
defence officials returning from the Parliament failed
96 07/04/2000 | Aralaganvila - 4 0 0 Terrorist fired at famers
Polonnaruwa
97 12/04/2000 | Fort Fedrick - 10 60 0 Terrorists threw a Hand Grenade at a Musical Show
Trincomalee
98 17/05/2000 | Batticaloa 17 78 A bomb exploded opposite the “Vesak Pandal” at
Mangalaram Temple, Batticaloa
99 07/06/2000 |Ratmalana - 24 60 0 A large group of people were killed in a LTTE suicide
Colombo mission
100 |15/09/2000 |Maradana - 5 25 0 A suicide cadre exploded himself at Deans Road near the
Colombo Eye Hospital while being checked by a Police Constable
101 |02/10/2000 |Mutur - 27 46 0 A suicide bomber riding a bicycle strapped with
Trincomalee explosives drove into a three wheeler carrying
Mr. Mohamad Latiff Baithullah, a PA candidate, killing a
large group of people
102 |05/10/2000 |Medawachchiya 11 40 0 A LTTE suicide bomber exploded herself at a General
- Anuradhapura Election meeting held by the Peoples Alliance in
Medawachchiya Town, killng a large group of innocent
people
103 |28/11/2000 |Kebitigollawa - 16 36 0 Passenger bus which was proceeding on the
Anuradhapura Medawachchiya - Kebitigollewa Road, got caught to a

pressure mine Kkilling a large group of innocent people
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104 |05/03/2005 |Kolakanawadiya 6 3 0 A group of gunman suspected to be LTTE attacked a
- Polonnaruwa group of civilian
105 |18/11/2005 |Akkaraipattu - 4 35 0 A Civilian lobbed two hand grenade at the Main Mosque
Batticaloa in Akkaraipattu
106 |12/04/2006 | Trincomalee Town 15 45 0 A bomb exploded near Public Market - Trincomalee
107 |23/04/2006 |Kallampaththuwa 5 0 0 LTTE cadres fired at the farmers who were in a paddy
- Trincomalee field
108 |27/05/2006 |Nochchiyagama 7 0 0 A group of 07 civilians who entered the Wilpattu National
- Puttalam Park were killed when the vehicle in which they were
travelling got caught to a cluster of landmines
109 |29/05/2006 |Omadiyamadu 12 2 0 LTTE had massacred 12 persons who were engaged in a
- Polonnaruwa tank construction project
110 |15/06/2006 |Kebitigollewa - 64 87 0 LTTE had exploded 02 claymore mines targeting
Anuradhapura a passenger bus transporting approximately 160
passengers from villages of Viharahalmillewa,
Halmillawetiya, = Yakawewa and Talgaswewa to
Kebitigollewa. In the explosion 01 soldier, 15 Home
Guards and 48 civilians were killed and 01 soldier and
86 civilians were injured
111 |18/09/2006 |Panama - Ampara 10 1 0 10 Muslim civilians were killed by the LTTE group whilst
they were engaged in construction works at Radaella
Tank in Panama - Potuvil area
112 |05/01/2007 | Nittambuwa - 5 54 0 A Time bomb exploded in a private bus plying between
Gampaha Nittambuwa to Giriulla
113 |06/01/2007 |Seenigama - Galle 11 30 0 An explosion occurred inside a Matara bound private
bus plying from Colombo at Seenigama, near the Kahawa
Junction, Ambalangoda
114 | 01/04/2007 | Mailambaveli, 6 3 0 An LTTE armed gang forcibly took 08 Civilians, workers

Eravur - Batticaloa

out of a construction site (Village Hope a housing scheme
for Orphanage Children and took them 200m away and
shot them)
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115 |25/04/2007 |Kondavattavan 14 25 0 Passenger bus plying from Ampara to Badulla via Bibila
- Ampara was blown up by a bomb hidden inside the bus by LTTE
terrorists
116 |05/04/2007 |Nidanwala - 4 0 0 04 male farmers were killed by a group of LTTE terrorists
Polonnaruwa consisting of 10 - 15 terrorists with fire arms while the
farmers were harvesting
117 |07/04/2007 |Piramanalankulam 6 17 0 A passenger transport bus carrying civilian commuters
- Vavuniya from Mannar to Vavuniya (A-30 road) was attacked
by LTTE with a claymore mine in the general area
Piramanalankulam
118 |13/04/2007 | Aiyankerni - 5 2 0 LTTE attacked, using small arms, a group of TMVP
Batticaloa members. Due to the fire 02 TMVP members and
03 civilians died and 02 civilians received injuries
119 |01/05/2007 | Thihihilaweddi 3 0 0 LTTE shot dead 03 farmers including a woman at
- Batticaloa Thihilaweddi in an uncleared area while the farmers
were in their farm
120 |26/11/2007 | Wilachchiya - 4 0 0 04 civilians were killed by LTTE
Anuradhapura
121 |26/11/2007 |Nugegoda - 15 36 0 An explosion took place at Nugegoda junction in front of
Colombo shopping complex
122 |05/12/2007 | Abimanapura - 14 21 0 LTTE terrorists exploded a claymore mine targeting a
Anuradhapura bus which was transporting civilans from Anuradhapura
to Janakapura
123 |16/01/2008 | Okkampitiya - 27 65 0 Blasting of a claymore mine followed by shooting LTTE
Monaragala terrorists targeted a passenger bus which was plying from
Okkampitiya to Buttala in the general area of Weliara
124 |31/01/2008 | Thirunelvely - 4 14 0 An LTTE suicide bomber who had come in a pedal cycle
Jaffna exploded himself on the Jaffna - Nallur road
125 02/02/2008 |Dambulla - Matale 18 71 0 Passenger bus plying from Kandy to Anuradhapura was
blown up by a concealed time bomb inside the bus at
Dambulla bus stand
126 |03/02/2008 |Colombo 15 85 0 An LTTE female suicied bomber blew herself on platform

No.3 inside the Colombo Fort Railway Station
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127 |04/02/2008 | Nikawewa - 8 12 0 Blasting of a claymore mine by LTTE terrorists targeting
Welioya a passenger bus which was plying from Parakramapura
to Janakapura in Nikawewa.
128 |06/04/2008 | Weliweriya - 10 72 0 LTTE Suicide attack at Weliweriya which killed Mr. Jeyaraj
Gampaha Fernandopulle, Minister of Highways & Road Devlopment
and the Chief Govt. Whip.
129 |25/04/2008 |Piliyandala - 27 67 0 A bomb explosion using a remote control device took
Colombo place inside a crowded passenger bus plying between
Piliyandala and Kahapola.
130 |08/05/2008 |Ampara 12 36 0 An explosion took place close to the Clock Tower of
Ampara.
131 |26/05/2008 |Dehiwala - 9 80 0 Blasting of a bomb inside the Panadura bound crowded
Colombo office train at Dehiwala Railway Station.
132 |06/06/2008 |Katubedda - 23 28 0 Blasting of a claymore mine targeting a private passenger
Colombo bus proceeding towards Mount Lavinia from Kottawa
between Shilabimbarama Temple and the University of
Moratuwa.
133 |11/07/2008 | Galge - Yala - 4 21 0 LTTE fired on a passenger bus travelling from Buttala to
Hambantota Kataragama.
134 |06/10/2008 | Anuradhapura 27 84 0 An LTTE male suicide bomber exploded himself killing
Major General K J C Perera RWP RSP VSV USP rcds Psc
(Retd), leader of the opposition North Central Provincial
Council, and 26 other persons and injuring 84 persons
during a function held to declare open the new UNP
office in Anuradhapura.
135 |09/02/2009 | Puliyampokkanai 9 41 0 An LTTE female suicide bomber exploded herself while
- Kilinochchi troops were conducting body searches of IDPS.
136 |[10/02/2009 |Puthukkudiyiruppul 19 75 0 Terrorists fired at IDPs coming to SF controlled area.
- Mullaittivu
137 |10/02/2009 | Akuressa - Matara 13 4?2 0 An LTTE suicide bomber attacked the Jumma Mosque at

Godapitiya in Akuressa.
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ANNEX C

THE LIST OF LTTE ATTACKS ON VULNERABLE VILLAGES

SER
No.

DATE

LOCATION

DISTRICT

KILLED

WOUNDED

MISSING

TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI

29/11/1984

Dollar Farm, Welioya|

Vavuniya

33

0

0

Sinhala fishing village was attacked using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

30/11/1984

Kent Farm, Welioya

Vavuniya

29

Sinhala fishing village was attacked using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

04/06/1985

Dehiwatta

Trincomalee

15

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

14/08/1985

Arantalawa

Ampara

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

18/08/1985

Namalwatta

Trincomalee

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

07/11/1985

Namalwatta

Trincomalee

10

Sinhala village was attacked wusing
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

19/02/1986

Kantalai

Trincomalee

19

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

01/12/1984

Kokilai

Welioya

11

Sinhala fishing village was attacked using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

05/05/1986

Kinniya

Trincomalee

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

10

25/05/1986

Mahadivulwewa

Trincomalee

20

LTTE attacked Sinhala village using
automatic weapon and subsequently set
fire to 20 houses.

11

02/06/1986

Trincomalee,

3rd mile post

Trincomalee

10

LTTE attacked village using the automatic

weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
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SER
No.

DATE

LOCATION

DISTRICT

KILLED

WOUNDED

MISSING

TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI

12

04/06/1986

Andankulam

Trincomalee

17

0

0

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

13

21/06/1986

Wilgamwehera

Trincomalee

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

14

08/07/1986

Monkey bridge

Trincomalee

15

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

15

09/07/1986

Mollipothna

Trincomalee

16

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

16

19/07/1986

Wadigawewa

Polonnaruwa

17

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

17

17/09/1986

Kantalai

Trincomalee

10

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

18

17/09/1986

Wadigawewa

Trincomalee

12

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

19

04/02/1987

Manthottam

Ampara

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

20

07/02/1987

Aranthalawa

Ampara

27

LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

21

25/03/1987

Serunewa

Anuradhapura

25

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

22

20/04/1987

Jayanthipura

Trincomalee

15

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

23

29/05/1987

Kadawathmadu

Polonnaruwa

Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.
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?\IE(? DATE LOCATION DISTRICT KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI
24 |21/06/1987 | Godapotha - Polonnaruwa 8 1 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
Beruwila grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

25 06/10/1987 | Talawai Batticaloa 25 0 0 Sinhala village was attacked wusing
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

26 |06/10/1987 | Sagarapura Trincomalee 27 6 0 LTTE attacked Sinhala village using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

27 10/10/1987 | Gantalawa / Trincomalee 9 3 0 Sinhala village was attacked wusing

Kantalai grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

28 |15/10/1987 | Ella Kantalai Trincomalee 14 0 0 Sinhala village was attacked wusing
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

29 |15/12/1987 | Devalegodella Polonnaruwa 7 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

30 |31/12/1987 | Batticaloa Batticaloa 30 0 0 LTTE attacked Kathankudi Muslim village
using automatic weapon.

31 |01/01/1988 | Kuruniyankulama | Trincomalee 3 2 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

32 102/02/1988 | Bogamuyaya Ampara 11 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

33 [02/03/1988 | Morawewa Trincomalee 15 3 9 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

34 |05/03/1988 | Sittaru, Kantalai Trincomalee 24 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

35 |14/03/1988 | Galmitiyawa Trincomalee 12 2 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

36 | 15/03/1988 | Kivulkade Trincomalee 7 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

37 |17/03/1988 | Deegawapi Ampara 13 9 0 Sinhala village was attacked using

grenades, automatic weapons, swords,

knives, clubs etc.
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?\IE(? DATE LOCATION DISTRICT KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI

38 |22/03/1988 | Pudukulam Vavuniya 4 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

39 |22/03/1988 | Medawachchikulam | Vavuniya 9 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

40 |31/03/1988 | Saindamaradu/ Ampara 17 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

Kalmune weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
41 |08/04/1988 | Megaswewa, Anuradhapura 14 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Horowpathana weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

42 | 28/07/1988 | Ethawetunuwewa Welioya 16 1 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

43 |10/08/1988 | Central Camp Ampara 11 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

44 110/09/1988 | 16th Colony Ampara 7 5 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

45 |10/10/1988 | Mahakongaskada- | Vavuniya 44 4 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

Medawachchiya weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

46 |12/12/1988 | Sumedagama Trincomalee 7 4 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

47 |17/01/1989 | Maharambekulam | Vavuniya 9 7 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

48 102/02/1989 | Bogamuyaya Ampara 11 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

49 |11/02/1989 | Dutuwewa Welioya 37 5 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

50 |11/02/1989 | Singhapura Welioya 6 7 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

51 |27/02/1989 | Borawewa Polonnaruwa 38 3 0 Sinhala village was attacked using

grenades, automatic weapons, swords,

knives, clubs etc.
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?\IE(? DATE LOCATION DISTRICT KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI

52 |30/05/1990 | Mihidupura Trincomalee 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

53 |24/07/1990 | Aralaganwila Ampara 8 0 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

54 |25/07/1990 | Wan Ela Trincomalee 9 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

55 126/07/1990 | Tammannawa Anuradhapura 19 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

56 |31/07/1990 | Kantalai Trincomalee 11 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

57 107/08/1990 | Bandaraduwa Ampara 30 4 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

58 |08/08/1990 | Navagamuwa Vavuniya 7 4 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

59 11/08/1990 | Eravur Batticaloa 173 20 0 LTTE attacked a Muslim village using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

60 |13/08/1990 | Avarantalava Vavuniya 10 3 0 LTTE attacked Muslim and Sinhala|
villages using automatic weapons,
swords, knives, clubs etc.

61 19/09/1990 | Vellamundel Puttalam 23 2 0 Sinhala fishing village was attacked using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

62 |21/09/1990 | Pudukudiruppu Ampara 15 11 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

63 |01/10/1990 | Peruwaltalawa Ampara 9 3 0 Sinhala village was attacked using
grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

64 |02/10/1990 | Wahalkade Anuradhapura 4 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

65 |23/10/1990 | Thantirimalai Anuradhapura 10 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
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66 |25/10/1990 | Paranamedawach- | Welioya 4 2 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

chiya weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

67 |27/10/1990 | Thantirimalai Anuradhapura 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

68 |[29/10/1990 | Olikulam Batticaloa 3 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

69 |01/11/1990 | Helambawewa Welioya 10 1 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

70 103/11/1990 | Bandarakubukwewa | Anuradhapura 4 2 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

71 123/01/1991 | Bogamuyaya Ampara 29 5 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

72 02/03/1991 | Kaludaveli Batticaloa 4 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

73 102/03/1991 | Erakkandy area Trincomalee 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

74 114/04/1991 | 22nd Colony, Ampara 17 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

Athymale weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
75 120/04/1991 | Niyandella, Ampara 22 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Okkampitiya weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

76 |24/06/1991 | Periyapullumalai Ampara 10 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

77 |106/07/1991 | Puddur Polonnaruwa 16 3 0 A group of 50 LTTE attacked a Muslim|
village using automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

78 106/07/1991 | Karapola & Polonnaruwa 9 0 1 Sinhala village was attacked using

Manampitiya grenades, automatic weapons, swords,
knives, clubs etc.

79 119/09/1991 | Palliyagodella - Polonnaruwa 13 6 0 LTTE attacked a Muslim village using

Medirigiriya automatic weapons, swords, knives,

clubs etc.

SISATVNYV TVNLIOVI—NOILLVEIAdO NVIUV.LINVIN(IH



—<ll =

?\IE(? DATE LOCATION DISTRICT KILLED | WOUNDED | MISSING TACTICS / MODUS OPERENDI
80 |29/04/1992 | Karapola, Muthugla | Polonnaruwa 130 71 0 LTTE attacked a Muslim village using
& Alinchipothana automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.
81 16/05/1992 | Kosgolla village Ampara 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
82 |109/08/1992 | Mailanthenna Polonnaruwa 25 10 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
83 |01/10/1992 | Konwewa Welioya 15 9 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
84 |15/10/1992 | Palliyagodella & Polonnaruwa 146 83 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Ahamedpura weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
85 |25/05/1995 | Kallarawa Trincomalee 4?2 15 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
86 |21/10/1995 | Mangalagama Batticaloa 16 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
87 |21/10/1995 | Monarathanna Polonnaruwa 36 12 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
88 [21/10/1995 | North of Padaviya | Welioya 19 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
(Galtalawa) weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
89 |[23/10/1995 | Atthimalai/ Monaragala 19 1 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Kotiyagala weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
90 |26/10/1995 | Tammanna Anuradhapura 26 27 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Halmillewa weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
91 |26/10/1995 | Alapathwewa Welioya 26 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
92 |02/11/1995 | Siyabalanduwa Moneragala 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
93 |22/02/1996 | Mahanikawewa, Anuradhapura 6 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
Kebetigollawa weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
94 11/06/1996 | Eluwankulama Puttalam 14 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
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95 |10/02/1997 | Oddaimavadi Batticaloa 5 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

96 |12/05/1997 | Morawewa Trincomalee 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

97 102/07/1997 | Erakkandy Trincomalee 34 0 0 LTTE attacked a Muslim village using
automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

98 |05/07/1999 | Rathmalgahawella | Ampara 4 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

99 |18/09/1999 | Galapitagala, Ampara 50 5 0 LTTE attacked village using grenades,

Badirekka, Borapola automatic weapons, swords, knives,
clubs etc.

100 {07/12/2000 | Welikanda Polonnaruwa 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

101 [ 17/10/2001 | Ruwanpitiya Polonnaruwa 2 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

102 [12/04/2007 | Awarantulawa Vavuniya 7 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

103 [16/01/2008 | Buttala (Niyanda- Moneragala 6 3 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

gala/Waralanda) weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

104 |17/01/2008 | Tissamaharama Moneragala 8 5 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

105 [ 11/09/2008 | Kotiyagala Moneragala 7 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

106 |21/02/2009 | Nelliadi Karamatiya | Ampara 14 8 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

village weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

107 [12/04/2009 | Mahagodayaya Mannar 9 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

village weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

108 | 13/04/2009 | Makul ara village Moneragala 3 1 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic
weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.

109 | 25/04/2009 | Okanda Ampara 5 0 0 LTTE attacked village using the automatic

weapons, swords, knives, clubs etc.
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ANNEX D
ATTACK ON ECONOMIC TARGETS
?\E{ DATE LOCATION DESCRIPTION TARGET TACTICS/ MODUS
1 01/07/1983 | Kondavil - Jaffna| Setting fire to the Yaldevi Train at|Passenger Train Set Fire
Kondavil
21/01/1984 | Colombo Bomb explosion at Hotel Oberoi Oberoi Hotel Time Bomb Explosion
19/01/1985 | Murugandi - Land mine explosion on Yaldevi| Passenger Train Land Mine Explosion
Mullaitivu Train
4 03/05/1986 | Katunayake Bomb planted on a Tristar Air Craft| Tristar Plane Time Bomb Explosion
at the Bandarnaike International
Airport exploded
5 07/05/1986 | Colombo Bomb explosion in the Central|Central Telecommunication Bomb was exploded before
Telecommunication Complex Complex it was placed
6 30/05/1986 | Colombo Bomb explosion within the Elephant| Elephant House Commercial Time Bomb Explosion
House Commercial Building Building
7 21/04/1987 | Colombo Car bomb explosion in the Central| Central Bus Station Car bomb
Bus Station, Colombo
7 106/10/1987 | Valachchenai LTTE set fire to the Batticaloa train|Passenger Train Set Fire
- Batticaloa killing 40 civilians
8 09/10/1994 | Vettalakerni LTTE attack on MV “Ocean Trader”| MV Ocean Trader Sea Tiger Attack
- Jaffna vessel
9 09/08/1995 | Pulmoddai - MV  “Princess Wave” ship was|MV Princess Wave Ship Explosion
Trincomalee damaged due to an explosion carried
out by the LTTE
10 [20/10/1995 |Kolonnawa and |LTTE launched an attack on the Oil| Oil Tanks Infiltrated Sucide attackers
Orugodawatta |Refinery at Kolonnawa and the Oil launched RPG attack
- Colombo Installation at Orugodawatte
11 [31/01/1996 | Colombo LTTE activated a vehicle bomb in|Central Bank and adjoining| Suicide vehicle Bomb

front of the Central Bank causing
extensive damage to the building,
roads vehicles and the surrounding
area

building

attack
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iﬁ? DATE LOCATION DESCRIPTION TARGET TACTICS/ MODUS
12 [ 24/07/1996 | Dehiwala - Bomb explosion on the Alutgama|Passenger Train Time Bomb Explosion
Colombo Train at the Dehiwala Railway
station
13 109/09/1997 | Pulmoddai - A foreign ship “MV Cordiality”| MV Cordiality Sea Tiger Attack
Trincomalee at anchorare off Pulmoddai was
attacked by the LTTE. It is believed
90 persons were on board including
05 Army personnel, 31 Crew members
and 54 minor workers.

14 [15/10/1997 | Colombo LTTE exploded a Vehicle (Lorry)|Hotel Galadari/Twin Towers | Suicide attacker launched
bomb at the Galadari Hotel car park attack while vehicle Bomb
close to the World Trade Centre (Twin exploded
Towers). Killed 13 and wounded 113
included civilians and SF personnel.

15 [04/12/1997 | Colombo A group of suicide Sea Tigerslaunched | Colombo Harbour Suicide Sea Tiger attack

Harbour a sea borne attack on Colombo Port
16 |26/06/2000 | Point Pedro The ship MV Huan carrying private| MV Huan Cargo Vessel Suicide Attack
- Jaffna cargo was attacked by LTTE suicide
boats. The vessel sank due to
damage
17 |24/07/2001 |Katunayake The LTTE suide cadres attacked the|Bandaranaike International | Agroup of Suicide attackers
- Gampaha SLAF base and the Bandaranaike| Airport and SLAF Base launched an infiltration|
International Airport at Katunayake attack
18 [29/04/2007 | Kolonnawa - An LTTE Light Aircraft dropped Kolonnawa Oil Tank Air Attack
Colombo 02 bombs targeting the Kolonnawa
Oil Tanks and Storage Complex area
19 [29/04/2007 | Muturajawela An LTTE Light Aircraft dropped|Muturajawela Oil Tank Air Attack
- Gampaha 02bombstargeting the Muthurajawela
Gas Storage Complex area
20 [26/05/2008 | Dehiwela - Blasting of a bomb inside the|Panadura Train Time Bomb Explosion
Colombo Panadura bound crowded office train

at Dehiwala railway station
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21 |22/10/2008 | Kankesanturai |Sea Tiger suicide bombers on three| Merchant Ships MERCS Suicide Attack
- Jaffna LTTE suicide craft attempted to|“Nimalawa’ and MERCS
blow up the merchant ships MERCS| “Ruhuna”
“Nimalawa” and MERCS “Ruhuna”
carrying essential relief items for
civilianin the North. Two LTTE Suicide
craft were completed destroyed and
another was captured by the SLN.
22 |28/10/2008 | Grandpass - An LTTE light Air craft dropped|Kelanitissa Power House Air Attack
Colombo 02 bombs on the premises of

the Kelanitissa Power House and
escaped
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ATTACKS ON VVIPs/ VIPs

ANNEX E

ﬂi;( DATE LOCATION OBJECT/PERSON ATTACKED I'YPE OF ATTACK
1 27/07/1975 | Ponnalai Kadduwan Mr. Alfred Duraiappa - MP and Mayor of Jaffna By gunning down
(near Krishna Kovil)-
Jaffna
2 19/01/1983 | Vavuniya Mr. K T Pullendran - Ex-MP/UNP organiser for Vavuniya By gunning down
3 01/09/1985 |Point Pedro - Jaffna Mr. K Thurairathinam - TULF MP for Point Pedro By gunning down
4 03/09/1985 | Uduppiddi - Jaffna Mr. K Rajalingam - TULF, MP for Uduppiddi By gunning down
5 03/09/1985 |Manipai - Jaffna Mr. V Dharmalingam - TULF MP for Manipai By gunning down
Father of Mr. D Siddharthan (PLOTE Leader)
6 03/09/1985 | Thinnaveli - Jaffna Mr. K Alalasundaram - TULF, MP for Kopay By gunning down
7 13/11/1987 | Mutur - Trincomalee | Mr. Abdul Majeed - MP for Mutur By gunning down
8 13/07/1989 | Wijerama Mawatha Mr. A Amirthalingam - MP, Secretary General of the TULF/ By gunning down
- Colombo a former Opposition Leader
9 13/07/1989 | Wijerama Mawatha Mr. V Yogeshwaran - TULF, MP for Jaffna By gunning down
- Colombo
10 [07/05/1990 |Trincomalee Mr. Sam Thambimuttu - EPRLF MP for Batticaloa By gunning down
11 |{19/06/1990 |Madras - India Mr. V K Yogasangari - EPRLF, MP for Jaffna District By gunning down
12 |15/07/1990 |Pottuvil - Ampara Mr. K Kanagaratnam - MP for Pottuvil By gunning down
13 [18/12/1990 |Morawewa - Major General C L Wijeathne Land mine
Trincomalee
14 |02/03/1991 |Havelock Road Deputy Defence Minister Mr. Ranjan Wijeratne Vechicle bomb
- Colombo
15 |21/05/1991 |India Sri Rajiv Gandhi - former PM of India Human bomb
16 |16/11/1992 | Galle Face - Colombo |Navy Commander, Vice Admiral, W W E C Fernando Sucide Attack
17 |23/04/1993 |Kirulapone - Colombo | Mr. Lalith Athulathmudli - DUNF Leader and Former Minister | By gunning down
of National Security
18 [01/05/1993 | Armour St. Junction His Excellency R. Premadasa - President of Sri Lanka. Human bomb

- Colombo
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19 |24/10/1994 | Thotalaga - Colombo | Mr. Gamini Dissanayake Leader of the opposition & UNP Human bomb
candidate for the presidential elections - 1994

20 |24/10/1994 | Thotalanga - Colombo | Mr. G M Premachandra - MP/DUNF Leader Suicide attack

21 |24/10/1994 | Thotalanga - Colombo | Mr. Weerasinghe Mallimarachi - MP/Former Minister of Food Suicide attack
and Co-operatives

22 124/10/1994 | Thotalanga - Colombo | Mr. Ossie Abeygunasekera - MP Colombo Dist./ SLMP Leader Suicide attack

23 |05/07/1996 | Jaffna Major General A S S K Hamangoda Human bomb

24 |05/07/1997 | Trincomalee Mr. Arunachalam Thangathurai - TULF MP for Trincomalee By gunning down

25 |20/07/1997 | 06th mile post, Mr. M E H Maharoof - UNP MP for Trincomalee By gunning down

Nilaveli - Trincomalee

26 |14/05/1998 | Point Pedro - Jaffna Major General L A R Wijeratne Human bomb

27 |15/07/1998 | Vavuniya Mr. Saravanabawanandan Shanmuganathan @ Vasanthan By claymore mine
- PLOTE, MP for Vavuniya District attack

28 [29/07/1999 |Borella - Colombo Dr. Neelan Thiruchelvam - TULF MP (National list)/ Suicide Attack
Constitutional Lawyer

29 102/11/1999 |Wellawatta - Colombo | Mr. Nadarajah Atputharajah - EPDP, MP/Secretary of the |By gunning down
Politbureau of the EPDP/Editor of “Thinamurusu” (a Tamil
tabloid paper)

30 |18/12/1999 |Ja-Ela - Gampaha Retired Major General C L Algama Human bomb

31 |07/06/2000 |Ratmalana - Colombo | Minister of Industrial Development Mr. C V Goonarathne Human bomb

32 |16/09/2000 | Aranayake - Kegalle Mr. M HM Ashraff - MP & Minister of Ports Development, | Heli Crash
Reconstruction & Rehabilitation and Founder Leader of Sri
Lanka Muslims Congress (SLMC)

33 |07/11/2000 |Korakallimadu Mr. Ashley Nimalanayagam Saundranayagam - TULF MP for By gunning down

- Batticaloa Batticaloa

34 |07/07/2004 |Kollupitiya - Colombo | A Female LTTE suicide bomber who was arrested by the MSD | Human bomb
at the entrance of the office of Minister and the EPDP Leader
Mr. Douglas Devananda, blew herself up

35 |119/10/2004 |Batticaloa Town Mr. Kingsly Rajanayagam, a former TNA MP for Batticaloa By gunning down
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36 |[07/02/2005 |Pillaiyaradi - Mr. Ariyanayagam Chandranheru, Former TNA MP for In an ambush on
Polonnaruwa Polonnaruwa District 07/02/2005 (clash
between inter Tamil
rebel groups)
37 |12/08/2005 |Cinnamon Gardens Mr. Lakshman Kadiragamar - Minister of Foreign Affairs By gunning down
- Colombo
38 |25/12/2005 |Batticaloa Town Mr. J Pararajasingham - MP, Tamil National Alliance (TNA) By gunning down
39 |25/04/2006 |Army Headquarters The attempt on the life of the Comd of the Army Lt. Gen. G S C | Suicide Attack
- Colombo Fonseka RWP, RSP, rcds, psc. Army Comd was seriously injured
when a female LTTE suicide bomber who had entered into the
AHQ premises disguised as a pregnant woman blew herself
targeting the car carrying the Army Commander in front of the
exit of the Military Hospital.
40 |26/06/2006 |Pannipitiya - Colombo | An LTTE suicide cadre riding an explosive laden motorcycle | Suicide Attack
rammed into the car carrying Chief of Staff Maj. Gen. P S B
Kulatunga RSP USP USAWC, killing him
41 |20/08/2006 | Tellippalai - Jaffna Mr. Sinnathambi Sivamaharasa - Former TNA MP for Jaffna | By gunning down
District
42 |10/11/2006 |Narahenpita - Mr. Nadarajah Raviraj - TNA MP By gunning down
Colombo
43 |101/12/2006 |Kollupitiya - Colombo | Abortive attempt on the life of Secretary Defence, |Suicide Attack
Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapakse RWP RSP psc. An LTTE suicide
bomber (male) driving an explosive laden three wheeler
detonated targeting the car carrying the Secretary Defence in
his motorcade.
44 |28/11/2007 | Thibirigasyaya Abortive attempt on the life of Minister Douglas Devananda. | Human bomb
- Colombo A Female handicapped LTTE suicide bomber exploded herself
at the Minister’s Office Complex.
45 |01/01/2008 |Kotahena - Colombo |Mr. T Maheswaran - A former Minister of UNF government By gunning down
46 |08/01/2008 |Ja-Ela - Gampaha Mr. D M Dasanayake - MP & Minister of Nation Building By claymore mine
attack
47 106/03/2008 |Mankulam - Mr. K Sivanesan - Tamil National Alliance MP, Jaffna District By claymore mine
Kilinochchi attack

E-3
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48 |06/04/2008 | Weliweriya - Gampaha | LTTE Suicide attack at Weliweriya which killed Mr. Jeyaraj | Human bomb
Fernandopulle, Minister of Highways & Road Development and
the Chief Govt. Whip.
49 |06/10/2008 | Anuradhapura An LTTE male suicide bomber exploded himself killing Maj. | Human bomb

Gen. K J C Perera, RWP RSP VSV USP rcds Psc (Retd), leader of
the Opposition, North Central Provincial Council.
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ANNEX F
RECOVERIES FROM JULY 2006 TO 2009
SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (©) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*P)
WEAPONS
1 Micro Pistol 26 167 193 $188.50 $36,379.73
2 22 Micro Pistol 1 1 $188.50 $188.50
3 Silencer Pistol 2 2 $993.46 $1,986.92
4 Pencil Shooting Pistol 2 2 $2.17 $4.34
5 45 mm Pistol 2 2 $184.76 $369.52
6 Browning Machine Gun 1 1 $1,421.60 $1,421.60
7 CZ 100 Pistol 3 3 $496.73 $1,490.20
8 Single Pistol 4 4 $43.15 $172.59
9 Very Light Pistol 1 1 $43.15 $43.15
10 Pistol 15 365 1 381 $188.50 $71,816.98
11 .22 LR Pistol 1 1 $1,345.66 $1,345.66
12 Gas Pistol 1 1 $2,258.19 $2,258.19
13 Revolver 2 2 $184.76 $369.52
14 Unidentified Weapon 25 25 $82.84 $2,071.00
15 Galkatus Weapon 4 9 $123.75 $1,113.75
16 |Repeater Gun 1 6 $64.57 $387.42
17 12 Bore Gun 5 14 $103.72 $1,452.08
18 Shot Gun 24 86 1 111 $64.57 $7,167.31
19 | BA 35 Weapon 2 2 $52.54 $105.08
20 303 Weapon 10 14 24 $197.20 $4,732.80
21 M 16 Weapon 2 63 65 $492.35 $32,002.83
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)

22 UBPL Weapon 2 2 $82.84 $165.68
23 0.22 Weapon 7 63 70 $1,230.52 $86,136.40
24 |MP 5 A3 Weapon 2 2 $467.74 $935.49
25 14.7 mm Gun 1 $961.96 $961.96
26 .38 Silencer Weapon 1 $2,798.57 $2,798.57
27 84 RL Gun 31 31 $480.98 $14,910.46
28 | Weapon Manual 75 75 $32.29 $2,421.53
29 Silencer Weapon 3 33 36 $672.83 $24,221.95
30 Miniuzi Gun 9 9 $179.78 $1,618.02
31 | Assault Rifle 2 2 $77.19 $154.38
32 T 56 Medium Weapon 1 1 2 $82.84 $165.68
33 | T 56 Weapon 1,953 11,032 3 12,988 $82.84 $1,075,925.92
34 T 56 Modified Weapon 15 15 $82.84 $1,242.60
35 VIP Weapon 1 1 $422.37 $422.37
36 SLR Weapon 51 54 $140.25 $7,573.50
37 | G3A3 Weapon 31 34 $108.12 $3,676.08
38 | Improviced Shot Gun 2 3 $103.72 $311.16
39 Shot Gun 30 17 47 $103.72 $4,874.84
40 FNC Wpn 48 48 $195.44 $9,381.12
41 | Locally Made Weapon 1 14 15 $82.84 $1,242.60
42 | Modified Weapon 5 $82.84 $414.20
43 | T 56 Weapon with Telescope 1 $82.84 $82.84
44 | Weapon Fixed with Silencer 1 $672.83 $672.83
45 | AK 47 Weapon 12 12 $52.55 $630.56
46 | SS 7 Weapon 1 1 $52.55 $52.55
47 | Trap Gun 7 9 4 20 $32.29 $645.74
48 | Rifel 6 6 $467.74 $2,806.46
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
49 | SMG Weapon 9 198 207 $516.36 $106,886.93
50 |5.56 Gun 27 27 $492.35 $13,293.45
51 M 97 Weapon 1 1 $82.84 $82.84
52 Pacilan Motar + B77 8 8 $13,512.10 $108,096.80
53 T 56 Weapon with Bipod 1 1 $82.84 $82.84
54 T 56 Modified Weapon 20 20 $82.84 $1,656.80
55 T 58 Weapon 2 2 $124.16 $248.33
56 T 58 Modified Weapon 1 1 $124.16 $124.16
57 T 81 Weapon 11 265 276 $77.19 $21,303.75
58 T 97 Weapon 21 21 $82.84 $1,739.64
59 |T 97 LMG Weapon 3 3 $341.17 $1,023.51
60 Sniper Weapon 12 27 39 $1,642.97 $64,075.83
61 Silencer Weapon with Sight 2 2 $2,410.95 $4,821.89
62 G3a3 LMG 4 4 $108.12 $432.48
63 T 56 LMG 37 237 274 $341.17 $93,480.58
64 T 81 LMG Weapon 2 22 24 $617.50 $14,820.00
65 MG 25 Weapon 5 5 $67.20 $336.00
66 Improviced Machine Gun 1 1 $516.36 $516.36
67 Locally made RCL Weapon & 1 1 $25,168.50 $25,168.50
Platform

68 | AGL Weapon 2 2 $13,217.60 $26,435.20
69 M 72 X A-3 Weapon 4 4 $194.51 $778.05
70 MK 97 Weapon 3 3 $82.84 $248.52
71 303 LMG 1 1 2 $197.20 $394.40
72  |LMG 2 45 47 $341.17 $16,034.99
73 M16 LMG Weapon 1 1 $492.35 $492.35
74 | RL Weapon 11 46 57 $961.96 $54,832.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) (f) (g) = (e*f)

75 40 mm Grenade Launcher 36 154 1 191 $961.56 $183,657.96
76 | Gas Gun 3 3 $1,454.86 $4,364.58
77 MPMG Weapon 27 243 270 $1,469.32 $396,716.40
78 GPMG Weapon 3 17 20 $6,161.05 $123,221.01
79 12.7 Weapon 51 55 $2,398.00 $131,890.00
80 RPG Weapon 95 429 524 $961.96 $504,069.61
81 Disposible RPG B106 7 61 68 $322.83 $21,952.44
82 37 mm Giad Cannon Weapon 1 1 $2,398.00 $2,398.00
83 Improviced Weapon use for 10 10 $41.42 $414.20

training
84 Anti Air Craft Gun 3 3 $1,358.50 $4,075.50
85 Anti Air Craft Gun (27 Cannon 1 1 $1,358.50 $1,358.50

Caliber W/o Barrel)
86 Heavy Gun (Anti Air Craft Gun) 2 2 $1,358.50 $2,717.00
87 Grenade Launcher 1 1 $1,431.37 $1,431.37
88 Air Craft Gun with Mount & $1,358.50 $1,358.50

Sight
89 Improvised Motar Launcher 2 2 $1,120.45 $2,240.91
90 | C 90 Weapon 33 33 $1,383.76 $45,664.08
91 Improviced Mortar 1 1 $1,120.45 $1,120.45
92 Empty Thermo Baric Weapon 2 2 $6,212.64 $12,425.28
93 Thermobaric RPG Weapon 8 8 $3,850.52 $30,804.14
94 Thermobaric Weapon 1 45 46 $3,850.52 $177,123.83
95 Navy Boat Gun 1 1 $1,358.50 $1,358.50
96 |Paddle Gun 7 7 $2,398.00 $16,786.00
97 30 mm Cannon Caliber Gun 4 4 $47,960.00 $191,840.00
98 66 mm Antitank Weapon 1 1 $1,595.00 $1,595.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
99 | 2” Mortar 2 13 15 $167.00 $2,505.00
100 | 60 Mortar 10 220 230 $1,120.45 $257,704.56
101 | 60 Mortar Barrel 47 110 157 $342.00 $53,694.00
102 | Commando Mortar 2 34 36 $2,084.06 $75,026.25
103 |81 Mortar 3 36 39 $6,191.20 $241,456.80
104 | 81 Mortar Barrel 1 58 59 $877.50 $51,772.50
105 |81 Mortar Half Completed 76 76 $6,669.00 $506,844.00
106 | 82 Mortar 4 2 6 $6,191.20 $37,147.20
107 | 106 mm RCL Weapon with 4 $12,584.20 $50,336.80
Tripod
108 | Pasilan Mortar + B133 11 11 $1,120.45 $12,325.00
109 |85 mm Arty Gun 1 1 $12,382.40 $12,382.40
110 | 120 mm Mortar 13 10 23 $41,490.39 $954,278.97
111 | 120 Mortar Barrel 1 17 18 $430.00 $7,740.00
112 | 120 Mortar (Destroyed) 2 2 $41,490.39 $82,980.78
113 | 140 mm Mortar 1 1 $41,490.39 $41,490.39
114 | 122 mm Gun 1 1 $65,950.20 $65,950.20
115 | 130 mm Gun (Unservisable) 1 1 $46,917.00 $46,917.00
116 | 130 mm Gun 5 5 $46,917.00 $234,585.00
117 | 130 mm Gun Barrel 1 1 $11,736.75 $11,736.75
118 | 130 mm Gun (Destroyed) 2 2 $46,917.00 $93,834.00
119 |152 mm Gun 2 2 $27,024.19 $54,048.38
120 | 152 mm + B 235 Gun 3 3 $27,024.19 $81,072.58
(Destroyed)

121 |12 Barrel MBRL 1 $130,000.00 $130,000.00
122 | 6 Barrel MBRL 1 $6,500.00 $6,500.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE

(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
MAGAZINES
1 Pistol Magazine 14 444 9 467 $11.00 $5,137.00
2 5.56 Magazine 15 15 $9.80 $147.00
3 SMG Magazine 1 133 134 $7.38 $988.92
4 M 16 Magazine 1 80 81 $9.80 $793.80
5 FNC Magazine 1,168 1,168 $9.80 $11,446.40
6 303 Magazine 10 10 $2.75 $27.50
7 HK Magazine 11 11 $2.75 $30.25
8 Miniuzi Magazine 265 265 $10.00 $2,650.00
9 G3A3 Magazine 16 324 340 $10.00 $3,400.00
10 | SLR Magazine 2 85 87 $4.50 $391.50
11 T 56 Magazine 1,572 4,636 10 6,218 $10.00 $62,180.00
12 T 81 Magazine 20 167 187 $7.38 $1,380.06
13 | T 97 Magazine 42 42 $7.38 $309.96
14 | Unidentified Magazine 22 22 $10.00 $220.00
15 | Sniper Magazine 9 17 26 $10.00 $260.00
16 | Silencer Magazine 4 11 15 $10.00 $150.00
17 | LMG Drum 87 1,211 1,298 $25.00 $32,450.00
18 T 81 Drum 7 7 $7.38 $51.66
19 |LMG Link 164 84 248 $2.50 $620.00
20 | 12.7 Link Parts 3,004 3,004 $2.50 $7,510.00
21 | MPMG Links 16 2,033 2,049 $2.50 $5,122.50
22 MPMG Links+b172 Bag 1,401 1,401 $4.50 $6,304.50
23 MPMG Drum 32 62 94 $29.00 $2,726.00
24 GPMG Drum 4 1 5 $29.00 $145.00
25 12.7 Drum 4 34 38 $29.00 $1,102.00
26 | Paddle Gun Drum 41 41 $29.00 $1,189.00
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27 | 87.35 Large Drum 3 3 $29.00 $87.00
28 37 mm Ammo Drum 4 4 $29.00 $116.00
29 | 87.35 Small Drum 4 4 $29.00 $116.00
30 12.7 Container 26 14 40 $29.00 $1,160.00
WEAPON ACCESSORIES
1 T 56 Prisile Grip 25 25 $7.32 $182.95
2 T 56 Weapon Bolt 5 5 $27.50 $137.50
3 Bayonet 55 55 $42.50 $2,337.50
4 T 56 Magazine Sprin 12 12 $3.42 $41.04
5 LMG Butt 19 19 $22.04 $418.69
6 LMG Bipod 36 36 §7.32 $263.44
7 Sniper Weapon Cover 2 2 $52.00 $104.00
8 T 56 Cocking Handle 3 3 $23.70 $71.10
9 T 56 Bolt Carrier 275 275 $27.50 $7,562.50
10 T 56 Toolkit 5 5 $7.74 $38.68
11 | Sniper Weapon Cover 6 6 $52.00 $312.00
12 RPG Prisile Grip 9 9 $7.32 $65.86
13 | Upper Hand Guard 189 189 $12.78 $2,414.72
14 Sniper Bipod 1 1 $100.50 $100.50
15 MPMG Top Cover 15 15 $15.50 $232.50
16 | Mortar Barrel Similar to 60 1 1 $342.00 $342.00

Mortar
17 | Pistol Parts 70 70 $94.25 $6,597.36
18 37 mm Barrel 2 2 $639.83 $1,279.66
19 12.7 Weapon Butt Plate 14 14 $2.20 $30.80
20 |.50 Tripod 1 1 $28.00 $28.00
21 RL Barrel 8 8 $59.00 $472.00

F-7

SISATVNYV TVNLIOVI—NOILLVEIAdO NVIUV.LINVIN(IH



— 8¢l —

SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) (f) (g) = (e*f)

22 Baba Mortar Parts 6 6 $10,372.60 $62,235.59
23 RCL Tipod 1 1 $440.00 $440.00
24 | Barrel of 14.5mm Gun 1 1 $214.32 $214.32
25 Paddle Gun Barrel 3 3 $599.50 $1,798.50
26 14.5 mm Gun Tipod 3 3 $39.90 $119.70
27 MPMG Mount 2 2 $34.00 $68.00
28 30 mm Cannon Barrel 1 1 $11,990.00 $11,990.00
29 GPMG Bipod 2 2 $496.00 $992.00
30 | 82 mm Mortar Barrel 6 1 7 $111.40 $779.80
31 82 mm Mortar Base Plate 8 8 $750.00 $6,000.00
32 82 mm Mortar Bipod 4 16 20 $750.00 $15,000.00
33 76 mm Gun Firing Pin 1 1 $21.98 $21.98
34 76 mm Gun Bridge Block 1 $159.00 $159.00
35 30 mm Cannon Gun Mount $2,398.00 $2,398.00
36 12.7 Weapon Tripod 16 16 $21.43 $342.91
37 152 Arty Barrel 1 1 $2,964.00 $2,964.00
38 12.7 Weapon Projectile 1,500 1,500 $2,964.00 $4,446,000.00
39 |.50 Tripod 3 3 $21.43 $64.30
40 Claymore Stand 21 416 437 $4.20 $1,834.44
41 60 Mortar Tipod 72 72 $750.00 $54,000.00
4?2 60 Mortar S + B23 Sight 66 66 $33.97 $2,242.02
43 81 Mortar Sight 7 5 12 $157.32 $1,887.84
44 82 Mortar Sight 3 2 $157.32 $786.60
45 | Arty Sight 5 $157.32 $786.60
46 | GPMG Weapon Barrel 5 $899.00 $4,495.00
47 RPG Sholder Guard 17 17 $14.52 $246.84
48 | 120 Mortar Bridge Cup 1 1 $615.35 $615.35
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No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (0) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*P)
49 RPG Sight 9 9 $159.50 $1,435.50
50 | Unidentified Weapon Barrel 30 30 $111.40 $3,342.00
51 Unidentified Projectile 25 25 $242.50 $6,062.58
52 | RCL Barrel 4 4 $820.00 $3,280.00
53 60 Mortar Bipod 36 58 94 $750.00 $70,500.00
54 60 Mortar Sight 2 4 6 $157.32 $943.92
55 120 mm Mortar Barrel 1 1 $430.00 $430.00
(Destroyed)
56 60 Mortar Base Plate 4?2 78 120 $200.00 $24,000.00
57 | Mortar Tube 5 5 $111.40 $557.00
58 | MPMG Barrel 10 233 243 $214.32 $52,079.76
59 120 Mortar Base Plate 5 7 12 $187.74 $2,252.87
60 | Heavy Weapon Tripod 1 1 $21.43 $21.43
61 |Barrel of Heavy Gun 5 5 $111.40 $557.00
62 Heavy Weapon Barrel 2 2 $111.40 $222.80
63 | Doutail Nut Catch 36 36 $6.54 $235.44
64 T 56 But 74 74 $98.80 $7,311.20
65 37 mm Barrel 8 8 $214.32 $1,714.56
66 MMG Barrel 7 7 $214.32 $1,500.24
67 | GPMG Top Cover 1 1 $10.09 $10.09
68 GPMG Barrel 31 31 $214.32 $6,643.92
69 | AP Mine Bottom Part 600 600 $3.84 $2,304.00
70 | MPMG Bolt Carrier 5 5 $27.80 $139.01
71 14.5 Anti Air Craft Weapon 1 1 $214.32 $214.32
Barrel

72 12.7 Weapon Body Part 2 2 $1,358.50 $2,717.00
73 MPMG Weapon Body Part 3 3 $1,469.32 $4,407.96
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74 | Pressure Mine Case 970 970 $5.80 $5,630.37
75 12.7 Barrel 26 26 $102.60 $2,667.60
76 .50 Barrel 1 1 $960.00 $960.00
77 Mini Night Single Eye 4 4 $960.00 $3,840.00
Accuisition

78 12.7 Weapon Bypod + B275 1 5 6 $23.60 $141.60
79 12.7 Barrel 1 1 $102.60 $102.60
80 |60 Mortar Brush 15 15 $2.50 $37.50
81 Gas Went 35 35 $3.52 $123.20
82 T 56 Fore Sight 5 5 $26.22 $131.10
83 | T 56 Bolt 52 52 $27.50 $1,430.00
84 LMG Bolt 13 13 $56.58 $735.52
85 |T 56 But 9 9 $98.80 $889.20
86 12.7 Tripod 3 3 $39.90 $119.70
87 | T 56 Gas Tube 988 988 $3.53 $3,484.38
88 Shot Gun Barrel 38 38 $25.00 $950.00
89 Unidentified Gun Barrel 16 16 $214.32 $3,429.12
90 LMG Body Group 35 35 $27.50 $962.50
91 |FMC Body Group 6 6 $27.50 $165.00
92 T 81 Body Group 19 19 $27.50 $522.50
93 AK 47 Body Group 19 19 $27.50 $522.50
94 T 56 Weapon Piston 268 268 $27.50 $7,370.00
95 T 56 Body Group 218 218 $27.50 $5,995.00
96 T 56 Receiving Cover 86 1,227 1,313 $14.51 $19,056.62
97 T 56 Returning Spring 49 1,721 1,770 $0.35 $615.08
98 | T 81 Gun Barrel 1 1 $877.50 $877.50
99 81 Mortar Bomb Body Part 555 555 $8,487.18 $4,710,384.90
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100 | 140 mm Gun Barrel 1 1 $30,863.00 $30,863.00
101 | T 56 Body Part 1,020 1,020 $82.84 $84,496.80
102 |T 56 Weapon Body Part 231 231 $82.84 $19,136.04
103 | T 56 LMG Weapon Body Part 96 96 $341.17 $32,752.32
104 | G3S3 Weapon Body Part 3 3 $108.12 $324.36
105 | Barrel of Pasilan 2 $217.50 $435.00
106 | AK 47 Weapon Body Part 81 81 $52.55 $4,256.31
107 | MPMG Bipod 64 64 $39.90 $2,553.60
108 | MPMG Tripod 2 25 27 $39.90 $1,077.30
109 | GPMG Weapon Part 1 1 $1,469.32 $1,469.32
110 | Anti Air Craft Gun Barrel 7 7 $102.60 $718.20
111 |81 Mortar Base Plate 8 73 81 $200.00 $16,200.00
112 | 81 Mortar Bypod 9 111 120 $750.00 $90,000.00
113 |81 Mortar Upper Part 400 400 $1,547.80 $619,120.00
114 | 82 mm Mortar Base Plate 6 6 $200.00 $1,200.00
115 |82 Mortar Bypod 18 18 $750.00 $13,500.00
116 | 152 Arty Dummy Barrel 1 1 $275.00 $275.00
117 | 120 Mortar Bypod 4 4 $205.73 $822.94
118 | 122 mm Gun Barrel 2 2 $33,013.83 $66,027.66
119 | 122 mm + B275 Gun Trail 4 4 $17.10 $68.40
120 | 130 mm Gun Barrel 3 3 $30,863.00 $92,589.00
121 | 130 mm Projectile 119 119 $242.50 $28,857.88
122 | 130 Arty Gun Trail 1 1 $28.00 $28.00
123 | 120 Mortar Bypod 3 4 7 $205.73 $1,440.14
124 | 120 Mortar Sight 6 6 12 $298.00 $3,576.00
125 | 152 mm Gun Barrel 1 1 $21,464.10 $21,464.10
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE

(a) (b) (0) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*P)
AMMUNITION AND EXPLOSIVE
1 9 mm Ammo 7,623 96,148 150 103,921 $0.16 $16,461.09
2 3.8 mm Ammo 30,992 30,992 $0.24 $7,283.12
3 .22 Ammo 80 29,634 2 29,716 $0.03 $1,001.43
4 SMG Ammo 1,100 1,100 $0.16 $174.24
5 M 16 Ammo 499 107,246 11 107,756 $0.12 $13,307.87
6 FNC Ammo 200 21234 21434 $0.12 $2,647.10
7 Minimi Ammo 400 400 $0.12 $49.40
8 Unidentified Ammo 9,323 9,323 $0.15 $1,375.14
9 38 mm Ammo 90 90 $0.16 $14.69
10 |.45 mm Pistol Ammo 114,000 114,000 $0.19 $22,047.60
11 5.56 Ammo 3,800 648,477 652,277 $0.12 $80,556.21
12 5.56 X 45 Ammo 4,158 680,627 684,785 $0.12 $84,570.95
13 Shot Gun Ammo 1,170 4,670 2 5,842 $0.19 $1,118.74
14 7.62 X 39 mm Ammo 414,623 864,765 2,219 1,281,607 $0.15 $189,037.03
15 7.62 X 17 mm Ammo 60,850 60,850 $0.15 $8,975.38
16 7.62 X 19 mm Ammo 4,315 4,315 $0.15 $636.46
17 7.62 X 51 Ammo 2,718 15,477 14 18,209 $0.13 $2,325.29
18 |7.62 X 54 Ammo 19,946 194,310 83 214,339 $0.07 $15,453.84
19 |M 357 Ammo 900 900 $677.35 $609,616.80
20 12.7 X 108 Ammo 1,376 104,307 105,683 $0.76 $80,107.71
21 .50 Ammo 153 11,079 3 11,235 $0.90 $10,130.60
22 Sniper Ammo 490 1,000 1,490 $0.13 $196.08
23 14.5 mm Ammo 1,275 1,275 $1.43 $1,824.78
24 25 mm Ammo 68 68 $0.04 $2.94
25 23 mm Ammo 11,173 11,173 $0.04 $482.67
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)

26 Pasilan Mortar Bomb 14 14 $158.05 $2,212.70
27 | .38 Cartridge 4 4 $13.63 $54.52
28 | Naval Weapon Ammo 135 135 $27.79 $3,751.31
29 HP 84 Ammo 1,980 1,980 $0.16 $313.63
30 | 0.30 mm Ammo 7,202 7,202 $0.09 $671.95
31 MMI 39 Heat Ammo 360 360 $0.05 $17.78
32 30 mm Ammo 2,108 2,108 $27.79 $58,576.05
33 73 mm Ammo 96 96 $197.60 $18,969.60
34 100 mm T 55 Tank Ammo 37 37 $44.25 $1,637.25
35 Anti Air Craft Ammo 1,011 1,011 $0.76 $766.34
36 |Paddle Gun Ammo 366 366 $27.79 $10,170.23
37 FNC Ammo 3,440 3,440 $0.12 $424.84
38 | AP Mine Detonators 5,045 5,045 $1.92 $9,686.40
39 AP Mine Fuze 3,500 11,357 14,857 $1.92 $28,525.44
40 AP Mine Primers 940 940 $1.92 $1,804.80
41 | Trap Bomb Fuze 40 40 $1.92 $76.80
42 AP Mine 7,054 97,906 13 104,973 $7.68 $806,192.64
43 AP Mine Covers 4,000 4,000 $1.92 $7,680.00
44 AP Mine Fuze Cap 360 360 $1.92 $691.20
45 | Hand Para 1 43 44 $24.50 $1,078.00
46 Anti Tank Mine 9 517 526 $11.09 $5,834.44
47 Suicide Claymore 113 113 $41.98 $4,743.47
48 Claymore Mines 364 4,676 28 5,068 $41.98 $212,742.48
49 | TV Claymore Mine 3 3 $41.98 $125.93
50 Half Completed Claymore 25 25 $41.98 $1,049.44
51 12 SG Shot Gun Ammo 7,300 7,300 $0.13 $964.33
52 | Claymore Mine Cases 548 548 $10.49 $5,750.93
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (©) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*P)

53 Jumping Mine 226 226 $23.22 $5,247.27
54 | Electric Mine 82 82 $23.22 $1,903.88
55 Sea Mine 23 23 $11.09 $255.12
56 |Land Mine 8 83 91 $11.09 $1,009.38
57 | Bar Mine 84 84 $11.09 $931.74
58 RPG Bomb 217 4,837 5,054 $112.57 $568,928.78
59 |Releasing Switch 60 60 $4.16 $249.72
60 |76 mm Bomb 66 66 $229.00 $15,113.99
61 Claymore Switches 24,000 24,000 $4.16 $99,888.00
62 | Thunder 1,420 1,420 $0.73 $1,029.50
63 RPG Chargers 35 1,039 1,074 $112.57 $120,900.18
64 60 Mortar Bomb 714 13,520 1 14,235 $45.26 $644,345.85
65 60 Mortar Bomb Trail 58 58 $22.63 $1,312.69
66 82 Mortar Trail 1,110 1,110 $24.70 $27,417.00
67 |38 mm Mortar Bomb 80 80 $34.58 $2,766.40
68 Bangalore Torpedo 1,620 1,620 $34.50 $55,890.00
69 |RCL Bomb 364 364 $111.15 $40,458.60
70 81 mm Mortar Bomb Cartridge 702 702 $8.42 $5,909.86
71 81 mm Bomb 73 5,803 5,876 $18.37 $107,942.12
72 82 Mortar Bomb 1,483 2,426 3,909 $24.70 $96,552.30
73 81 Trail Part 1,216 1,216 $12.35 $15,017.60
74 81 Mortar Bomb Trail 195 195 $12.35 $2,408.25
75 82 Mortar Bomb Para 195 195 $33.50 $6,532.50
76 130 mm Ammo + B386 18 18 $834.21 $15,015.80
77 40 Grenade Launcher Bomb 161 560 721 $30.35 $21,882.71
78 152 Arty Ammo 7 20 27 $516.53 $13,946.36
79 81 mm Mortar Bomb Trap 560 560 $18.37 $10,287.20
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
80 60 Mortar Bomb Fuze 1,264 1,264 $11.32 $14,308.48
81 81 Mortar Bomb IEDs 291 291 $12.35 $3,593.85
82 81 Mortar Trap 30 30 $12.35 $370.50
83 85 mm Mortar Bomb 362 362 $169.74 $61,447.18
84 81 Mortar Bomb Fuze 3,075 3,075 $6.18 $18,988.13
85 120 mm Mortar Bomb Fuze 245 245 $39.51 $9,680.56
86 120 Mortar Bomb 99 1,896 1,995 $158.05 $315,309.75
87 122 mm Ammo 574 574 $436.51 $250,554.33
88 130 mm Ammo 80 80 $834.21 $66,736.88
89 130 mm Fuze 10 10 $417.11 $4,171.06
90 MBRL Bomb 18 18 $744.29 $13,397.13
91 Para Bomb 7 7 $1.50 $10.50
92 Missile Antitank Cell 14 14 $11,000.00 $154,000.00
93 Missile Charger 36 36 $1,100.00 $39,600.00
94 Surface to Air Missile (SAM) 11 11 $11,000.00 $121,000.00
95 Missile 9p 59 CPC Anti Aircraft 5 5 $11,000.00 $55,000.00
Missile

96 60 Mortar Primers 150 150 $11.32 $1,697.43
97 81 Mortar Primers 246 246 $11.92 $2,931.73
98 120 Mortar Primers 15 15 $449.08 $6,736.20
99 | Presure Mine 10 265 275 $23.22 $6,384.95
100 |Pressure Bomb 16 16 $23.22 $371.49
101 | Suicide Switch 2 2 $3.61 $7.22
102 | Anti Tank Mine Cases 108 108 $5.55 $598.98
103 | Arul Bomb 43 2,374 2,417 $34.30 $82,903.10
104 | Arul Bomb Fuze 94 94 $8.58 $806.05
105 | Smoke Bomb 3 33 36 $15.00 $540.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE | ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*P)

106 | Hand Grenade 497 18,314 22 18,833 $26.39 $497,091.39
107 | TRG Hand Grenade 803 803 $1.62 $1,300.86
108 | Locally Manufactured Hand 166 166 $13.19 $2,190.04

Grenade
109 | Low Explosive Slab (1kg) 51 51 $0.75 $38.35
110 | Smoke Bomb 18 18 $15.00 $270.00
111 |Smoke Grenade 35 35 $20.26 $709.19
112 | TNT Explosive (Kg) 23.5 2985.75 3,009.25 $1.11 $3,344.78
113 | TNT Capsule 125 125 $1.11 $138.94
114 | TNT Slab (Kg) 2,700 271 2971 $1.11 $3,302.27
115 | Black Powder (Kg) 93 93 $4.08 $379.01
116 |Small Packet of TNT Explosive 91 91 $1.11 $101.15
117 | INT Slab 306 306 $1.11 $340.12
118 |Black Powder (Kg) 50 50 $4.08 $203.77
119 | Low Explosive (Kg) 152 10 162 $4.08 $660.21
120 | C4 Explosive (Kg) 638 5,099.95 312.5 6,050.45 $7.92 $47,927.43
121 | Explosive (Kg) 6 1,006 1012 $7.92 $8,016.36
122 | Gun Powder (Kg) 204.5 204.5 $4.08 $833.42
123 | TNT Pieces 41 41 $2.23 $91.23
124 | Gun Powder (Kg) 1,214.5 1,214.5 $4.08 $4,949.57
125 | Electric Detonators 2,052 244,276 35 246,363 $0.25 $60,851.66
126 | Det Cord (M) 1,663.5 33,500 35,163.5 $0.53 $18,555.78
127 | Sefty Fuze (M) 156 25,605 25,761 $0.23 $5,829.71
128 | Suicide Jacket 6 287 293 $43.76 $12,821.68
129 | Suicide Brassiere with 12 2 14 $7.92 $110.88

5 Chargers
130 | Suicide Jacket 10 10 $20.00 $200.00

(without Explosives)
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
131 | Suicide Belt 29 29 $10.00 $290.00
132 | Pulling Switch 9 9 $3.40 $30.57
133 | Suicide Jacket Switches 210 210 $3.40 $713.22
134 | Claymore Electric Circuit 15,015 15,015 $83.96 $1,260,587.33
135 | Gas Bomb 2 7 9 $31.53 $283.73
136 | Cannon Ammo 934 494 1,428 $0.76 $1,082.42
137 | Trip Flares 59 59 $29.58 $1,744.93
138 | Trapping Code (50m Each) 8 8 $116.75 $934.01
139 | Safety Fuze (M) 20 850 870 $0.23 $196.88
140 |Explosives Filled Items 68 68 $1.06 $72.01
141 | Claymore Wire (M) 112 112 $0.24 $26.88
142 | Tool Kit 75 75 $3.41 $255.81
143 |IEDs 904 904 $3.50 $3,164.00
144 | IED Switches 200 200 $3.40 $679.26
145 | Claymore Tripod 169 169 $96.40 $16,290.76
146 | Firing Device 16 2549 2,565 $17.50 $44,887.50
147 | Rocket Ammo 3 3 $287.05 $861.16
148 | Non-Electric Detenators 69,618 69,618 $0.78 $54,023.57
149 | Plastic Battery Cases for 41,600 41,600 $12.00 $499,200.00
Electric Mine

150 | 122 Rounds 89 89 $436.50 $38,848.50
151 | 152 Projectile 20 20 $574.10 $11,482.00
152 | Plastic Claymore Cover 16 16 $8.40 $134.33
153 | Primers 680 680 $5.56 $3,779.17
154 |7.62 X 39 Ammo Noses 5,000 5,000 $0.30 $1,475.00
155 | 120 mm Mortar Projectile 22 22 $242.50 $5,335.07
156 | 152 mm Projectile 639 639 $242.50 $154,959.54
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
() (b) (0) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*p)

157 | 85 mm Projectile 329 329 $222.50 $73,202.50
158 | 122 mm Projectile 288 288 $242.50 $69,840.92
CONTROLLED ITEMS AND OTHER
1 Pack 8 514 522 $37.50 $19,575.00
2 Water Scooter 1 1 $2,390.00 $2,390.00
3 Fiber Boat 2 159 161 $2,390.00 $384,790.00
4 Boat Qil Tank 3 3 $27.43 $82.29
5 Burned Boat 1 1 $2,390.00 $2,390.00
6 Suicide Boat 12 12 $2,390.00 $28,680.00
7 Fishing Boat 7 7 $2,390.00 $16,730.00
8 Range Finder 24 24 $400.00 $9,600.00
9 Large Size Boat 3 3 $2,390.00 $7,170.00
10 Boat Engine Body Parts and 12 12 $3,000.00 $36,000.00

Accessories
11 Boat Engine 5 433 438 $999.75 $437,890.50
12 | Fiber Boat (without Engine) 2 2 $2,000.00 $4,000.00
13 Propller (with Three Wing) 2 2 $2,390.00 $4,780.00
14 | Life Jacket 103 103 $31.00 $3,193.00
15 | Diving Kit 43 43 $137.00 $5,891.00
16 Diving Pin 32 32 $132.00 $4,224.00
17 Improviced Boat 1 1 $2,000.00 $2,000.00
18 | Dingi Boat with Fixed Claymore 2 2 $7,745.17 $15,490.34

(75kg)
19 | Telescope 3 3 $116.70 $350.10
20 Plastic Gas Mask 200 200 $228.50 $45,700.00
21 | Gas Mark 318 318 $228.50 $72,663.00
22 LTTE Jacket 260 260 $42.00 $10,920.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
() (b) (©) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ) (g) = (e*P)

23 | Weapon with Bino 1 1 $116.70 $116.70
24 | Binocular 8 63 2 73 $116.70 $8,519.10
25 Compass 5 246 1 252 $29.60 $7,459.20
26 | GPS 6 106 2 114 $196.60 $22,412.40
27 | Single Eye Night Vision 1 1 $1,301.49 $1,301.49
28 | Night Vision 17 17 $2,694.38 $45,804.46
29 Pouch 53 3,752 2 3,807 $4.48 $17,040.51
30 | Oil Bottle 7 7 $1.20 $8.40
31 LTTE Pack 87 87 $162.00 $14,094.00
32 Hand Grenade Pouch 4,417 4,417 $4.48 $19,770.93
33 Helmet 87 87 $176.53 $15,358.01
34 Flack Jacket 35 35 $420.00 $14,700.00
35 | Belt Order 25 143 1 169 $162.00 $27,378.00
36 | Water Bottle 8 8 $2.50 $20.00
37 | Fiber Boat 3 3 $2,390.00 $7,170.00
38 Body Armour 11 11 $671.30 $7,384.30
39 Sattelite Map (Large) 20 20 $2.00 $40.00
40 | Sattelite Map 104 104 $2.00 $208.00
41 Sattelite Map (Small) 14 14 $2.00 $28.00
42 | Map 11 4,221 4,232 $2.00 $8,464.00
43 | Jaffna Maps 60 60 $2.00 $120.00
44 | Inch Maps 375 375 $2.00 $750.00
45 Map (Misc.) 47 47 $2.00 $94.00
46 | Tamil Map 8 8 $2.00 $16.00
47 | Ponchocape 1 21 22 $4.86 $106.92
48 | Kilinochchi Map 9 9 $2.00 $18.00
49 Ear Guard 48 48 $0.87 $41.52
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)

SIGNAL EQUIPMENT
1 ICOM Hand Held Set 159 586 745 $305.00 $227,225.00
2 ICOM Set 2 2 $305.00 $610.00
3 ICOM Comm. Receiver (IC R100) 1 $35.00 $35.00
4 ICOM ICU 87 Radio Set 5 $305.00 $1,525.00
5 ICOM ICU 82 Radio Set 33 33 $305.00 $10,065.00
6 ICOM ICV F 30 Light Hand Held 4 4 $305.00 $1,220.00

Set
7 ICOM IC 2G Hand Held Set 3 3 $305.00 $915.00
8 ICOM IC R 20 Hand Held Set 1 1 $305.00 $305.00
9 RA 8200 Base Station 2 2 $3,417.71 $6,835.42
10 | MC Micro Base Station Set 1 1 $305.00 $305.00
11 | Alinco Base Station Set 2 2 $305.00 $610.00
12 | Anristu Base 1 1 $17,945.88 $17,945.88
13 Alinco Hand Held Set 1 1 $341.77 $341.77
14 AR 300A Set 2 2 $341.77 $683.54
15 | ASEL San Hand Held Set 2 2 $341.77 $683.54
16 Cougar Hand Held Set 5 1 6 $4,338.75 $26,032.50
17 | Alinco Hand Held Set 1 1 $4,338.75 $4,338.75
18 | Unritsu Base 1 1 $341.77 $341.77
19 | AR 300 A Set 2 2 $4,338.75 $8,677.50
20 | Alcon Base Station 2 2 $588.00 $1,176.00
21 PRC 77 Man Pack Sets 21 2 23 $588.00 $13,524.00
22 PRC 4700 Man Pack Sets 12 12 $588.00 $7,056.00
23 | ICOM ICV 68 Radio Set 20 20 $305.00 $6,100.00
24 |ICOM ICV 85 Radio Set 3 3 $305.00 $915.00
25 ICOM Scanner Ic728 1 1 $305.00 $305.00
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (© (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ® (g) = (e*P)

26 ICOM Hand Held Radios 239 239 $305.00 $72,895.00
(IC - V82)

27 | ICOM V 82 Hand Held Radio 12 12 $305.00 $3,660.00
(without Battery Pack)

28 ICOM Old Type Hand Held 110 110 $305.00 $33,550.00
Radio (without Battery Pack)

29 | ICOM Base Station 3 5 8 $305.80 $2,446.40

30 ICOM FM Tranceiver 11 11 $305.00 $3,355.00

31 ICOM Tranceiver (IC 718) 2 2 $305.00 $610.00

32 |ICOMIC A 200 Base Radio 1 1 $305.00 $305.00

33 Motorola MC Micro Radio Set 1 1 $196,126.81 $196,126.81

34 Motorola GP 340 Radio 9 9 $196,126.81 $1,765,141.29
(without Battery Pack)

35 Motorola Spectra Base 5 5 $4,832.17 $24,160.85

36 | Motorola MCX 100 Mother 1 1 $196,126.86 $196,126.86
Board

37 Motorola Hand Held Set 2 2 $4,158.22 $8,316.44

38 | Motorola GM 340 Radio 2 4 6 $196,126.81 $1,176,760.86

39 Motorola GM 360 Radio 1 1 $196,126.81 $196,126.81

40 | PRC 1077 Man Pack Radio 32 126 158 $5,880.00 $929,040.00

41 PRC 1077 Radio Amp 7 7 $588.00 $4,116.00

42 PRM 4700 Man Pack 12 12 $588.00 $7,056.00

43 Kenwood Base Station 4 4 $4,222.55 $16,890.20

44 Kenwood Transreceiver 6 6 $850.00 $5,100.00
(TM261 A)

45 Kenwood Hand Held Set 3 $850.00 $2,550.00

46 Kenwood Radio Set 2 $850.00 $1,700.00

47 Astro Base Station Radio 1 $3,378.39 $3,378.39
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) () (d) (e) = (b+c+d) (f) (g) = (e*f)
48 VERTEX Standard Base Station 1 1 $196,126.81 $196,126.81
49 | VRC 9600 Radio 2 $16,126.00 $32,252.00
50 VX 150 Radio Set 2 $209.36 $418.72
51 YEASU VX 150 Hand Held 24 24 $209.36 $5,024.62
Radios (with 20 X Battery Pack)
52 YEASU VX 150 Radio 6 6 $209.36 $1,256.15
53 YEASU VX 5 Hand Held Radios 2 2 $209.36 $418.72
(with 1 X Battery Pack)
54 YEASU Hand Held Radio Set 44 77 121 $209.36 $25,332.44
55 YEASU FT212 RH 1 1 $209.36 $209.36
56 | YEASU VX 150 Radio Set 18 18 $209.36 $3,768.46
57 YEASU Base Station $209.36 $209.36
58 Spectra Base Station $4,832.18 $4,832.18
59 SABER Hand Held $32,482.16 $32,482.16
60 Eddysfone HF Radio (57000) $32,482.16 $32,482.16
61 Motorola Hand Held Set 10 10 $4,158.22 $41,582.20
62 Motorola Base Station Set 2 2 $3,378.39 $6,756.78
63 Motorola FX 2500 Set 1 1 $4,158.22 $4,158.22
64 SABEER Radio Set 1 1 $3,248.71 $3,248.71
65 SABEER H/h Set 41 41 $3,248.71 $133,197.11
66 Spectra Base Station Set 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
67 NERA 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
68 NERA Set 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
69 R 3000A Communication 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
Receiver
70 Multiband Receiver Hand Held 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
Set
71 PRC 1088 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
72 Part of Radio Sets 60 60 $4,832.17 $289,930.20
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No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) (f) (g) = (e*f)
73 YEASU Hand Held Set (VX 150) 8 8 $207.54 $1,660.31
74 YEASU HF Transceiver 2 17 19 $207.54 $3,943.24
75 YEASU Hand Held 43 43 $207.54 $8,924.18
Transreceiver
76 | YEASU Hand Held Set 213 213 $207.54 $44,205.81
77 | YEASU Fm Tranceiver 4 4 $207.54 $830.16
(FT 3000 M)
78 YEASU All Made Transceive 9 9 $207.54 $1,867.85
(FT 857)
79 | VERTEX Standered Base Station 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
80 | VERTEX Standed HF Set 3 3 $207.54 $622.62
81 STOBO (XR 1810) Set 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
82 VERTEX Standed (VXR 7000) 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
83 TRA 967/3 Set 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
84 | Unidentified HF Set 31 31 $4,832.17 $149,797.27
85 Radio Set 19 19 $207.54 $3,943.24
86 Alcon Base Station 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
87 | Cougar Hand Held 25 25 $4,338.75 $108,468.75
88 GV 180 Radio Set 4 4 $4,832.17 $19,328.68
89 | HF Radio Set PR2000HV 125 1 1 $11,786.52 $11,786.52
Complete
90 PRM 4700 Man Pack Radio 4 4 $588.00 $2,352.00
91 RT 700 12 Radio Set 1 1 $4,832.17 $4,832.17
92 ICOM YEASU Hand Held Radio 1 $305.00 $305.00
Set
93 PRM 4700 Base Station 5 5 $9,450.00 $47,250.00
94 | PRM 4700 Base Station 2 2 $9,450.00 $18,900.00
(Unserviceable)
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No. RECOVERED
SER ITEMS ° TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(a) (b) (0) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) ® (g) = (e*p)
95 PRM 4700 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
5 Way Battery Charger
96 PRM 4700 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
4 Way Battery Charger
97 PRM 4700 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
2 Way Battery Charger
98 PRC 1077 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
4 Way Battery Charger
99 PRC 1077 17 17 $1,710.00 $29,070.00
4 Way Battery Charger
100 | Multiplexer Dual Battery 1 1 $307.80 $307.80
Charger
101 | Motorola Hand Held Battery 28 28 $31.00 $868.00
102 | Motorola Battery Charger 20 20 $307.80 $6,156.00
103 | Motorola 6 Way Charger 5 5 $855.00 $4,275.00
104 | Motorola Battery Charger 20 20 $307.80 $6,156.00
105 |ICOM VC 35 Battery Charger 1 1 $307.80 $307.80
106 |ICOM Hand Held Battery 26 26 $1,710.00 $44,460.00
Charger
107 | Battery Charger 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
108 | Battery Charger (5 way 12 V) 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
109 |Battery Charger (7 Way 12 V) 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
110 |5 Way Charger 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
111 |4 Way Charger 1 1 $1,710.00 $1,710.00
112 |12 V Battery 7 7 $495.42 $3,467.96
113 |12 V Battery Charger 2 2 $307.80 $615.60
114 |12 V Battery Charger 5 5 $307.80 $1,539.00
115 | YEASU Communication 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
Receiver
116 |ICOM Hand Held Antenna 22 22 $305.00 $6,710.00
117 | YEASU VX 150 Hand Held 16 16 $264.46 $4,231.36
Antenna
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SER ITEMS No. RECOVERED TOTAL UNIT PRICE ESTIMATED
No. EAST NORTH SOUTH VALUE
(@) (b) (c) (d) (e) = (b+c+d) () (g) = (e*f)
118 |PRC 1077 Rod Antenna 4 4 $264.46 $1,057.84
119 |PRC 1077 Tape Antenna 4 4 $264.46 $1,057.84
120 | PRC 292 Antenna 1 1 $264.46 $264.46
121 | Yeasu Hand Held Antenna 4 4 $207.54 $830.16
122 | Pianet Outdoor RF Antenna 1 1 $264.46 $264.46
123 | Rod Antenna 7 7 $264.46 $1,851.22
124 | Motorola Power Pack 27 27 $264.46 $7,140.42
125 | Astro HL 6020 RF Amplifier 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
126 | Astro HL 600 RF Amplifier 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
127 | Motorola RF Transmitter 1 1 $207.54 $207.54
128 | Cougar SMT 3 9 12 $7,947.50 $95,370.00
129 | Cougar Repeater 2 2 $21,675.00 $43,350.00
130 | Cougar DAM 3 3 $7,947.50 $23,842.50
131 | Cougar Duplexer 1 1 $21,701.50 $21,701.50
132 | Cougar Wide band Equalizer 1 1 $8,638.75 $8,638.75
133 | Cougar Disk Link 2 2 $21,701.50 $43,403.00
134 | Cougar Repeater 6 6 $21,242.50 $127,455.00
135 |Kenwood FM Transreceiver 1 1 $85.00 $85.00
™ 271 A

136 | Kenwood Hand microphone 11 11 $850.00 $9,350.00
137 | Motorola Hand microphone 2 2 $4,158.22 $8,316.44
138 | PRC 1077 PSU 8 8 $9,450.00 $75,600.00
139 | PRM 4700 PSU Controller 1 1 $9,450.00 $9,450.00
140 | PRM 4700 Base Booster 3 3 $9,450.00 $28,350.00
141 | Motorola MCX 100 PSU 1 1 $4,158.22 $4,158.22
142 | 230V 1.5 KVA PSU 2 2 $908.50 $1,817.00
TOTAL VALUE $34,426,699.28
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ANNEX G

MAJOR ATTACKS LAUNCHED ON SF CAMPS/ESTABLISHMENTS

iﬁf{ DATE GENERAL AREA SECURITY FORCE CAMPS/ESTABLISHMENTS DETAILS OF KI\}[II‘;;EI?I(/} WOUNDED &

1 05/07/1987 | Nelliady Jaffna Nelliady camp 19 Army Killed, 31 Army Wounded

2 15/06/1990 | Mannar Detachment at Thalai Mannar pier 07 Army Killed, 19 Army Wounded,
11 Army Missing

3 12/07/1990 | Kokavil Kokavil detachment 48 Army Killed, 18 Army Missing

4 05/08/1990 | Jaffna Fort Terrorists attacked Jaffna Fort using Arty and 06 Army Wounded, 03 Police

Mortars weapons. Wounded

5 22/11/1990 | Mankulam Mankulam camp 20 Army Killed, 37 Army Wounded,
77 Army Missing

6 19/03/1991 | Mannar Kokkupadayan and Silawathurai camps 27 Army Killed, 68 Army Wounded,
05 Army Missing

7 10/07/1991 | Elephant Pass Elephant Pass camp complex 156 Army Killed, 748 Army WIA

8 02/10/1992 | Vettalikerni, Kaddailkadu Detachment FDLs 12 Army Killed, 27 Army Wounded,

Kaddaikadu 03 Navy Wounded
9 25/07/1993 | Janakapura - Janakapura camp 24 Army Killed, 31 Army Wounded
Welioya 20 Army Missing

10 11/11/1993 | Pooneryn Pooneryn camp 227 Army Killed, 514 Army
Wounded, 305 Army Missing
14 Navy Killed, 47 Navy Wounded,
88 Navy Missing

11 12/08/1994 | Polonnaruwa Kaddamuruvikulam camp 22 Army Killed, 45 Army Wounded
01 Civilian Wounded

12 28/06/1995 | Jaffna Mandaitivu camp 90 Army Killed, 41 Army Wounded,
17 Army Missing, 06 Civilian Killed
01 Civilian Wounded

13 28/07/1995 | Welioya Kokkutuduvai camp 02 Army Killed, 29 Army Wounded

14 18/07/1996 | Mullaitivu Mullaitivu camp compact 1,173 Army Killed
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iﬁ? DATE GENERAL AREA SECURITY FORCE CAMPS/ESTABLISHMENTS DETAILS OF KJ[%?]%(/; WOUNDED &
15 11/12/1996 | Batticaloa Terrorists attacked and over ran the Pulukunawa |16 Army Killed, 08 Army Wounded,
Special Task Force detachment 03 Army Missing
28 Police Killed, 27 Police Wounded
16 09/01/1997 | Paranthan Paranthan and Elephant Pass complex 158 Army Killed, 392 Army
Wounded, 65 Army Missing,
07 Civilian Killed, 17 Civilian
Wounded
17 05/03/1997 | Trincomalee Chinabay Air Force camp 07 Air Force Wounded
18 06/03/1997 | Batticaloa Vavunathivu camp 73 Army Killed, 98 Army Wounded,
02 Army Missing
19 01/02/1998 | Kilinochchi/ Kilinochchi/Paranthan FDL 89 Army Killed, 405 Army Wounded,
Paranthan 26 Army Missing
20 08/06/1998 | Kilinochchi Kilinochchi FDL 30 Army Killed, 256 Army Wounded,
33 Army Missing
21 27/09/1998 |Kilinochchi Kilinochchi FDL 857 Army Killed, 936 Army
Wounded, 171 Army Missing
22 02/11/1999 | Oddusudan Oddusudan/Mankulam/Kanagarayankulam camp | 117 Army Killed, 1,459 Army
including Western sector Wounded, 94 Army Missing
23 11/12/1999 | Vettilaikerni, Vettilaikerni and Thanankilappu FDLs 197 Army Killed, 1,921 Army
Jaffna Wounded, 28 Army Missing
24 14/12/1999 | Kadjuwatta - Kadjuwatta detachment with 8 1mm mortar fire 80 Army Killed, 450 Army Wounded
Batticaloa
25 23/04/2000 | Elephant Pass SF camp at North of Elephant Pass 80 Army Killed, 450 Army Wounded
26 10/05/2000 | Ariyalai/ FDL at Ariyalai/Thanankilappu 628 Army Killed, 5,129 Army
Thanankilappu, Wounded, 301 Army MIA
Jaffna
27 11/08/2006 | Jaffna Muhamalai FDL 191 Army Killed, 901 Army
Wounded, 06 Navy Killed, 32 Navy
Wounded
28 26/03/2007 | Katunayake - Katunayake SLAF Base 03 Air Force Killed, 17 Air Force
Gampaha Wounded
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?\%{ DATE GENERAL AREA SECURITY FORCE CAMPS/ESTABLISHMENTS DETAILS OF K}\}[If;gnlzl(/} WOUNDED &

29 27/03/2007 | Chenkalady Chenkalady Army Detachment and EPDP office 02 Army Killed, 04 EPDP Killed,
03 Army Wounded, 02 Police
Wounded, 02 EPDP Wounded,
13 Civilian Wounded

30 16/10/2007 | Thalgasmankada | Thalgasmankada Detachment 01 Army Killed, 04 Army Wounded

31 22/10/2007 | Anuradhapura Anuradhapura SLAF Base 01 Army Killed, 13 Air Force Killed
02 Army Wounded, 20 Air Force
Wounded

32 29/05/2008 | Chirutivu island Chirutivu Island SLN Detachment 02 Army Killed, 02 Army Wounded,
02 Navy Missing, 05 Civilian Killed,
12 Civilian Wounded

33 09/09/2008 | Vavuniya Vavuniya SLAF Base, Radar Station and Security 13 Army Killed, 26 Army Wounded,

Force Head Quarters (Wanni) SLA Camp

07 Air Force Wounded, 01 Police
Killed, 12 Police Wounded
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ANNEX H
MAJOR ATTACKS LAUNCHED BY LTTE ON SRI LANKA NAVY

ﬁi;( DATE SHIP/CRAFT LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED [(WOUNDED| MISSING

1 3/3/1996 P110- Nainathivu Pier Destroyed due to explosion ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft of LTTE Sea Mine

2 7/10/1990 SLNS Edithara Off Valvettithurai Ship sustained minor damages
- Surveillance due to LTTE suicide attack 1 2 -
Command Ship

3 5/4/1991 SLNS Abeetha - Off Point Pedro LTTE launched a suicide
Surveillance attack and the ship was badly 9 4 -
Command Ship damaged

4 02/09/1991 | P 143- Off Nainathivu Destroyed due to explosion 6 _ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft of LTTE Sea Mine

5 03/02/1992 |P118- Jaffna Lagoon Destroyed due to explosion 5 _ 1
Inshore Patrol Craft of LTTE Sea Mine

6 30/08/1992 | P 166- Mandathivu Captured by LTTE ~ ~ _
Inshore Patrol Craft

7 26/02/1993 |P119- Nagathewanthurai | Destroyed due to explosion ~ _ _
Inshore Patrol Craft of LTTE Sea Mine

8 26/08/1993 |P115- Nagathewanthurai | Destroyed due to LTTE attack ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft during a confrontation

9 27/08/1993 [P 121- Nagathewanthurai | Destroyed due to LTTE attack ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft during a confrontation

10 29/08/1993 | P 464-Fast Attack Off Point Pedro Destroyed by LTTE suicide
Craft attack disguised as - - 7

fisherman

11 11/11/1993 | P 114- Nagathewanthurai | Captured by LTTE ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft

12 12/11/1993 | P 120- Nagathewanthurai | Captured by LTTE ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft

13 13/11/1993 | P 123- Nagathewanthurai | Captured by LTTE ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft
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ﬁgl DATE SHIP/CRAFT LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED [(WOUNDED| MISSING

14 16/08/1994 | A 516 - Surveilance Kankesanthurai LTTE launched an attack
Command tender Harbour using suicide divers and the - - -

ship was sunk.
15 17/08/1994 | Tug Dheera Kankesanthurai LTTE launched an attack
Harbour using suicide divers and the - - -
ship was sunk.

16 19/09/1994 | SLNS Sagarawardena | South of Mannar Ship was sunk due to LTTE
- attack 1 - 20
Offshore Petrol
Vessel

17 19/04/1995 | SLNS Sooraya- Trincomalee Sunk due to LTTE suicide ~ 1 ~
Fast Gun Boat Harbour diver attack

18 [19/04/1995 | SLNS Ranasuru- Trincomalee Sunk due to LTTE suicide 6 10 ~
Fast Gun Boat Harbour diver attack

19 16/07/1995 | SLNS Edithara - Kankesanthurai Sunk due to LTTE suicide
Surveillance Harbour diver attack 3 5 -
Command Ship

20 29/08/1995 | P 463-Fast Attack North of Mullaittivu |LTTE fired upon the -craft 4 _ 4
Craft using Long Range Weapon

21 29/08/1995 | P 456-Fast Attack North of Mullaittivu | LTTE fired upon the craft 1 _ 3
Craft using Long Range Weapon

22 02/10/1995 | SLNS Ranagaja Off Mullaitivu The Ship was attacked by
- Landing Craft LTTE Sea Tigers 4 6 -
Mechanized

23 17/10/1995 | A 512 - Auxiliary Trincomalee Sunk due to LTTE suicide - s ~
Ship Harbour diver attack

24 30/03/1996 |P 458-Fast Attack Off Vettilaikkeni Sunk due to LTTE suicide ~ _ 9
Craft attack during a confrontation

25 11/06/1996 | P 244- Karainagar, Old Pier | Destroyed due to LTTE suicide 1 ~ ~
Coastal Patrol Craft diver attack

26 11/06/1996 | P 234- Karainagar, Old Pier | Minor damages due to LTTE

Coastal Patrol Craft

suicide diver attack
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ﬁi? DATE SHIP/CRAFT LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED [(WOUNDED| MISSING
27 12/06/1996 | P 243- Karainagar, Old Pier | Minor damages due to LTTE ~ ~ ~
Coastal Patrol Craft suicide diver attack
28 13/06/1996 |P 232- Karainagar, Old Pier | Destroyed due to LTTE suicide ~ _ _
Coastal Patrol Craft diver attack
29 31/07/1996 | SLNS Ranaviru - South of Mullaittivu | Sunk due to LTTE suicide
8 - 22
Fast Gun Boat attack
30 20/10/1996 |P 161- South of VTK Damaged due to LTTE RPG ~ _ 5
Inshore Patrol Craft attack
31 20/10/1996 | P 164- Off Chundikulam Destroyed due to LTTE RPG ~ 1 _
Inshore Patrol Craft attack
32 25/10/1996 | P 457-Fast Attack Off Trincomalee Sunk due to LTTE suicide ~ ~ 12
Craft Harbour attack during a confrontation
33 19/10/1996 |P 452-Fast Attack Off Kokkilai Sunk due to LTTE suicide
4 1 3
Craft attack
34 22/02/1998 | SLNS Pabbatha Off Point Pedro Sunk due to LTTE suicide
- Landing Craft attack 6 - 7
Mechanized
35 23/02/1998 | Valampuri I - Ferry Off Point Pedro Sunk due to LTTE suicide 20 _ _
attack
36 30/10/1998 | P 498-Fast Attack Off Mullaittivu Destroyed during LTTE cluster
1 2 16
Craft attack
37 07/04/2000 | P 463-Fast Attack Off Nakarkovil Destroyed due to LTTE fire
- 4 8
Craft from Long Range Weapon
38 07/04/2000 | P 493-Fast Attack Off Nakarkovil Destroyed due to LTTE fire
3 1 6
Craft from Long Range Weapon
39 12/04/2000 [P 170- Modaragammaru Destroyed due to LTTE suicide 1 5 ~
Inshore Patrol Craft attack
40 05/06/2000 | P 482-Fast Attack Off Vettilaikkeni Destroyed during LTTE cluster ~ 5 6
Craft attack
41 05/06/2000 | P 496-Fast Attack Off Vettilaikkeni Destroyed during ~ _ 15

Craft

confrontation
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ﬁz(? DATE SHIP/CRAFT LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED [(WOUNDED| MISSING
42 30/09/2000 |P 183- North of Kalpitiya | Destroyed due to LTTE RPG ~ ~ ~
Inshore Patrol Craft and Mortar fire
43 23/10/2000 |A 542 - Trincomalee LTTE launched a suicide
Fast Personnel Harbour attack and the ship was badly - - -
Carrier damaged
44 | 21/03/2001 |P 495-Fast Attack Off Mullaitivu Destroyed during LTTE cluster ~ 13 5
Craft attack
45 16/09/2001 |P 251- North East of Point | Destroyed due to LTTE attack ~ _ 10
Coastal Patrol Craft | Pedro during a confrontation
46 07/01/2006 |P 476-Fast Attack East of Rocky Point |Destroyed due to a LTTE
o - 2 13
Craft suicide attack.
47 25/03/2006 | P 431-Fast Attack Off Kudiramalai Destroyed due to LTTE suicide
Craft attack disguised as a fishing - 11 8
trawler
48 11/05/2006 |P 418-Fast Attack Off Nagarkovil Destroyed due to a suicide
. . 8 - 9
Craft attack during a confrontation
49 28/06/2006 | P 190-Inshore Patrol | Off Damaged severly due to LTTE
Craft Baththalangunduwa | RPG attack 5 3 -
Island
50 [18/10/2006 |P 167-Inshore Patrol | Galle Harbour Destroyed due to LTTE suicide ~ 5 _
Craft attack
51 19/10/2006 |P 126- Galle Harbour Destroyed due to LTTE suicide ~ 5 ~
Inshore Patrol Craft attack
52 20/10/2006 |P 223- Galle Harbour Destroyed due to LTTE suicide 1 4 _
Coastal Patrol Craft attack
53 09/11/2006 | P 416-Fast Attack Off Thondiaimanaru | Destroyed due to a suicide
. . 10 7 -
Craft attack during a confrontation
54 19/11/2006 |P 461-Fast Attack Off Thondiaimanaru | Destroyed during LTTE cluster 9 1 _
Craft attack
55 06/04/2007 |P132- Off Kalpitiya Destroyed during LTTE cluster ~ ~ 5

Inshore Patrol Craft

attack
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ﬁz(? DATE SHIP/CRAFT LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED [(WOUNDED| MISSING
56 26/12/2007 | P 413-Fast Attack Off Delft Island Destroyed due to a suicide
i . 3 6 9
Craft attack during a confrontation
57 14/02/2008 |P 147- North of Mannar Destroyed due to LTTE attack
- - 6
Inshore Patrol Craft
58 22/03/2008 | P 438- Off Nayaru Suicide attack wusing semi 3 5 9
Fast Attack Craft submerged craft by LTTE
59 10/05/2008 | A 520- Ashroff Jetty, LTTE launched an attack
Auxiliary Ship Trincomalee using suicide divers and the - - -
Harbour ship was sunk
60 [01/11/2008 |Z 142- Off Point Pedro Destroyed due to LTTE suicide ~ _ 4
Inshore Patrol Craft attack
61 19/01/2009 |P 434- Off Mullaittivu Suicide attack using semi ~ 1 19
Fast Attack Craft submerged craft by LTTE
62 30/04/2009 ([P O17- East of Nayaru Destroyed due to LTTE attack
11 2 -
Inshore Patrol Craft
63 30/04/2009 |Z 137- Off Mullaittivu Destroyed due to LTTE attack 3 _ _
Arrow Craft
64 04/05/2009 | P 020- Off Mullaittivu Destroyed due to LTTE attack
4 7 -
Inshore Patrol Craft
TOTAL 145 125 243
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ANNEX I
MAJOR ATTACKS LAUNCHED BY LTTE ON SRI LANKA AIR FORCE
SER AIR CRAFT
No. DATE DESTROYED LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED MISSING
1 14/09/1985 B-212 Mutur Passenger Flight - -
2 22/03/1986 B-212 Elephant Pass Passenger Flight - -
3 13/09/1990 SF-260 Palaly SLAF Base Palaly 1 -
4 16/06/1991 B-212 Vavuniya Passenger Flight 1 -
5 02/05/1992 Y-8 Palaly Cargo Flight 6 -
6 08/02/1994 B-212 Palaly Passenger Flight - -
7 28/04/1995 AVRO Palaly Passenger Flight/LTTE Missile Attack 48 -
8 29/04/1995 AVRO Palaly Passenger Flight/LTTE Missile Attack 52 -
9 14/07/1995 IA-58 Palaly Attack Mission 1 -
10 18/11/1995 Y-8 Palaly Cargo Flight 5 -
11 22/11/1995 AN-32 Palaly Passenger Flight/LTTE Missile Attack 63 -
12 22/01/1996 MI-17 Palaly Passenger Flight/LTTE Missile Attack 39 -
13 12/07/1996 B-212 Welioya Passenger Flight - -
14 16/01/1997 UAV Pooneryan Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
15 20/01/1997 Y-12 Palaly Passenger Flight 4 -
16 03/05/1997 Y-12 China Bay Camp Attack 7 -
17 19/03/1997 MI-24 Mullaitivu Heli returning home after working in - 6
Palali
18 05/01/1997 UAV Omanthai Aerial Observation Mission - -
19 11/10/1997 MI -24 Kokilai Escort Mission 2 -
20 25/11/1997 B-212 Palaiyavadi - Passenger Flight 4 -
Vavuniya
21 01/02/1998 MI-17 Olumadu Casualty Evacuation Flight - -
22 26/06/1998 MI-24 Irattaperiyakulam | Attack Mission 4 -
23 12/06/1998 UAV Omanthai Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
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ﬁi& DATE lI)AFfSRT(l:ll({)AYl]:EFllﬂ) LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED MISSING
24 29/03/1999 UAV Pompemadu Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
25 29/09/1998 AN-24 Iranativu Civil Passenger Flight 50 -
26 17/12/1999 MI-24 Kilali Attack Mission 4 -
27 17/02/2000 B-212 Muhamalai Casevac Flight 3 -
28 24/05/2000 MI-24 Meesalai Attack Mission 2 -
29 19/10/2000 MI-24 Nagar kovil Attack Mission -
30 23/10/2000 MI-24 Koddiyar Bay Attack Mission 4 -
31 24/07/2001 MI-17 Katunayake Attack on Katunayake Air Base and 6 -
MI-17 Bandaranaike International Airport
MIG-27
KFIR (C 722)
KFIR (C 723)
K-8
K-8
K-8
A-330
A-340
32 22/01/2003 UAV Alaweddi Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
33 19/09/2005 UAV Mankulam Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
34 26/03/2007 - Katunayake An LTTE Air attack on the SLAF Base, 3 -
Katunayake, Two Light Fixed Wing
Aircrafts of LTTE, flying over the SLAF
Base, Katunayake dropped three bombs
35 20/04/2007 UAV Kokilai Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
36 24/04/2007 - Palaly An LTTE Light Aircraft dropped three 6 -

bombs near the Myladdy Beach closer to
the Coastal Defence Line
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SER AIR CRAFT
No. DATE DESTROYED LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED MISSING
37 29/04/2007 - Kolonnawa/ An LTTE Light Aircraft dropped - -
Muthurajawela 02 bombs targeting the Kolonnawa Oil
Tanks and Storage Complex area. Almost
simultaniously another LTTE Light
Air Craft dropped 02 bombs targeting
Muturajawela Gas Storage Complex area.
MI-24 -
B-212
3 X PT-6
K-8
38 22/10/2007 MI-24 Anuradhapura Attack on SLAF Base Anuradhapura 2
MI-17
B206
Beech Craft
39 22/10/2007 - Anuradhapura Combined ground and air attack on 13 -
the SLAF Base Anuradhapura by LTTE
Black Tigers. 02 Bombs were dropped by
02 LTTE Light Aircraft which flew away.
40 27/04/2008 - Kokkuthuduvai & |An LTTE Air attack on Army positions. 1 -
Padaviya Two LTTE light aircraft dropped 03 bombs
in to the Area HQ Welioya and HQ 224
Brigade Galkulama and escaped.
41 08/08/2008 UAV Anuradhapura Aerial Observatoin Mission - -
4?2 26/08/2008 - Trincomalee An LTTE Air attack on the SLN Dockyard, 4 -
Trincomalee. Two LTTE light Aircraft
dropped two improvised bombs on the
Navy Camp Premises and escaped.
43 09/09/2008 - Vavuniya An LTTE Air craft dropped two bombs 15 -

targeting 211 Brigade officers mess and
Special forces Brigade area in a combined
ground and air attack on the SF HQ (Wanni)
complex, SLAF base and Radar Station

I-3
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SER AIR CRAFT
No. DATE DESTROYED LOCATION DESCRIPTION KILLED MISSING
44 11/09/2008 UAV Anuradhapura Aerial Observation Mission - -
45 28/10/2008 - Grandpass An LTTE light Air craft dropped 02 bombs - -
into the premises of the Kelanitissa Power
station and escaped
46 28/10/2008 - Thallady An LTTE light Air craft dropped 03 bombs - -
at the Area Headquarters, Mannar and
escaped
47 20/02/2009 - Colombo & 02 LTTE Air Craft on a suicide mission - -
Katunayake targeting Inland Revenue building and

SLAF base Katunayaka were destroyed

I-4
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ANNEX ]
REPORTED PROCUREMENT OF WARLIKE EQUIPMENTS DURING PEACE PROCESS
2002 - 2006

ARTILLERY GUNS RADARS
152 mm Guns 09 Radar (X - band) Koden 04
130 mm Guns 06 Radar (Furuno ) 02
130 mm Barrel assemble 04 Radar - Koden - 3441 10

Radar - (Furuno) MK 11 03
ANTI AIR CRAFT GUNS Radar - JRC 21
23 mm AA - ZU 23 15 Raymine radar 15
23mmAA-T2H 25
12.7 mm 50 BOAT ENGINES/BOATS
14. 5 mm 03 1250 HP Yamaha 01
25 mm 03 1200 HP Yamaha 10

New cargo boat 02
MORTAR Remote control boat 01
82 mm 25 300 HP Yamaha 05
120 mm 03 250 HP Yamaha 48
35 mm 05 225 HP Yamaha 05

200 HP Yamaha 76
ASSAULT RIFLES
AK or T 56 10,000 AIR CRAFT/FUEL

Slin 143 03 (Purchased - 10)
MINES Fuel 5,985 Ltr
Mines 398,160 OTHERS
EXPLOSIVES NCB MASK Filter 900

NCB Gloves 100
TNT 50 tons
C4 50 tons NCB Boat 100
MISSILLES
IGLA (SA - 16) 15
IGLA - Launcher 05
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HUMANITARIAN OPERATION—FACTUAL ANALYSIS

INDEX OF TERMS

2N | Advance Infantry Platoon Training
ATBC..irirrsenssanssnnsssnssansans Australian Tamil Broadcasting Cooperation
372N (. Battlefield Air Interdiction

3 1 N British Tamil Association

3 British Tamil Conservatives

33 1 S British Tamil Forum
CAS.erreerreerssnesessenenes Close Air Support

] 2 N Cease Fire Agreement

{11 Canadian Multicultural Radio

G 1 Canadian Tamil Radio

)7 | Directorate of Military Intelligence

| )\ Director Naval Intelligence
DUNF.....ccoiimmensmnssnnssmnnsnns Democratic United National Front

| 20 ) D Electro Optical Devices

| 20 20 J Electro Optical Surveillance System
EPRLF......rerrerecnnea Eelam People’s Revolutionary Liberation Front
| 31 20 1 Y Eelam Revolutionary Organisation of Students
FAC.imsnssessassssssnssassanas Fast Attack Craft

| 31 D ) I Forward Defence Line

31 € 3 Fast Gun Boat

GPS e Global Positioning System

GTV wrrrsmrsssnsssssssssssensnes Global Television

5 2 Human Rights

12 International Broadcasting Company

| (@8 2 International Committee of Red Cross

| 1 D) S Internally Displaced Persons

1 U International Humanitarian Law

1 21 0 J Improvised Explosive Device
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Annex B
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High-Resolution Satellite
Imagery and the Conflict in Sri
Lanka
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

At the request of Human Rights Watch and Amnesty International in May 2009, AAAS
undertook an initial review of satellite imagery for the Civilian Safety Zone (CSZ) in
northeastern Sri Lanka. Human rights groups expressed concern over the status and
safety of civilians due to the heavy fighting occurring 9-10 May, 2009. Comparing the May
6 and May 10, 2009 images of the CSZ, AAAS found significant removal of IDP shelters. In
addition, imagery showed evidence of bomb shell craters, destroyed permanent
structures, mortar positions, and 1,346 individual graves.

l. Introduction

Il. Methods and Technologies

lll. Results

e A.Changes to IDP Areas
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B. Possible Impact Craters

C. Destroyed Permanent Structures

D. Examination of Gravesites

E. Possible Artillery and Mortar Positions

F. Crater Morphology as an Indicator of Launcher Position

IV. Conclusion

I. INTRODUCTION

The Geospatial Technologies and Human Rights Project of the American Association for
the Advancement of Science (AAAS) acquired and analyzed commercial high-resolution
satellite imagery of the Civilian Safety Zone (CSZ) and surrounding environs in
northeastern Sri Lanka (Figure One). Imagery analysis was initially requested by Human
Rights Watch (HRW) and Amnesty International USA (AI-USA) on May 10, 2009. These
organizations expressed concern over the status and condition of civilians in the southern
portion of the CSZ, as they were potentially affected by heavy fighting occurring May 9-10,
20009. This fighting was reported by multiple international news sources, including the
BBC, and was referred to by United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian
Affairs spokesman Gordon Weiss as a “bloodbath”. As no outside parties were allowed
access to the area during the timeframe in question, commercial high-resolution satellite
imagery was one of the only options for gathering information.

Analysis from AAAS, initially
released in draft form on May
12, 2009, sought to provide
information regarding the
status of internally displaced
persons (IDPs) within the

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka 2/25
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Figure One: Civilian Safety Zone and Analysis Area, Sri Lanka

The CSZ in northeastern Sri Lanka is shown in blue. The area covered by
the AAAS analysis is outlined in red. Note that analysis of internally
displaced persons and possible munitions craters was conducted in a
subset of the red area, and focused on the southern portion of the CSZ
only. Map by AAAS.

southern portion of the CSZ.
Following this initial analysis,
AAAS sought to identify
changes in three graveyards
found in both the northern
and southern portions of the
CSZ, and to identify
locations in the CSZ and
surrounding territory which
might have held artillery or
mortar positions. This report
summarizes results of
satellite imagery analysis
concerning possible
indications of shelling, IDP
movements, changes in
gravesites, and possible
artillery and mortar
positions. Selected images
and analysis results
described below have been
made available on Google
Earth for public use.

Il. METHODS AND
TECHNOLOGIES

To derive this information, AAAS analyzed multiple high- resolution satellite images of the

CSZ collected by publicly accessible commercial satellites. A scene collected from the

DigitalGlobe QuickBird satellite on May 9, 2005 (prior to the current period of conflict),

found on GoogleEarth, was used for historical comparison. An image from the GeoEye

satellite Ikonos, acquired on March 23, 2009, was used together with a scene from

DigitalGlobe's WorldView satellite, acquired on April 19, 20009, to verify conditions in the

CSZ immediately prior to the conflict in question. Imagery collected by the WorldView

satellite includes scenes acquired at approximately 11am local time on May 6 and May 10,

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka
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20009, prior to and after reportedly intense fighting in the CSZ. Finally, a scene from
GeoEye-1, collected on May 24, was analyzed to determine post-conflict conditions. These
images are summarized in Table One, and more information about the image sources is
provided below.

Table One: Image Summary

Sensor Source Image Date

QuickBird DigitalGlobe, via Google Earth 0570972005
Ikonos GeoEye 03/23/2009
WorldView DigitalGlobe 04/19/2009
WorldView DigitalGlobe 05/706/2009
WorldView DigitalGlobe 05/10/2009
GeoEye-1 GeoEye 05/24/2009

Additional information used in the AAAS analysis process includes public statements from
the Sri Lankan Government and the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE), as well as
media reporting, though none of these sources were assumed to be accurate. Importantly,
a set of photographs taken during a helicopter over flight of the CSZ by UN Secretary
General Ban Ki-moon on May 22 provided critical information which aided imagery
analysis. These photographs were georeferenced by AAAS, and some are available via the
Al-USA site . Lastly, ancillary information on mortar and artillery was derived from publicly
available United States Army Field Manuals, as indicated below.

Since 2000, commercial satellite operators have acquired high-resolution imagery around
the world, largely in response to customer requests. Once imagery is acquired from a
satellite, it is then added to the companies’ archives and generally made available for
resale. One image source used in this analysis was the Ikonos satellite, operated by the
GeoEye corporation. Ikonos has a multispectral sensor with one meter panchromatic
resolution and has been in operation since 1999. A second satellite from GeoEye is
GeoEye-1, with 50 centimeter non- governmental panchromatic resolution and 1.65 meter
multispectral resolution. Another satellite utilized was QuickBird, operated by
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DigitalGlobe, which has 60 centimeter panchromatic resolution and two meter
multispectral resolution, which became operational in 2002. Lastly, DigitalGlobe's
WorldView satellite, which provides 50 centimeter panchromatic imagery, was used
extensively. Note that only the US Government can direct WorldView to acquire imagery,
but once such imagery is obtained it is made available for public use via the DigitalGlobe
archives.

lll. RESULTS

A. Changes to IDP Areas

Initial analysis sought to denote changes over time to IDP shelters within the southern
portion of the CSZ using pre-conflict imagery together with the images acquired on May 6
and May 10. IDP shelters appeared in significant numbers within the CSZ as the conflict
developed, and were found throughout the area by the time of the May 6 image
acquisition. Within the southern portion of the CSZ, the salient feature of the May 10
image, when compared to the May 6 image, is the obvious removal of thousands of likely
IDP structures from the southern CSZ (Figure Two). While some new areas of IDP
structures did appear in the same time period (Figure Two) their quantity is not enough to
compensate for the number of removed IDP structures.

What caused the IDP
structures to be removed
between May 6 and May 10 is
uncertain based solely on the
imagery. It is notable how
complete the removal of IDP
structures appears, in that
while some debris and
evidence of the structures
remains, overall the area
appears to have been swept
relatively clean (Figure
Three). This is less indicative
of the entire area being razed
by shelling, though it could
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T g oy

correspond with an
emigration from those
specific areas by the IDPs
due to some outside driver.
Note that several craters are
visible in the immediate
proximity of the IDP shelters,
as are numerous destroyed
and damaged permanent
structures, discussed below.

B. Possible Craters

As with the IDP analysis,
crater analysis sought
information on the
appearance of craters within
the southern area of the CSZ
between May 6 and May 10.
Possible evidence of shelling
in the May 6 image, in the
form of possible shell impact
craters and destroyed

structures, are in evidence in
0 350 700

I \eters

Figure Two: Changes in IDP Population within the CSZ between May  portion of the CSZ. These

6 and May 10, 2009 . .

Between May 6 and May 10, 2009, thousands of IDP structures were possible shell impact craters
removed from the CSZ. Areas outlined in red saw an almost complete .
removal of such structures, while areas in green exhibited relatively small are found throughout this
increases in IDP structures. Image DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS.

and around the southern

analysis area, in close
proximity to, and
intermingling with, IDP shelters and other structures. Analysis found at least 65 craters
throughout the May 10 image which were not present on May 6 — many in the immediate
area of the removed IDP structures (Figure Four A).

Crater analysis from satellite imagery is problematic, and site visits are needed to confirm
presence and origin of the identified possible craters. Anthropogenic features and natural
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' phenomena can often
resemble craters. For
example, the removal of tree
stumps can produce a
crater-like hole, pooling
water in the right conditions
can mimic a crater when
| viewed by satellite, and
imprints left by shelters on
sand can also appear to be
craters. People seeking
| shelter or water can likewise
dig holes, which can
resemble craters, as can
constructed fighting
positions. Throughout this
region of SriLanka are
innumerable ground features
which might be watering
holes for livestock, and which
are also often similar in
appearance to craters.
Further, with such an
extensive history of conflict,
itis possible that craters
from shelling are a common
feature in this region of Sri
Lanka, requiring extra care in
analysis. Lastly, some
reports indicate possible use
of air burst, white
phosphorous, or other
specialized munitions, which

Figure Three: Removal of probable lDP shelters w:thm the CSZ compound the difficulty of

between May 6 and May 10, 2009 crater analysis as they would
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Detailed view of an area of the CSZ on May 6 (above) and May 10 (below), : : i
indicating almost complete removal of IDP structures in the intervening “kely leave little visible
period. Images DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS. signature in the satellite

imagery.

Various criteria are used to designate those features appearing in the imagery as possible
craters resulting from weapons fire. References for such work are sparse, and include Field
Manual No. 6-50. Marine Corps Warfighting Publication No. 3-1.6.23. Tactics, Techniques,
and Procedures for The Field Artillery Cannon Battery (Appendix J — Crater Analysis and
Reporting), and US Army Field Manual FM 6-121, Tactics, Techniques, and Procedures for
Field Artillery Target Acquisition (Appendix B — Crater Analysis And Reporting). A useful
text discussing craters in the context of meteor impacts on other planets is Planetary
Landscapes by Ronald Greeley, specifically the section on Impact crater morphology and
effects of different planetary environments (Chapman & Hall, London, 1994). Criteria for
munitions crater identification include the presence of a raised rim, circular perimeter,
patterns of ejecta, and other aspects, described in greater detail below. While few sites will
exhibit all of the following properties, the presence of one or more denotes a probable
munitions crater.

« Raised rims: The violent percussive force of an artillery impact will often leave behind
a crater whose perimeter is elevated above the surrounding terrain, forming a
circumferential ridge. Depending on the size of the crater and the properties of the
affected soil this feature may endure for quite some time, or it may quickly be lost to
erosion. Naturally occurring pits with raised rims are comparatively rare, except in
areas affected by volcanism or meteorite impact. Similarly, most human excavations
will dispose of the spoil in ways that do not result in the formation of a circumferential
ridge. A notable exception of course are fighting positions, usually created with a
raised rim for cover. Raised rims are identified in satellite imagery primarily by way of
the shadows they cast (Figure Four C).

« Circularity: Except at extremely oblique impact angles, the expended force of a
surface burst is largely radially symmetric. As such, the resulting cavity will most
frequently appear circular when viewed from above (Figure Four B — C). Natural
formations such as sinkholes and karst formations, as well as numerous human
excavations can also exhibit circularity, though irregular cross-sections are more
common for all these features. When multiple and almost perfectly circular features
occur in close proximity, they are more likely to have been caused by munitions.
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« Peripheral Ejecta: The impact of an explosive munition with the ground results in the

rapid dispersal of ejecta throughout the surrounding area. Due to the aforementioned
radial symmetry of the blast wave, in a surface burst this ejecta will frequently be
circumferential to the resulting crater, though other orientations are possible. The
excavated material may be obvious, or blend in with the surrounding terrain,
depending on the reflective properties of the surface in question (Figure Four C). Very
few natural or non-military events result in craters with circumferential ejecta, except
in certain volcanic eruptions. In some explosions, so-called “rayed” ejecta are also
visible, which take the form of multiple pronounced spikes of material radiating
outward from the impact point. These rays can extend far further than the proximal
ejecta blanket, sometimes by several orders of magnitude. Rayed ejecta are unique to
impact events. Numerous examples of such ejecta were found in the imagery (Figure
Four D and E).

o Diameter: Modern artillery systems come in standard calibers, and their munitions
produce calibrated explosive yields, which combine to determine the diameter of the
resulting crater. The appearance of numerous depressions of identical diameter can
indicate repeated fire of the same artillery piece, or multiple guns of the same model,
caliber, or munition. It is worth noting that this comparison is valid only between
craters that form in the same soil type, as changes in soil types can affect the
diameter of the resulting craters in unpredictable ways.

« Bowl-shaped: The radial force of an explosive shell is not confined to a horizontal
plane, and will most frequently result in a crater with smoothly sloping walls and a
bowl-shaped floor. Steep-walled, flat-floored craters are more likely to be the result of
natural subsidence or human excavation projects, although post-impact erosion and
slumping can, in rare circumstances, cause a similar profile in impact craters. This
attribute is identified through shadows cast by the crater, and is often very difficult to
definitively ascertain.

C. Destroyed Permanent Structures

The status of permanent structures in the southern portion of the CSZ was also evaluated
by AAAS using imagery from May 10 and prior. Damage to permanent structures is
perhaps indicative of significant use of explosive shells, as these structures obviously
would not be moved in the manner that IDP shelters often are. Evidence of destroyed
permanent structures is commonplace and unambiguous in the May 6 imagery when
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compared to the images
from previous dates. Dozens
of structures have clearly
been damaged or destroyed
by May 6, with remains of the
structures and concomitant
debris visible (Figure Five).
Numerous other structures
bear markings consistent
with burning or damage from
| weapons fire, such as
blackened exteriors or holes
in the rooftop. These roofless
buildings were initially
interpreted as possible
evidence of shelling or
burning. However, on-the-
ground photos taken
immediately after the
conflict instead indicate
widespread removal of
rooftops, which were
composed of sheet metal, for
use in constructing shelters
throughout the area.

Permanent structures within
the southern area of the CSZ
also suffered observable
damage in the period
between the May 6 and May
10 images. Again, as in the
May 6 image, numerous
¢ ters : | structures had their sheet
metal rooftops removed, most likely to construct or repair shelters throughout the CSZ.

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka 10/25



10/12/2020 High-Resolution Satellite Imagery and the Conflict in Sri Lanka | American Association for the Advancement of Science

Excluding roofless
structures, 21 permanent
structures have sustained
visible damage in the period
between May 6 and May 10
within the southern area of
the CSZ. A cluster of these
damaged structures is
shown in Figure Five.

D. Examination of
Gravesites

Three apparent gravesites
were visible within the CSZ,
one in the southern area and
two in the northern.

Graveyards were found

during the initial review of
the satellite imagery, but
were only definitively
identified when AAAS
reviewed photographs taken
immediately after the
conflict. AAAS counted the
growth in graves at all three
sites over time, using all
imagery up to and including
the image gathered on May
24. It must be noted that
graves analysis is
problematic with satellite
imagery. In addition to the
sites described below, it is

likely that other graves were
dug individually, in smaller

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka 11/25
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groups, and/or under
vegetation, and completely
unmarked, which would have
hidden them from view of the
satellites.

The southernmost graveyard
lies close to the IDP area
reviewed above, and appears
at some point between April
19 and May 6, as shown in
Figure Six. Individual graves
are visible and appear to cast
distinct shadows in the May
6 satellite image, suggesting
mounded burials. IDP

shelters also appear in the

Figure Four: Crater formation within the CSZ between May 6 and  immediate vicinity of the

May 10, 2009 _

(A) An overview of possible craters (shown in orange) within the CSZ graves during the same
between May 6 and May 10, 2009. (B) New craters, indicated by arrows, . . . .

have formed in close proximity to IDP areas. (C) A detailed view of the period. Visual inspection of

newly-formed craters from Figure 4B shows features suggestive of the | identified th
circumferential ejecta. (D) A detailed view of craters elsewhere in the CSZ € imagery iaentitie €
shows features suggestive of rayed ejecta, indicated by red arrow. (E) A
detailed view of craters elsewhere in the CSZ shows features suggestive appearance of 148 probable
of rayed ejecta, indicated by red arrows. Images DigitalGlobe | Analysis graves at this location

AAAS.

between April 19 and May 6.
However, given the size of the graves and quality of imagery, it is likely that not all graves
present at that time are visible in the May 6 image due to blurring and effects of shadows.
As this graveyard was quite regular and orderly in its layout, AAAS also estimated a count
of individual graves based on an estimated width of fifteen burials per row. Using this
method, 195 graves are estimated to be at this location as of May 6.

In the image acquired May 10, the southernmost graveyard seems to have expanded
substantially. As illustrated in Figure Six, terrain to the southwest of the site appears to
have been cleared, and a number of new graves are apparent. Inspection of the imagery for
May 10 indicates that 77 new burials likely occurred since May 6. Notably, five graves
occupying the south-westernmost corner of the expanded graveyard appear substantially
darker and wider than their neighbors, possibly indicative of burials planned or in-
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progress at the time of image
acquisition.

The latest image to cover
this southernmost graveyard
was acquired on May 24.
When compared to previous
imagery, it is clear that
temporary structures have
been cleared from the lot
northwest of the original site

| (Figure Six). In their place, a
number of new burials
appear to have been created.
Because this image was
taken by a different satellite

| than the previous two,

| altered viewing geometry
and illumination conditions
made a direct comparison
with the earlier imagery
difficult. Based on the
established density of
interments and the area

| covered by the expanded
burial ground, however, an
estimate of 70 additional
graves is likely. This brings
the total of the estimated
burials at this southernmost
graveyard to 342.

The second graveyard
identified in this study was

~ located approximately 3.6

kilometers northwest of the previously described location. The layout of graves was very
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similar to the previous site,
consisting of evenly-spaced
rows and columns. Its scale
however, is far larger than
the first, as illustrated in
Figure Seven. First identified
in imagery from May 6, this

| site consists of an estimated
960 graves on that date.
Unlike the first site, this
graveyard exhibits no signs
of growth between May 6
and May 10, nor between
May 10 and May 24. One
noteworthy characteristic of
this site is that it was

| identified in media reporting
Figure Five: Damage to permanent structures within the CSZ, ]
between April 19 and May 10, 2009 as belonging to the LTTE.
On April 19, 2009 (Image A), intact permanent structures are visible in .
the CSZ, along with numerous outbuildings. By May 6, 2009 (Image B), While AAAS has no way to
several of these structures had sustained substantial damage (indicated . .
by red arrows), and most outbuildings had been removed. By May 10, substantiate this statement,
2009 (Image C), other structures had sustained damage (indicated by TP .
red arrows). Images DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS. the similarities between this

site and previous,
southernmost graveyard may indicate a common origin.

The final graveyard analyzed by this study was located 4.3 kilometers northwest of the
second graveyard, and almost 8 kilometers northwest of the first gravesite described
above. ldentified in media reports as being a burial ground for civilians, this location
differed substantially from the others in its organization and size. Unlike the rigid pattern
of the previous two sites, the layout of this area was much less regular. As shown in Figure
Seven, apparent burial mounds were scattered throughout the area. These mounds were
also less regular in their individual shapes than those at previous sites, which rendered
their identification difficult in the available imagery. In total, 44 burials were identified at
this site on May 6, with no changes observed between May 6, May 10, and May 24. Again,
the irregularity of this site made counting of the graves very difficult, and many graves are
undoubtedly not visible in the imagery.
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In all three gravesites
reviewed, a total of 1,346
likely graves are estimated to
be in the imagery by May 24,
2009. The majority of the
graves were present by May

! 6, with little change after that
| except in the southernmost

graveyard. The

| southernmost site grew an
estimated 28% between May

6 and May 10, and grew
another 20% between May

| 10 and May 24.

E. Possible Artillery and
Mortar Positions

5 Inaddition to the analysis

described above, AAAS
reviewed the entirety of the

1 CSZ and a swath of

surrounding territory for
possible indications of

| artillery and mortar

positions. This analysis
extended northwest, west,
and southwest from the CSZ

for approximately nine

kilometers, excluding ocean

| and lagoon areas. While this

analysis sought to locate

| artillery positions, it should
| be noted that various

artillery pieces in use by the
Sri Lankan Army have ranges
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- well beyond nine kilometers.
Unfortunately, budgetary
constraints do not allow
analysis of all potential
artillery sites at present, and
it is unlikely sufficient
imagery exists for a
complete review. For this
portion of the analysis, only
the May 10 image was used,
and was compared with the
image from May 2005, on
GoogleEarth. Features in the
May 10 image with a
configuration that possibly
denoted military origin were
flagged for review by an
outside consultant with more
| than five years of experience
interpreting imagery for the
United States Marine Corps.

Numerous features outside
of the CSZ were identified
that bear resemblance to

mortar positions, based on
comparisons with a United
States Army Field Manual
(FM 7-90 Tactical
Employment of Mortars).

Specifically, 17 possible
mortar locations were
identified in the area

.

R
" "M surrounding the CSZ. One of

re Six: Formation probale ravesii'e inCSZ
(A) On April 19 roads are present, but the area is mostly deserted. (B) By

these sites is arrayed in a
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May 6 numerous probable IDP structures are present, along with a

graveyard (outlined in red) containing an estimated 195 burials. (C) By formation referred to as the

May 10 the graveyard has expanded substantially. (D) By May 24, an area  « ”

across the street has been cleared and is also being used for interments, Lazy W" by the US Army
bringing the total to 342 graves (estimated) at this location. Images Field Manual (Figure Eight;
DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS.

FM 7-90 Tactical
Employment of Mortars),

while another might include
a “Six Star” formation
(Figure Nine; FM 7-90
Tactical Employment of
Mortars). Most of the sites

| are simply in a parallel or
single line formation, and are
| oriented both towards the
CSZ and surrounding roads.
Note that no mortar tubes
are visible in the imagery,
preventing conclusive
identification of the sites as
mortar positions. Given the

75 | e e '} average distance of these
Meters _ i S suspected mortar sites from
the CSZ, it can be extrapolated that any mortars therein would likely be up to 120 mm in
size, based on ranges of such weapons publicized in the US Army Field Manual (FM 7-90
Tactical Employment of Mortars). While it is not possible to conclusively identify such sites
based on image analysis alone, their locations bear noting for possible further
investigations. None of the sites reviewed showed indications they were occupied by heavy
artillery pieces, which are generally readily identifiable in such imagery unless

camouflaged.
F. Crater Morphology as an Indicator of Launcher Position

Examination of the area surrounding the CSZ by AAAS identified several emplacements
consistent with mortar positions in the surrounding countryside, most likely created by the
Sri Lankan Army. AAAS conducted subsequent analysis seeking to determine the possible
origin of the shells which caused the craters indicated in the imagery. In numerous cases,
information indicates that craters were caused by mortar positions to the south of the
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L : CSZ, corresponding with
several possible SLA
positions. Analysis of shell
craters in this case was
enabled by the United States
Army Corps Field Manual FM
6-50, entitled Tactics,
Techniques, and Procedures
for the Field Artillery Cannon
Battery. This publication
indicates that the blast
geometry of a detonating
artillery shell can vary
considerably depending on
the angle of its terminal
descent. At shallow impact
angles, such explosions

Figure Seven: Graveyards in Northern Section of the CSZ
A large graveyard (top), containing an estimated 960 burials, is visible in

frequently result in an ejecta
the CSZ on May 6. Another more chaotic cemetery (bottom) is barely

visible nearby. Unlike the graveyard further south (shown in Figure 6), pattern that points back

neither of these exhibit signs of growth. Images DigitalGlobe | Analysis . .

AAAS. along the projectile’s
trajectory towards the

launcher, while high-angle shell craters produce a pattern that, while still aligned with the
flight path, point in the opposite direction (see Figure Ten). In either case, the direction to
the launcher can be established based on the pattern of ejecta originating at the shell
crater. Notably, such ejecta patterns are the exception rather than the rule with craters,
and thus most located craters in the imagery did not exhibit ejecta patterns that could be
analyzed. Further, most of the craters with such patterns that were located occurred in the
beach area of the CSZ, though craters were found in other areas as well, indicating that
sandy beaches are more amenable to patterned ejecta formations.

Seventeen craters with analyzable ejecta were identified, and their lines of symmetry were
surveyed using GIS software, as shown in Figure Ten. Lines of symmetry indicate the
direction of the ejecta, and were extrapolated to derive likely azimuth trajectory of
incoming shells. Because the impact angle of the munitions was not known in the Sri
Lanka case, for any individual crater it was only possible to state that the launcher must lie

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka 18/25



10/12/2020

A 4

U!.E-INCH

6-MORTAR LAZY W
200 M BY 60 M

4.2-INCH
130 M BY 60 M

81 mm, M252
150 MBY 70 M

Figure Eight: Probable mortar emplacements surrounding the CSZ
Numerous possible mortar emplacements are located throughout the
area of the CSZ. One such emplacement (top), is arrayed similarly to the
‘Lazy W’ formation detailed in a US Army Field Manual (bottom; FM 7-90
Tactical Employment of Mortars). Image DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS.
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somewhere along this line, in
either direction from the
crater itself. Fortunately from
an investigative point of view,
the CSZ is located at the end
of a narrow spit of land
bounded by the ocean on
one side, and a broad lagoon
on the other. This unique
geography substantially
simplifies the situation, as
incoming shells from the
north would originate from
naval units, which are
deemed to be less likely as a
source in this conflict by
AAAS. Thus, incoming shells
most likely came from the
south, from land based
positions.

Figure Eleven plots the
locations of the craters,
along with their extended
lines of symmetry and the
locations of probable mortar
emplacements, previously
identified by AAAS. The
correspondence that exists
between the features
appears to be quite good,
given the uncertainties
involved. Within a single

target area, two distinct groups of craters are visible. The first of these consists of five

craters, whose axes are oriented generally north- south, pointing to a probable origin at
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the artillery site identified at
(9.231°N, 80.802°E). The
axes of the second group,
consisting of eleven craters,
point south-southeast,
toward five emplacements
that were identified three to
six kilometers in that
direction. Because of the fact
that the this second group of
mortar sites are spaced very
close together in azimuth, as
well as the uncertainties
inherent in measuring crater
orientations, it is impossible
60 to determine which

Meters particular battery might have

been responsible for this
group of craters, though
some distinction may be
possible between the two
northerly mortar sites and
the three that exist further
south.

IV.CONCLUSION

4.2-INCH
COVERAGE: 110-METER CIRCLE

Based on satellite imagery
Figure 6-16.  Six-mortar star formation.

Figure Nine: Probable mortar emplacements surrounding the CSZ obtained of the Civilian

This possible mortar position (top) is arrayed similarly to the ‘Six Star’ f Zon n rroundin
formation, as detailed in a US Army Field Manual (bottom; FM 7-90 Safety Zone and surrounding
Tactical Employment of Mortars). Image DigitalGlobe | Analysis AAAS. environs, AAAS found

evidence of artillery
emplacements, destroyed permanent structures, graves, and shell impact craters.
Additional information used in the AAAS analysis process included public statements from

https://www.aaas.org/resources/geotech/high-resolution-satellite-imagery-and-conflict-sri-lanka 20/25



10/12/2020 High-Resolution Satellite Imagery and the Conflict in Sri Lanka | American Association for the Advancement of Science
the Sri Lankan Army and
LTTE, media reporting, and a
set of photographs taken
during a helicopter flight over
the CSZ by UN Secretary
General Ban Ki-moon.
Analysis of the CSZ showed
three gravesites with 1,346
burials between them. These
graves grew in number
between April and May 20009,
and are corroborated by
aerial photos taken by the
UN after the conflict. The
imagery also revealed
numerous impact craters,
some with ejecta patterns
that helped determine the
trajectory of shells. By
extrapolating the azimuth
trajectories, AAAS was able
to determine the locations of
probable mortar
emplacements likely created
by the Sri Lankan Army.

Google Earth Layer

Figure Ten: Crater Ejecta Pattern
Graphics from U.S. Army Field Manual FM 6-50. At shallow impact angles

(top), a shell’s “side spray” creates an arrow pointing toward the Related Programs:
launcher. In analyzed imagery for Sri Lanka (bottom), numerous craters
with such ejecta pattern (outlined in red) were seen, and trajectory ; e ilili
azimuth was estimated from these patterns. Image DigitalGlobe | SCIentlﬂc_ ReSponSIblllty !
Analysis AAAS. Human Rights & Law

Program
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BY HIS EXCELLENCY MAHINDA RAJAPAKSA
PRESIDENT OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA
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1. Chitta Ranjan de Silva Esquire, P.C.
2. Dr. Amrith Rohan Perera Esquire, P.C.
3. Professor Mohamed Thahir Mohamed Jiffry Esquire
4. Professor Karunaratna Hangawana Esquire
5. Chandirapal Chanmugam Esquire
. Hewa Matara Gamage Siripala Palihakkara Esquire
7. Mrs. Manohan Ramanathan
8. Maxwell Parakrama Paranagama Esquire

GREETINGS

WHEREAS [ am of the opigion that an opportune moment has arrived to reflect on the

conflict phase and the suffedngs the country has pone through as a whole and having regard



to the common aspieations of all we have collecrively resolved that our prople are assured an

era of peace, harmony and prosperity;

WHEREAS it has become necessary that while we-as an independent and proud nadon of
muld ethnic polity undertake = journey of common goals in a spirt of co-operation,
partnership and friendship we also learn from this recent history lessons that would ensure

that there will be no recurrence of any internecine conflict in the future;

WHEREAS, I am of the opinion that it is in the interest of public welfare, to appoint a
Commission of Inquiry for the purposes hereinafrer mentioned;

NOW THEREFORE I, Mahinda Rajapaksa, President, reposing great trust and confidence
in your prudence, ability, independence and fidelity, do in pursuance of the provisions of
Section 2 of the Commissions of Inquiry Act (Chapter 393}, by these presents appoint you,
the said;

1 Chitta Ranjan de Silva Esquire, P.C.

2. Dr. Amrith Rohan Perera Esquire, P.C.

3 Professor Mohamed Thahir Mohamed Jiffry Esquire

4 Professor Karunaratna Hangawatta Esquire

5. Chandirapal Chanmugam Esquire

6. Hewa Matara Gamage Siripala Palihakkara Esquire

7. Mrs. Manohari Ramanathan

Maxwell Parakrama Paranagama Esquire

ta be my Commissioners, to inquite and report on the following matters that may have taken

plice duting the period between 21" February 2002 and 19® May 2009, namely;

(1) the facts and eircumstances which led to the failure of the
ceasefire agreement operationalized on 21" February 2002
' and the sequence of events that followed thereafter up té
the 19 of May 2009;



i)

(i)

()

%

(5

whether any person, geoup or instrution directly or indirectly
hear responsibility in this regard;

the lessons we would Jeam from those events and their
ittendant concerns, in atder to ensure that there will be no

pecurrence;

the methodology whereby testinution to any person affected by

those events.or their dependants ot their heirs, can be cffected,

the institutional, administranve and legislative measures which
nesd to be mken in order to prevent any recurrence of such
concerns in the funure, and to promote further natonal unity and
reconciliaton among all communities, and to make any such other
recommendations with feference to any of the matters that have

been inquired into under the rerms of this Warzant

AND 1 do hereby appoint you the said Chitta Ranjan de Silva Esquire, President's

Counsel and retired Aorney General 1o be the Chairman of the said Commission;

AND 1 do hereby authorize and empower you the said Commissioners, to hold all such

inquiries and to make all such invesaganons into the aforesaid marters as may appear to you

to be necessary, and require you to transmit to me within six moaths from the date hereof,
report thereon under your hand, seting out the findings of inguiries and your
recommendaticas relanng thereto;

AND [ do hereby direct that such part of any inquiry relating to the aforesaid matters as you

may in your discretion determine, shall not be held in public;



AND I do hcrr.b\- tequire and direet all Public Officers and ather pcrsuns to whom you may
apply for such assismnce or information for the purpose of your tncgumes o1 investigations,
i3 render aH such assistance and furmish all such nformation as may be properly rendered
and furnished in that behalf; '

AND I do bereby declare that the provisions.of Section 14 of the Commissions of Inguiry
Aet (Chapter 393) shall apply to the Comrmssion;

GIVEN ar Colombo, under the seal of the Democrade Socalist Republic of Sa Lanka, this

Fifteenth day of May, Twe Thousand and Ten,

By His Excellency's command,

.

Lalith Weeratunga
Secretary to the President
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BY HIS EXCELLENCY MAHINDA RAJAPAKSA
PRESIDENT OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA

TO Chitta Ranjan de Silva Esquire, P.C,
(Chairman of the Commmission of Inquiry)

GREETINGS |

WHEREAS, in pursuance of the provisions of section 2 of the Commussions of Inquary Act,

1 Commission of Inguiry was appointed by me by Warrant dated May 15, 2010;

AND WHEREAS, vou were appointed as the Chatrman of the said Commission of Ingury;

Vi



AND WHEREAS, Professor Mohamed Thahir Mohamed Jiffry Esquire, who was
appointed a Commissioner of the said Commussion of Inguiry, has not been able o
discharge the duties & responsibilities of the position due to ill health, and 1t is necessary

therefore to fill the vacancy so created;

NOW THEREFORE, I, Mahinda Rajapaksa, President of the Demacratic Socialist Republic
of Sd Lanka, reposing great wrust and confidence in his prudence, ability and fidelity, do in
pursnance of the provisions of section 3 of the Commissions of Inquiry Act, by these
presents, appoint Mohamed Thowfeek Mohamed Bafiq Esquire, to be a Commissioner

of the Cammission of Inquiry constituted in terms of the Witrtant teferred to above,
Given at Colombo under the Seal of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka, on this

Sixth day of September, Two Thousand and Ten.

By His Excellency's command,

T

Lalith Weeratunga
Secretary to the President
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COMMISSION OF INQUIRY ON LESSONS LEARNT AND RECONCILIATION APPOINTED

BY HIS EXCELLENCY THE PRESIDENT IN TERMS OF SECTION 2 OF THE
COMMISSIONS OF INQUIRY ACT

Mr. C.R de Silva, PC
(Chairman)

Dr. A. Rohan Perera, PC
(Member)

Prof. Karu Hangawatte
(Member)

Mr. C.Chanmugam
(Member)

Mr. H.M.G.S Palihakkara
(Member)

Mrs. Manohari Ramanathan
(Member)

Mr. M.P Paranagama
(Member)

Mr. M.T.M. Bafiq
(Member)

Mr. S. B. Atugoda

(Secretary)
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My No Your No. Date. 15" November, 2011

His Excellency Mahinda Rajapaksa
President of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka
Colombo.

Your Excellency,

We have the honour to refer to the Proclamation issued by Your Excellency on
15t May 2010 in pursuance of the provisions of Section 2 of the Commissions of
Inquiry Act (Chapter 393) and letter of 7" September 2010, appointing the
undersigned as Your Excellency’s Commissioners for the purpose of inquiring into
and reporting on matters enumerated in the Terms of Reference included in the
Proclamation.

We hereby submit to Your Excellency, our Report thereon.

Please accept Excellency the assurances of our highest consideration.
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Abbreviations and Acronyms

CARE Cooperative for Assistance and Relief Everywhere
CCHA Consultative Committee on Humanitarian Assistance
CDS Chief of Defence Staff

CFA Ceasefire Agreement

CGES Commissioner General of Essential Services
DMI Director Military Intelligence

DS Divisional Secretariat

ENDLF Eelam National Democratic Liberation Front
EPDP Eelam People’s Democratic Party

EPRLF Eelam People's Revolutionary Liberation Front
FDL Forward Defence Line

FTR Family Tracing and Reunification Unit

GA Government Agent

GN Grama Niladhari

GOSL Government of Sri Lanka

HR Human Rights

HSZ High Security Zone

ICRC International Committee of the Red Cross

IDP Internally Displaced Person

HL International Humanitarian Law

IMF International Monetary Fund

INGO International Non-governmental Organization
JoC Joint Operations Command

KKS Kankesanthurai

LTTE Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam

MOD Ministry of Defence

MPCS Multi Purpose Cooperative Societies

NCO Non-Commissioned Officer

NGO Non-governmental Organization

NFZ No Fire Zone

PHI Public Health Inspector



PLOTE People's Liberation Organisation of Tamil Eelam

PTA Prevention of Terrorism Act

PTF Presidential Task Force for Resettlement, Development and Security in the Northern
Province

PTK Puthukkudiyiruppu

RDS Rural Development Society

REPPIA Rehabilitation of Persons, Properties and Industries Authority

SCOPP Secretariat for Coordinating the Peace Process

SEZ Special Economic Zone

SIHRN Sub Committee for Immediate Humanitarian Needs

SLA Sri Lanka Army

SLMM Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission

STF Special Task Force

TELO Tamil Eelam Liberation Organisation

TMVP Tamil Makkal Viduthalai Pulikal

UAV Unmanned Aerial Vehicle

UNHCR United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees

UNOCHA UN Office of the Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs

UN RC/HC UN Resident and Humanitarian Coordinator
WFP World Food Program
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PREAMBLE

The Lessons Learnt and Reconciliation Commission (LLRC) was appointed by His Excellency
President Mahinda Rajapaksa in terms of the Presidential Warrant dated 15% May 2010." The
Commission’s mandate was to look back at the conflict Sri Lanka suffered as well as to look
ahead for an era of healing and peace building in the country.

Sri Lanka now faces a moment of unprecedented opportunity. Rarely does such an opportunity
come along without equally important attendant challenges. This is especially true of any
meaningful effort towards post-conflict peace building following a protracted conflict. Sri
Lanka’s case is no exception. Terrorism and violence have ended. Time and space have been
created for healing and building sustainable peace and security so that the fruits of democracy
and citizenship can be equitably enjoyed by all Sri Lankans. To this end, the success of ending
armed conflict must be invested in an all-inclusive political process of dialogue and
accommodation so that the conflict by other means will not continue.

The Commission was gratified to learn from people who appeared before it, that the promise of
the present opportunity far outweighs the burden of attendant challenges.

Having listened to these views from all corners of the country and from all strata of society, the
Commission is inclined to share this optimism despite some uncertainties that still loom.
However, if these expectations were to become a reality in the form of a multi-ethnic nation at
peace with itself in a democratic Sri Lanka, the Government and all political leaders must
manifest political will and sincerity of purpose to take the necessary decisions to ensure the
good-faith implementation of the Commission’s recommendations.

Based on what it heard from the people, the Commission is confident that the citizens are
ready and willing to support consensual approaches advancing national interest, national
reconciliation, justice and equality for all citizens, so long as the political leaders take the lead in
a spirit of tolerance, accommodation and compromise.

The required decisions in this regard touch upon a broad spectrum of issues that are the subject
matter of comment and recommendations contained in the present report. These relate to a
number of vital questions that are indispensable to any good-faith attempt at reconciliation and
peace-building.

! The Proclamation is at Annex 1



The Commission hopes that its observations and recommendations would provide pointers to
areas where such decisions are needed, sooner rather than later. These areas include
governance, devolution, human rights, international humanitarian law, socio economic
development, livelihood issues, issues affecting hearts and minds, leadership issues and many

more.

While not being an exhaustive agenda to address, let alone cure, all ills of post conflict Sri
Lanka, the recommendations of the Commission could nevertheless constitute a framework for
action by all stakeholders, in particular the Government, political parties and community
leaders. This framework would go a long way in constructing a platform for consolidating post
conflict peace and security as well as amity and cooperation within and between the diverse
communities in Sri Lanka.

The Commission therefore urges that effect be given to its recommendations and encourages
the promotion of public awareness of the contents and implementation of these measures.
Such a course of action would help all communities to live in peace and harmony and ensure
that no room is left for terrorism and violence to raise their ugly head again.

In formulating its recommendations, the Commission took into account inter alia the following,
based on the citizens’ views it heard:

° Historical, social and political factors that point to the causes of ethnic and citizen
grievances;

. The facts and circumstances which led to the failure of the ceasefire agreement in
2002, with a view to finding lessons that can be learnt to avoid such failures in the
future;

° Sri Lanka’s experience in dealing with terrorism and the effects of the culture of

violence on good governance, law and order and civilian life;

° The events that unfolded from February, 2002 to May, 2009, and specially the
incidents that took place during the armed conflict after the Mavil Aru incident;
these events and incidents were examined in the context of the International
Humanitarian Law and the Human Rights Law and related, inter alia, to the
following:

- obligation to educate the members of the armed forces in the relevant aspects
of Human Rights and International Humanitarian Law;

- measures taken to safeguard civilians and to avoid civilian casualties during
military operations;

- establishment of No Fire Zones and the LTTE strategy of using human shields;



- supply of humanitarian relief including food and medicine to civilians in conflict
areas;

- medical facilities and medical supplies during the final stages of the conflict;

- conduct of the Security Forces during the movement of civilians and combatants
to cleared areas;

- alleged disappearances;

- allegations concerning abductions;

- treatment of detainees; and,

- conscription of children by the LTTE and other armed groups.

. Issues relating to land matters, specially as regards settling the returnees and
resettlement of the IDPs;

. Restitution/Compensatory Relief:

. Post Conflict issues that affect vulnerable groups and the citizens at large; and

. Policies and measures that will promote reconciliation through healing, amity and
unity.

A summary of the principal observations and recommendations is set out in Chapter 9.
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Chapter 1 - Introduction and Methodology

Establishment of the Commission

The following eight members were appointed to the Commission by His Excellency
President Mahinda Rajapaksa by Proclamation dated 15t May 20107,

Chitta Ranjan de Silva Esquire, P.C., Chairman

Dr. Amrith Rohan Perera Esquire, P.C.,

Professor. Mohamed Thahir Mohamed Jiffry Esquire,
Professor. Karunaratna Hangawatte Esquire,
Chandirapal Chanmugam Esquire,

Hewa Matara Gamage Siripala Palihakkara Esquire,
Mrs. Manohari Ramanathan,

Maxwell Parakrama Paranagama Esquire

One of the members appointed, Professor M.T.M. lJiffry, was unable to serve on the
Commission due to failing health and resigned with effect from 31° August, 2010. Mr.
Mohamed Thowfeeq Mohamed Bafiq Esquire, Senior Attorney at Law, replaced him
with effect from 7" September, 2010.

Mr. S.M. Samarakoon, was appointed Secretary to the Commission. He resigned from
this position with effect from 7" September, 2010 and was succeeded by Mr. S.B.
Atugoda, with effect from 14" September, 2010.

The Commission held its first meeting on 11" June, 2010. Its Secretariat was established
at the Lakshman Kadirgamar Institute of Strategic Studies and International Relations,
No. 24, Horton Place, Colombo 7.

The Mandate

In the Mandate, contained in the Proclamation, the Commissioners were to “inquire and
report on the following matters that may have taken place during the period between
21° February 2002 and 19" May 2009, namely;

i. The facts and circumstances which led to the failure of the Ceasefire Agreement
operationalized on 21* February 2002 and the sequence of events that followed thereafter
up to the 19" of May 2009;

% See Annex 1



1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

ii. Whether any person, group or institution directly or indirectly bear responsibility in this
regard;

iii. The lessons we would learn from those events and their attendant concerns, in order to
ensure that there will be no recurrence;

iv. The methodology whereby restitution to pay persons affected by those events or their
dependants or their heirs, can be effected;

v. The institutional, administrative and legislative measures which need to be taken in order to
prevent any recurrence of such concerns in the future, and to promote further national unity
and reconciliation among communities and; to make any such other recommendations with
reference to any of the matters that have been inquired into under the terms of the
Warrant.”.

Under the Warrant establishing the Commission, the President noted inter alia that an
opportune moment has arrived to reflect on the conflict phase and the sufferings that
the country has gone through as a whole during this period. The President also noted
that a need has arisen to learn from this recent history, lessons that would ensure that
there will be no recurrence of any internecine conflict in the future and that people are
assured of an era of peace, harmony and prosperity.

Accordingly, the work of the Commission proceeded, acknowledging a clear need to
heal the wounds of the past and to make recommendations to reconcile the nation by
recognizing all victims of conflict, providing redress to them and thereby promoting
national unity, peace and harmony.

Methodology

The Commission invited representations from the public through notices in the print
and electronic media. A copy of the notice is at Annex 1.1. Public notices were also
disseminated in the affected areas well in advance of the hearings of the Commission in
such areas. In response to these notices, the Commission received a large number of
representations from the public. (Annex 1.2). Many of them requested for an
opportunity to express their views before the Commission on matters referred to in the
Warrant. (The list of persons who appeared before the Commission is at Annex 1.3).
The Commission considered both written and oral presentations without distinction.

The primary source of information for the Commission’s work was the general public of
Sri Lanka, particularly those from the conflict affected areas and a number of national
organizations and civil society groups who expressed their concerns and views in

6



response to the Commission’s public notices inviting such views. In addition, the
Commission also took into account, where appropriate and relevant to its mandate, a
range of issues raised in published material in the form of reports by national and
international organizations, including the report of the UN Secretary - General’s Panel of
Experts on Accountability in Sri Lanka.

1.10 Although the Commission was constituted by Presidential Warrant dated 15t May,
2010, setting in place the requisite modalities including institutional and administrative
arrangements relating to the functions of the Commission took up a considerable period
of time. After the completion of such arrangements the Commission commenced
hearings on 11 August 2010. The hearings were held in public and open to the print
and electronic media unless the person making representations before the Commission
requested otherwise. The procedure adopted at the public hearings was to first inform
the representer that he or she could be heard in public or in camera. Some representers
elected to make submissions in camera. Thereafter the Commissioners proceeded to
interact through questions with the representer to clarify any matters that arose
consequent to the representations made or which they felt were relevant to the terms
of the Warrant.

1.11 The Commission provided every opportunity to persons to make representations in a
language of their choice, while providing for simultaneous translation to English. The
Commission thus recognized the salutary effect, particularly on affected persons, of
being able to relate their stories in a language of their choice. For the purposes of the
Report the Commission utilized the English scripts of the simultaneous English
translation.

1.12 The Commission decided to consult and hear the views of persons who would have
personal experience and knowledge on different aspects of matters referred to in the
Warrant. Invitations were also extended to local NGOs as well as NGOs based outside Sri
Lanka, that have produced reports on the situation in this country pertaining to matters
relevant to the Warrant. However, it is a matter of regret that despite the invitation
extended in good faith, seeking a constructive dialogue on what the Commission
considered as issues of common concern falling under the purview of its Mandate, this
invitation has not been reciprocated by three organizationss. As the public sittings
progressed and consequent to the wide media coverage, there was a keen response
from members of the public to express their views before the Commission.

* Human Rights Watch, Amnesty International and International Crisis Group
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1.14

1.15
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The Commission took several steps to make its work transparent. The hearings were
open to the public and the media, except when a person making representations
requested confidentiality. The Commission facilitated the media to video and audio tape
the public proceedings. In addition the Commission maintained a web site, since August
2010, where the schedule of Commission visits and transcripts of public hearings, public
representations and other information regarding the Commission were published.

Among those who made representations before the Commission were members of the
public, public servants including those who had served in the affected areas during the
conflict period, affected individuals, representatives of the armed forces, senior officials
who were associated with the peace process, political leaders, religious leaders,
members of civil society, journalists, academics and other professionals, former LTTE
cadres and former members of other armed groups.

In addition to the public sittings in Colombo, the Commission undertook field visits to
areas affected by the conflict. A list of places visited by the Commission is at Annex 1.4.
The Commission was of the view that in order to ascertain first-hand the ground
realities, it was imperative to have public sittings in situ. This was also with a view to
reaching out to the people in the affected areas and to enable them to highlight their
grievances. These people would otherwise have faced considerable difficulties in
travelling to Colombo to make their representations. Through this process the
Commission was able to acknowledge the suffering of the people in the affected areas
and provide an opportunity for them to tell their stories in familiar surroundings. This
approach focused on the restorative dimensions of the Commission’s Mandate.

In certain instances where the general public who appeared before the Commission
articulated grievances or complaints requesting the Commission to do what it can to
provide relief and where the Commission felt such expeditious action would help
redress such grievances and provide relief to the party concerned, the Commission took
the liberty to refer the matter to the Attorney General requesting appropriate
investigation and action.

In addition to scheduled public meetings, the Commissioners also made it a point to
have unscheduled, impromptu meetings to speak with members of the public to obtain
first hand information about the situation. Where possible, the Commission sought
clarifications from persons who appeared before the Commission or provided material
to the Commission through informal meetings both in Colombo and during its follow up
visits to the provinces.



1.18

1.19

1.20

1.21

1.22

On the 13" of September 2010 the Commission made its Interim Recommendations to
His Excellency the President, covering a range of issues relating to Detention, Law and
Order, Land, Administration and Language, which in the view of the Commission
deserved urgent attention. The Commission also expressed the view that immediate
action on these matters would provide relief and engender a sense of confidence among
the people affected by the conflict and also provide an impetus to the reconciliation
process. The Commission’s Interim Recommendations are attached at Annex 1.5.

The hearings held throughout the country and the public attention it generated
particularly through the provincial media, resulted in a substantial increase in public
awareness and interest in the work of the Commission. As such, the Commission had to
extend the deadline for making representations in order to accommodate a continuous
flow of requests from the public. In the light of these developments and the consequent
increase in representations made to the Commission, it became clear that it was not
feasible to conclude its work within the time period specified in the original Warrant.
Accordingly, by Warrant dated 3" November 2010 issued by His Excellency the
President, the time limit for rendering the final Report of the Commission was extended
until 15" May 2011.

The Commission continued its public hearings until the 31 of January 2011. The
Commission also continued to receive written representations until the 13" of June
2011.

As the process of analyzing the large volume of material gathered progressed, it was
evident to the Commission that there were several specific areas and issues which
required further elucidation/clarification, before the Commission could make an
assessment of the matters, for inclusion in the report. Accordingly the Commission
invited several public officials, military officials, experts and members of the public to
appear before the Commission, some on several occasions. Follow up visits to some of
the provinces were also arranged. All of this made it necessary for the Commission to
seek a further extension of time. By Warrant dated 10" May 2011 issued by His
Excellency the President the time limit was extended until 15" November 2011.

The Commission was conscious of the fact that the remit of the Commission required it
to report on matters that may have taken place during the period between 21°%
February 2002 and 19" May 2009. At the same time it also recognized that the causes
underlying the grievances of different communities had its genesis in the period prior to



1.23

the time frame referred to in the Warrant. The Commission accordingly provided a
degree of flexibility to the representers in this regard.

The material placed before the Commission covered a broad range of complex issues of
a multidisciplinary nature, resulting in a need for the Commission to identify the issues
which the Commission deemed necessary to deal with, in terms of the Mandate and its
stated objectives. Accordingly the Commission identified the issues that it believed to be
relevant and proceeded in working on these areas in relatively self contained Chapters
with cross references to other Chapters, where required. The Commission was of the
view that this approach would facilitate a better understanding of the issues, and assist
in implementation of recommendations.

10
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2.1

2.2

2.3

Chapter 2 - Ceasefire Agreement

Introduction

The Warrant requires the Commission to inquire into and report on the facts and
circumstances which led to the failure of the Ceasefire Agreement (CFA) operationalised
on 21% February 2002 and the sequence of events that followed thereafter up to 19" of
May 2009.

In carrying out this task, the Commission sought the views of key officials, inter alia,
those who had served the Secretariat for Co-ordinating the Peace Process (SCOPP) and
were closely involved with the working of the CFA, as well as officials of the Defence
establishment and others. The Commission was therefore able to benefit from a wide
range of views expressed by these persons with regard to,

i) The background to the CFA;

ii) Political and Security Dimensions;

iii) The Negotiating process ;

iv) The resulting impact on the provisions of the CFA;

v) Factors which had a bearing on the implementation of the CFA; and
vi) Economic and Social Dimensions of the CFA

which helped the Commission in reaching its conclusions regarding the facts and
circumstances which led to the failure of the CFA.

Background to the Ceasefire Agreement

The Commission heard representations to the effect that the reasons for the uprising
were frustrations due to inter alia economic stagnation, perceptions of discrimination
due to the introduction of standardization in education/employment, non-
implementation of language policy, devolution and the failure to confer a substantial
degree of political autonomy to the Northern and Eastern Provinces to conduct their
own affairs. It was stated that even though successive administrations in post-
independent Sri Lanka had attempted to find solutions to these problems as far back as
early 1950, nothing durable was achieved due to divisive party politics and lack of a bi-
partisan approach to vital national issues.! In this context reference was made to the

! Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11* August 2010.

12



Bandaranaike - Chelvanayakam Pact of 1956, the Dudley Senanayake — Chelvanayakam
Pact of 1957, which did not bear any fruit culminating in the Vadukkodai Resolution in
1976 which referred to a separate Tamil state. It was argued that from this incipient
phase the Tamil youth movement had graduated to a terrorist movement. It was further
stated that the CFA was signed under tense conditions and wide publicity or public
awareness programs had not been carried out.

2.4 It was emphasized that a bi-partisan approach to vital national issues was a sine qua non
in order to arrive at a durable solution.” Whether it was the Bandaranaike-
Chelvanayakam (BC) pact, the Dudley Senanayake-Chelvanayakam (DC) pact, the All
Party Conference of 1984, the 13" Amendment of 1987, the Parliamentary Select
Committee 1992 Report or the proposed draft constitution of 2000 the opposition
parties always opposed the proposals. Further, the point was also made that the
leadership of the minority parties had failed to make use of the opportunities made
available to them,? thus pointing to a collective failure in the political leadership in the
North and the South. Reference was also made to the various administrative
arrangements which were experimented with by the political leadership of the times,
such as the District Political Authority System of 1973/1974, and the District
Development Council system in 1979/1980. It was contended that given the absence of
political will, these arrangements, political or administrative, had no lasting impact on
the political landscape of the country.

2.5 Ever since the unattended and unsolved grievances of the Tamils — relating to economic
opportunity, political space and identity, particularly to the use of the Tamil language in
dealing with the State - took the form of an armed struggle, especially after the targeted
attacks on the Tamil population in July 1983, the Governments in power sought to
engage the Tamil militant groups in talks.

2.6 Prior to the CFA of 2002, there were several attempts at reaching agreement on
ceasefires and holding peace talks. Among them were —

e the Thimpu talks of the mid 1980s
e in 1989/1990 under President Ranasinghe Premadasa;
e in 1994/1995 under President Chandrika Kumaranatunga;

> Mr. Godfrey Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 12" August 2010.
3 Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18 August, 2010.
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e in 2000/2001 also under President Chandrika Kumaranatunga which did not
get off the ground.

The CFA of February 2002 was the last attempt. However, there was a significant change
in the political environment when the CFA was concluded. The Government of the day
was a co-habitation Government where the President and the Prime Minister were from
different political parties. This posed difficulties and impacted negatively on the
structure and implementation of the CFA. It is in this backdrop that the CFA of 2002
must be examined.

Political and Security Dimensions

In dealing with the facts and circumstances which led to the failure of the CFA, the
representers underlined the need to appreciate the overall military and political
environment under which the CFA was signed. Reference was made to a series of events
which had taken place in early 2000, such as the fall of Elephant Pass, the failure of
operation “Agnikheela,” resulting in the death of over 2000 soldiers and approximately
500 injured, and most importantly the attack against the Katunayake Air Force Base as
well as the Civilian International Airport in Katunayake (Bandaranaike International
Airport) in July 2001 which resulted in extensive damage to property including several
civilian aircraft on the ground. It was stated that these events had a negative impact on
the economy. Thus it was pointed out that it was a politically and militarily, weak
Government that was constrained to sit at the negotiating table with the LTTE as equal
partners.”

Some representers stated that a ceasefire had been declared unilaterally by the LTTE on
the eve of Christmas 2001. They further stated that a ceasefire was going on, at the
ground level, informally, without a formal document. In this context they further
pointed out that a formal agreement was thought to be required as early as possible to
avoid situations which could jeopardize the ceasefire.’

The attention of the Commission was also drawn to the unusual configuration which
prevailed in the then political landscape between the Executive and the Legislature with
the President representing one political party and the Prime Minister and the Cabinet
another which was characterized as a “co-habitation Government”. It was explained
that in effect, the Government formed in 2002, under the Prime Ministership of Mr.

* Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11" August 2010.

> Ibid.
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Ranil Wickremesinghe was a politically tenuous one, teetering on a very slim majority.
According to the Constitution, the President had the power to dissolve Parliament after
one year of the election which brought the Government into office. Hence it was
pointed out that the expected life span of the then incumbent Wickremesinghe
Government was a minimum of one year and anything more depended solely on the
prevailing political circumstances. This aspect was referred to as an additional factor
which explains the inordinate urgency of the then Government to conclude a ceasefire
agreement in order to formalize the prevailing situation on the ground, rather than
engaging all relevant stakeholders and going through a long drawn out negotiation
process.®

Negotiating Process

Several senior officials familiar with the CFA process, stated that the factors set out
above, had a direct impact on the negotiating process resulting in somewhat unusual
procedures being resorted to in negotiating the CFA. It was further pointed out in this
context that prior to the Norwegian facilitators arriving in Sri Lanka with the text, they
had had discussions in London, with Mr. Anton Balasingham the Chief Negotiator for the
LTTE, and had got the draft text endorsed by him. It was also stated that when specific
proposals having an important bearing on the defence and security interests of the State
were being made, the Norwegian facilitators had responded that in the interest of
preserving the pre-negotiated text, and to conclude the Agreement with a sense of
urgency, any amendments should be kept to the bare minimum.’ In this context it was
also pointed out that this position was confirmed by Anton Balasingham in his book
“War and Peace: Armed Struggle and Peace Efforts of Liberation Tigers”.

It was emphasized that this extraordinary procedure had resulted, in a situation where
there was no reference to the need for the parties to use the ceasefire to pave the way
for talks on substantive issues to find a negotiated settlement. Specific obligations for
the prohibition of unlawful importation of arms, ammunition as well as other war
related material had not been included. While the LTTE members were allowed to do
political work in the Government held areas, State agencies and other political parties
however, were not allowed to work in the LTTE — dominated uncleared areas of
Mullaittivu and Kilinochchi. Further forcible conscription of child combatants and other

® Mr. Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 12™ August 2010
7 Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" August 2010
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human rights violations were not included as prohibited activities during the ceasefire
period.®

Accordingly, it was contended that priority had been given to finalizing and having an
agreement in place as early as possible, instead of going through the draft text carefully
and attempting to address and accommodate concerns of critical importance to the
security and stability of the State. This had resulted in the emergence of a one sided
agreement favourable to the LTTE.?

Resulting Impact on the Provisions of the CFA

It was submitted to the Commission that the factors outlined above, relating to the
negotiating process had had a direct impact on the overall balance of the agreement. In
this regard several representers emphasized that an agreement between two parties
must be a realistic and a fair one in order to be workable. A number of provisions of the
CFA were referred to by these representers to highlight the element of imbalance and
the unrealistic nature of the CFA and these are set out below.

Demarcation of Territory

It was stated that the CFA was structured on demarcating the territory of Sri Lanka into
LTTE controlled and government controlled areas. This had the effect of undermining
the territorial integrity of the State. It was also contended that the attempts to
demarcate ‘no go’ areas/exclusion zones in respect of the movement of the Sri Lanka
Navy, off the coast of certain parts of the Eastern seaboard, allowed the LTTE to
facilitate illicit smuggling of weapons and war material.*

Vulnerability of Other Groups

It was stated that there were armed groups such as the EPDP, PLOTE and EPRLF who had
engaged in violence earlier, but had joined the democratic process. Members of these
groups had been allowed by successive Governments to retain arms to protect
themselves. Immediately after the CFA was signed, they were required to give up their
arms and they became vulnerable given the fact that LTTE cadres were permitted to
openly carry arms.™

8 Ibid.

° Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11™ August 2010
10 Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" August, 2010
“Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25™ October 2010
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2.18
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Political Activities by the LTTE

Under the CFA, LTTE cadres were permitted to engage in ‘political work’ in the cleared
areas in the North and East, whereby the LTTE was able to extend its influence into
areas they did not previously control in the North and East. There was no corresponding
access for the Government or other political parties, into the uncleared areas dominated
by the LTTE. The issue of reciprocity taken up by the Government had not been
accommodated.™

Jurisdiction of the Sri Lanka Monitoring Mission (SLMM)

The SLMM was established consequent to the CFA and in terms of the Status of Mission
Agreement (SOMA) between the Government of Sri Lanka (GOSL) and Norway dated
18" March 2002. All districts in the Northern and Eastern provinces were subject to
monitoring by the SLMM except for the Mullaittivu and Kilinochchi Districts dominated
by the LTTE.” It was emphasized that this was an uneven provision for the reason that
people who lived in those areas as equal citizens were deprived of any kind of relief due
to the failure in monitoring the LTTE violations of the said CFA.

Vacation of Public Buildings

It was pointed out to the Commission that the deadlines given to the Security Forces for
vacation of public buildings were totally unrealistic. It was stated in this regard that
where the Security Forces had occupied public buildings and places of religious worship
they were required in terms of the CFA' to vacate such premises within a prescribed
period. This was viewed as an unrealistic deadline for the reason that it was not feasible
for the Security Forces to find alternative places to move into within a short period of
time as prescribed by the agreement. It was stated that this was also reflective of a
failure to take into due account the overall national security dimension during the
negotiating process.”

2\Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25" October 2010

3 Ibid.

% Article 2.2 - The Parties shall refrain from engaging in activities or propagating ideas that could offend cultural or religious
sensitivities. Places of worship (temples, churches, mosques and other holy sites, etc.) currently held by the forces of either of
the Parties shall be vacated by D-day + 30 and made accessible to the public. Places of worship which are situated in “High
Security Zones” shall be vacated by all armed personnel and maintained in good order by civilian workers, even when they are
not made accessible to the public.

Article 2.3 - Beginning on the date on which this Agreement enters into force, school buildings occupied by either Party shall be
vacated and returned to their intended use. This activity shall be completed by D-day + 160 at the latest.

Article 2.4 - A schedule indicating the return of all other public buildings to their intended use shall be drawn up by the Parties
and published at the latest by D-day + 30.

> Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" August 2010.
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Absence of any Human Rights Component

Attention of the Commission was also drawn to what was referred to as “a significant
lacuna” in the provisions of the CFA namely the absence of a Human Rights component,
resulting in a failure to bind the LTTE to the observance of Human Rights norms. Most
importantly the critical issue of conscription of child combatants by the LTTE could not
be dealt with in any manner under the agreement. An international Human Rights
expert, Mr. lan Martin, former Secretary General of Amnesty International who had
made a study of the incorporation of the Human Rights dimension into the CFA, had
made certain recommendations in that regard. However this initiative was rejected by
Mr. Anton Balasingham who objected to an international scrutiny of the human rights
situation in the North and the East. It was contended that this strategy was adopted by
the LTTE to dominate areas in the North and the East and to prevent any violations of
human rights in these areas from being scrutinized, with regard to the LTTE’s
compliance with accepted human rights norms and standards.*

Factors which had a bearing on the Implementation of the CFA

Negative impact on the Muslim Community

Representers who appeared before the Commission stated that the implementation of
the CFA had negatively impacted on the Muslim Community. It was stated in this regard
that 1/3 of the Muslims live in the Eastern Province. Though they were not directly
involved with the armed conflict between the State and the LTTE, it was stressed that
the consequences of the conflict had an impact on the Muslim Community. According
to these representations, an unfortunate aspect was that once the CFA was signed, the
Law Enforcement Agencies had acted with an element of restraint with regard to certain
law and order issues which had arisen, in order not to cause any tensions which could
have the effect of undermining the CFA. It was stated that as a result, there were
incidents which could have been dealt with as pure law and order issues and were not
so addressed, thereby letting them escalate into situations which caused tension
between the Muslim Community and the Tamil Community. Reference was made in this
regard to photographs which were supposed to have appeared in the media where
members of the Security Forces were seen to be watching, when attacks against the
Muslim Community were being carried out by the LTTE. Particular mention was made of
the serious incidents in April 2002 in Muttur creating heightened tension in the whole of

18 Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11" August, 2010; Dr. Mrs. Hiranthi Wijemanne before the LLRC on
12t August, 2010.
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the Eastern Province. It was contended however that one could not entirely blame the
Security Forces because they were under strict orders not to do anything to jeopardize
the CFA."

Another aspect brought to the attention of the Commission was the fact that the
Muslim Community had felt “short-changed” during the peace process, because their
demand that a separate independent delegation of Muslims be allowed to take part in
the negotiations was not accommodated. It was asserted that the Muslim Community
had been promised that a separate delegation would be allowed to take part as an
independent delegation from the second round of talks. However the “second round”
had never become a reality, because the subsequent talks had been re-designated as
the “second session of the first round — the third session of the first round and so forth”
although those sessions had no interconnection in terms of the subject matter®. Thus it
was contended that the Muslim Community had the perception that this was a
deliberate attempt to exclude them from the negotiation process, which resulted in the
erosion of confidence of the Muslims in the CFA.

Role of the Facilitator

It was contended before the Commission that the role that Norway played both as
facilitator of the peace process and the Head of the SLMM, resulted in a conflict of
functions and had a negative impact in ensuring compliance with the CFA. “It was
pointed out that the element of “neutrality” expected of a facilitator, resulted in the
SLMM headed by Norway failing to exercise sufficient control or influence over the
parties with regard to violations of the CFA. Consequently the SLMM was reduced to a
role of a record keeper merely tallying the CFA violations, without being able to ensure
effective compliance by the parties.

It was emphasized that the above factors taken collectively point to a lesson to be learnt
—i.e. that if unrealistic and unworkable provisions are included in an agreement which is
designed to create confidence and pave the way for substantive negotiations, it would
have the reverse effect of generating an erosion of confidence amongst the parties,
finally working to the detriment of the negotiating process and defeating the very
objective of such an agreement. It was therefore pointed out that the lack of inclusivity

7 Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25" October 2010

8 ibid
9 ipid
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and attention to detail resulting from the sense of urgency in concluding the agreement,
had been major contributory factors leading to the failure of the CFA.?

Economic and Social Dimensions

The CFA negotiations took place when Sri Lanka’s economy was in a troubled phase.
Over the preceding decades Sri Lanka had run a series of budget deficits.
Military/Defence expenditures were rising and adding to Government expenditures.
Government revenues were not sufficient and the country’s total expenditure was
excessive. To meet the resulting deficits, the Government had been borrowing from the
general public, banks, as well as from foreign sources.’!

In 2001, the economy battered by successive high budget deficits, showed a negative
growth for the first time. The country’s foreign reserves were running low. Inflation was
rising. An International Monetary Fund (IMF) stabilization package was negotiated in
April 2001 to bolster the economy, but not without pain as the benefits would come in
the long term. The Government looked for a “peace dividend” to give hope to a war
weary populace. It was necessary to get the peace process under way so that donor
pledges of foreign aid and foreign investment would provide the necessary funding for
the country to grow to its potential. There was pressure to sign the CFA as presented
despite some infirmities. These were left to be resolved on the run. However, this was
not to be, as events unfolded.?

In considering certain other factors that had a bearing on the CFA, it would be pertinent
to refer to its economic dimensions which were brought to the attention of the
Commission. It was pointed out that an important rationale of any ceasefire agreement
is to generate an economic dividend i.e. to provide the people more opportunities, and
more trickle down benefits from the market economy.

It was also stated that the Government of the day, proceeded on the assumption that an
economic dividend would provide support for the Government and to the peace process
from the Southern electorate in Sri Lanka. This was premised on the fact that the peace
package, and the accompanying aid flow would give rise to an economic revival which
would improve the living standards in the South. Furthermore, it was stated that the
people in the North and the East would also be the beneficiaries of the projected

% Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11 August 2010
* Dr. saman Kelegama before the LLRC at Colombo on 29" September 2010
? Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11 August 2010
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economic dividend. It was explained that the expectation was that with the trickling
down of such benefits, the people in these areas would gradually distance themselves
from the LTTE, which was essential if the peace process was to succeed.”

However it had transpired that the expected substantial economic dividend in Southern
Sri Lanka did not materialize due to a number of factors. Among these, was what was
described as a “costly stabilization programme” under the IMF package that had been
introduced at the time of the CFA. It was further explained that bringing down the
budget deficit involved the pruning of expenditures under the Samurdhi Scheme,
reducing the cost of the fertilizer subsidy scheme, reversing losses in State-run energy
enterprises, electricity, water supply and telecommunication sectors by bringing charges
more in line with costs, and realistic pricing for petroleum reflecting international prices.
It was further stated that, defence-related expenditure had not come down
substantially as was envisaged, because a significant amount of funds from the Defence
budget savings had been diverted for the rehabilitation of Internally Displaced Persons
(IDPs).**

As far as the North and the East were concerned, it was further pointed out that the
foreign aid that was allocated to these areas, did not go into the projects that directly
touched the people i.e. micro projects, small and medium industries. They had been
very much focused towards large infrastructure projects. Accordingly it was stressed
that what was expected in the form of an economic dividend in the North and the East
did not materialize either. Thus, according to this view, an essential pre-requisite for the
success of a peace process was lacking.”

Another factor brought to the attention of the Commission was the failure of certain
institutional mechanisms established under the CFA such as the Sub Committee for
Immediate Humanitarian Needs (SIHRN) for the North and the East set up with the
objective of providing civilian relief. It transpired that the Government of Sri Lanka had
proposed nearly 400 projects for the North and the East and the LTTE had proposed 80
projects. The Government was negotiating with the World Bank for the management of
a fund for the providing of such relief. It was pointed out that the LTTE never allowed
the SIHRN mechanism to get off the ground. It was thus contended that the collapse of

3 Ibid.
2 Ibid.
= Ibid.
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institutions such as SIHRN further frustrated the realization of the economic dividend for
the people of the North and the East.?®

Observations of the Commission

2.32 The Commission did not have the benefit of the views of the Hon. Ranil
Wickremasinghe, the former Prime Minister who signed the CFA on behalf of the
Government. Though invited, there was no response from him. Former President, Mrs.
Chandrika Kumaratunga also was invited. There was an exchange of correspondence on
this invitation, but she did not come before the Commission to give her views. The Tamil
National Alliance (TNA) too, was invited by the Commission to present their views.
However no representative of the TNA came before the Commission.

2.33 Having considered the material pertaining to the CFA presented to the Commission as
well as related literature and data in the public domain, the Commission makes the
following observations on the facts and circumstances which led to the failure of the
CFA.

Impact of Divisive Party Politics on the CFA

2.34 The Commission is constrained to observe that one of the reasons for the failure of the
CFA, is the partisan approach to vital national issues on the part of political parties which
has dominated the political landscape of Sri Lanka since Independence. In a situation
which required all political parties to close ranks on a critical issue affecting the entire
nation and generations to come, there was an abject failure of the political leadership,
to develop a culture of consensual decision making on national issues. The Commission
is of the view, that the exceptional political situation which prevailed at the time, namely
the Executive President belonging to one political party and the Prime Minister and the
Cabinet belonging to another, provided an unique opportunity for the two major
political parties in the South to close ranks and to speak with one voice on the critical
national issue. In the Commission’s view had such a bi-partisan approach been adopted
not only in relation to the implementation of the CFA, but including the negotiation of
the CFA itself, the story of the CFA would have been different.

2.35 In this connection it is pertinent to note that a proposal had been made by the Sri Lanka
Freedom Party (SLFP) by letter dated 31° May 2002, suggesting that a joint committee

% Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11" August 2010.
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headed by the President and the Prime Minister be appointed to overlook the
implementation of the CFA.?” However, it appears that this offer had not been accepted.

2.36 The material before the Commission is that the President who is the Commander in
Chief of the Armed Forces was by-passed and kept completely out of the picture during
the entire period leading up to the signing of the CFA. The Commission notes in this
regard, that when the then President was handed over a copy of the CFA, she had
requested time to study it, but had been informed that it was too late as the document
had already been signed.” In fact at that stage, the CFA had become a fait accompli. The
consequence of this failure to take the Head of State into confidence and to keep her
briefed and to seek her views, was to circumvent an important component of the
Executive limb of Government. Had the President, been consulted, as Commander in
Chief of the Armed Forces, she would have been duty bound to ensure that national
security concerns were incorporated into the CFA process.

2.37 An unfortunate consequence of the failure to adopt a bi-partisan approach is that it
contributed to the public at large not being supportive of the CFA and the peace
process, despite their yearning for peace. Failure to engage in the widest possible
consultative process through parliamentary debate and inter-party consultations
including different Tamil political groups resulted in a perception that the agreement
was thrust upon the public and a consequent erosion of public support. Indeed during
the commissions visit to Jaffna one representer, a leading academic in the Northern
Province, did state that the proposals of the United National Party (UNP) administration
during the CFA period, seemed to lack sincerity in Tamil minds, because that
administration while in opposition had successfully thwarted the passage in Parliament
of the year 2000 constitutional amendments.*

2.38 The lack of inclusivity in the CFA process has been sought to be explained on the ground
that it was imperative to finalize the draft CFA within the shortest possible time
irrespective of the difficulties, rather than allowing the de facto ceasefire on the ground
to unravel.*® Furthermore it has been stated that the political relationship that existed
between the Executive President and the Prime Minister was also not conducive for a
wider consultative process.

%’ Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25" October 2010

%% Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25" October 2010

* professor Ratnajeevan Hoole before the LLRC at Jaffna on 12" November 2010
% Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11" August 2010
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The Commission finds itself unable to accept this line of argument as a justification for
the failure to ensure that all limbs of Government acted in concert on such a vital
national issue. In negotiating an instrument such as the CFA which had a critical impact
on the future of the Nation, an overall inclusive approach and adherence to established
constitutional practices where different limbs of Government functioned in concert,
rather than at cross purposes, was vital. Having said this, the Commission does
recognize that inclusivity needs to be tempered with practicality. Expediency is also an
important factor to be taken into account in this regard. However in this instance, in
particular, the failure to consult the Executive President shows that the pendulum had
swung to one extreme, disturbing the delicate balance that needed to be preserved in
respect of vital national issues. Consequently this jeopardized the entire CFA process.

Facilitator’s Role in the Negotiation Process and Implementation of CFA

When inviting third party facilitation, it is of critical importance that the parties
concerned have a clear perception as to the role and functions of the facilitator. A
facilitator must function as a neutral agent, and even-handedly persuade the parties
concerned, through exertion of its influence, to reach a compromise settlement and
should not in any way give an appearance of even a semblance of partiality. The effective
discharge of this function requires that the third party facilitator functions in a manner
that inspires confidence among the parties concerned and also does not undertake any
other functions which would be incompatible with its role as facilitator. Any such
incompatibility would compromise the balance that needs to be preserved in carrying
out facilitatory functions.

These considerations would also require that when negotiating an agreement where the
facilitator is tasked with presenting a text for the consideration of the two parties, that a
‘neutral text’” be placed for the consideration and discussion by the parties. The
challenge before the facilitator is to nudge and encourage the two parties to move from
their respective entrenched positions and come to middle ground, resulting in a
compromise negotiated text which would ultimately emerge through this process. It is a
trite observation that a compromise solution leaves neither party entirely satisfied nor
entirely dissatisfied but reasonably satisfied about the outcome. This is the very essence
of a compromise, the achievement of which is the principal challenge for a facilitator.

In the present instance, the procedure followed was a complete departure from such
established principles and practices as set out above. It is clear to the Commission from
the material placed before it that what was presented to the Government in the form of
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a draft CFA, was a compromise text with the LTTE with a more or less ‘take it or leave it’
approach. It is unfortunate that the adherence to these established principles appear to
have been sacrificed for the ostensible purpose of keeping the LTTE in the negotiating
process, at great cost to the general acceptance of the CFA and the sustainability of the
peace process.

2.43  Another factor which appeared to have impacted the effective implementation of the
CFA, was the dual roles Norway took on as the facilitator of the peace process on the
one hand and the Head of the SLMM on the other.?! This had led to a situation of
conflict of interest. As stated earlier, a facilitator must play a neutral role in a manner
which inspires confidence between the parties as well as the people. The function of the
Head of a Monitoring Mission should be to exercise effective control in the process of
monitoring verification of compliance with an agreement. When a facilitator is entrusted
with the task of monitoring, its neutrality and independence will necessarily be
compromised. The Commission is of the view that Norway failed to effectively monitor
compliance with the CFA on the basis that by such action its neutral role as a facilitator
will be compromised. Consequently Norway failed to effectively monitor compliance
with the CFA in situations which required strong action in the light of the continuous
violations of the CFA committed by the parties, mainly the LTTE.

2.44  This was an untenable situation which should have been addressed by the Government
at the very inception, but perhaps overlooked given the perceived sense of urgency
which had prevailed at the time. The deficient verification mechanism arising from a
conflict of interest in the roles of facilitator and Head of SLMM contributed in a
significant way to the eventual breakdown of the CFA.

Impact of the Process on the Implementation of the CFA

2.45 The Ceasefire Agreement as referred to above, was largely unworkable, unrealistic and
failed to provide a platform for sustainable peace in the longer term. The Commission is
of the view that negotiating on issues with defence and security implications such as the
timeframes for vacating public buildings and places of religious worship by the Security
Forces should have been attempted in a more inclusive and comprehensive manner
through greater consultation with the Defence authorities and after obtaining their
inputs. However it appears that such an important process went by default.

31 Mr. Javid Yusuf before the LLRC at Colombo on 25™ October 2010
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2.46 The unbalanced nature of the CFA, had resulted in the SLMM being unable to take any
action in respect of CFA violations. In addition, the uncleared areas dominated by the
LTTE were not accessible for investigation by the SLMM. Thus the LTTE had remained
insulated in these areas where violations of the CFA were committed, with the SLMM
opting to turn a blind eye under the pretext of the expected neutrality of the facilitator,
who in this case was also the Head of the SLMM. The Commission also takes cognizance
of the fact that even with regard to violations committed with impunity by the LTTE
within areas under Government control, the law enforcement agencies of the State
were rendered powerless. The SLMM were either unable or unwilling to assist the law
enforcement authorities of the State in such situations. The Commission is constrained
to observe from the material placed before it that this conduct on the part of the
Facilitator/SLMM was totally unacceptable. The Commission further observes that
besides the political assassinations carried out by the LTTE such as that of Foreign
Minister Lakshman Kadirgamar, the perpetrators sought safe haven in the LTTE -
controlled areas after commission of crime. This was the position even with regard to
persons committing crimes which were not directly related to the conflict, as illustrated
in the case where the police had to seek the assistance of the SLMM to apprehend a
pedophile who had committed offences in the South and sought sanctuary in the LTTE —
controlled areas.®? The police requests for SLMM assistance were futile. Thus it appears
to the Commission that the lack of proper overall verification and an enforcement
mechanism effective throughout the country coupled with a lack of commitment on the
part of the SLMM to implement any form of verification and enforcement, resulted in an
erosion of public confidence in the CFA and contributed in a decisive manner to its
failure.

2.47 The CFA also provided the LTTE with an opportunity to be equal partners with the
Government of Sri Lanka at the negotiating table.”® The Commission recognizes that
while it was necessary that the LTTE be a party to the CFA, so that they are made to
undertake obligations under the agreement, it is questionable whether the according of
parity of status to the LTTE, on par with the legitimate Government, with all the
trappings normally accorded to a State entity, and thereby conferring a degree of
legitimacy to the LTTE before the international community, was in fact necessary to
achieve the objective of the peace process. The Commission takes a view that this was
not justified and only provided the LTTE a convenient excuse to resile from its
commitments to the peace process. This is clearly illustrated by the episodes where the

32 Dr. Mrs. Hiranthi Wijemanne before the LLRC at Colombo on 12" August 2010
33 Mr. Bernard Gunatilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 11" August, 2010
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LTTE having arrived in Oslo, Norway in June 2006 failed to appear at the negotiating
table on the specious ground that the Government delegation was not at Ministerial
level, and its decision to finally suspend their participation in the peace negotiations on
the ground that they were not invited by the United States Government to the
Preparatory Washington Donor Conference in April 2003. **

The Commission also takes the view that there is usually an underlying strategy and
objective when negotiating any agreement. In the case of a ceasefire agreement, such
strategy must essentially lead to the negotiation of core substantive issues towards a
lasting permanent settlement. In the case of the CFA the search for a political
settlement and the identification and discussion of core substantive issues relating to
such a settlement, appears to have been sidelined. The focus appears to have been on
transitional issues, such as how to maintain the ceasefire on the ground and merely
record violations. The LTTE strategy appears to have been to focus on issues which they
referred to as ‘existential issues’. On the part of the Government it appears that it too
adopted the strategy of one step at a time as the Government itself was politically

weak.>®

The most alarming factor to emerge from this was that with the conclusion of the CFA,
the entire country was categorized into areas, under the control of the LTTE and those
under the control of the Government. Such categorization appears to have encouraged
the LTTE to drag on the negotiating process as long as possible, discussing peripheral
issues without discussing the core political issues, with the objective of strengthening
their military capability in the intervening period. These developments were
unacceptable and unprecedented for the reason that they amounted to territorial
concessions upfront to a non state entity. This position was further compounded by the
lack of any commitment on the part of the LTTE to lasting peace.

Considering the actions of the LTTE immediately prior to the signing of the CFA, it is
clear to the Commission that the LTTE was totally disinterested in a negotiated
settlement short of the creation of a separate state, and they used the peace process to
buy time to militarily recoup themselves to achieve their objective through violent
means. During the Jaffna hearings the attention of the Commission was drawn to the
fact that key LTTE personnel had made speeches that the ceasefire was only to prepare
for the final battle which they would soon launch. The representer thus concluded that
there was no sincerity from anyone. It is regrettable that the Government failed to

* Ibid.

*> Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" August 2010
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appreciate the modus operandi of the LTTE and take steps to pressurize the LTTE in the
least, to adhere to the provisions of the CFA or in the alternative if this object could not
be achieved, to resile from this one sided agreement. The failure of the Government in
this regard helped the LTTE to enhance its military capability.

It is also a matter of concern for the Commission that the interests of the Muslim
Community were not given due recognition in the CFA process. While the Muslim
Community was formally not a party to the agreement, they were certainly an affected
party — the tragic incidents which occurred in the Eastern Province as well as the ethnic
cleansing which had been perpetrated by the LTTE in Jaffna and Mannar as far back as
1990 speak unequivocally to the fact that the security and other concerns of the Muslim
Community should have been high on the agenda of the peace process. Although the
Government was expected to represent all communities, given the equal status
accorded to the LTTE, it was imperative in the CFA context that the Muslim Community
as an affected party should have been given effective representation in the entire CFA
process. Instead the Muslim representation was relegated to that of a mere observer.
In this regard it transpires that the LTTE had taken up the position that the negotiations
be confined between the Government and the LTTE, which held itself out as the sole
representative of the Tamil speaking people which according to them included the
Muslims. The LTTE was thus fundamentally opposed to the participation of a Muslim
delegation. It is the view of the Commission that there appears to have been a failure on
the part of the Government and the facilitator in surmounting the strategic obstacles by
way of procedural objections placed by the LTTE.

It appears to the Commission that the political negotiations which was the expected
follow-up of the CFA process never materialized. Firstly from 2002 - 2005 the whole
country was categorized into two distinct areas. This led to an apparent legitimization of
the territorial claims of the LTTE. The CFA violations were perpetrated mainly by the
LTTE. They were largely violations that occurred within the territory dominated by the
LTTE, such as concerted campaigns of abductions, forcible conscription of children,
extortion etc. Since 2005, there was essentially a declaration of war with the
assassination of Foreign Minister Lakshman Kadirigamar, the killing of a large number of
unarmed military personnel returning on home leave, the Kebitigollewa massacre of
civilians, the attempted assassination of the then Army Commander etc. These were
clear indications of a lack of commitment on the part of the LTTE for any serious attempt
at a negotiated settlement. In fact the ceasefire period had been used by the LTTE to
strengthen its military capability inter alia, to acquire air power, to build air strips, to
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build submarines etc and to raise funds by burdening the people through illegal
taxation. The closure of the Mavil Aru anicut by the LTTE and cutting off the water
supply to thousands of farmers in the East, was a clear indication that the LTTE were
intent on achieving a separate state through military means, rather than a negotiated
settlement. Therefore walking away from the peace process and the consequent failure
of the CFA was the natural outcome of the intransigence of the LTTE.

Another matter on which the Commission wishes to make some observations is the
issue whether the CFA and the peace process provided some positive fallout by giving
respite to the security forces and the country as a whole from the conflict and also that
in the long term, it had led to the break-up of the LTTE.

Whilst no doubt there appears to have been at least initially an overall improvement in
the general environment in the country, nevertheless the attendant relaxation of
security measures during this period, appears to have given the LTTE a heaven-sent
opportunity to strengthen themselves militarily, as described above. The so-called
‘ceasefire period’” was also marked by targeted killings of political leaders and other
personalities, so clearly manifested in the cold-blooded assassination of Foreign Minister
Lakshman Kadirgamar.

One view expressed before the Commission was that despite the shortcomings of the
CFA, it had the salutary effect of keeping a terrorist group such as the LTTE at the
negotiating table for a considerable period leading to the surfacing of internal
differences within the movement, which may have lain dormant had they continued to
be in active combat. This line of reasoning was sought to be justified by citing the
‘implosion within’ that took place with the breakaway of the Karuna faction.

The contrary view was that the ruthless nature of the LTTE leader Prabhakaran had
already sown the seeds of dissension within the movement. The disenchantment with
the leadership had been exacerbated with the cold blooded elimination of key LTTE
leaders. There was also, in addition, the important factor of discrimination against
cadres from the Eastern Province led by Mr. Vinayagamoorthy Muralitharan, which had
provided the fighting strength of the LTTE as against the perceived favourable treatment
accorded to Northern cadres. The conclusion to be drawn from this, it was argued was
that the LTTE break up was a matter of time, irrespective of whether there was a CFA in
place or not.

It would be reasonable to conclude that the internal implosion of the LTTE may have
taken place in any event, whilst the CFA and the accompanying peace process may
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however, have acted as a catalyst in accelerating the process towards the breakup of the
LTTE.

Clearly, the CFA brought about a short lived respite to a country and people who had
suffered decades of terrorism and counter violence. However unstable and eventually
unproductive, the CFA gave an opportunity, albeit without necessarily providing a sound
political or security framework, for all parties concerned to make an effort to lay a
foundation for a process leading to a negotiated solution. However, as the events
unfolded it was clear that none of this materialized.

Conceptual flaws and implementational deficits of the CFA process and its failure to
provide locomotion to a sustainable peace process indicate that it was not proven to be
a successful model for peace-making between State and non-State actors. The clearly
manifest LTTE disinterest in any negotiated solution other than its declared goal of
Eelam and the absence of consensual approaches to vital national issues among
different political parties including Tamil political parties within the ‘mainstream’
democratic system of the country, too contributed to this unhappy and damaging
experience.

The LTTE clearly capitalized on the CFA deficiencies both conceptual and
implementational, and consolidated the territorial rewards, and recognition accorded to
them; benefited from the parity of status and the lack of reciprocity; exploited the
absence of any provisions to start political negotiations, let alone decommissioning of
weapons; abused the provisions of the CFA to exclude legitimate maritime activity by
the Sri Lanka Navy thus facilitating illicit arms trafficking in contravention of national and
international law, including UNSC Res. 1373 of 2001; benefited from the absence of any
credible verification regime to deter violations; insidiously abused the total absence of
any human rights obligations, let alone an effective regime against the abhorrent
practice of employing child soldiers.

Apart from the reasons pointed out above, the Commission is of the view that the
failure of the CFA is mainly due to the disinclination of the LTTE to terminate the conflict
and enter the political process.
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Chapter 3 - Overview of Security Forces Operations1

Background

Consequent to the events that took place after the CFA in 2002, the possibility of a
political settlement was fast receding.

Several persons made representations before the Commission highlighting some of the
major factors that led to the complete breakdown of the CFA and the escalation of the

conflict.?

The attention of the Commission was drawn to the fact that after 2005 there was
essentially a declaration of war as was manifested by the killing of key political and
military leaders and the massacre of civilians such as the Kebithigollewa massacre.’

Representations were also made to apprise the Commission of the fact that the planned
modus operandi of the LTTE was to blockade Trincomalee which would have prevented
relief supplies going to Jaffna from Trincomalee. The only available supply route at the
time was the sea route.

On 21% July 2006, the LTTE had interrupted the water supply by closing the Mavil Aru
anicut resulting in 45,000 acres of paddy land in the Trincomalee District being deprived
of water. 25,486 persons from 5,800 families had been affected by this act.

On 12™ August 2006, the LTTE had attempted to break through Muhamalai® and enter
the Jaffna peninsula which attack had been repulsed by the Security Forces with a
counter offensive. After some initial setbacks due to heavy resistance from the LTTE, the
Security Forces had been successful in their counter offensive and in re-establishing the
Forward Defence Line (FDL) in Muhamalai.

! The material contained in this chapter is based on comprehensive briefings received by the Commission from Senior Defence
Officials and Senior Military Officials, in addition to the representations received during Public Hearings from Defence and
Senior Military Officials as well as from Senior Public Officials who had served in the conflict affected areas and members of the
Public. Dates are approximate.

? Refer Chapter 2 on the Ceasefire Agreement.

® For details of attacks on key political leader/attacks on civilians/civilian installations and military installations refer Annex 3.1

% At that time, Muhamalai had been the Entry and Exit point to the Jaffna Peninsula.
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Eastern Operations

3.7 The first step of the Eastern Operation had been to regain control of Mavil Aru and to
re-open the Mavil Aru anicut — this had happened on 10" August 2006.

3.8 At this time,” there had been a significant LTTE presence in the Eastern Province, in the
area south of Weli Oya going down to Pottuvil, and extending to the Western
boundaries of Maha Oya and Ampara®.

3.9 According to material placed before the Commission by Senior Military Officials, the
Eastern Operations had been launched on 28t July 2006, from Mavil Aru and were
concluded in July 2007 with the capture of Batticaloa West. Due to the strong LTTE
presence in the jungles of the Eastern Province, the operation involved searching for
LTTE hideouts in vast tracts of jungle and taking them on. As such fighting had not
necessarily taken place in highly populated civilian areas except during the Vakarai
operations.

3.10 According to the briefings received from Senior Military and Defence Officials the
Security Forces had conducted their operations in the Eastern Province in the following

manner’:

Mavilaru — 28" July 2006 to 8" August 20062,

Muttur/Kaddaiparichchan - 2" August 2006 to 6" August 2006°,

Sampoor — 27" August 2006 to 4™ September 2006,

Gangai/Manirasakulam — 1% October 2006 to 10" October 2006,

Vakarai/Kathiraveli — 30" October 2006 to 21 January 2007%,
> July/August 2006

® For details see map Annex 3.2. Source: Ministry of Defence

” Details are from material provided by Senior Defence and Senior Military Officials.

® This had been a counter offensive to an LTTE attack.

*Muttur had some civilian villages and was under Government control when the LTTE had launched an attack on the Naval Base
and Army detachment in Kaddaiparichchan.

10 Sampoor area had been an area dominated by the LTTE from where the LTTE fired at the Trincomalee harbour and other
installations (e.g. Prima).

" Area dominated by the LTTE.

2 The operation had been carried out by Special Forces of the Army supported by infantry. The strategy of the Security Forces
had been to draw the LTTE into the jungle areas rather than have direct confrontation where civilian casualties could occur. The
distance that the Security Forces had had to cover was over 40 kilometers of LTTE dominated areas. There had been around
15,000 civilians living in the Vakarai — Kathiraveli area. After the operations in Sampoor and adjacent areas approximately
30,000 civilians had moved to Vakarai — Kathiraveli area. About 10,000 had managed to cross to government held areas initially
but the LTTE had used the rest as a human shield and evacuation attempts by INGOs had not materialized due to LTTE
objections. However by mid December 2006 the LTTE had lost control over the civilians and within a matter of days nearly
25,000 civilians had crossed over to Government held areas and the balance had moved to Government held areas when the
fall of Vakarai had been imminent. — Source: Ministry of Defence.
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Kaddawana — 2" February to 7" February 2007, %

Kumburuppiddi — 21° February to 25" February 2007%,
Batticaloa West (Phase 1) — 24" February 2007 to 11™ April 2007%,
Peraru — 1% March 2007 to 8™ March 2007
Batticaloa West (Phase I1) — 25" April 2007 to 10" July 2007Y

According to material placed before the Commission by Senior Military Officials, the
Eastern Operations had concluded on the 10™ of July 2007%8.%°

The total area cleared in the East over a period of nearly one year had been
approximately 6,000 sq kms with a population of approximately 212,486 people. In
clearing the East the Security Forces had to traverse approximately 55 kms North to
South?® and approximately 17 kms West to East.”

Wanni Operations?

The Strategy

Whilst the Eastern Operations were continuing, the Wanni operations had commenced
in late February 200723, with the launch of the 57 Division, West of Vavuniya. The
operations had continued with part of the 57 Division moving towards the Madhu area.
While they were progressing to the Madhu area, towards the end of September (23rd
September 2007) Task Force 1** had been launched North of Mannar. [This was a newly
raised formation, which later became 58 Division.] Special Forces in the meantime had
captured the Silavaturai area in order to secure the Western coastline to prevent the
LTTE from launching attacks from their bases on the Western coastline. Task Force 1 had
moved North along the coast with the objective of re-capturing Pooneryn.
Subsequently, on 7t January 2008, 59 Division had been launched South of Mullaittivu,
to conduct operations in that area moving up to Mullaittivu. Thereafter, there had been

3 Jungle areas dominated by LTTE

% 1bid

> Had been vast jungle areas where Security Forces had encountered heavy resistance from LTTE.

'® LTTE dominated areas.

Had been vast jungle areas where Security Forces had encountered heavy resistance from LTTE.

®rora map of the sequence of the Eastern operations refer Annex 3.3. Source : Ministry of Defence

19 According to Senior Military Officials 22 Division, 23 Division, the Commando Brigade and Special Forces Brigade participated
in the Eastern Operations. A Division consists of approx 5,000 men and a Brigade consists of 2,500 to 3,000 men.

?® Eoul Point to Panichchankerni

?! Kandalkadu to Kaladicheni

2 \Wanni refers to the following districts — Mullaitivu, Mannar, Kilinochchi, and Vavuniya.

ZFora map indicating LTTE dominated areas in the Wanni as at February 2007 refer Annex 3.4. Source Ministry of Defence
24 According to material placed before the Commission a Task Force consists of 4,500 — 5,000 men.
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other formations - Task Force 2, (launched 2" June 2008) Task Force 3 (launched 3
October 2008), Task Force 4 (launched 19" December 2008) that had taken part in the
operations North of Vavuniya. From the Northern side (i.e. Jaffna side) the 53 and 55
Divisions had conducted operations.

Clearing the Area”

Initially operations had been conducted mainly West of A9 in the jungle, — Vavuniya,
Madhu area (Madhu area captured on 24 April 2008). From the Western edge Task
Force 1 had continued their operations capturing Adampan (9th May 2008), the rice bowl
area (1st June 2008), Vidataltivu area (16™ July 2008 — Vidatalativu was a major LTTE
Boat Landing point to which military supplies had been delivered) going up to
Mulangavil.

The 59 Division which had been launched on 7" January 2008, moved North of Weli Oya
area towards Mullaittivu. It had captured Mungam Base (a strong LTTE Base) on 30"
May 2008; Nittikaikulam on 27" July 2008, Alampil on 4™ December 2008, Mulliyawalai
on 26" December 2008 and Mullaittivu on 25™ January 2009.

Task Forces 2, 3, and 4 had cleared the area North of Omanthai supporting the 57
Division and the 59 Division. While these operations were progressing, Task Force 1 had
moved North West along the coast capturing Vellankulam on 12t August 2008; and
moving further North to Pooneryn (captured on 15" November 2008) and coming down
to Paranthan (captured on 1* January 2009). From Paranthan, part of Task Force 1 had
gone further North to provide support for the 53 Division and 55 Division to re-capture
Elephant Pass (9th January 2009). The rest of Task Force 1 (re-named 58 Division) had
come down to Killinochchi to meet up with the 57 Division which had come up North by
that time - capturing Tunukkai on 22" August 2008 and Mallavi on 2" September
2008%. The 57 Division with the support of the 58 Division had captured Killinochchi on
2" January 2009. When the 58 Division which had proceeded North reached Elephant
Pass, the 53 and 55 Divisions had moved South from Muhamalai having captured
Sorampattu on g January 2009. According to Senior Military Officials, the 53 Division
and the 55 Division had been deployed in Muhamalai — the strategy had been for these
two Divisions to defend the Jaffna Peninsula. However, as the operations progressed the
53 Division and 55 Division had broken out from Muhamalai and had come down to

ZFora map depicting the sequence of the Wanni operations refer Annex 3.5.
2 According to Senior Military Officials who briefed the Commission, Tunnukai and Mallavi had been the largest townships after
Killinochchi.
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Elephant Pass to link up with the 58 Division and captured Elephant Pass on gth January
20009.

The Security Forces had taken over the A9 road on ot January 2009 after the capture of
Elephant Pass. Once the A9 had been taken over, from the Eastern side the Mullaittivu
area operations had been strengthened with the 53 Division being moved to Mullaittivu.
According to material placed before the Commission by Senior Military Officials, by this
time (i.e. January 2009) the civilian population had been confined to the North Eastern
part of the Wanni and the LTTE had also been congregating into those areas. At this
stage it had become necessary for the Security Forces to re-evaluate the Rules of
Engagement and change the modus operandi. The Government had, inter alia, decided
to demarcate No Fire Zones from time to time for the protection of civilians and civilian
objects.27 The use of heavy weapons also had been restricted with the establishment of
the No Fire Zones. In addition several Safe Areas had also been demarcated at the
request of the UN/ICRC.?® After the capture of Killinochchi and taking over the A9, the
Security Forces (57 Division and 58 Division) had moved Eastwards on the A35 road
towards Visuamadu, Puthukudiyirippu area.

The 58 Division supported by the 57 Division had continued Eastwards capturing
Tharmapuram on 15% January 2009, Visuamadu on 28" January 2009 and
Thamarakulam on 3™ February 2009. Whilst the 58 Division and 57 Division had moved
Eastwards on the A35, the 59 Division and Task Force 4 had been moving up Northwards
and captured Udayakattukulam on 25t January 2009.% In the meantime, the 55 Division
had been tasked to clear South of Elephant Pass, coming North to South along the
Eastern Coast, capturing Chundikulum on 21° January 2009, Chalai (LTTE boat landing
point) on 7" February 2009 and Kuppilankulam on 11% February 2009. Senior Military
Officials briefed the Commission that operations around Puthukudiyirippu area had
continued for a very long time as Puthukudiyiruppu had been an LTTE stronghold (a built
up area which had been fortified by the LTTE) from where there had been heavy
resistance and the Security Forces had suffered many casualties and had to pull back
and re-launch their operations after consolidation. The Commission was briefed that the
civilians who had been in this area had moved to Puthumatthalan®® when the fighting
had intensified in the Puthukudiyiruppu area. Puthukudiyiruppu was finally captured on
5t April 2009. After the capture of Puthukudiyiruppu the dimension of the conflict had

?’ Refer Annex 3.6 indicating the NFZs

% Source : Ministry of Defence

» According to Senior Military Officials who briefed the Commission Udayakattukulam was the largest LTTE training facility.
%% The NFZ at Puthumathalan had been declared on 11% February 2009.
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changed again, as the civilians had been confined into a narrow stretch of land from
Puthumatthalan to Vellamullivaikkal across from the Nanthi Kadal Lagoon. Again the
Rules of Engagement had been changed in view of the close proximity of civilians to the
conflict. Aerial attacks had been stoppeda'1 and orders were that operations were to be
conducted only with the use of small arms.>? Thereafter Puthumatthalan had been
captured on 21°" April 2009, Vellamullivaikkal on 14 May 2009 and Karaiyamullivaikkal
on 18" May 2009 which had then brought an end to the operations.

The total area re-captured in the Wanni over a period of nearly two and a half years had
been 7,753 sq kms. It had involved the troops traversing over 97 kms West to East of the
island*?, and 93 kms South to North of the Island>*.

Security Forces Casualties and LTTE Casualties®

According to the material placed before the Commission, from July 2006 to May 2009,
the Security Forces had lost 5,556 personnel in action, 28,414 were wounded and 169
were missing in action. The LTTE had lost 22,247 cadres of which 11,812 had been
identified by name.

31 o7t April 2009 — Government of Sri Lanka Press Release dated 27" April 2011

2 Source: Ministry of Defence

* Mannar to Mullaittivu — Source: Ministry of Defence

3 Vavuniya to Nagarkovil (near Muhamalai Defence lines) — Source: Ministry of Defence

> Source Ministry of Defence — LTTE casualties had been established through the uniforms they wore or through the neck tag
and sometimes through intercepted radio messages.
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Chapter 4 — Humanitarian Law Issues
SECTION 1
Principles of International Humanitarian Law
Introduction - International Legal Framework

The primary aim of International Humanitarian Law (IHL) is to protect the victims of
armed conflict and to regulate the conduct of hostilities based on striking a balance
between principles of humanity and military necessity. Until the mid 19" century, laws
of war remained customary principles and were recognized as binding upon States in
their customary law character, because they corresponded to the demands of
civilization. As observed by Dr. Jacob Kellenberger, President of the International
Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC) in his introduction to the ICRC publication Customary
International Humanitarian Law® “All civilizations have developed rules aimed at
minimizing violence - even this institutionalized form of violence that we call war - since

limiting violence is the very essence of civilization”.?

The Four Geneva Conventions of 1949 which followed the conclusion of the Second
World War, constitute the foundation of international humanitarian law in force today.
The adoption of the two 1977 Protocols additional to the 1949 Geneva Conventions,
Protocol (I) applicable to international armed conflicts and Protocol (1) applicable to non
international armed conflicts sought to bring up to date, both the rules governing the
conduct of hostilities and those protecting war victims, taking into account
contemporary realities.> More recently, other important conventions have been added
to the corpus of treaty law pertaining to IHL. These include the 1980 Convention on
Certain Conventional Weapons and its Five Protocols (CCW Convention); the 1997
Ottawa Convention on the Prohibition of Anti Personnel Landmines; the 1999 Protocol
to the 1954 Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the event of Armed

! Customary International Humanitarian Law; Vol 1 Rules; Jean-Marie Henckaerts and Louise Doswald-Beck ICRC (Cambridge)

2005

% In the 19th century, Henry Dunant a pioneer of contemporary international humanitarian law called for “some international
principles, sanctioned by a convention and inviolate in character” to protect the wounded in the battlefield and all those
trying to help them. Thus Dunant took humanitarian law a decisive step forward, from its customary character and ushered
in the international conventional framework for IHL. The cornerstone of the conventional framework of IHL was the adoption
in 1864 of the Geneva Convention for the Amelioration of the Conditions of the Wounded and Sick in Armed Forces in the
Field. The Treaty was revised in 1906 and again in 1929 and 1949. The result is the Four Geneva Conventions of 1949. States
also had adopted a series of treaties governing the conduct of hostilities: the Declaration of St. Petersburg in 1868; the Hague
Conventions of 1899 and 1907 and the Geneva Protocol of 1925 which bans the use of chemical and bacteriological weapons.

® Sri Lanka is a State Party to the 1949 Geneva Conventions. However it is not a State Party to the Additional Protocols | & Il of

1977.

40



4.3

4.4

4.5

Conflict; and the 2000 Optional Protocol on the Involvement of Children in Armed
Conflict.

Despite the progress in codifying IHL, customary humanitarian law remains relevant in
the regulation of the conduct of hostilities for a number of reasons. The Geneva
Conventions of 1949 enjoy near universal adherence, but this is not yet the case for
other major Conventions including the Additional Protocols of 1977. While the
Conventions apply only in respect of States that have ratified them, rules of customary
international humanitarian law on the other hand, bind States without the need for
formal adherence. Further, where Treaty Law is silent or ambiguous, well established
principles of customary International Humanitarian Law would perform an important
role in addressing such gaps or ambiguities.

Some Principles of International Humanitarian Law applicable in non international
armed conflicts or in “internal conflict” situations, are shrouded in uncertainty and a
number of legal concepts remain vague and undefined. Article 3 Common to the Geneva
Conventions of 1949 and Additional Protocol (Il) applicable to non international armed
conflicts, contain only the most rudimentary set of rules unlike, in the case of the
Geneva Conventions and Additional Protocol (I) applicable to international armed
conflicts.

From a legal perspective, the critical failure of the Protocols to provide a precise
definition of the term “civilian”, “civilian population” and a similar lack of clarity with
regard to the term “take a direct part in hostilities” has contributed to a substantial
degree of ambiguity, leaving, vital terms which have a bearing on core IHL principles
such as the Principle of Distinction (see further below), to be dealt with largely on a case
by case basis. This aspect assumes a heightened degree of uncertainty in the context of
the complexities involved and the challenges posed by the very nature of non
international armed conflicts involving non State armed groups. It is often the case that
the non State armed groups do not intentionally, as a matter of strategy distinguish
themselves from the civilian population and conceal their identity among the civilians
until the very moment of attack, placing civilians in peril. This leads to a position where
the civilian, either willingly or in some cases unwillingly, becomes part and parcel of an
overall combat strategy of the non State armed groups, and thereby placing at risk the
protection the civilian is entitled under IHL.*

* Please see further Section Ill paragraphs [332-336].
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Given this uncertainty surrounding the legal notions involved and the rudimentary
nature of the international legal framework in its application to conflicts between States
and non State armed groups, the applicability of core IHL principles to internal conflicts
must essentially be determined through recourse to well established principles of
customary IHL. It must also be borne in mind that the question whether a practice or
usage has crystallized into a customary principle of law cannot be lightly presumed,
unless the requisite threshold set by International Law is first satisfied. It is well
established that a “usage could only be considered as having acquired the character of a
customary rule of international law only after two tests are satisfied, namely (1) the
material aspect, that there must be acts which give birth to the customary rule; and (2)
the psychological aspect, better known as the opinio juris cive necesitatis, that is the
mental conviction that such recourse is the result of a compulsory rule.””

Core IHL Principles
(i) Principle of Distinction

Distinction between Civilians and Combatants

The Principle of Distinction requires that the parties to the conflict must at all times
distinguish between civilians and combatants. Attacks may only be directed against
combatants. Attacks must not be directed against civilians. International Conventions,6
prohibit making the civilian population as well as individual civilians, the object of
attack.

Alleged violations of this principle have been condemned by States irrespective of
whether the conflict was international or non international in character. The UN
Security Council has condemned and called for an end to alleged attacks against civilians
in the context of numerous conflicts, both international and non international. In a
resolution adopted in 2000 on the Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflicts, the UN
Security Council re-affirmed its strong condemnation of the deliberate targeting of
civilians in all situations of armed conflict.” Similarly, the UN General Assembly
Resolution on Respect for Human Rights in Armed Conflicts adopted in 1968, declared
the Principle of Distinction to be applicable in all armed conflicts.® Further, the

> Briggs 45 AJIL (1951) pp. 728 to 731

® The Ottawa Convention banning Anti-Personnel landmines states, for instance, that the Convention is based, inter alia, on ‘the
principle that a distinction must be made between civilians and combatants.” See also Additional Protocol Il.

7 UNSC Resolution 1296

8 UNGA Resolution 2444 (XXIII)
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jurisprudence of the International Court of Justice® and other Tribunals such as those
established by the UN Security Council provide further evidence that the obligation to
make a distinction between civilians and combatants is a customary law obligation in
respect of both international and non-international armed conflicts. It is important to
note in this connection that the use of the phrase “directed against” implies that, what
is prohibited under the Principle of Distinction is the deliberate targeting of civilians.

Distinction between Civilian Objects and Military Objectives

Ancillary to the Principle of Distinction is the rule that the parties to the conflict must at
all times distinguish between civilian objects and military objectives. State practice
establishes this rule as a norm of customary international law applicable in both
international and non international armed conflict.™

In interpreting this rule, several States have asserted that it only prohibits direct attacks
against civilian objects and does not deal with the question of incidental damage
resulting from attacks directed against military objectives.'’ The purpose of these
statements is to emphasize the fact that an attack which affects civilian objects is not
unlawful, as long as it is targeted against a military objective and the incidental damage
to civilian objects is not excessive. These considerations are implicit in the use of the
formulation “attacks directed against civilians”.

A number of subsidiary rules have emerged in State practice concerning precautions to
be taken in the case of attack, such as, the requirement that in the conduct of military
operations constant care must be taken to spare the civilian population, civilians and
civilian objects and that all feasible precautions must be taken to avoid and in any event
to minimize incidental loss of civilian life, injury to civilians and damage to civilian
objects and that effective advance warning be given of attacks which may affect the
civilian population, unless circumstances do not permit the giving of such warning.

In the practical application of these rules, State practice shows that a number of States
have made it clear that the obligation to take all “feasible precautions” is limited to
those precautions which are practicable or practically possible taking into account all
circumstances ruling at the time, including humanitarian and military considerations.*?

° ICJ, Nuclear Weapons Case, Advisory Opinion

% The rule has been expressly included in more recent treaty law applicable in non international armed conflicts, namely
Amended Protocol (ll) to the Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons (CCW Convention) and Protocol (Ill) to the CCW
Convention made applicable to non-international armed conflicts.

1 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules: Ch. 2, p. 29, fn. 31

12 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch. 5, p.54, fn. 20
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4.14

4.15

4.16

With regard to the rule pertaining to the choice of attack a State has emphasized that
the obligation to select an objective the attack on which may be expected to cause the
least danger to civilian lives and to civilian objects, is not an absolute obligation, as it
only applies “when a choice is possible” and thus “an attacker may comply with it, if it is
possible to do so, subject to mission accomplishment and allowable risk, or he may

determine that it is impossible to make such a determination”.*®

The broad conclusion to be drawn from the above is, that while the essence of these
core principles need to be fully respected and complied with, nevertheless a margin of
discretion is left to decisions to be made in situ, by Field Commanders amidst the ‘heat
and confusion’ of a conflict. Military commanders and others responsible for planning,
deciding upon or executing attacks, necessarily have to reach decisions on the basis of
their assessment of the information from all sources which is available to them at the
relevant time."*

(ii) Principle of Proportionality

The Principle of Proportionality is a corollary of the Principle of Distinction and stipulates
that the launching of an attack which may be expected to cause incidental loss of civilian
life, injury to civilians, damage to civilian objects or a combination thereof, which would
be excessive in relation to the concrete and direct military advantage anticipated, is
prohibited.

Inherent in this requirement is the fact that a Field Commander has to assess the
military advantage anticipated, relative to the civilian casualties anticipated. In the
practical application of the principle, doubts have been expressed whether the principle
could be precisely applied across the board in all armed conflict situations. Much would
depend on the circumstances of each case. While judicial interpretation has been
somewhat lacking, it would be relevant to note that the ICTY Prosecutor’s Committee
which reviewed the NATO bombing campaign in Yugoslavia stated in its report ‘it may
be necessary to resolve them on a case by case basis and the answers may differ

15 This statement

depending on the background and values of the decision maker.
underlines the inherent subjectivity involved in the application of the Rule of

Proportionality.

Bsee practice of the United States. Customary International Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch. 5, p. 67, fn. 103

14 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol.1; Rules; Chapter 4, p. 50, footnote 33

B Final Report to the Prosecutor by the Committee established to review the NATO bombing campaign against the Federal
Republic of Yugoslavia Part Il paragraph 57
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It is not surprising therefore that in the interpretation and application of the Principle of
Proportionality, States have been conscious of the need to preserve the operational
flexibility of military operations. Thus several States have expressed the view that the
term ‘military advantage’ refers to the advantage anticipated from the military attack
considered as a whole and not only from isolated or particular parts of that attack.*®
Further, upon ratification of International Conventions applicable to international armed
conflicts,”” some States have asserted that they interpreted the term “concrete and
direct military advantage anticipated” as meaning that there is a bona fide expectation
that the attack would make “a relevant and proportionate contribution” to the objective
of the military attack involved.*® It would also be pertinent to note in this regard that
the view has also been expressed by some States that the term ‘military advantage’
includes the security of the attacking forces.™

(iii) Supply of Humanitarian Relief including food, and medicine to civilians and respect for the

protection of Humanitarian Relief, Personnel and Objects

4.18

4.19

It is a requirement of IHL, that parties to a conflict must allow and facilitate rapid and
unimpeded passage of humanitarian relief for civilians in need. Accordingly IHL prohibits
the starvation of the civilian population as a method of warfare. Corollary to this
prohibition is the rule requiring respect for and protection of humanitarian personnel
and relief objects. The safety and security of humanitarian relief personnel is an
indispensable condition for the delivery of humanitarian relief to civilian populations in
need, threatened with starvation.*

IHL requires the consent of the parties to a conflict as being essential in order for relief
actions to take place?’. Further, while consent may not be withheld for arbitrary
reasons, State practice recognizes that the State concerned exercises control over the
relief action and has a central coordinating role to perform in the distribution of relief
within its territory. In addition, humanitarian relief personnel must respect domestic
laws on access to territory and must respect the security requirements in place in the
host State.*

1 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch.4, p. 49 fn. 27

7 such as Additional Protocol (1) of 1977

18 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch. 4, p. 50, fn. 31

19 Customary International Humanitarian Law Vol. 1; Rules; Ch.4, p. 50, fn. .30

% | a Resolution 1296 adopted in 2000 on Protection of Civilians in Armed Conflicts, the UN Security Council called upon all
parties to an armed conflict including non-State parties “to ensure the safety, security and freedom of movement of

humanitarian relief personne

Iu

2 This is recognized in both Additional Protocols (1) and (ll) to the Geneva Conventions.
2 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol. 1; Rules; Ch. 17. p. 197, fn.80 and 81
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4.22

4.23

4.24

(iv) Safety/Prohibited Zones

Directing an attack against a zone established to shelter the civilians, the wounded and
the sick from the effects of hostilities is prohibited under IHL. In a Resolution adopted in
1970 on Basic Principles for the Protection of Civilian Populations in Armed Conflicts, the
UN General Assembly stated that “places or areas designated for the sole protection of
civilians, such as hospital zones, or similar refuge, should not be objects of military
operations”?®. This requirement flows from the broad humanitarian principle of
protection of the civilian and the non combatant from the effects of conflict.

Practice of States show that such Zones have been agreed upon in both international
and non-international armed conflicts. Normally safety zones are established on the
basis of mutually negotiated agreements premised on the principle that zones
established to shelter the civilians, the wounded and the sick must not be attacked.**
Thus Additional Protocol (l) provides in Article 60(3) that “the subject of such an
agreement shall normally be in a zone which fulfills the following conditions:

a. All combatants as well as mobile weapons and mobile military equipment must
have been evacuated;

b. No hostile use shall be made of fixed military installations or establishments;

c. No acts of hostility shall be committed by the authorities or by the population;
and

d. Any activity linked to the military effort must have ceased.”

As discussed later, all these concrete requirements which may be of relatively easy
application in the context of international conflicts, presents a different set of
challenges in the context of internal conflicts between the State and the non-State
armed groups.

(v) Principles applicable to Surrender and Treatment of ‘Persons hors de combat’

It is acknowledged that the respect for and protection of persons who are in the power
of an adverse party is a cornerstone of IHL.

This rule set forth in Additional Protocol | to the Geneva Conventions of 1949 is also
implicit in Common Article 3 of the Geneva Conventions and in Additional Protocol Il.
The rule requires, in particular that persons protected including those placed hors de
combat by sickness, wounds, detention, or any other cause be treated humanely when

% UN General Assembly Resolution 2675(xxv)
24 Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch. 11 p.119
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they “have fallen into the power of the enemy”.?””> The requirement of humane

treatment is an overarching concept. It is generally understood that the detailed rules
found in IHL and Human Rights law give expression to the meaning of ‘humane
treatment’. These principles are also considered to be part of customary IHL through
State practice.

4.25 Under customary IHL an intention to surrender must be clearly expressed. It has been
stated that the general tenet that emerges from State practice is that a clear indication
of unconditional surrender renders a person hors de combat and such intention is
generally shown by laying down one’s weapons and raising one’s hands. Other examples
such as emerging from one’s position displaying a white flag are also mentioned in
military manuals.”®

4.26 On the practical aspects of the implementation of this rule, States have pointed out that
it may not be possible to accept surrender from a unit while under fire from another
position.27 Hence it has been stated that a party which ‘accepts’ surrender is not
required to go out to receive surrender; instead the party offering surrender has to
come forward and submit to the control of the enemy forces. States have also taken up
the position that an offer of surrender has to be made at a time when it can be received
and properly acted upon and that a last minute surrender to an on rushing force may be
difficult to accept. It is also recognized that an attempt to surrender in the midst of a
hard-fought battle is neither easily communicated nor received.?® The issue is one of
reasonableness.

% It is the object of Article 23 (c) of the Hague Regulations of 1907, which forbids the killing or wounding of any enemy who,
having laid down his arms, or having no longer means of defense, has surrendered at discretion.
% Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules; Ch.15 p.168
7 see further Customary International Humanitarian Law. Vol 1; Rules, Chapter 15 page 168
2 tis pertinent to note that the US Department of Defense referring to a situation that arose during the Gulf War underlined
the need for an unequivocal manifestation of an intent to surrender, and stated:
“In the course of the breaching operations, the Iraqi defenders were given the opportunity to surrender, as indicated by
the large number of enemy prisoners of war taken by the division. However, soldiers must make their intent to
surrender clear and unequivocal, and do so rapidly. Fighting from fortified emplacements is not a manifestation of an
intent to surrender and a soldier who fights until the very last possible moment assumes certain risks. His opponent
either may not see his surrender, may not recognize his actions as an attempt to surrender in the heat and confusion of
battle, or may find it difficult (if not impossible) to halt an onrushing assault to accept a soldier’s last-minute effort at
surrender.” (Extract from the United States Department of Defense: Final Report to Congress on the Conduct of the
Persian Gulf War. Annex O. The Role of the Law of War. 10 April 1992. ILM. Vol. 31. 1992. Pp. 642 and 643)
Furthermore States have also taken up the position that retreating combatants if they do not communicate an offer of
surrender, whether armed or not, are still subject to attack and there is no obligation to offer an opportunity to
surrender before an attack. It is clear from State practice that what is forbidden is the deliberate attack against persons
‘hors de combat’ not the mere causing of death or injury to them as the incidental consequence of attacks not aimed at
them per se. http://www.icrc.org/customary-ihl/eng/docs/v2 cou us rule47 .
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4.27

4.28

IHL obligates a party to a conflict to accept the surrender of enemy personnel. Once a
person has been accepted as ‘Hors de Combat’ certain fundamental guarantees flow
from the Geneva Conventions, and State Practice. States are obliged to treat them in
accordance with the provisions of the said Conventions and on the basis of customary
IHL. These requirements are supplemented by a series of ancillary rules inter alia, the
prohibition of violence to life and person, in particular murder of all kinds in relation to
civilians and persons hors de combat; the prohibition of torture, cruel and inhuman
treatment and outrages upon, personal dignity, in particular humiliating and degrading
treatment of persons hors de combat; taking of steps to prevent disappearances
including through registration of persons deprived of their liberty; provision of adequate
food, water, clothing and medical treatment to persons deprived of their liberty; and
recording of personal details of persons deprived of their liberty.

The treatment of IHL Principles in this Section is not meant to be an exhaustive
treatment of the entire subject but seeks to highlight the core principles of IHL against
which the Sri Lanka experience may be evaluated.
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4.29

4.30

431

Sri Lanka Experience
Introduction

The Core IHL Principles set out in Section | of this Chapter are being examined in the
context of the events that have taken place since the breakdown of the Ceasefire, until
the end of the conflict.”®

IHL is commonly regarded as the body of law applicable during the entire phase of a
conflict.** While recognizing the general validity of this statement, considering the
substantial volume of material pertaining to the final phase of the conflict placed before
the Commission, it would be practical to examine the material before it, placing special
emphasis on the conduct of hostilities in the aforesaid phase, in particular during the
period January to May 2009.

In the representations made before the Commission, there were four main areas
involving the discharge of humanitarian obligations of the State which were scrutinized
by the Commission. viz:-

(i) Obligation to educate the members of the Armed Forces in the relevant aspects of
Human Rights (HR) and International Humanitarian Law.

(if) Measures to safeguard civilians/avoid civilian casualties during military operations;

(iii)Supply of humanitarian relief, including food and medicine to civilians in conflict
areas; and

(iv)Conduct of the Security Forces during the movement of civilians and combatants to
cleared areas.

» Refer Chapter 3 on Overview of Security Forces Operations and Annex 3.1; and Chapter 5 on Human Rights and its Annexes.
* For e.g. International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia in Prosecutor V. Tadic Judgment. Appeals Chamber July
1999 Case No. IT-94-1-A. 38ILM 1518 (1999) stated that IHL applies from the initiation of armed conflicts and extends beyond
the cessation of hostilities, until a general conclusion of peace is reached.
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4.33

4.34

4.35

Education and Training in IHL and HR

Principal Conventions in the field of IHL, specify that the obligation to teach IHL to
Armed Forces applies in times of peace, as in times of armed conflict.*”

Material was placed before the Commission by Senior Defence Officials that, since 2003
the Sri Lanka Army had introduced educational courses in Human Rights and
Humanitarian Law to the members of the Sri Lanka Army. This programme had been
initiated with the assistance of the International Committee of the Red Cross. The
material discloses that a separate Directorate had been established at the Sri Lanka
Army Headquarters called the Directorate of Human Rights and Humanitarian Law,
vested with the responsibility of ensuring compliance with obligations under
International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights obligations. This task had been
carried out by a system of training, monitoring of soldiers and reporting, within the
Army. Human Rights cells had been established at every level from Security
Headquarters, Divisional Headquarters, Task Forces, Battalion Headquarters and at field
level. The Human Rights Cells were said to have assembled fortnightly at respective
Headquarters.‘q’2

It was stated in the course of these representations that a special training school in
International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights had been opened by the Army at
Kukulegange, Agalawatte in the Kalutara District. It was further stated that throughout
the operations, Non Commissioned Officers (NCOs) had been trained and sent to the
field to train soldiers who were engaged in combat.®® This training had been done
through the conduct of seminars and training courses. Similar programs had been
extended to the Sri Lanka Navy and Air Force.

The ICRC Annual Report of 2009 states that the Sri Lankan army ran its own IHL teaching
and training programme, developed with ICRC assistance. Members of the army at the
Staff College, the Peace Support Training Centre and the Cadet Academy had
participated in ICRC organized IHL dissemination sessions, as had army and navy
personnel involved in active operations in the field. The ICRC Report also states that ad
hoc arrangements had been made with local commanders for members of the Police
and Home Guard to participate in ICRC organized IHL dissemination sessions.

*I The relevant principles were first codified in the 1906 and 1929 Geneva Conventions and have subsequently been re-stated
in the 1949 Geneva Conventions and their Additional Protocols, as well as in certain other Conventions such as the Hague
Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property (Art 25); Protocol to the Hague Convention for the Protection of Cultural
Property (Art 30); Convention on Certain Conventional Weapons (Art 6)

2 Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010

3 ibid
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4.38

4.39

Measures to safeguard civilians and avoid civilian casualties during military operations
The application of the Principles of Distinction and Proportionality

Senior Defence Officials who appeared before the Commission stated that the Security
Council had decided to pursue a strategy aimed at avoiding civilian casualties in the
conduct of military operations. Accordingly, all operational orders to the Army, Navy
and Air Force had clearly directed that, every possible step be taken to avoid civilian
casualties.> It is incumbent on the Commission to make an assessment of the practical
implementation of this strategy in the light of the material placed before it.

The requirement for the proper identification of military targets and minimizing of
civilian casualties is a cornerstone of the Principle of Distinction between civilians and
combatants. In this context it has been stated before the Commission that Special
Forces personnel had been deployed on long range reconnaissance patrols and given
the specific task of ascertaining, confirming or reconfirming LTTE targets that had been
given by the Directorate of Military Intelligence or the Sri Lanka Air Force Intelligence. It
was further stated that these personnel had, in small groups, penetrated through LTTE
defenses and had provided accurate information with the help of Global Positioning
Systems (GPS) and other sophisticated means. It was pointed out that through this
process, the Security Forces had been able to clearly identify the LTTE targets and
thereby avoid or minimize civilian casualties.>”

The material placed before the Commission in response to a query as to the procedure
adopted to engage identified LTTE targets in the No Fire Zone in the case of LTTE
attacks, states the following:

‘Situation report from ground troops.

Identification of personnel with weapons only

UAV missions with help of SLAF

Target acquisition on precision guided mechanism.”*®

Elaborating on the procedure followed by the Sri Lanka Air Force in carrying out air
strikes, it was stated before the Commission that any air strike consequent to requests
from the Intelligence branches of the Security Forces or the Ground Troops, had to be
carried out only after following well laid out procedures. It was stated that when a
target was planned, not only normal digital maps, but also aerial photographs had been

* ibid.

» Major General Kamal Gunaratne before the LLRC on gt September 2010
*® Source: Ministry of Defence
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used. Furthermore, it was stated that a thorough survey of the area of the target had
been carried out by utilizing Unmanned Aerial Vehicles (UAVs). Beechcraft had also
been deployed in the target area, in order to ascertain that civilians were not present in
the location or to avoid protected places such as hospitals, kovils and churches etc. It
was explained that air strikes could only be carried out with the approval of the Air
Force Commander.*’

The Commander of the Air Force briefed the Commission on the targeting procedure
adopted by the Air Force. He stated that the LTTE targets were observed for at least one
week before initiating action. He explained the procedure as follows: “DMI (Director,
Military Intelligence) confirmation, revalidation, day recce, night recce. We match our
weapons to the target and then my approval is obtained, the air crew is briefed and
then engagement under observation of the UAV or any other surveillance asset that we
decide to use ...” He also went on to state “sometimes some of the targets — we know
very well that there are certain terrorist leaders hiding here; there is a training camp
there- but we had to stop operations, and wait without taking those targets because
there were civilian habitations close to these targets......

He explained that the pilots were well trained to identify and take on pin point targets
and that all attacks were filmed by these aircraft enabling operations to be reviewed.*®

The Commission was also briefed in detail by Senior Air Force officials on the use of
UAVs. ¥ They stated that, the Armed Forces had used information on civilian
movements obtained through UAV technology to a great extent, in order to prevent
civilian casualties. It was stated that the Air Force used the aerial vehicles extensively, to
spot LTTE movements and to give the Army, Navy and Air Force valuable intelligence so
that the attack took on only LTTE targets.40 The Commission was advised that the Sri
Lanka Air Force had invested in several state of the art surveillance devices at a very
high cost.*! It was also pointed out that during the final phase of the military operation,
UAVs were specially used in real time mode where the pilots, the Field Commanders
and the Director Operations at the Air Force Head Quarters could all view the target
simultaneously, in order to monitor the movements of the civilians with a view to
avoiding civilian casualties.*?

7 Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapakse before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010

%8 Air Chief Marshal WDRMJ Goonetilleke before the LLRC at Colombo on 8™ September 2010
* The Commission was shown UAV footage on 11" January 2011

O Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapakse before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010

*' Annex 4.1. Letter from Air Force Commander dated 29™ September 2011

2 Meeting with Director Air Operations on 11 January 2011
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Establishment of No Fire Zones (NFZs)/LTTE Strategy of using Human Shields

Material was placed before the Commission on the establishment of NFZs during the
final phase of the conflict. This assumes special importance in relation to the obligation
on the State to provide maximum possible safety to civilians in accordance with the IHL
principles. It was explained that this step was taken by the Government after discussion
with the Security Council, with a view to providing such protection to civilians.
Accordingly, certain areas had been earmarked as NFZs so that civilians could come into
those safe areas and to enable the Security Forces to conduct their operations,
respecting such Zones.*?

Explaining the procedure that had been followed with regard to these Zones, it was
stated that the Security Forces had made loudspeaker announcements and had dropped
leaflets from the air informing the people about the creation of the NFZs and requesting

4445 1t was submitted that when the conflict

all civilians to assemble at these Zones.
intensified after the Government regained control of Kilinochchi on 2" January 2009,
the LTTE were using civilians as a human shield. They were not allowing the civilians to
come out of the conflict areas into the Government held areas. The LTTE were gradually

taking the civilians along with them.*®

The Commission heard representations on the strategy of the LTTE to utilize NFZs for
the purpose of using civilians as a human shield. The First NFZ was established North-
East of Visuamadu. (Referred to as “First No Fire Zone” or “First NFZ”)*” When the LTTE
realized that the measures taken by the Government to open a safe corridor for civilians
to move to Government held areas will endanger their strategy, the LTTE had taken the
civilians to Puthumatthalan. When the Government had realized that the LTTE had
taken the civilians from the First NFZ at Visuamadu to Puthumatthalan which was a
narrow strip of land, the Government had shifted the NFZ to Puthumatthalan on 11"
February 2009. (Referred to as “Second No Fire Zone” or “Second NFZ”)*® When the
troops had got close to the Puthumatthalan NFZ, the LTTE had shifted their position
further down to Vellamullivaikkal. They had taken the civilians with them.

B Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17 August 2010

* Annex 4.2 .copy of leaflet that had been dropped

> A former Senior LTTE cadre who came before the Commission, and who had been in the NFZs also stated that the Air Force
had dropped leaflets from the air advising people of the establishment of NFZs and had used the radio and other media as
well for making such announcements. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01

% Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17 August, 2010

* Annex 4.3 copy of letter from the Commander of the Army to the Head of Delegation ICRC dated 19" January 2009. Several
one kilometer radius Safe Areas were also said to have been demarcated to protect hospitals and INGO offices. Source
Ministry of Defence

*® Annex 4.4 copy of letter from the Commander of the Army to the Head of Delegation ICRC dated 11" February 2009.
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Vellamullivaikkal was then declared the Final NFZ on 8% May 2009.%°(Referred to as
“Third No Fire Zone” or “Third NFZ”.) It was stated that the Government was compelled
to shift the NFZ several times in view of the strategy adopted by the LTTE of using the
civilians as a human shield.

This aspect was further explained by a high ranking Defence Official®® in the following

manner:

“ ... When we came closer to the borders of the NFZ*', initially nearly 20,000 people
escaped from the NFZ. We had adopted a method, and we had briefed the front line troops
that we have earmarked a corridor for the IDPs to come out from the place, then we had
arrangements to receive them and bring them back to Kilinochchi, feed them, register them
and send them down to Vavuniya. We used loudhailers and announced along the NFZ
border asking the civilians to come out and we indicated the safe areas for them to come
out and we dropped leaflets into these areas giving even maps indicating the points from
where they could come.> ....... we received about 20,000 civilians coming out of the first
NFZ. Then the LTTE immediately realized the danger, - they knew if they allowed it, all the
civilians will come to the government held areas. So then they started to take action to
prevent that, and sent a suicide cadre with the civilians coming out of the NFZ and you can
remember she exploded herself, which killed many civilians and also the unarmed security
personnel who were assisting the civilians. Also a lot of civilians tried to escape from this
area to the government held area. We have many occasions that were reported that the
LTTE was firing and preventing their escape. Once they realized that this will endanger their
motives that they will no longer be able to use them (civilians) as human shields they took
all the civilians from the NFZ and took them to Puthumatthalan a very thin area. When we
realized that the LTTE had taken all the civilians from the NFZ out to another place, we
shifted the NFZ to that area. We could have ignored that fact and asked the people to
remain in the First NFZ but we knew that they cannot resist the LTTE because they took all
the civilians to another place by force. Then the government decided to shift the NFZ to the
other area(Second No Fire Zone) and when the troops got closer to the Second NFZ they
shifted further down and so we also shifted the NFZ (to Third No Fire Zone) - Thrice we had
to shift the NFz”.>

According to the material placed before the Commission, the Security Forces had
continued to air drop leaflets within the Second and Third No Fire Zones encouraging

° Annex 4.5 copy of a letter from Director Military Intelligence to Joint Operations Headquarters dated gt May 2009. ICRC
Vavuniya had also been informed.
O Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010

*L First NFZ

2 A ceasefire period had been declared from 29" January 2009 to 1% February 2009 to provide an opportunity for the civilians
to enter into the GOSL held areas from all military fronts. Source: Ministry of Defence.
3 Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17 August 2010
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people to move to Government held areas and assuring them that the Army was ready
to receive them.>* The material also discloses that civilians had continued to move to
Government held areas from the Second and Third No Fire Zones.>”

Several persons who came before the Commission also made detailed representations
concerning the LTTE strategy of using civilians as a human shield.

A civilian who had been displaced with his family since August 2006 stated that the LTTE
always mingled with the people even in the NFZs. Civilians therefore had tried to escape
and move out of the NFZs into safe areas during the night. He further explained that
when this happened, the LTTE fired and then the Army returned fire to the place where
the LTTE firing came from.® On being further questioned on this aspect he stated that
when civilians tried to move into Government held areas from the first NFZ, the LTTE
prevented them from doing so, and forced them to move to the next NFZ, with the view
of using them as a human shield. He further stated that the Army had never initiated
attacks into the NFZs — the Army only returned fire to where the LTTE firing came from.
According to him the aerial bombing also had been to neutralize LTTE positions within
the NFZ from where attacks on the Security Forces were being carried out.”’ He
explained that the LTTE used civilian installations within the NFZ (e.g. Hospitals) to
attack the Security Forces.”® A Government doctor who had served for over 20 years,
initially in Jaffna and later in the LTTE dominated areas of the Wanni, and from March
2009 to the end of the conflict at the makeshift hospital at Mullaivaikkal, commented at
length on the last stages of the conflict. According to him civilians who wanted to move
towards safer areas to avoid getting trapped inside the conflict zone were prevented
from doing so. This he said was presumably because the LTTE wanted civilians to be
there in anticipation of a breathing space in the form of any possible humanitarian
intervention in the name of security to civilians. He added that the presence of civilians
was also necessary to continue with conscription and rightly or otherwise justify the
continuation of the war effort to the people.59

A resident of Kilinochchi making representations regarding his missing son, who had
been conscripted by the LTTE in February 2000, stated, “During the war, as the Army
advanced | moved towards Visuamadu. From Visuamadu to Moonkilaru to

** Annex 4.6 copy of leaflet dropped. Source: Ministry of Defence

>Schedule of Daily movement of civilians to GOSL held areas — Source Ministry of Defence

56 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC, Transcript No. LLRC/IS/10.03.11/01

>’ several other civilians also in the course of their representations stated that the Army had not initiated attacks but returned
fire to the places from which the LTTE was firing.

*8 Ibid.

*pr.s. Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24™ November 2010
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Suhandirapuram, Udayarkattu, Mathalan, Pokkanai and | went along that path and
finally | went to the sea coast.”

He further stated that as they reached Wattuwal the Army had taken them. In response
to a question posed by the Commission as to whether any person or any group
obstructed his movement after he left Kilinochchi until he reached Wattuwal he stated:

“l was trying to take the coastal track to go through the coast, ........ there was shelling at
the same time continuously, so the LTTE told us not to go along the beach....we were

moving and the LTTE was also following us behind. There wasn’t anybody to obstruct us, we

were on the move and the LTTE was also following us.”®°

A senior ex LTTE cadre in the course of his representations to the Commission stated
that had the LTTE allowed the people who were converged in the narrow area between
Mathalan and Pokkanai to go out, the casualties could have been avoided.®

A Government Official, who had been serving in the Wanni for over 20 years, describing
his experience in the Puthumatthalan area, stated that the LTTE had placed heavy
artillery in Ampalavanapokkanai amongst the civilians.®?

Several civilians who were interviewed by the Commission stated that right up to the
final stages, the LTTE had used heavy artillery from civilian populated areas in the NFZs
to start firing at the Security Forces.®®

A resident of Kilinochchi who had been detained at the Omanthai Detention Centre
stated:

“I left Wattuwal on 15™ May 2009 and came over to the Army side. During the last stages of
the war the LTTE had (stitched) trousers and shirts out of bed sheets. The LTTE were using
civilian clothes. The Army was moving from all four sides. The LTTE and the civilians were
staying together”®,

A civilian, who was interviewed by the Commission referring to the Mullaivaikkal East

area, stated that at the last stages there was no space at all and the LTTE and the

60

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kilinochchi on 18" September 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/18.09.10/01

6t Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
&2 Representations made by a government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/20.08.11/01.

® |nterviews at Mullaittivu and Vavuniya on 20" and 21 August 2011

64 Representations made in camera
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civilians had been in a very congested area and the LTTE had continued to fire at the
Army from this area and the Army had returned fire.®®

The First No Fire Zone and Surrounding Areas

While the Commission heard representations from Senior Defence Officials as to the
creation of the NFZs and how civilians were able to move out of the First No Fire Zone
into Government held areas,® the Commission also heard representations from civilians
regarding their experiences within the First No Fire Zone and surrounding areas.

A civilian who had been in Suhandirapuram until January 2009 stated that on one
occasion they had heard shelling and when they had come out of their bunkers they had
seen the bodies of about 8 or 9 people lying on the ground, so they had then decided to
move from Suhandirapuram to Thevipuram.®’

Another civilian®® explained that what really happened was that although the
Government had declared that Suhandirapuram was a safe area it had in fact been
dangerous because shells were falling from both sides. The LTTE had asked them to
move out of the area and at the same time the Government had made an
announcement to surrender to the armed forces. He went on to state that a part of the
‘population” was able to surrender to the Army at Suhandirapuram and Udayarkattu
while the rest of the people had to move with the LTTE wherever the LTTE wanted them
to move. While they were surrendering he stated that there had been a bomb blast and
he had heard that 10 or 12 Army personnel had been injured or died and that the public
were also affected.

Yet another civilian stated:

‘we cannot digest and we cannot forget the untold sufferings that we have experienced
during the last stages. The Government announced a security area. The first security area
was declared at Udayakattu by the Government. So we went there; we got caught there
and we went through a lot of difficulties in that area. We started getting displaced from
place to place. Whenever the Government announces certain areas we went to take shelter
there and we went through difficulties. And we cannot forget the people who died in that

& Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/FV/20.08.11/01

&6 According to Defence Ministry Sources over 25,000 civilians had been able to move to Government of Sri Lanka held areas

7 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19 September 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01

8 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19 September 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01
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security area. | could have taken a photograph but the situation was not that conducive to
take photographs. We were trying to save our lives.”®

4,58 Another civilian making representations during the sittings of the Commission held at
the Poonagary Divisional Secretariat on 19" September 2010 stated:

“The Government created an area of security in Thevipuram, Suhandirapuram and
Visuamadu. People from Mannar, Mullaittivu and Kilinochchi came to this security area.
The LTTE infiltrated this security zone and they came inside along with the ordinary
people and used it as a base to attack the Army. When this happened the Army
retaliated and this act of the Government despite the announcement that they have
already announced the area as a security zone, how can they start retaliating when the
civilian population was there and this is the main question we wish to pose to you as
this cannot be justified. The Government again announced a new security zone
including Puthumatthalan and Wattuwal. From my point of view it is the Government
that gave the LTTE an opportunity to use the civilian population as pawns and as a
human shield.”

On being questioned by the Commission as to what he meant by the statement that
the Government gave an opportunity to the LTTE to use civilians as pawns and
human shields, he responded :

‘it was the Government that first announced Thevipuram, Visuamadu and
Suhandirapuram as security zones which the people can trust and go and settle. Our
people trusted this announcement and on that basis they went there. If the
Government had not made that announcement saying that this is the security zone and
you go there, our people would have found their own ways of reaching the
Government security controlled area.’

On further questioning he said :

‘..the people went into that area because the Government had made the
announcement that it was a safe place. Asa result of this that area became besieged by
the LTTE. What | think is that the Government gave them an opportunity, where the
LTTE could consolidate their position including their cadres as well as their arms and

ammunition in this particular area’.”

4,59 Material was made available to the Commission which indicated that in a letter
addressed to the Chief of Defense Staff (CDS) dated 4" February 2009, the Chief Security
Adviser, for Sri Lanka of the United Nations, Colombo had brought to the attention of

& Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Neervely on 11" Nov. 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.10/02
70Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September 2010 Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02
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the CDS certain concerns regarding the safety of its staff in the NFZ based on reports
from civilians that large numbers had been killed in the NFZ by indirect fire ‘in the past
24 hours’.”* In the letter he had also referred to the fact that on 25™ January 2009 the
Security Forces Head Quarters had ordered the UN out of the NFZ to a different location
close to Puthukudiyiruppu (PTK) hospital as it had become unsafe in the NFZ due mainly
to indirect fire.

The letter also states that the LTTE had tried to take two UN trucks off the UN staff and
that two other trucks had apparently been taken by the LTTE previously and were being
used by the LTTE.

The Second and Third No Fire Zones and Surrounding Areas - Breaching of Bunds

A civilian’? who made representations before the Commission and who had entered the
Second NFZ on the 15™ of February 2009 and remained there until evacuated by the
Army on 23" April, on being questioned by the Commission as to what transpired during
this long period of time in the Second NFZ (i.e. 15t February to 23" April 2009) he
stated that it was in the narrow land area demarcated as the Second NFZ that the
concentration of LTTE activity was — they had had their heavy artillery from which they
had fired at the Security Forces, they had continued their conscription campaign very
aggressively targeting young children and males in order to continue the conflict, and
they had obtained all their supplies into this area.

The Commission was also shown extensive UAV footage of LTTE mobile artillery in the
NFZs and the construction of contiguous bunds in the NFZs by the LTTE.”

Several other civilians who came before the Commission stated that family members
had been conscripted by the LTTE during this time.”* A journalist who had been in the
Wanni during the last stages of the conflict also briefed the Commission at length with

" Annex 4.7 Two letters dated 4" February 2009 from UN Chief Security Adviser to Chief of Defense Staff
7 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/10.03.11/01

7373

See Annex 4.8 .for UAV footage showing LTTE gun positions

I Examples :
Representations made by civilians before the LLRC:
- at Jaffna on 12" November 2010. Transcript No...LLRC/FV/12.11.03/02. — child forcibly taken by the LTTE — Feb. 2009;
- at Kayts on 14™ November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01 — child forcibly taken by the LTTE — 21% Feb.2009;
- at Poonagary on 19" September 2010 Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02 — ‘at a particular point in Pokkanai my son went
missing My son is 17 years. The LTTE took him’.
- at Kandawalai on 19™ September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01 — husband had been conscripted when they
were at Pokkanai.;
- At Mullaittivu on 20™ September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/20.09.10/02 — daughter 16 years conscripted by LTTE on

25" February 2009 and subsequently suffered injury.

- Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/10.03.11/1 — LTTE tried to take 13 year old
daughter.
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the use of video footage which he had taken, as to how young children were
aggressively conscripted by the LTTE and the dilemma faced by their parents.””

There was also material placed before the Commission that at this stage, LTTE cadres
had been fighting in civilian clothes.”® The journalist mentioned above also described in
detail again with video footage how the LTTE used civilians as combatants’’. During its
visit to the Detention Centres in Omanthai and Boossa, the Commission heard from
several detainees that they had been engaged in support services for the LTTE.’®

Breaching the Bund — Evacuating Civilians.

The Commission was briefed in detail by Defence and Military Officials as to the
approach adopted by the Security Forces to protect civilian lives in the final phase of the
operations during which the LTTE continued to use civilians as a human shield. It was
explained to the Commission how the earth bunds put up by the LTTE to prevent
civilians from moving into Government held areas were breached by the Security Forces.
In this regard it was stated that at the final stage, the civilians as well as the LTTE were
confined to a narrow stretch of land from Puthumatthalan going down to
Vellamullivaikkal. Due to the precautions taken to avoid civilian casualties, the Army had
been virtually inching forward and progress had been very slow, the last stretch taking
over a month to capture, even though it had been only a matter of a few kilometers.
The NFZ (Second NFZ) had been surrounded by earth bunds.”®

A high ranking Defence Official®® explained the difficulties faced by the Security Forces
in Puthumatthalan :

“When we moved to the second area (Second NFZ) it was a very small area where the LTTE
could guard them (civilians) and also it is surrounded by water, so that is a difficulty that we
had, and the difficulty that the civilians had, because they had to cross the lagoon and come
to the government held areas. Again our strategy was gradually to come closer to the area
so that they can cross, but when we moved the Army had to use only their personal
weapons, identify the target and then shoot and that was a very difficult task and we

7> Mr.Saman Kumara Ramawickrema before the LLRC at Colombo on 13" January 2011

76

Representations made by an ex LTTE member, Transcript No LLRC/1S/28.02.11/01. - referring to the point at which he

surrendered after the capture of Puthumatthalan on 20" April 2009- stated that the LTTE cadres were in casuals. He also
referred to the gradual disintegration of the LTTE structure where there was no one to control the military wing. When
questioned by the Commission as to whether the LTTE cadres were in uniform at the time he surrendered he responded *
No uniforms. All were in civil’.

7 Ramawickrema above

78 Representations made in camera by 5 ex LTTE cadres.

7 Lt. General Jagath Jayasuriya, before the LLRC at Colombo on gt September 2010

8 Mr, Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17 August 2010
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sacrificed a lot of our soldiers because of that.®" It was a very difficult period and that is why
we took such a long time, even the public was agitated as to why we are taking so long time
to clear the rest. In order to prevent deaths and casualties, we took a very long time to
clear a very small area compared to the speed at which we cleared the other areas. We
gradually squeezed them and reduced the area so that they (LTTE) could not hold the area
any longer and that is why they allowed the civilians to come out.”

In this regard the Commission also visited the Ranaviru Sevana®* and heard
representations from soldiers who had been on the battlefield during the last stages of
the conflict and had suffered injury as a result of the conflict. An injured soldier stated
that during the New Year period they were ordered not to open fire and on New Year’s
day 14" April 2009% they were ready to receive the civilians and while they were
receiving the civilians the LTTE cadres also came along with them and had started
shooting at them and he had suffered injury as a result of this shooting. When
guestioned by the Commission as to whether the Army retaliated, he stated that they
did not counter attack as the civilians were there.®*

It was stated by a Senior Military Official that the Army had sent reconnaissance groups
to gather details and then using this information they had infiltrated the NFZ and had
attacked the LTTE from the rear, using only small arms so that the firing is towards the
Army, minimizing injury to civilians. It was further stated, that the Army had used this
method to breach the bunds and when the civilians had realized that the Army had
taken control of the area they had started running in large numbers towards the
Government held area®. It was submitted that when this happened, the LTTE prevented
the civilians from coming to the Government held area, by gathering them into places
and firing at them.®®

A senior Field Commander®’ elaborated on the method resorted to breach the bund and
facilitate the civilians to cross over to Government held areas. Referring to the capture
of Puthumatthalan and the land area below Puthumatthalan, he stated that they were
aware that there were about 100,000 civilians in the area. He emphasized that they

8l According to material presented by the Ministry of Defence, during the period March 2009 to May 2009 alone the Army had
lost 1,212 men and 6,447 wounded and 10 missing (Source Ministry of Defence)

8 Ranaviru Sevana is a rehabilitation centre for wounded service personnel

® The period from 12" April 2009 to 14" April 2009 had been declared by the GOSL as a cease fire period — Source Ministry of

Defence

8 Representations made in camera

& uav footage. Vide Annex 4.9%Lt. General Jagath Jayasuriya before the LLRC on g™ September 2010
®t. General Jagath Jayasuriya before the LLRC on gt September 2010

& Major General Shavendra Silva before the LLRC on gt September 2010
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wanted to first find the area in which the majority of civilians were. He went on to
describe the operation in the following manner:

” we went up to the lagoon from the Puthukudiyiruppu side and we were at the edge of the
lagoon, on the other side of the lagoon was Puthumatthalan.”

He explained that the gap between the point at which the Army was and
Puthumatthalan was about a kilometer, but in certain places it was more. He said that
where the Puthumatthalan hospital was situated there was a road from the
Puthukudyiruppu side.

“From there, keeping that as a center line, | breached on either side. Karaiyamullivaikkal - |
wanted to have that area into two parts and that is how we went about the operation. We
found the majority of the civilians when we went there.”

He further stated that in the early part of April and even during the Sinhalese and Tamil
New Year period, they had not been carrying out any operations but were gathering
information. Reconnaissance groups had been sent to observe the habits of the LTTE.
He said their Division had put speakers and played the latest Tamil songs to show the
civilians that the Army was around and to give them a psychological boost, because by
that time the civilians had been very worried. They had continuously made
announcements saying that the Army would rescue them very soon. He observed that
many of the LTTE leaders had been killed during the encirclement operation in
Puthukudiyiruppu.

He explained:

”So those were not so called ground commanders; field commanders like us. All the field
commanders had been killed by that time at Puthukudiyiruppu. So it was the LTTE
leadership and | heard the voice of Pottu Amman and maybe the people around Soosai was
there. ... they were not ground fighters. ... they were the people who were basically
looking after the operation when we entered Puthumatthalan, Mullaivaikkal and
Karaiyamullivaikkal. Since they would have been inexperienced they did not have much of
a grip on the cadres and by that time the cadres also were escaping and coming to our
side.”

Experiences of civilians in the Second and Third NFZs and surrounding areas

4.70 The Commission also heard from civilians who shared their experiences during this
period.
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A civilian who came before the Commission in Poonagary stated that during the last
stages the LTTE had told them not to leave and confined them to a particular area. He
went on to state that because ‘high security zones’ were created they were able to
move into those areas with confidence and that was how they escaped. He explained
that there was a boundary beyond which they were unable to go and when questioned
further he clarified ‘at some point close to the hospital a huge bund was erected....that
was a very big bund and nobody can withdraw from that.” On being asked how they
escaped he commented ‘because of our ability we were able to cross this bund and
come to the safe side.’®®

A former senior LTTE cadre who had crossed to Army lines on 20t April 2009 at
Puthumatthalan, with several thousands of people, describing the events leading up to
the evacuation, stated that as the Army got close to Puthumatthalan, he was behind the
Puthumatthalan Hospital, there was heavy shelling from the Army on the night of April
19" and early hours of 20" April. By around mid morning, he said the shelling had
ceased and the Army had captured the area and the LTTE had retreated and they had
been able to cross to Army lines across an open field. He also stated that the Army
shelling was to neutralize the gun positions of the LTTE which were located behind the
civilians and he stated that the civilians were aware that the shelling by the Army was
for the purpose of capturing the area and releasing them. He stated that while crossing
the field he saw several dismembered dead bodies. He also stated that at this time one
could not readily identify LTTE cadres from civilians as LTTE cadres were fighting in civil
clothes.

On being questioned by the Commission whether the area where the shelling occurred
was in the No Fire Zone he stated that it was not in the no fire zone.*

Another civilian who came before the Commission stated that he and part of his family
had been evacuated from bunkers in the Puthumatthalan area when the Army captured
it. When asked as to what type of weapons were used by the two parties at this stage,
he said that the LTTE used Shells and RPGs while the Army used shells and there were
aerial attacks by the Air Force.”

Yet another civilian who was interviewed by the Commission who had been working at
the Puthumatthalan Hospital until the 18" March 2009 stated “there was a lot of

8 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02

8 Representations made by an ex-LTTE member before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01

% Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/10.03.11/01
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shelling, lot of people who had sustained injuries came to the hospital; a lot of people
died.”®*

Another civilian who was interviewed by the Commission stated that the LTTE had gun
boats in Valayanmadam area as well as heavy artillery. He went on to state that when
the LTTE fired one round there were two return rounds from the Army.92 He added that
the LTTE had been using heavy artillery even in the Mullaivaikkal area. According to him
around the 10% May 2009, the people were confined in a very small area in
Mullaivaikkal East with no space at all.

A detainee at Boossa who had surrendered on 15" May 2009 when recounting his
experiences stated that there was widespread shelling on that day and the only corridor
was Wattuwal from which they escaped.®®

Another detainee at Omanthai who crossed over to the Government held area on 15™
May 2009 stated, ‘the Army was signaling to us, there was no fighting (i.e. from where
the army was signaling) - but behind us there was fighting. There was severe fighting in
Mullaivaikkal....**

Yet another detainee at Omanthai recounting how he had come to the Nanthi Kadal
coast on 14" May 2009 stated that he thought the shells were coming from
Puthukudiyiruppu and Mathalan areas and that shells were also coming from
Mullaittivu. He went on to add that the shells were coming from both the LTTE and
Army areas so he could not say exactly from where they originated. He said ‘People
were running in all directions, vehicles were burning and we were also running and we

came to the Nanthi Kadal coast.”®

A civilian who made representations to the Commission regarding her missing child
stated that they had crossed over to the Army held area on the 16" of May 2009. She
went on to state that while they were proceeding through from Mullaivaikkal to
Mullaittivu they had all got into the water, the LTTE had started firing to prevent them
from leaving and the Army had returned fire. When asked by the Commission who fired
the shells she stated that there was shelling from both sides®.

91Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/21.08.11/01

92 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01

% Representations made in camera

o Representations made in camera

% Representations made in camera

% Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Mullaittivu on 20" September 2010 and representations made before
the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
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A hospital worker at the Mullaivaikkal hospital who had crossed over to the
Government held area on 16™ May 2009 stated that there was intense shelling at the
time. She further stated that during the time when she was staying in Mullaivaikkal
there had been ‘continuous’ shelling and many people had died.”’

Another civilian who made representations before the Commission stated that at some
point in Mullaivaikkal his wife had lost her life and when questioned as to how she died
he responded that it was due to the activities of the LTTE who had dug deep pits and
she had fallen into one of the pits and died. He went on to say that they had come over
to the Army held area very carefully and cautiously.98

A detainee at Omanthai who made representations to the Commission stated that the
fighting had been intense on the 16™ May and there was intense shelling from all
directions and they could not differentiate who was firing.*

Safety of Civilians

Representations were also made to the Commission by other civilians who were caught
up in the theatre of conflict and who were making efforts to get into areas of safety.
Representations were made both with regard to the dangers that the civilians were
exposed to due to LTTE firing at civilians who were attempting to cross to Government
held areas, as well as the dangers that the civilians were exposed to due to cross fire.

A former senior LTTE cadre making representations before the Commission stated:

......... when the war reached its height lot of people lost their lives. People got caught in the
crossfire between the two sides resulting in many lives being lost. Myself and other
members of the family went up to the point of death. After January 2009,'® fighting areas
were not clearly defined because the dimension of the war has expanded to that extent.
The people were highly confused and worried as to what to do and where to go. The
number of deaths increased and the people underwent tremendous hardships. It is true
that everybody tried to save themselves in an appropriate way. | cannot forget that period
in all my life. | was amongst the thousands of people who were determined to escape the
war........ people had extreme hardships including loss of life and property. | decided that we

can survive by surrendering to the Government.”*

97 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01
99 . .

Representations made in camera
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101

Kilinochchi captured on 2" January 2009
Representations made by an ex — LTTE member at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
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When asked by the Commission as to what he meant when he said the people were
highly confused — he stated that after January 2009, the people knew that the LTTE
would lose and the civilians felt trapped because they were not being allowed to move
to Government held areas, and therefore they did not know what to do. He also said
that he himself had being given the task by the LTTE of persuading people not to go into
Government held areas.

In response to questions posed by the Commission, he stated that:

“....what really happened was that at the last stage of the battle, the people converged to a
very narrow area of Mathalan and Pokkanai. The LTTE launched their shelling attacks on the
Army from these places. The Government forces retaliated to the spot that the LTTE was
staying, as a result there was a number of deaths which is why | referred to both sides. At
the last phase of the battle if the LTTE had allowed these people to go out, all these
casualties could have been avoided”

On further inquiry, he stated that it was true that during the last days of the conflict, the
LTTE shot at civilians in order to prevent them from crossing.

A doctor serving in Puthumatthalan from February to April 2009, and thereafter at
Mullaivaikkal Hospital also stated that after entering the NFZs and when the fighting
intensified, the people tried to use whatever routes possible to escape and when they

did try to escape they were shot at by the LTTE.%?

A detainee from Omanthai who had crossed over to the Government held area in April
2009 stated that the LTTE shot people who were trying to escape from the LTTE control
and went on to add that the LTTE shot women who were wearing gold necklaces.’®

Another detainee stated that on 21 April 2009 he had made an attempt to cross over
to the Government held area and his wife’s sister had lost her leg due to the LTTE
deliberately shooting at her. He went on to state that with great difficulty they had
managed to get her on the ICRC ship as at one stage the LTTE did not accept them
maintaining the disabled.'®.

Yet another detainee at the Omanthai Detention Centre stated:

“we were asked to surrender with our families to the Army — after we surrendered to the
Army, we were given assistance” He further stated “.....the LTTE shelled the front area to

102
103
104

Dr T. Sathiamoorthy before the LLRC at Colombo 19" November 2010
Representations made in camera
Representation made in camera
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prevent movement. During the crossover, many were killed and injured. At the time |
surrendered my wife and child were injured. In order to surrender to the Army, we had to
walk a long distance before reaching the Army side. On 16" May 2009, about 5,000 persons

crossed to Army lines “'%°

4.89 A Government doctor who had served in the Wanni during the last stages of the conflict

4.90

the Army captured Mullaittivu

stated:

“On the verge of a definite victory over the LTTE, the Security Forces very unfortunately
were in a difficult situation to differentiate between the civilians and the LTTE and rushed
to annihilate the LTTE. It is also true that the State Forces were engaged in an operation to
take out the civilians from the clutches of the LTTE, but sadly the civilians got caught in

between and suffered immensely.”**

A senior public official®® who served in Kilinochchi during 2008/2009 stated that when

1% she had moved with the people to Puthukudiyiruppu.

She stated that there was no way to survive with the shelling and other problems — with
the confrontation between the Army and the LTTE. She described a shelling incident
while she was in Mulliyawalai area,’® where she had a Government residence. She said
both parties were shelling at each other and the civilians were in the middle. On the left
hand side were Army officials she stated, while on the right hand side there was the
LTTE. Continuing she stated:

“one day at about 1 o’clock there was shelling although she could not identify by whom the
shelling was — but about 13 people had been injured and about 30 shells had fallen in the
area......Even though we have bunkers, sometimes we could not move to the bunkers as
suddenly both sides start fighting. The people got caught in the middle. This is the problem
that the people faced. All the time the people were with the LTTE they were not allowed to
move. When the safe zones were declared, the LTTE also went to that area — how can you
say that it is a safe zone — the LTTE mixed with the people. Even in Puthukudiyirippu office
when we held meetings the LTTE were also there with my staff. Whoever tried to escape,
the LTTE would open fire. The people in the uncleared area moved with the LTTE as the
Army commenced operations and advanced from Mannar. When the confrontation
advanced to one area, the people moved to another area....... when fighting comes to that

area they move to another area. Finally they came to Puthumatthalan.”**

105
106
107
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109
110

Representations made in camera

Dr. S. Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24™ November. 2010
Mrs. Imelda Sukumar before the LLRC at Colombo on 4™ November 2010
Mullaittivu captured on 25" January 2009

Mulliyawalai was captured on 26™ December 2008

Puthumatthalan NFZ declared on 11" February 2009
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Referring to events in the month of April 2009, a mother of 7 children stated that “we
were in a place called Mathalan and there was shelling going on so we were in a state of
tension. Finally | managed to trace 5 of my children but 2 are still missing,.....We thought
we would all die but we escaped. We were running in fear because there was
continuous shelling.” In response to a question as to who was shelling — she stated “we
can't tell you definitely because shells were being fired by both sides — Tigers and

»111

Army.

A doctor who was at the Mullaivaikkal hospital until the 15% May 2009, when asked
what the reaction of the LTTE was when people started moving to the Government held
areas, responded by saying that the LTTE prevented them from doing so. He stated that
sometimes the LTTE had fired at the people and even beaten them. He explained that
the Security Forces were on the other side of the dried lagoon and it was the lagoon
that separated the LTTE held area and the Government held area. He added that when
the people had to move from the LTTE held area to the Government held area, they had
to cross around 300-500 meters in open terrain and in some areas the water had been
neck deep. Explaining further he stated that sometimes large numbers of civilians 100 -
200 and sometimes even 500 tried to cross and when this happened, the LTTE started to
fire at the Government forces across this 300 - 500 meter open terrain and the
Government forces returned fire. This crossfire, he added, had created panic among the
civilians and the civilians then remained within the LTTE held area. He further stated
that a few civilians had died in this process but was unable to give the exact number.

When asked if the Government forces deliberately fired at the civilians who were
crossing, he stated that the Army does not know what is happening in the LTTE held
area. He further explained that when the people tried to cross from the LTTE held area
to the Government held area, the LTTE fired against the Government forces from areas
near where the people were gathered and trying to cross. He added that the
Government forces had returned fire because of the LTTE fire. He also stated that the
civilians started crossing mostly around midnight when visibility was poor as they could

not cross during the daytime. 112

A detainee who made representations before the Commission at the Omanthai
detention centre, who had crossed the Nanthi Kadal lagoon to Army lines on 14" May
2009, along with about 600 people, stated:

111

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kilinochchi on 18" September 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/18.09.11/01
2 prs, Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24™ November 2010
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“the Army was on the Wattuwal bridge and the LTTE was on the other side but | can't say
definitely who was firing the shells. Shells were coming from the LTTE and Army areas, so |
can't say exactly from where they originated.....” When questioned as to whether apart

from shelling there were any other bombings going on he stated “at that time when we

113 » 114

were crossing that area™ there were no planes and there was no aerial bombing”.

4.94 Another detainee at Omanthai, referring to a period between 15" April 2009 and the
end of the conflict, stated that:

“the condition was such that if the LTTE fired, somebody else could also have fired in the
dark. At night when shots are fired the Army thinks that they are being fired upon and they

return the fire, but that does not mean and | do not say that the Army deliberately fired at

the civilians”.**®

Moving Civilians and Injured LTTE Cadres to Safety

495 The Commission heard representations concerning the situation of persons crossing
over to Army lines, both from civilians, as well as detainees from the Omanthai
Detention Centre who had been active members of the LTTE. In their representations
they stated that they had been helped by the Army when crossing to cleared areas, so
as to avoid land mines in the area and other dangers.

496 A former senior LTTE cadre who appeared before the Commission stated that he had
crossed over into the Government held areas with thousands of people on 20™" April
2009 at Puthumatthalan, and he further stated that when they had crossed over, they
had been treated very well by the Army. He also described to the Commission the way
in which the civilians and LTTE cadres had been segregated by the Army and how the
Army had arranged to transport civilians to the welfare camps and for the LTTE cadres
to surrender. He said that he had surrendered at the Vallipunam School.**®

4,97 Aresident of Kilinochchi stated:

117

“6,000 of us crossed from Kilinochchi to Vavuniya™’. There was severe shelling but we went

in search of the Army — we went towards the Army, the Army was there on the way — it was

they who took us to the Camp. The Army helped us.”**®

™ The lagoon

Representation made in camera
115 . .
Representation made in camera
6 Representations made by an ex-LTTE member before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/14.11.03/01
"7 The civilian had reached Vavuniya on 02™ February 2009

114
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At the sittings held at the Poonagary Divisional Secretariat on 19" September 2010, a
civilian who recounted the difficulties that they had to undergo during the period of the
30 year conflict, stated that:

“...by the 23" April 2009 the Army had entered Puthumatthalan and Ampalavanapokkanai
area. It may be on 23" of 24™ morning | suppose, the Army came in there and opened fire
and took us from the bunkers safely and took us to safe areas. On 25" along with many

other families we were taken to Cheddikulam...”***

A detainee at Omanthai Detention Centre who had crossed to Army lines on 16" May
2009 at Mullaivaikkal, stated that:

“we moved through the main road, there was a bund at the main road also but that bund
was demolished. There was Army on both sides of the road and Army advised us to take the
route on the road and not to get down because of the mines. As we proceeded taking this
route the Army was there and they provided us water and meals” '

Another detainee at Omanthai Detention Centre who had crossed over to Army lines
from Valayanmadam on 23" April 2009, in response to questions stated that, the
crossing to the Army controlled area took place in a very narrow strip called

Valayanmadam with land mines on both sides and that the Army had identified the
121

mines. He further stated that about 5,000 people crossed with him.
A civilian who came before the Commission in Kandawalai stated in the context of his
journey to the Government held areas :

‘as we passed Iranapalai and went to Mathalan area there was sea on one side and the
lagoon on the other...it was shallow water and we just managed to go....at one point we
could not proceed at all ....we got stuck there so we went to Pokkanai temple and the Army
came from both sides, the LTTE had withdrawn from the area and the Army took us to

safety, it was neck deep water and the Army held us by our hands and took us.’ 12

118

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Killinochchi on 18" September 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/18.09.10/01

119

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September. 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01
120 . .
Representations made in camera

121
122

Representations made in camera
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19" September 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/19.09.11/01; See also representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Nedunkerny on 15 August 2010.
Transcript No. LLRC/FV/15.08.10/01- ‘on 20" April we left Pokkanai, Matalan, we passed the lagoon and came. The army
entered, they protected and took us there.’
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Describing the events on 14 May 2009, when about 2,000 people had attempted to go
towards Mullaittivu through the Nanthi Kadal lagoon, a detainee at Omanthai Detention
Centre stated that:

“_at that point we could see the Army on the other side signaling to us.”.'?*

Describing the events that led to his surrender on 14 May 2009, another detainee at
Omanthai stated that he had received an injury at Mullaivaikkal and a member of the
public had carried him to the Army point and the Army had taken him to Vavuniya
hospital where he had been treated.*?*

In this context, it would also be relevant to note that a high ranking Defence Official
produced a letter from the Head of Delegation of the ICRC to the Commander of the Sri
Lanka Navy dated 14" February 2009 referring to the orderly manner in which sea
evacuation was carried out.

“Following the successful medical evacuations by sea that took place on 10 and 12
February, on behalf of the ICRC | wish to express my sincere thanks to you and to the Navy
for your valuable and effective collaboration, which helped to save many people’s lives.

| know it was a complex operation, which proved to be extremely demanding for all. Your
men, either at sea or on land, succeeded in an exemplary manner to carry out their
essential task to protect the State and its citizens and simultaneously to care for the sick
and wounded. They displayed a strict discipline and respect of rules of engagement and at
the same time a very respectful and kind attitude to help those in need.

In that regard in addition to all others who contributed to this medical evacuation, we wish
to express our special thanks to the Director General of Operations, at the Navy HQ, the
Officiating Commander Eastern Naval Command, in Trincomalee and the Deputy Area
Commander North, in Jaffna. They spent many sleepless hours coordinating the operation
and played a crucial role to make it a success.

These days demonstrated that soldiering is a noble profession."125

123 . .
Representations made in camera

24 . .
Representatlons made in camera

125

Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010. Copy of the letter dated 14" February 2009

from Paul Castella, Head of Delegation ICRC to the Navy Commander was made available by the Ministry of Defence.
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Some Specific Instances of Death or Injury to Civilians

During its field visits, the Commission also heard representations made by a number of
civilians concerning death or injury suffered by their next of kin and other civilians
during the final phase of the conflict.

In Kayts three widows testified that their husbands had died of “shelling”; on 23" March
2009 at Puthumatthalan,126 7 and at

Mathalan on 7% February 2009'%, but none of them identified by whom the shelling
129

on 20" February 2009 at Suhandirapuram®

had been carried out.
A civilian who made representations before the Commission stated:

“My son in law went missing on the 10™ of May 2009. We were coming from Mullaivaikkal
by boat. (trying to escape to Jaffna) On our way, the Navy attacked us at Chundikulam. Four
people died on the spot.”

He went on to state that the time was around 2 a.m. in the morning and that he had
been able to escape by getting hold of the hand rail of the boat. He added that
thereafter the Navy had come and rescued them and given medical treatment to his son
130 He further stated that
the Navy had saved him and his daughter and said to him in Tamil ‘Father please get

in law who was injured and he was later taken to Trincomalee.

into the ship’. On being questioned by the Commission as to how he knew that it was a
Navy boat he stated that it was a big boat and he could see it quarter mile away as there
was moonlight. When being further questioned as to whether his son in law was a
member of the LTTE he had stated that he had worked for the movement.

Another civilian who came before the Commission on 20" September 2010 at the
District Secretariat Mullaittivu, stated as follows:

“We got displaced on the 10" of May 2009 from Wanni (Mullaivaikkal) and we moved by
sea. While we were moving we came across the Navy. We held two white flags and on
seeing the Navy we called them “Aiya”, “Aiya”. There was sudden shelling and 8 died on the
spot. The others were taken to Chundikulam and from Chundikulam they were taken to
Pulmoddai.”

126 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
127 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
128 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01

129

Refer also representations made by civilians at Neervely on 11 November, 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.01/02 and

at Velanai on 14" November, 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/02;

130

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kudathanai East on 13" November 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/13.11.10/01 and at an informal meeting. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/21.08.11/01
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On questioning by the Commission, she stated that the Navy had taken them to
Chundikulam and the firing had occurred at 3 a.m. in the morning in place called Chalai.
They had been trying to escape to Jaffna, and had made a first attempt at about 9 p.m.
but the LTTE had fired at them and they had been forced to return to shore and hide the
engine of the boat. When asked who fired the shells she stated that the Navy fired the
shells. According to her the Navy had apologized as it had been a case of mistaken
identity.

She went on to state that there were about 40 to 50 other boats also moving and the
persons who were in the boats were fishermen and their families. She also said that
while she did not know it for a fact, some of the other boats may have been LTTE boats.
She further elaborated that she had come to know that some of the other boats also
had been attacked by the Navy. She added that her sister and husband had been on the
boat and that the sister’s husband had been a sea tiger.

On being questioned by the Commission regarding the above mentioned alleged
incidents, the Navy stated that in the month of May 2009 they were engaged only in
surveillance activities and furthermore, the Navy patrol boats were equipped with
sophisticated equipment, including radar and night vision cameras which could identify
civilians and civilian boats. The Navy also stated that they had intelligence and were
experienced in differentiating between LTTE boats and boats carrying civilians.***

During the Commission’s visit to Boossa Detention Centre on 30" December 2010, a
detainee (a former LTTE Intelligence Officer) brought to the attention of the Commission
an instance where it was alleged that on 20%" April 2009 at Mathalan Pokkanai, the
Army had prevented people from moving and coming onto the Army lines.

“The LTTE had fired on the Army and there was a body of an Army person lying on the
ground. The Army asked the people they kept back to collect that body ...... they kept the
people there and sent some people to collect the body. Not all the people were prevented
from moving. The Army kept some people back......the Army was on the bund and they
were forcing the people to go near that body and retrieve it. The people who refused to go
were shot.....the Army kept the young people around them thinking that the LTTE will not

shoot at the Army.”**

A civilian who came before the Commission in Neervely stated

131
132

Source briefing by the Navy to the Commission on 22™ January 2011 and subsequently confirmed in writing.
Representations made in camera
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‘at an area called Pokkanai when we were waiting in the queue to collect milk powder
there was shelling and a lot of people died. Again when we were in a place where the LTTE
was selling some short eats, there also again there was shelling and | saw 35-40 people

dying on the spot. We cannot easily forget all what we saw there; it is still in our

memory.’*?

On being questioned by the Commission as to when this incident had occurred he stated
that it was a couple of days before the date on which a large number of people crossed
over at Puthumatthalan area. When further questioned as to who had fired the shells he
stated that he could not say for sure but the people were saying that it was from the
Navy. At the same time he confirmed that people who had crossed over to Government
held areas had been treated very well by the Army.

Another civilian who appeared before the Commission referred to an incident which
occurred in April 20093 during which his daughter had also been injured. He stated
that they had been told that "thriposha" would be delivered to expectant mothers and
children and when the mothers and children went to the particular spot where the
“thriposha” was supposed to be distributed, the LTTE were using their walkie talkies and
the Army had shelled that particular point and 40 — 45 expectant mothers and children
were the casualties.

Casualties during Crossfire

During the Commission’s sittings in Mullaittivu the Commission was briefed by a Military
Official on the final phase of the conflict. He stated that in the midst of battle, civilians
were trying to cross over to Army lines and the LTTE were firing at them to prevent the
civilians from crossing over. The Army too had returned fire, using small arms and
during the exchanges of fire, civilians were caught in the cross fire and casualties did

occur.

A high ranking Military Official on being asked to clarify whether shelling had come from
both sides stated that when they were going in there (Puthumatthalan), there had been
instances where firing had been onto the Army front line which was closer to the NFZ.
He added that the Army was also trying to counter some of the fire, so there could have

33 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Neervaly on 11" November. 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/11.11.10/02 and at an informal meeting Transcript No. LLRC/FV/21.08.11/01.
134 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November. 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
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been possible instances where cross fire would have taken place. He stated “That’s a
7135

possibility.
It would also be relevant in this regard to refer to what was stated by a high ranking
Defence Official during his briefing to the Commission*3®

“....s0 you can see from the very beginning there was a very clear military plan, and in
parallel to the military plan, we had a plan for humanitarian assistance. Whether it is for the
NFZ, the policy level, the principle of zero civilian casualties, restrictions on use of heavy
weapons, the training of soldiers, all these were done to prevent civilian casualties. Of
course in a situation like a military campaign like this and with an equally strong terrorist
group fighting and when they were using civilians as human shields to protect them there
could be cases of civilian casualties.”

A Government doctor who came before the Commission stated that when they crossed
to the Army area they were helped by the Army without any problems. He went on to
say that there could have been crossfire as there was very close engagement between
the Army and the LTTE but the Army had not done anything intentionally. He admitted
that there could have been casualties as a result of the crossfire and that LTTE shot at
people deliberately when they tried to escape. In response to another question by the
Commission whether the Army had fired deliberately at civilians, the doctor stated that
he had never seen that or heard of any such aIIegations.lg7

Hospitals / Makeshift Hospitals

The Commission heard representations regarding the impact of the conflict on the
hospitals and makeshift medical facilities in the Wanni during the final stages of the
conflict.

Vallipunam Makeshift Hospital

In the course of these representations a Government doctor who was serving in the
Wanni stated that on 5% January 2009 patients from the Mullaittivu General Hospital
had been transferred to Vallipunam hospital which was a school converted to a

hospital.®®

135
136
137

38 1bid.

Lt. General Jagath Jayasuriya before the LLRC at Colombo on og™ September. 2010
Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010
Dr V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November. 2010
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On 24" January 2009, the ICRC had informed the Commander of the Sri Lanka Army,
that on 21° January and 22" January 2009 shells had hit the Vallipunam hospital
resulting in casualties and the hospital had been evacuated and patients transferred to
PTK hospital.l‘:’9

A nursing officer who was attached to the Mullaittivu General Hospital and had served
at several medical facilities during the last phase of the conflict stated with regard to the
Vallipunam makeshift hospital that on 21° January 2009, after 7 p.m. shells had fallen in
the vehicle park at the hospital and a few patients had suffered minor injuries.140 When
guestioned further he stated that he did not know from where the shells came. He went
on to say that there was a refugee camp close to the hospital which had been hit by the
shells and around 40 people had died. He added that while there was no LTTE presence

in the hospital premises, there was an LTTE presence about 500 meters away.*!

A pharmacist who had been working at the Vallipunam makeshift hospital stated that
shells had fallen on the hospital vehicle park which was near the operating theatre but
was not sure about the casualties.**

Anandapuram Makeshift Hospital

A nursing officer who served at Anandapuram makeshift hospital stated that the facility
had functioned for about 20 days in February 2009. There had been a large LTTE
armoury located near the hospital and there had been a Kfir attack on the armoury
which had destroyed it. He added that two days later there had been a similar attack on
the makeshift hospital but by then the patients had been moved as the Medical
Superintendant had decided to shift the hospital after the attack on the armoury.143

Another person who had been employed at the Anandapuram makeshift hospital when
guestioned by the Commission stated that it was possible that there would have been
LTTE installations around the area and the Army may have attacked those areas but
there had been no damage to the makeshift hospital.***

139

Letter dated 24™ January 2009 from the ICRC to the Commander of the Army — Annex 4.10

140 Representations by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01 n questioning by the Commission again he
stated that 2-3 patients had died.

141 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/01.07.11/01

42 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/15/01.07.11/01

43 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01

144

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/01.07/11/01
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Udayarkattu Makeshift Hospital

A civilian'*® who appeared before the Commission described an event which he said he
had observed on 2" February 2009 from within a 200 meter distance. He stated that
Balakumaran a Senior LTTE leader had been leading the operations against the Security
Forces from the side of the Udayarkattu Hospital146 — when the bomb attack took place
a part of the hospital was damaged and civilians were injured. In response to
guestioning by the Commission, he clarified that the reasons for the attack on the
hospital was because Balakumaran was operating at that time from the hospital and
while there was no permanent LTTE military installation in the hospital, the LTTE had
weapons on their shoulders from which they fired at the Security Forces. In response to
further questioning as to whether the LTTE was present in the hospital for medical
purposes or for operational purposes, he stated that:

“What | say is, important places like this were being used by the LTTE, they stayed near
these important places and did their armed operations.”

On 24" January 2009, the ICRC had informed the Commander of the Sri Lanka Army that
on that date, the Udayarkattu Hospital had been hit by one shell while another shell had
exploded at the proximity of the hospital compound. It was stated by the ICRC that the
hospital authorities had advised that the first shell had led to five civilians being killed
and 27 injured.147

PTK Hospital

A former senior LTTE cadre referring to the period in January 2009 before the Army had
come to PTK, stated that the PTK hospital was functioning. On further questioning by
the Commission he elaborated that there had been some damage to the outside of the
hospital due to shells having fallen, although he did not know from which side the shells
that damaged the hospital were fired from, as both sides were sheIIing.148

A Government Doctor who was serving at the Puthukudiyirippu Hospital149

up to
January 2009, when asked whether there was any damage caused to the hospital or to

any person in the hospital, he responded:

145
146

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC .Transcript No. LLRC/1S/10.03.11/01
Udayarkaddu Hospital, Valipunam School (Temp Hospital) and ICRC office were demarcated as 1km radius safe areas on 22

January. 2009

147

Letter dated 24 January 2009 from the ICRC to the Commander of the Army- Annexe 4.10 See fn. 139

148 Representations made by an ex-LTTE member before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01

149

Puthukudiyiruppu Hospital placed in 1km no safe zone on 23 January. 2009
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“One or two shells fell within the hospital premises, not on the hospital building but
hospital premises in the bare land area, but few people suffered injuries not major injuries”

He went on to say that the ICRC had also been present and when asked whether he
knew who had fired the shells he responded:

“I don’t know, but at that time the attacks were very close to the hospital — within 1 km
away from the hospital, so an intense battle was going on.”

He also stated that the LTTE had gun positions very close to the Hospital premises —
about 200 — 300 meters away. **°

Another doctor® when questioned by the Commission as to when he had left PTK
hospital stated it was on 3" February night/4th morning. He was then asked whether
there was any shelling of the hospital and he stated:

‘4™ Feb was our Independence Day and there was a talk among the people that the Army
was going to take over PTK that night and there was intensive fighting in the area. Fighting

was going on 500 meters from the hospital ‘

He said civilians also moved to the hospital as they thought it would be safe. He was in a
bunker but felt as if shells were falling on his head. When questioned as to whether the
LTTE had heavy artillery near the hospital he said he could not give the exact distance

but it was very close.

12 who was interviewed by the Commission stated that on 3™

A Government officia
February 2009, shells had fallen on the PTK hospital where he was receiving treatment.
He further stated that he had been taken in for a dressing and as soon as he was
brought out a shell had landed on the theatre and the entire theatre had been
damaged. He added that all who could run away had fled screaming. He further stated
that he had received the injury when shells had fallen on his residence which had been
situated about 500 meters from the hospital on 1* February 2009. He added that his
father in law had died due to this incident. When questioned as to who was responsible
for the attack on the hospital he stated that he could not say exactly but it was the

‘general anticipation’ that when a shell lands it had been fired by the Army.

150
151
152

Dr S. Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24™ November. 2010
Dr T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30™ November 2010
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Colombo on 01% July 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/01.07.11/01
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Another Government official >

when interviewed by the Commission stated that shells
had fallen on the premises of the PTK hospital on 4" February 2009 in which an

ambulance driver had also died.

On 14™ January 2011, the ICRC in a letter addressed to the Army Commander stated
that on 13" January 2009 at 10.00 a.m. the hospital in PTK had been attacked with
artillery. The shell had exploded approximately 2 m from the male medical ward, in the
middle of the hospital compound. According to what was stated by the ICRC in its letter
the incident had resulted in the injury of one bystander and one patient who was inside
the hospital at the time of the attack.”™ On 1* February 2009, the ICRC informed the
Army Commander that a shell had hit the Southern end of the compound of the PTK
hospital which had resulted in some casualties.**

A vaccination officer attached to the PTK hospital until the 1 week of February 2009
stated that a hospital ward had been damaged due to shells having fallen. When
guestioned further by the Commission he stated that there was an LTTE Camp at the
rear of the hospital — approximately 50 — 100 meters away and it is possible that the
LTTE was carrying out military operations from there.**®

A nursing officer who had served at PTK hospital stated that in February 2009 the
hospital had been functioning with about 400 — 500 patients. He went on to state that
around the third week of February shells had fallen in the hospital premises —
approximately 5 meters from the theatre and female ward. After this incident the
patients had been shifted to the makeshift hospital at Puthumatthalan. When
guestioned by the Commission he stated that only around 100 patients had been
transferred to the Puthumatthalan hospital as the patients with minor injuries had left

and the LTTE cadres who were patients had also left.”’

Makeshift hospital at Puthumatthalan

A Government official who was interviewed by the Commission and who had been a

patient at Puthumatthalan hospital during the month of February 2009, stated that

I 158

shells had been falling around the hospita Other civilians and hospital staff also

stated that shells had fallen on the hospital premises.** An overseer who worked at the

153 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01

154
155

ICRC letter dated 14" January 2009 to the Army Commander
ICRC letter dated 1% February 2009 to Chief of Defence Staff — Annex 4.11

156 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01

157 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01

158 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/01.07.2011/01
% Two representations made by civilians before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
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Puthumatthalan hospital and who had crossed over to the Government held area on
18" March 2009 stated that he had worked at the hospital from 16" February 2009, and
until the time he left there had been no damage to the hospital even though both the
Army and the LTTE were firing shells at each other.*®

During the Commission’s sittings at the Omanthai Detention Centre, a detainee stated
that on 15" April 2009, the LTTE targeted the Mathalan Hospital with an artillery shell
and over ten people had been killed. On being questioned further by the Commission he
stated that on that date the hospital was under the control of the LTTE and he further
added that the LTTE had erroneously targeted the hospital and had apologized to the

relatives of the casualties and given them ‘some small help.’*®*

The civilians interviewed by the Commission stated that the LTTE injured cadres were
also being treated at the Puthumatthalan Hospital but they were not carrying arms. A
hospital employee who had worked at the Puthumatthalan Hospital stated that there
were LTTE positions outside the hospital and that he had seen the LTTE use all types of

weapons including those which were mounted on vehicles.*®

Another hospital
employee stated that the LTTE was firing from about 20 meters from the
Puthumatthalan Hospital.'®® He further stated that a shell had fallen on the theatre of
Puthumatthalan Hospital as there had been fighting between both parties. Another
civilian stated that the LTTE had mounted heavy artillery at the boundary of the hospital

premises.164
Makeshift Hospital at Mullaivaikkal

A doctor serving at Mullaivaikkal Hospital during the last days of the conflict also stated
that the LTTE had their Artillery guns about 300-500 meters away from the Mullaivaikkal
Hospital. The doctor in response to a question whether any of the hospitals that he
served in were shelled, stated that shells had fallen on the surrounding areas of the
Mullaivaikkal makeshift hospital. According to him there had been two blasts and there
were containers and trucks which were hit by the shells. In response to further
guestions he stated that the LTTE trucks that were parked in the hospital, which were
used to transport their arms and personnel were struck by shells. He added that 4 or 5
people had died when the shell hit the hospital entrance. He further clarified that they

160

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/I1S/21.08.11/01

161 Representations made in camera
162 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/21.08.11/01
163 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/21.08.11/1
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Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/I1S/20.08.11/01
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were not patients who were admitted to the hospital, but were people who were
standing there at that time. '

A hospital employee who had served in the Mullaivaikkal Hospital from 9™ March stated

that shells had fallen on the hospital and people had died.*®®

A Nursing Officer who was
attached to the Mullaivaikkal hospital until the end of April stated that there was
shelling in the vicinity of the hospital.'®’ A driver attached to the Mullaivaikkal Hospital
when interviewed by the Commission stated that one day as he had returned to the
hospital and parked the ambulance a shell had fallen on the hospital premises and he

had sustained an injury.*®®

A Nursing Officer who had served at Mullaivaikkal West hospital stated that the hospital
had not suffered any damage until the time when he moved to the Army held area on
22" April 2009.%°

Wattuwal makeshift medical facility

A detainee at the Omanthai Detention Centre described his experiences on 16™ May
2009, and stated inter alia that he was looking after patients at the Wattuwal hospital
and that there were about 1,000 patients in the hospital and many doctors and nurses.
In order to seek further clarification the Commission interviewed this detainee again. He
then stated that it was an LTTE makeshift medical centre and that there had been about
100 patients and a few doctors. He went on to say that the LTTE was in control of the
hospital up until about 12 noon on 16" May, when the Army came in and took control
of it. On further questioning he added that there had been intense shelling and the
hospital had been damaged and people had also suffered injury.170 He added that it was
a temporary facility and it was not housed in a building but under temporary covers.

Protection of Medical Personnel

During the course of representations made before it, the Commission heard no
allegations of direct attacks on medical personnel. However, a doctor who had been the
Regional Director of Health Services, Mullaittivu District brought to the attention of the
Commission that two days before the end of the conflict on 15% May 2009, he had
sustained injuries. About 10 to 15 minutes after this incident while the doctors were

165
166
167
168
169
170

Dr V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November 2010
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/I1S/20.08.11/01
Representations made by 2 civilians before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/15/21.08.11/01
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01
Representations made in camera
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giving him treatment, the Army had arrived and directed the doctors to go to the army
held area. Since he could not walk, the doctors and other staff had physically carried
him about 2 kms distance and had handed him over to a military hospital in
Mullaivaikkal, where he was again given first aid treatment and then sent to Kilinochchi
in an army vehicle. The following morning the Army had informed him that he was being
sent to Vavuniya. However, he had been detained for more than a week at Kilinochchi.
He had sustained a very serious injury and there had been one litre of blood in his lungs
and immediate treatment should have been given, but nothing had been done.

4.141 After that the Army at Kilinochchi handed him to the CID at Vavuniya and from Vavuniya
on the same day he had been taken to the 4™ Floor, in Colombo. On the following day
he was admitted to the National Hospital Colombo where he had received proper
treatment.'’"

4.142 The Commission sought clarification from relevant government authorities with regard
to the above allegation of the doctor. The ASP, CID, Colombo who came before the
Commission explaining the reason for the delay in treatment stated, that the doctor had
been injured on 15% May 2009. At the time, the hospital had not been functioning in the
Mullaivaikkal area. The Kilinochchi hospital too was abandoned by the LTTE who had
damaged the surgical theatre and had taken the medical equipment with them when
they retreated. Therefore, the situation prevalent at the time was not conducive to any
type of surgical intervention. At the height of the war it was a risky journey to make
from Vellamullivaikkal which was at the epi-centre of the fighting. During this period
when fighting was intense, helicopters could not land due to R.P.G. gun fire from the
LTTE. Even the army personnel who were injured had received only field treatment at
that time. During this critical time even amputation of limbs were done by para medical
officers and that if they had attempted to transport the doctor from Vellamullivaikkal to
Vavuniya during May 12" to 20" that it would have jeopardized the lives of many.*”?

prT. Vartharajah Before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2010

The Chief Inspector/OIC, CID, Colombo in his letter dated 02/06/2009 to Director/CID states, that upon admission to Ward
No 72 of the National Hospital Colombo, for necessary treatment he had personally contacted the Hospital Director to ensure
priority medical attention and protection for his safety. The Neuro-Plastic Surgery Unit of the National Hospital Colombo, had
given the surgery date for his nerve injury for August 2009. The doctor had written to the OIC/CID requesting permission to
enter a private hospital to expedite surgery. By letter dated 3" July 2009 the CID has taken necessary steps to grant the
doctor’s request. It was further stated that the request was subsequently withdrawn, as the surgery date was brought forward
at the National Hospital due to the intervention of the CID. Representations made by a CID Officer before the LLRC. Transcript
No.LLRC/1S/16.03.11/01.
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Supply of humanitarian relief, including food and medicine to civilians in conflict areas
Introduction

4.143 Oral and written material was placed before the Commission by, senior Government
officials, senior defence officials and Government doctors pertaining to the provision of
a supply chain of food, medical supplies and medical personnel and medical facilities
that was undertaken by the Government, with a view to ensuring an unimpeded flow of
humanitarian relief to the people in affected areas. The Commission also heard several
representations from civilians in the affected areas regarding the situation that
prevailed concerning the supply of food, medical supplies and medical facilities during
the final phase of the conflict.

4.144 The material before the Commission further disclosed that after the breakdown of the
CFA and the subsequent intensification of the conflict, the ground realities were such
that the supply of food, medicine and humanitarian supplies had to be addressed on a
‘real time’ basis. Therefore, in October 2006, the Government had established a

173 According to the

Consultative Committee on Humanitarian Assistance (CCHA).
Minutes of the CCHA meetings, the CCHA and its Sub Committees had met regularly and
discussed important issues concerning humanitarian assistance to the conflict areas so
that such issues could be dealt with expeditiously at the highest levels. The CCHA had
been chaired by the Minister for Disaster Management and Human Rights. The other
members had included Ambassadors of USA, Germany and Japan, the Head of the
Delegation of the European Commission, representatives of relevant UN agencies such
as United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR), United Nations Office of
the Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs (UNOCHA), World Food Program (WFP) etc. as
well as the Chairman of the NGOs Committee, the Commissioner General of Essential
Services, Government Agents and Senior Officials of relevant Ministries. There had been
174 that functioned under the CCHA. A high ranking Defence official

explained that the CCHA was established as a problem solving mechanism, in
175

five sub-committees

cooperation with the Co-chairs and UN Agencies.”"” It was stated that throughout the

period of military operations commencing from 2006 onwards until its conclusion, all

3 Srj Lanka’s Humanitarian Effort (SLHE), 2011. Presidential Task Force for Resettlement, Development and Security in the

Northern Province (PTFRDS)

7% Sub Committees: Resettlement & Welfare — co-chaired by Secretary/Ministry of Resettlement and Disaster Relief Services
and Country Representative (CR) UNHCR; Logistics & Essential Services — co-chaired by Secretary/Ministry of National Building
and Estate Infra-structure Development and CR WFP; Livelihood — co-chaired by Secretary/Ministry of Fisheries & Aquatic
Resources & CR ILO; Health — co-chaired by Secretary/Ministry of Health and CR WHO; Education — co-chaired by
Secretary/Ministry of Education and CR UNICEF. Source: PTFRDS. SLHE 2011.

7 Mr, Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August, 2010
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issues pertaining to humanitarian assistance to conflict affected areas had been
discussed at CCHA meetings.

The Commission was also informed that the President had in August 2006, appointed a
Senior Public Officer as Commissioner General of Essential Services (CGES), to be in
charge of ensuring an uninterrupted supply of food, medicine and other essential items
to the affected areas. Furthermore, at the ground level, action had also been taken by
the Army to appoint Liaison Officers in the affected areas to work with civilian officials,
including the Government Agents, to facilitate the movement of these items. 176

Delivery of Food, Medical Supplies and Other Essential Items to the conflict areas and the constraints
experienced From August 2006 to January 2009

Material placed before the Commission shows that from August 2006 to the end of
January 2009, food, medicine, building materials, fuel and non food items were
transported by road to Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu districts. This exercise had been
carried out by the Government Agent Vavuniya and the Security Forces Commander
Wanni with the assistance of UN Agencies operating in these areas.’”’ As the conflict
had intensified in the Wanni, the road transport had become increasingly more difficult.

Method of deciding quantities for the supply of Humanitarian Assistance to Uncleared Areas and
method of distribution

According to the material placed before the Commission, quantities of food items to be
sent to the Wanni uncleared areas had been decided in consultation with the WPF, the
Ministry of Nation Building, the Ministry of Resettlement and the respective

d,*”® and with regard to medical supplies, the Ministry

Government Agents on the groun
of Healthcare and Nutrition had made provision for the quarterly supplies to the two
districts (Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu) in consultation with the Regional Director of Health
Services (RDHS) of the respective districts. It transpires from the material placed before
the Commission that even with the deterioration of the prevailing security situation,

additional supplies had been sent at their request.*”

The material further discloses that transportation had been done by the CGES with the
assistance of the Sri Lanka Army and the ICRC. Distribution of the food had been by the

176 ., .
ibid.
CGES Response dated 2" June 2010 to the US Dept of State Report (USSD Report) on Incidents during the recent conflict in

177

Sri Lanka. Annex 4.12

178

 1bid.

PTRDS: SLHE 2011
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Multi Purpose Cooperative Societies (MPCS) under the direct supervision of the GAs,
WFP and ICRC."®

The ground situation in the Wanni

According to the material placed before the Commission, in August 2008, a central
logistics hub®®! to supply food and essential items had been established in Vavuniya. It
had been managed by the WFP to facilitate the storage of nearly 5000 MTs of food and
non-food items, in order to accelerate supplies to the Wanni. These operational
arrangements had been to reduce the turnaround time of the supply fleet to provide

more supplies.

It transpires from the CCHA Meeting Minutes of g September 2008 that the UN and
INGOs were based in Kilinochchi until September 2008 and co-ordinated their activities
with the GAs. The Minutes also disclose that in September 2008 a decision had been
taken by the Government to relocate the UN and INGOs to Vavuniya and the
Government had requested them to continue to complement efforts taken by
Government through the GAs. It appears from the Minutes that, some concerns had
been raised on how humanitarian convoys could be used without an international
presence in the affected areas of Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu. It had then been explained
that the food assistance would go through Government channels. The WFP would take
the food to either Vavuniya or Kilinochchi, and then arrangements would be made for
the GA Kilinochchi to collect the food and distribute through the co-operative societies.
It had been further explained at the Meeting that the MPCSs moved with the people
and this had been the case even in the Eastern Province.'®

Material placed before the Commission disclosed that the Government had made
strenuous efforts to keep the road open for more than three days a week to allow food
convoys. During the latter part of 2008, supplying of essential items into the Wanni had
become progressively more complex. This had been due to the fact that the land route
had to be changed due to security reasons. This had caused concerns both to the

Government and the UN.'®

According to the material before the Commission the
Security Forces had quickly opened alternate routes and facilitated the transport of

humanitarian assistance.®* At the CCHA meeting on 16" October 2008, the UN Resident

180 ,, .
Ibid.
181 ., .
ibid.
182
183

184 ibid

CCHA minutes 08™ September 2008
PTFRDS: SLHE 2011
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and Humanitarian Coordinator (UN RC/HC) had thanked the Government and especially
the GAs of Vavuniya, Mullaittivu and Kilinochchi for their assistance in sending the food
convoys to the Wanni. He had further stated that the WFP convoy was not able to go
sooner due to the change of the route. The Minutes of the meeting further discloses
that a Government convoy had nevertheless been dispatched as food stocks in the
Wanni were in need of replenishment.

It was also brought to the attention of the Commission that GAs of Kilinochchi and
Mullaittivu had been directed by CGES to maintain a 3 month buffer stock of 750 — 1000
MTs of essential food in their respective districts for distribution amongst civilians.
Material was also placed before the Commission stating that even after the end of the
conflict stocks of rice had been found in warehouses in Mullaittivu.'®

The material before the Commission discloses that when residents of Kilinochchi had
been forced by the LTTE to move with the LTTE cadres towards Mullaittivu in January
2009, the buffer stocks that were available at Dharmapuram for the Kilinochchi district,
had been transported to Mullaittivu and handed over to the GA of the Mullaittivu
district.®

final phase of the conflict, when making representations before the Commission stated

A former Government Agent of Kilinochchi, who held this office during the

that, the CGES had given instructions to maintain food stocks for three months and that
buffer stocks were to be maintained at the Government warehouses in
Puthukudiyiruppu. She went on to explain that when she had left Puthukudyiruppu on
22" January 2009 a three month buffer stock™®’ had been maintained with a view to
meeting the needs of the people.

A Government Official’® who was interviewed by the Commission stated that from
October 2008 displaced persons started moving towards the PTK area. Together with
some INGOs, the ICRC and the UNDP he had been involved in finding land and putting
up sheds and huts for IDPs. He further stated that until the end of December 2008 food
supplies sent by the Government and the WFP were adequate to meet the needs of the
people. He stated that buffer stocks also had been available. From January 15% 2009,
onwards the situation had become difficult. However, he had remained until the end of
January 2009 and distributed food and clothes sent by the Indian Government. When
qguestioned by the Commission regarding the records of buffer stocks maintained he

185 ., .
ibid

186

187
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PTFRDS: SLHE 2011
Mrs. Imelda Sukumar before the LLRC on 04™ November 2011
Representations made by a government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
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stated that it was attended to by the Additional Government Agent Mullaittivu, who is
currently in Switzerland.

At the CCHA meeting on 21° November 2008, the UN RC/ HC had presented the report
on the UN assessment mission which had followed the Second WFP Convoy to the
Wanni in October 2008. According to the Report tabled, based on the UN Missions
interviews with IDPs and civilian officials, it had been revealed that ‘the top need’ from
people had been food, shelter and water and sanitation facilities. ‘People are largely
dependent on food rations and regular food supplies are going on. The calorie
requirement is largely met but the people are not receiving a balanced diet due to lack
of purchasing power and increase of food prices in October”.*®® At the meeting it had

been noted that there was no food shortage in the Wanni.

The Commission was also apprised of the fact that the convoys of food and medical
supplies had been sent into the uncleared areas in the Wanni, despite the heavy

presence of the LTTE.'®

A high ranking Defence Official™*

when making representations before the Commission
stated that a decision was taken by the Government to suspend military operations at
regular intervals, in order to provide safe passage for the convoys of food and medical
supplies, risking LTTE attack. These convoys had in fact been attacked by the LTTE on
many occasions. It was further stated that the Government was also aware that a
substantial part of the items sent for civilian use were forcibly taken by the LTTE.
According to this Official, this fact had also been known to the representatives of UN
Agencies, the ICRC and Government officials who had been present in these areas. A
Government Official who was serving in PTK during the conflict also stated that the LTTE
did take some part of the food but they had had their own stocks as well.’? A civilian
who had been in the conflict areas until the final days of the conflict stated that the
Government had made all efforts to provide food and sustenance and humanitarian
relief to the civilians affected by the conflict until March 2009. He further elaborated
that the LTTE had taken some scarce items such as potatoes and vegetables.m

Material placed before the Commission®® shows that from 16 October 2008 the LTTE
had attacked the convoys carrying essential food to Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu districts

189
190

9% ipid

CCHA Meeting Minutes 21" November 2008
Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC on 17" August, 2010

192 Representations made by a Government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
193 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/15/20.08.11/01
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CGES Response to the USSD Report. Annex 4.12
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on several occasions. According to this information, LTTE had shelled the convoys as set
out below:

Convoy 2 (16 Oct. 2008) - Shelling 1°* day (before Puliyankulam)

Convoy 5 (10 Nov. 2008) - Shelling (Omanthai) while returning

Convoy 10 (08 Jan. 2009) - Shelling (Nedunkerny) while returning
Convoy 11 (16 Jan. 2009) - Shelling (Puthukudiyiruppu) [lasted for 7 days]

Material before the Commission also reveals that the LTTE shelling of convoys had
intensified with the attack on 16 January 2009 lasting for several days, with
Puthukudiyiruppu coming under heavy fire. This had made the transportation of food
extremely difficult. Nevertheless food supplies to the Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu districts

195 According to the clarifications

had continued by road until the end of January 2009.
received from CGES, the Government of Sri Lanka had requested the ICRC to negotiate a
safe passage for food transportation with the LTTE but apparently they had not been

able to do so0.*%®

The CCHA Meeting Minutes of 30" January 2009, disclose that another Joint UN Rapid
Needs Identification Mission had visited the Wanni on 29" December 2008. The
Assessment Team comprising WFP, UNICEF, UNOCHA, ICRC and Government Agent staff
had assessed the situation in Tharmapuram and Puthukudiyiruppu. According to the
Assessment Team there had been a need for supplementary food such as onions
because not as many convoys as were required could go in due to the security

situation.*’

At the same meeting the UN RC/HC had stated that more convoys were needed with a
longer time period allocated for movement of the convoys. He had applauded the good
work done through the Government Agent structures in delivery of relief assistance to
IDPs in such circumstances.'®®

55 1bid,

1% 1hid.
197

198 1bid.

CCHA Minutes of 30™ January 2009
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Government and WFP Food Delivered to Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu
from October 2008 to January 2009%°

Food sent by Government (a) WFP & GA convoys
(in MTs) (in MTs)
(b)
October 2008 4460 1850
November 2008 2208 1679
December 2008 2483 2278
January 2009 864 1782
Total 8370(c)
10,015

(a) Information provided by CGES*®

(b) 11 convoys plus GA convoy on 28/1/2009
(c) Includes 781 MTs which had been available in the Wanni and purchased by WFP

201

4.162 The Commission was also apprised that in addition to the food quantities delivered and
the available buffer stocks, during this time there had still been food available in the

202

Wanni as shown by the local purchases made by WFP“"* and displaced persons were

often carrying food with them.?®
The ground situation after January 2009

4.163 It was brought to the attention of the Commission that with the deterioration of the
security situation in the Wanni due the LTTE attacking food convoys, the Government
was forced to look for an alternate route to maintain supplies to the affected areas. Air
lifting food supplies had not been possible due to LTTE ground fire, the only option had

% The UN Guidelines for calculating food rations for refugees agreed upon by WFP and UNHCR states ‘when refugees are

dependent on externally provided food, the total food available to them from all sources should provide an intake of no less
than 1900 kilocalories of energy per person per day, of which at least 8% should be in the form of protein and ten percent in
the form of fat. The calories of energy, however can be modified depending on the circumstances of the population. Source:
http://www.unsystem.org/scn/archives/npp12/ch3.htmThis translates to approximately 0.5kgs of food per day per person or
15kgs of food per person per month. Accordingly every 100,000 persons would need 1500 MTs per month.

20 otter dated 6 April 2011 from CGES. Annex 4.12

2% Annex 4.13 Letter dated 22 June 2011from WFP. 2** ‘the WFP carried 11 such convoys from 3" October 2008 to 16™ January
2009, delivering 8,369 MTs of food to both districts (Mullaittivu and Killinochchi). Heavily mined roads and lack of sufficient
security guarantees have prevented further WFP convoys leaving to Wanni. However on 29" January 2009, Sri Lanka
Government had organized a convoy which included 13 trucks carrying 153 MTs of WFP food. The convoy safely reached Wanni
town of PTK”. (http://www.wfp.org/countries/Sri-Lanka/News?page=1 — 6 February 2009)

22 WFP letter dated 22 June 2011. Annexe 4.13

203 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/I1S/20.08.11/01
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been to use sea transport from Trincomalee to Mullaivaikkal. However, the drawback

had been the non availability of port facilities for unloading at Mullaivaikkal.?%*

4,164 The Commission was briefed that the private vessel owners had been reluctant to
deploy their ships, due to the heavy security risks. Therefore, the Government had hired
two tug boats from the Sri Lanka Ports Authority on 17 February 2009, and
commenced sea operations. Later a passenger vessel “Green Ocean”, which transported
passengers from Trincomalee to Jaffna, had also been hired for transportation of goods
to Mullaittivu. Subsequently other private vessels had also been used for transporting

relief items to Mullaittivu.?%

4.165 According to the material before the Commission, the goods carried to Puthumatthalan
area of the Mullaittivu Sea, with ICRC protection, had to be unloaded mid sea into small
fishing crafts and on many occasions changes had to be made in unloading points due to
increased threats by the LTTE. The food and medical supplies delivered to the shore, had
been taken over by the Additional Government Agent of the Mullaittivu district for
distribution among civilians.’®® The material further discloses that at the point of
delivery some of the food would be appropriated by the LTTE who were in control of the
area. A Government official who was interviewed by the Commission stated that when
the food was unloaded from the ships, a percentage of food went to the LTTE, and he
further stated that from the Government Agent down to the lower officials, food was
being given to the LTTE as the LTTE were using false ration cards and obtaining
supplies.?’” The normal procedure had been for the distribution of the food supplies
through the network of MPCSs. However, it was pointed out that since the Additional
Government Agent and his staff had themselves been displaced with the general
populace, the distribution of food supplies had been from impromptu venues and not
from the actual locations of the MPCSs. The Commission was also briefed that whatever
shortages that prevailed during this period, had been mainly due to the absence of
unloading facilities, without a proper port and the associated security risks.’® The CGES
also briefed the Commission that with all these difficulties, the Government had not
suspended supplies of food and medicine to the people. During this period the Ministry

2% CGES Response on the USSD Report. Annex 4.12

2% Ijd.

%% |bid. PTFRDS:SLHE 2011

207 Representations made by a government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01

28 CGES Response on the USSD Report. Annex 4.12.

PTFRDS:SLHE 2011, states ( confirmed by WFP letter dated 22 June 2011 to LLRC) that Shipments carrying 1049 MTs of food
were diverted to Jaffna due to inaccessibility to the Wanni in April 2009, the OCHA report of 14" May 2009 indicates that an
ICRC ferry carrying 25MTs of food had been trying to offload food for 3 days and could not do so due to the security situation.
Another cargo vessel Oriental Princess was waiting with 500 MTs to be delivered.
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of Health and Nutrition, had initiated action to transport essential medicines through
passenger vessels, operated by the Government, to bring back patients from Mullaittivu
to Trincomalee with ICRC assistance.?®

Food Delivered via Sea Route to Puthumatthalan, Mullaittivu from 17% February 2009 to May 2009

Food MTs Food sent by Government (a) WFP Remarks
(MTs) (b)

February2009 835 80 | CGES also sent 1315 L. Vegetable QOil

March 2009 1650 1080 | CGES also sent 24000 packets of milk
powder, and 1232 bags of “thriposha”

April 2009 1190.50 1119 | 1049.37 MTs destined for Wanni was
diverted to Jaffna due to inaccessibility to
the Wanni

May 2009 615.00 (c) 50

(a) Information provided by CGES - this includes WFP food items
(b) WEFP letter dated 22 June 2011
(c) Includes 500 MTs of food items sent on “Oriental Princess”

4.166 The CGES also informed the Commission that in May 2009 the Government had
dispatched another 500 MTs of food supplies by seas on the “Oriental Princess.”

4.167 A copy of a Situation Report on the Mullaittivu district prepared on 28t February 2009
by the then Additional Government Agent Mullaittivu district was made available to the
Commission at its request. The report identifies shortcomings in the supply of food and
other humanitarian relief for the IDPs in the conflict zone in particular in the villages of
Palayamaththalan, Puthumatthalan, Ampalavanpokkanai, Valayanmadam , Mullaivaikkal
West and Mullaivaikkal East.

4.168 The UN Joint Humanitarian Updates during the months of March, April and May 20092

refer to scarcity of food, water, sanitation facilities and medicines. A UNHCR spokesman
in a statement on 18" May 2009 had referred to the fact that around 265,000 people
had fled the conflict zone in North Eastern Sri Lanka and had endured extreme
conditions in the conflict zone.”**

4.169 Amidst these reports, towards the latter stages of the conflict, the WFP website of 5t
May 2009 carried the following comment by its, Deputy Country Director.

209
210,

CGES Response on the USSD Report. Annex 4.12

http://www.humanitarianinfo.org/srilanka hpsl/Files/Situation%20Reports/Joint%20Humanitarian%20Update/LKHO005 Sri
%20Lanka%20Joint%20Humanitarian%20Update 28%20March%20-%2030%20April%202009.pdf;.

2 Briefing Notes of 18 May 2009 of Ron Redmond, UNHCR spokesperson. Available at http://www.unhcr.org/4a1269406.html
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http://www.humanitarianinfo.org/srilanka_hpsl/Files/Situation%20Reports/Joint%20Humanitarian%20Update/LKH0005_Sri%20Lanka%20Joint%20Humanitarian%20Update_28%20March%20-%2030%20April%202009.pdf
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“No let down in food distribution to NFZ, over 3000 MT delivered.

The World Food Programme (WFP) country officials yesterday (May 4), while refuting
baseless assumptions of ‘inadequate’ food supplies to the civilian hostages in the 4.5 sq.km
No Fire Zone repulsed fiction with fact confirming ‘no let down in food distribution to

hostages in the NFZ'. “Since February till end of April the WFP in collaboration with the Sri

Lankan government has sent over 3000 MTs of food supplies”. **?

Supplies of Fuel

The Minutes of Meetings of the CCHA shows that fuel requirements had been regularly
discussed due to the importance of fuel for a variety of humanitarian needs such as for
water bowsers and running of mobile clinics, generators, ambulances and storage
facilities. According to these Minutes decisions had been taken to increase fuel supplies
in an expeditious manner where an urgent need had been evident.

Estimates of Displaced Persons

213 stated before the Commission

A Senior Government Official serving in the Wanni,
that in January 2009 there were nearly 350,000 people from the districts of Kilinochchi,

Mannar, Vavuniya and Mullaittivu when she had left PTK on the 22 of January 2009.

Another Government Official who had been serving in the conflict areas stated that the
Government Agent Vavuniya had requested them to conduct a survey of the number of
people in the Mathalan, Ampalavanpokkanai, Mullaivaikkal area and this was done
through the 250 Grama Sevaka divisions which were functioning at the time. The basis
of the survey had been the ration cards which had been issued to the people who were
regularly given food stamps. Based on this survey he stated that there were about
330,000 people.”**

A civilian who was interviewed by the Commission stated that based on a numerical
assessment which was done on records available, there were approximately 319,000
people in Puthumatthalan, Mullaivaikkal Area. In April 2009 when the Army had gained
control of the area between Mathalan and Pokkanai about 150,000 people had moved
to Government held areas.?"”

212
213

Available at http://www.wfp.org/content/no-let-down-food-distribution-nfz-over-3000mt-delivered
Mrs. Imelda Sukumar before the LLRC at Colombo on 4™ November 2010

24 Representations made by a Government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01

215

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/I1S/20.08.11/01
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UN RC/ HC at a CCHA meeting on 30" March 2009 had estimated the number of civilians
to be between 120,000 to 180,000.?**John Holmes, UN Under Secretary General for
Humanitarian Affairs and Emergency Relief Coordinator when briefing the UN Security
Council on 26™ March 2009 had stated that their most recent estimate had been that
there were approximately 150,000 to 190,000 civilians in an area of around 14 square
kilometers. In his briefing he referred to the fact that fighting was continuing and the
LTTE was making every attempt to hold the civilian population as hostage. He went on
to state that risks of malnutrition and disease were growing and while efforts were
being made to deliver relief items, these efforts were constrained because the access
was limited to the sea route. Hence the quantities of food and medical supplies were
not adequate.217

Civilian Views

A civilian who had made representations before the Commission stated, while
recounting his experience in the Puthumatthalan NFZ, (from February 2009 onwards)
that the area had no facilities economically, so there had been no food production and
they had virtually been thrown into starvation with no drinking water, no proper food
and no clothing and they had gone through untold suffering. He went on to state that
when the ships carrying food anchored, the Additional Government Agent had gone to
take over the supplies. The LTTE had accompanied the Additional Government Agent to
the landing point and once the Government official signed the documents, the goods
were handed over to him. At this point the LTTE had taken over the supplies.?'® He
added that it would then be in LTTE stocks and due to mishandling and without proper
storage the food had got damaged and the people were given damaged items.
Therefore, when the people had eaten this food which had been distributed to them,
they had developed diarrhoea or dysentery. He further stated that he had been a
witness to a particular family becoming casualties due to this type of action by the LTTE.
He also added that the LTTE had forcibly appropriated medical equipment and
medicines. As there had been no proper preservation, nor proper stocking, food and
medical supplies had been damaged. He explained that, all in all, everything was in the
control of the LTTE. Another civilian stated that the LTTE took the food from the ships

219

and replaced it with their old stocks.”™” A civilian, who appeared before the Commission

on being questioned, also stated that when food stuff was brought the LTTE

216

CCHA Minutes of 30™ January 2009

27 Briefing 26" March 2009 on the humanitarian situation in Sri Lanka, John Holmes, Under Secretary-General for Humanitarian
Affairs and Emergency Relief Co-ordinator — Available at www.youtube.com/watch?v=llwPXciHU w

218

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14 November, 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10 /01-

219 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01
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4.177

4.178

appropriated it and it was not distributed to the people.?”® Yet another civilian who had
been forced to go to Mullaivaikkal during the displacement, stated that there were a
large number of people moving so there were shortages in respect of food and water
and they had been very weak and feeble.?*

A Government official stated that after January 2009, while there were food supplies by
ship, these supplies were not adequate. Several other civilians when interviewed by the
Commission stated that while people did not starve, the food that was available was not
adequate. People had been experiencing short supplies of milk food. Private societies
had been distributing porridge to civilians. From ot May 2009 food had become very
difficult; the Government had provided food which the civilians had to stand in a queue
to collect, at the same time the LTTE was distributing porridge from a point in
Mullaivaikkal. Prices of food had gone up to such an extent that it was not affordable.
Rice was 2000/- per kg.?’? A coconut had sold at Rs 1500/-.?*A civilian who was
interviewed by the Commission stated that while some people were well off others
were suffering without food.?**

A priest who was interviewed by the Commission stated that due to the intensification
of the conflict the food supply mechanism had broken down and after February 2009
the situation had worsened — people had not had enough food and had to share food
among themselves. He further stated that even storage had become a problem as the

stores had been damaged and the quantities sent had been inadequate.??

A detainee at the Omanthai Detention Centre who had crossed over to the Government
held area on 16™ May 2009 at Wattuwal when questioned about his experience, stated
226 Another

detainee who crossed over in May 2009 by crossing the Nanthi Kadal lagoon stated that
227 228
Th

that they had faced difficulties in respect of food and a scarcity of water.

his wife had been weak as they had had food problems during that time. e

220

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. At Poonagary 19" September 2010

Transcript No LLRC/FV/19.09.10 /02
21 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Nedunkerny on 15" August 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/15.08.10/01
2 Representations made by a Government official and 4 civilians before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01 and
LLRC1S/21.08.11/01
223 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01
24 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01
225 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/21.08.11/01
226 Representations made in camera. Transcript No. LLRC/CS/02.10.10/01
2 Representations made in camera. Transcript No. LLRC/CS/02.10.10/01
8 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01. He stated that there was some
food distribution even in the month of May 2009 and they used to boil some rice and dhal but around the 9" of May things
had become very difficult.
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Commission also heard representations from civilians that a few very old people would
have died of starvation?*’

A Government Doctor who had served in the Wanni until the final days of the conflict
during the course of his representations to the Commission stated that the hospital staff
with a few medical people went to Puthumatthalan and Mullaivaikkal. He further
elaborated:

‘ ..thinking in retrospect | cannot help concluding that we all managed to survive under
deplorable conditions, unfit even for animals, fear, suffering, loss of life or limbs and the
surrounding areas littered with dead bodies and carcasses of dying animals was all that the
poor people had to bear with. Many did not have access to a square meal a day and most

importantly and pathetically water was a hard to get commodity for many. Absent were

toilets and even the most conservative women folk had to go in the open...’230

Another Government doctor making representations before the Commission stated that
during the displacement people in Mullaivaikkal, Valayanmadan and Puthumatthalan
lived in a very congested area and faced difficulties. Water for both bathing and drinking
had not been adequate.?*

Medical Facilities and Medical Supplies during the final stages of the conflict
General

Senior officials of the Ministry of Health stated that health institutions including the
District General hospitals of Kilinochchi and Mullaittivu, Base hospitals in
Puthukudiyiruppu and Mallavi were all functioning prior to the displacement of the
people in these areas. All these hospitals were supplied, maintained and their staff paid

for by the Government throughout the conflict. 232

The senior officials of the Ministry of Health explained to the Commission the disaster
management strategy initiated by the Ministry of Disaster Management in 2004 in the
wake of the tsunami catastrophe experienced by Sri Lanka. Therefore, according to
these officials, the infrastructure and policies were already in place and provided the
necessary framework to deal with emergency situations in an expeditious manner.?*

229

Representations made by 2 civilians before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01. They stated that one or two old

people would have died. One stated that t his mother had also died due to the lack of nutritional food.

230
231
232

Dr T. Sathiamoorthy Before the LLRC at Colombo on 19 November, 2010
Dr T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2010
PTFRDS:SLHE 2011

23 Meeting with Ministry of Health Officials o7 April 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/07.04.11/01
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Medical Supplies

4.183 Material was placed before the Commission which disclosed that as in the case of the
other provinces in Sri Lanka, medical supplies were made available to the districts in the
Northern Province by the Ministry of Health. Based on the annual estimates made by
the Regional Director of Health Services (RDHS), medical supplies were dispatched
quarterly. Additional supplies had also been sent from time to time on requests made
by RDHSs. When road access for aid convoys into Wanni was no longer possible due to
escalation of the conflict, medical supplies had been shipped along with other essential
items. These included medicine, surgical items, equipment and other life saving supplies
requested by the RDHSs. This had continued until oth May 2009. Emergency health kits

d.** The Commission also heard

had also been dispatched via sea during this perio
representations explaining the logistics involved, where the medical supplies had been
sent from the Medical Supplies Division in Colombo. The containers had been sealed
and sent by road to the Regional Medical Supplies Division at Trincomalee. At
Trincomalee the supplies were shifted to ships and taken via sea route to

Puthumatthalan in the conflict zone.*®

4.184 A Government doctor who was serving in the makeshift hospitals in the Final No Fire
Zones brought to the attention of the Commission that during the three month period
from 10" February to g May 2009, they had received drugs (8) times through the ICRC
ship.?*

4.185 At the CCHA meeting on 30" March 2009, the RC/HC had reiterated that medical items,

shelter materials and chlorine tablets were an urgent requirement.?*’

4,186 Doctors serving in the conflict areas during the last stages of the conflict shared their
experiences with the Commission in terms of the availability of medical supplies. One

8 stated that they had faced difficulties and obstacles during the period of

doctor®
displacement, particularly in respect of the hospitals as they had to change the structure
of the hospitals and the medical equipment and they also had had difficulties with the
cold rooms and the storage of some drugs which had to be protected in cold rooms. He

also added that they had experienced a shortage of anaesthetics.

234 pTERDS: SLHE 2011

Meeting with Ministry of Health Officials on 70 April 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/07.04.11/01

Dr T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30 November, 2010.; Also see Annex 4.14 for medical supplies sent to the
conflict areas as provided to the Commission by the Ministry of Health.

7 CCHA Minutes

28 pr. v, Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010
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4.192
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Another doctor,?*? referring to the time at Puthumathalan ‘makeshift hospital’, stated
that he had kept the Ministry of Health informed about the shortages of medicines.
Since the land route had been closed, the Ministry had tried to send the medicines
through ships hired by the Government with the assistance of the ICRC. When they had
received the medicines they had treated the patients as much as possible and at the
same time they had evacuated the injured people to Trincomalee via the same ship.

A non medical hospital employee who had been serving at Mullaivaikkal West and East
makeshift hospitals when interviewed by the Commission stated that medical stocks did
arrive on the ships but they had not had enough ‘treatment’ for severe injuries caused
by shelling.**

The Situation Report as at 28t February 2009 prepared by the then Additional
Government Agent Mullaittivu refers to a report of the RDHS Mullaittivu in which
certain shortages of medicines had been highlighted.

A Senior Military Official who made representations to the Commission, stated that at
the last stages of the conflict the Government accepted anyone who was willing to
provide medical assistance. The Indian medical team which came before the conflict was
over had been stationed at Pulmoddai where the civilians were being evacuated by sea.
Similarly, there had been volunteers from other medical organizations.**!

Hospitals/’Makeshift Hospitals’

Representation were made by several doctors and hospital staff who had served in
hospitals and makeshift facilities during the final phase of the conflict, as well as civilians
and Government officials, regarding the conditions prevailing at the time.

A doctor who had served in the Wanni district from 2007 explained to the Commission
the difficulties encountered in working in a ‘hostile environment’ where they had to
satisfy two ‘governments’ the LTTE and the Government and at the same time provide
the services to the people.?*

The Commission was briefed that after January 2009, all the hospitals had been
‘makeshift hospitals’, temporarily arranged mostly in Government school buildings.
Therefore there had been no proper infrastructure facilities, no beds, medicines had

239

Dr T. Sathiamoorthy before the LLRC at Colombo on 19 November, 2010

240 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01

241
242

Lt. General Jagath Jayasuriya before the LLRC at Colombo on og™ September, 2010
Dr T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2010
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been supplied by the Government through ICRC ships but no other materials such as IV
stands were available and other items required to look after patients had been difficult

to find. %%

A nursing officer who was interviewed by the Commission stated that when the PTK
hospital was moved to a ‘makeshift hospital’ at Puthumatthalan, patients had to be kept
on the ground on tarpaulins and it was after 5 days that they had been able to get beds.
He went on to state that there had been no anaesthetics and painkillers.** A
Government Official who was interviewed by the Commission and who had suffered
injuries during the last stages of the conflict stated that he had been transferred from
PTK hospital to the ‘makeshift hospital’ at Puthumatthalan in early February 2009 and
there had been no beds in the hospital and the patients had been on the ground.?” A
hospital employee who had been serving in the Puthumathalan hospital until the 15" of
April 2009 stated that there was water service available in the hospital but there had
been a shortage of space and beds, and patients were lying on the floor and on

tarpaulins — but until the time she left the hospital it had not been damaged.?*®

Another doctor who was serving in the Wanni during the last phase of the conflict
stated that during the latter part of the conflict although they had a shortage of doctors
and other para medical staff, they had provided health services to the people with the
available staff and had also engaged the services of volunteers.**’

The Medical Superintendent at the Mullaittivu District General Hospital stated before
the Commission that as the fighting intensified and it advanced closer to the hospital,
they had been forced under the circumstances to move the hospital as some of the
patients had also started to move from the hospital. He added that on 5t January 2009,
the hospital had been moved to a ‘makeshift hospital’ in Vallipunam. A school in
Vallipunam had been converted to a hospital.?*®

A doctor serving at the Vallipunam makeshift hospital stated before the Commission
that when the Government forces had come close to Vallipunam area they had moved
to Puthumathalan and then to Mullaivaikkal.?*’According to him, in February 2009, since
the Kilinochchi Hospital had also been moved from PTK (Kilinochchi Hospital first moved

243

Dr. S. Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24 November, 2010

244 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/01.07.11/01
245Representaltions made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/1S/01.07.11/01
246 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/20.08.11/01

247

248 ., .
ibid
249

Dr V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010

Dr. S. Sivapalan before the LLRC at Colombo on 24 November, 2010
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to PTK) to Puthumathalan, it had been decided to divide the hospital infrastructure into
two places to serve the people better. So Puthumatthalan makeshift hospital had been
run by the Kilinochchi Hospital Administration and the Mullaittivu Hospital
administration had moved to Mullaivaiikkal.

The Commission was also briefed that as the conflict intensified and the people of

1° had been moved to

Kilinochchi were displaced, the Kilinochchi Hospita
Puthukudiyiruppu Hospital and arrangements were also made to provide services from
21 Then as the conflict had

intensified in the Puthukuduirruppu area from 3" February 2009, the provision of

temporary locations in Vallipunam and Suhandirapuram.

hospital services had been moved to Puthumathalan. It was also stated that there was
no hospital at Puthumatthalan but a school with incomplete buildings had been taken
over and converted to a makeshift hospital. In addition, OPD services had been provided
at Pokkanai, Mullaittivu and VaIayanmadam.252

A civilian who came before the Commission recounted the difficulties he had in
admitting his injured daughter to the Puthumatthalan Hospital.

‘In April 2009. My daughter was admitted to Puthumatthalan hospital. That hospital was
under the control of the LTTE. In that hospital the ordinary injured people were not
given preference but the LTTE supporters were given preference and were taken in the
ships. Injured LTTE family members were given preference. | had to plead with the
medical officer there, | had to raise both my hands, and | worshipped him, | pleaded with
him to take my daughter in the ship. This is not what | alone encountered, all the other
families also encountered the same problem.’253
During the course of their representations to the Commission some civilians also

referred to the fact that they had received adequate medical attention at the

Puthumatthalan Hospital.?**

It was further explained to the Commission that when the Puthumathalan area came
under Army control on 19" April 2009, medical facilities had thereafter been provided

250
251
252

Killinochchi captured on 2" January 2009
Dr. T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2011
Dr. T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2010.

23 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September, 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01
24 Representations of 2 persons made in camera. Transcript Nos. LLRC/CS/30.12.10/01, LLRC/CS/20.09.10/01
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from the makeshift hospital at Mullaivaiikkal which had been established earlier.?>® This

had been later shifted to Vellamullivaikkal.>*®

The CGES briefed the Commission that in March 2009, an emergency medical unit had
also been set up at Pulmoddai by the Government of India, on the request of the
Government, assisted by the Sri Lanka Navy, to treat patients coming from Mullaittivu.
The Government of India had provided medical assistance with a medical team
consisting of 01 Surgeon, 01 Anaesthetist, 02 Medical Officers, 01 Lab Technician, 06
Nurses and 04 Junior Nurses.**’

Medicines like antibiotics, drugs for diarrhoea, x-ray plant, surgical equipment
and one theatre field table had been provided at this field hospital.258 According to a
circular from the Ministry of Disaster Management and Human Rights, between the
period 10" February 2009 to ot May 2009, 5,490 patients and 8,326 bystanders had

been evacuated from Puthumatthalan and Mullaivaikkal. **°

Treatment of Sick and Injured and evacuation of patients

Material placed before the Commission disclosed that the joint UN Rapid Needs
Identification Mission to the Wanni on 29" December 2008, had observed that while
health services were fully functioning at the PTK hospital, the capacity of 200 had been
exceeded to around 500 patients. With limited staff and the movements of IDPs,
concerns had been expressed regarding sustainability of medical supplies. It had been
noted that more evacuations by the ICRC were required and that medical supplies,
especially for surgical needs were required.260

The Commission was briefed that the Ministry of Health had already provided the
medicines for the year 2009 in 2008 and the doctors were able to preserve these drugs
and medications used for children, and they were able to provide medical facilities
particularly to children until April 2009. It was also stated that since the area from
Mathalan to Mullaivaikkal was very congested, the doctors had provided treatment to
whoever was injured and also transferred pregnant mothers, injured and elderly

255
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Dr. T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November, 2010

Dr. V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010

CGES Response to USSD Report. Annex 4.12.

Letter No. PTF/NP/1/7 from CGES dated 06" April 2009 giving detailed account of the humanitarian relief provided by the

government for the civilian population of Jaffna and Wanni Districts at Annex 4.12
29 Ministry of Disaster Management and Human Rights — Humanitarian Situation Update Bulletin #1 of 15" May 2009
Available at http://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/426672648C688ED9852575CC005888B4-Full Report.pdf

260

CCHA meeting minutes 30™ January 2009
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persons with the support of the ICRC by ship and given priority to this category of
persons.”®!

The Commission was also briefed that there had been no supervision of the evacuation.
Permission had to be obtained from the LTTE to evacuate the injured. It was stated that
one or two LTTE cadres would come to see the injured and only if the injuries had been
very bad that they had given permission to evacuate. 2%

The wife of a senior LTTE cadre who came before the Commission stated that she had
suffered shell injuries and had been brought to Mathalan and then taken by ICRC ship to

Trincomalee on 2™ April 2009.2%®

Another civilian recounting the experience of his daughter who had been conscripted by
the LTTE on 25" February 2009, stated that ten days after she had been conscripted she
had suffered an injury and he had looked after her for over a month at the Mathalan
Hospital.?**

A doctor who was serving at Mullaivaikkal makeshift hospital, when questioned by the
Commission as to whether he was satisfied that the Army had done everything to take
the elders and the injured to hospital or whether he thought something more could
have been done, he stated

‘the Army along with the military doctors came to Mullaivaikkal, they came and attended
to the injured and the elders. May be they did not get the full medical attention at the time
but at least they were given the maximum treatment that could have been given under the

circumstances.’*®

According to the UN Joint Humanitarian Update Report No. # 6 covering the period 1-15
May 2009, RDHS Mullaittivu had reported that the Mullaivaikkal ‘makeshift hospital’ had
received a large number of patients and that its temporary wards had all been occupied.
It was reported that capacity constraints had prevented many of the injured from
receiving any treatment for days. According to this update, Health Ministry personnel in
the combat zone had reported that there were no antibiotics in the hospitals. RDHS had
also reported that 50% of the health workers had not reported to work due to heavy
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Dr. V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010
Dr. T. Sathyamoorthy before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010

263 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Sittankerny on 12" November 2010 Transcript No
LLRC/FV/12.11.10/01

264 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Mullaittivu on 20" September 2010. Transcript No
LLRC/FV/20.09.10/02
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Dr. V. Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010
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shelling and continued fighting in the combat zone. A limited quantity of essential drugs
sufficient for one week had been transported by the ICRC ship to Mullaivaikkal but it
had not however included antibiotics.

The LTTE impact on the provision of Medical Facilities

4.211 The Commission also heard representations that after January 2009, the majority of
LTTE cadres were also treated at the State run medical facilities although they had had

266

makeshift facilities everywhere during the final phase of the conflict.”>> The Commission

was briefed that the LTTE had maintained a separate ward in the PTK hospital for their

267

injured cadres.””’ Prior to that time they had maintained their own medical facilities.

4.212 One of the Government doctors who was serving in the ‘makeshift hospitals’ during the
final stages of the conflict when questioned as to whether they were aware of the
number of LTTE casualties and civilian casualties, stated that they could not differentiate

between an LTTE cadre and a civilian and they had treated everyone alike.?®®

4.213 It was also stated that the LTTE did take some of the medicines that were brought for
the hospitals. A former senior LTTE cadre making representations before the
Commission elaborated on this aspect and stated that there were LTTE hospitals and
makeshift hospitals run by the LTTE. The LTTE had run their hospitals in areas dominated
by them. The Government doctors and the LTTE doctors treated both the civilians and
the LTTE cadres. From 6 January 2009 he stated that all (including LTTE cadres) had
been treated at the Government hospitals. According to him at this stage the LTTE
hospitals had been closed down. Medical supplies, and medicines from the Government

269 1t was further stated

hospitals had been utilized for the treatment of LTTE cadres.
that the doctors who served in the LTTE dominated areas were also members of the

LTTE. They were paid by the Government but had worked for the LTTE.?”°

Conduct of the Sri Lankan Security Forces during the movement of civilians and combatants
into cleared areas

4.214 Having discussed the above Core Principles of IHL in relation to the surrender of
combatants and Treatment of Persons Hors de Combat, the Commission wishes to place

%6 pr Sathiamoorthy refers to LTTE having small hospitals during the final phase. He stated that they had had medicines as well

but many of them had come to the Government hospitals for treatment. Source: Meeting with Health Ministry Officials on o7
April 2011

267 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/01.07.11/01

8 prv, Shanmugarajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 19" November, 2010

% See also Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Poonagary on 19" September, 2010 Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01

270 Representations made by an ex-LTTE member before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01
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in context the practical issues arising from the internal armed conflict in Sri Lanka in
particular during the period January to May 2009 and in the immediate aftermath of the
end of the conflict.

271

Material was placed before the Commission by Senior Defence Officials®’” on the

method in which the Security Forces facilitated the surrender of combatants.

According to this material, all frontline troops had been instructed to receive all
surrendees unhurt and without any discrimination and to send them to the rear areas
for military police to take charge of them. It was stated that troops had complied with
these instructions and that female soldiers had been employed to help female IDPs and
surrendees.

A Senior Field Commander®’? when making representations before the Commission
stated that on the 17" and 18" May 2009 there were no NGOs around and whoever
surrendered, surrendered to the Military. He further stated that no sooner a combatant
surrendered, or was captured, he or she was sent as quickly as possible to the rear areas
where competent people from other sections within the Army handled them. He added
that as Field Commanders they never kept surrendees or captives in their areas for long
periods of time.

It was stated that in the initial stages field headquarters in the frontline had maintained
detailed registers®”® but in the final stages as there was a massive inflow of IDPs and
surrendees from the NFZ into the Government held areas, and for security reasons, they
were only received by the forward troops and were treated for medical needs, and
given food and other immediate needs and without much delay were transported to
Omanthai, where proper registration was done.

According to the material placed before the Commission by a Senior Military Official,
during the last two weeks of the operations, people had moved into Government held
areas from 3 directions 1) the Mullaittivu edge of the Third NFZ i.e. South of the
Wattuwal causeway, 2) towards Puthukudiyiruppu and 3) towards Chalai North of the
Third NFZ. During the last two days the influx had been from the Mullaittivu side. 2’
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Source Ministry of Defence
Major General Shavendra Silva before the LLRC at Colombo on 18™ November 2010

73 According to the Army detailed registered were maintained at field headquarters in the frontline up to about 19" January
2009 - Source Ministry of Defense

274

Source Ministry of Defense
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4.220 Material placed before the Commission also revealed that at the initial receiving point,
headcounts had been taken. Females and males had been separated and body checked.
The Commission was briefed that the count taken had the following information:
number of men/women/children and families?”>. These receiving points had been
established by forward Divisions, Brigades and Units. Later, 56 Division had handled the

registration point at Omanthai and carried out the registrations by day and night.?’®

Registration

2’7 that due to the large

4.221 It transpires from the material placed before the Commission
inflow of civilians and surrendees, the number of registration desks had been increased
at Omanthai. Head counts which had been taken at the initial receiving points (which
had been at the rear of the areas where operations were continuing) had been counter
checked at the Omanthai registration point. The following information had been lodged
at the Omanthai registration point. Name, identity card number,(if available), address,
family details, places resided during the recent past, district, Grama Niladari Division,

2’8 Details had been taken down by hand and then, on a

age, sex, and marital status.
daily basis transferred to computers maintained by the Army at Vavuniya. This
information was then transmitted through Computer Discs to Army Headquarters in

Colombo where a data base had been maintained.?”®

4.222 At Omanthai announcements had been made requesting those who were involved with
the LTTE to declare themselves. IDPs had been sent to camps and surrendees had been
sent to Detention Centres. Due to the very large numbers of civilians that had crossed
over on 17" and 18" May 2009, everyone had been sent to IDP centres at Vavuniya and
registration had been done at this point. It had taken about 2 days to dispatch all the
people to Vavuniya and the journey had taken almost 12 hours.?%

4.223 The fact that details had been taken at registration points was also stated by civilians

and detainees. 2! 282 283

73 source Ministry of Defense

Source Ministry of Defense

Source Ministry of Defense

Source Ministry of Defense

Source Ministry of Defense

Source Ministry of Defense

Representations made in camera. A witness in the course of his representations to the Commission stated that he had come
into the Government held area on 16™ May 2009 from Wattuwal. He further stated that all the names of his family
members had been registered at Omanthai and while they were sent to the welfare camp he was retained at Omanthai.

A former senior LTTE cadre appearing before the Commission stated that when they crossed over to the Government held
area at Puthumatthalan, the Security Forces had cleared the way of land mines. He further stated that all the people who
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It was also stated by a senior Defence Official that photographs of all IDPs and
surrendees had been taken and this was available in the data base.?®*

A senior Field Commander?® explained the difficulties experienced due to the mingling
of the LTTE with civilians. He emphasized the fact that one could not be complacent just
because someone surrendered with his hands raised, because a ‘terrorist is a terrorist’
and they were not sure whether the combatant would actually surrender or would give
the Security Forces a severe blow. He stated that even a suicide bomber could come just
by raising hands as a surrendee. Therefore he said that the Security Forces stopped
surrendering cadres at a distance and then the Security Forces would send their own
people to search them and once this had been done the surrendee had been taken over
and handed over to the authorities.

In connection with the suicide attacks by LTTE cadres, a Senior Field Commander?®®
making representations before the Commission stated that when the Security Forces
had captured Puthumatthalan®®’ and the civilians were able to cross over to
Government held areas, there had been three suicide attacks in the midst of the civilians
in which several civilians had died. He further stated that during the last stages on the
evening of 17" May 2009, in Vellamulllivaikkal and Karaiyamullivaikkal when the
civilians were trying to take their vehicles towards Mullaittivu, the LTTE sent the last
suicide vehicle packed with over a few hundred kilos of explosives into the Army line
and it had exploded.

Concerns of Surrendees

The Commission on its visits to the detention centres heard from detainees that, due to
the conditions not being conducive at the time of surrender, to obtain all the details of
their involvement with the LTTE, they were languishing in detention/rehabilitation
centres, even though at the time of surrender they had not been with the LTTE.

crossed (and there had been thousands) were gathered in a place about 1km from Puthumatthalan and then civilians and
LTTE cadre were separated — civilians went to welfare camps and the surrendees were taken to Vallipunam School. The
government had provided transport by ways of trucks and buses to take the civilians to welfare camps and the surrendees
to the school. When questioned by the Commission as to whether there were any ICRC officers present during the
surrender he stated that there were none as the foreigners had left by then. When questioned further he said that even the
local ICRC officers were not present. Only the Army had been present.

283
284,
285

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/21.08.10/01
Source Ministry of Defence
Major General Kamal Gunaratne before the LLRC at Colombo on og™ September 2010

286 Major General Shavendra Silva before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" November 2010
87 April 2009
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4.228 The chief priest of a Hindu Temple who was a detainee at the Omanthai Detention

Center stated that he had joined the LTTE movement in 1996, at the age of 18 years
when he was in school, and had left the movement after a short while. He admitted that
it had been a mistake. He had surrendered to the Army pursuant to an announcement
that any person who had been with the LTTE movement even for a day should
surrender. He further explained that the situation had not been conducive to making a
detailed statement to the Army at the time of surrender regarding the extent of his

involvement with the LTTE.?®

4.229 Another detainee at Omanthai, stated before the Commission that, he had been forced

to join the LTTE and had been with the political division for 10 months but had left in
1996 and had been punished by the LTTE for 19 months. He further stated that he had
no connection with the LTTE for the past 15 years. He explained that he and his family
had been rescued from a bunker by the Army in Puthumatthalan and had been taken by
bus to Omanthai. An announcement made at Omanthai requested anyone who had
been with the LTTE even for a day to register, and he had done so with his family. He
had had no problems and had gone back to the camp. However on 2™ July 2009 two
Army officers had come on a bike and asked him to come to the Kachcheri. They had
said that, since it was 15 years since he had left the LTTE there was no problem and
there would be a three day inquiry after which he could go back to the camp, however
he had been there (in detention) for 435 days.289

4.230 The Commission heard several representations of a similar nature from the detainees at

4.231 On being questioned on this matter by the Commission, a Senior Military Officia

Omanthai.290 291 292

|293

stated that it was a difficult task for one agency to interrogate and profile 10,000 ex

288
289

Representations made in camera
Representations made in camera

0 Representations made in camera: : A detainee at Omanthai made representations before the Commission stating that he

291

292

was not a member of the LTTE but a paid labourer and when he had been at the Ananda Coomaraswamy Camp there had
been an announcement asking people who were or had any connections with the LTTE movement to register. So he had
told them of his problems and had been asked to board a bus after being told that he would be given some vocational
training. He alleged that he had been in detention for 1 year and 4 months despite not having any connection with the
movement other than being employed as a labourer.

Representations made in camera. : A detainee at Boossa, making representations before the Commission stated that he had
been forcibly taken by the LTTE, as one member of each family had to join the LTTE. He had been with the LTTE for only 15
days digging bunkers. Then he had crossed over to the Government held area. He had initially been taken to the Ananda
Coomaraswamy welfare camp and had first been told that he would not be taken® but after two months he had been
arrested at the camp and had been in detention for 18 months.

Representations made in camera: Another detainee at Boossa stated that after having being forcibly recruited by the LTTE
he had been posted to the forward defense lines for 6 months and then he had run away. Having surrendered to the Army,
he said he was in detention for 19 months.
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LTTE cadres. Initially, once they had declared their involvement with the LTTE they had
been profiled on the basis of over 10 years involvement/ 5-10 years involvement/ 1-5
years involvement / some months involvement and some days involvement. He further
stated that there were instances where individuals may not admit truthfully the extent
of their involvement — so finding out details had not been easy. He added that
investigations were continuing and that it was on the basis of what had been revealed
during the investigations that the Security Forces had been able to unearth equipment
in the NFZs after the end of the operations. He explained that while some may not have
spoken the truth one hundred percent, they had been profiled on the basis of their
initial declarations and investigations were continuing. He further stated that over 1000
had been identified as strong LTTE cadres and legal action was to be taken but the
others would be rehabilitated and reunited with their families. According to him “it is a
gamble we have to take”.

For further details on the Treatment of Detainees refer Chapter 5 — Human Rights.

Treatment of Civilians and Surrendees by the Security Forces

Representations were made before the Commission by civilians who had crossed over to
Government held areas, as well as former combatants regarding how they had been
treated by the Security Forces.?**

Several detainees (former LTTE cadres) in the course of their representations stated that
they had crossed over to Government held areas with civilians and as “civilians”*®. They
further stated that they had crossed in large numbers after the capture of
Puthumatthalan on 21° April 2009, and from Wattuwal during the period 15" to 18™
May 2009.

2% after the Army had taken control of Mathalan, Pokkanai297,

(i) A detainee stated that
28 LTTE cadres also surrendered along with his family. When he had asked them why
they were crossing over to Government held areas they had stated that if they
continued to fight they would have died. According to him about 150,000 people

had crossed at that time and the LTTE cadres had changed into civil clothes.

293

Lt. General Jagath Jayasuriya before the LLRC at Colombo on gt September 2010

2% pefer also paragraphs 4.95 — 4.102.

29

®i.e. not in LTTE uniforms

296 . .
Representations made in camera.
27 This was in the third week of April 2009
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2% stated that on 15™ May 2009 he escaped amidst heavy shelling and

(ii) A detainee
surrendered at Wattuwal. He said that “thousands and thousands of people came to
the safety area, even the LTTE cadres came and surrendered pursuant to radio news
calling people to surrender”. He stated that he and his entire family were brought to
Omanthai and at Omanthai there had been another announcement that if any
person had had any involvement even for a day with the LTTE he/she should

surrender.

(iii) Some had been taken to Welfare Camps along with their families, having intimated
their involvement with the LTTE to the Security Forces. Subsequently further
announcements had been done at camps and upon surrender they had been taken
away to detention centers.?®

(iv) The Security Forces had assisted them when crossing over to Government held
areas — they had also been given food and drink and medical attention wherever
possible in the circumstances.>®

4.234 A Senior Public Official®*** who had served in the affected areas until the latter stages of

the conflict, when questioned by the Commission whether anyone had reported that
persons trying to cross over from LTTE areas to Army held areas carrying white flags had
been shot at by the Army she stated that such incidents had not taken place and even
her driver had escaped with a white flag. She added that when the public were moving
with a white flag nothing had happened and everyone had crossed over safely with the
help of the Army and several persons including her clerk had confirmed this.

298
299

301

Representations made in camera.

Representations made in camera. A witness stated that he had been taken to the welfare camp on 21* April 2009 and then
he had been taken into custody on 2" July 2009.

Representations made in camera. A witness stated that he surrendered on 21% April 2009 when the area he was in was
surrounded by the Army (Puthumatthalan). They had all been taken to Omanthai where there had been an announcement
saying that if anyone had been in the LTTE even for a day they should surrender. He had registered and then he had been
taken to Ramanathan camp but on 1% June 2009 he had been taken into custody.

Representations made in camera. A representer stated that he had surrendered at Mathalan on 15% April 2009 alone. He
had been at the Tharmakulam Rehabilitation Camp in Vavuniya for 1 year and 4 months and had been promised to be
restored to normal life but had been sent thereafter to the TID and to Boossa Detention Camp.

300 Representations made in camera. A witness stated “We swam through the Nanthi Kadal Lagoon on 14" May 2009. We
came to Mullaittivu and from there we came to Vavuniya about 600 people. The water was deep there and people who
could swim managed it but people who could not swim died there. My wife was very weak and we had food problems... we
were rescued by the Army. They provided us with food etc and advised us to go to a place where it would be safe for us.”
Representations made in camera, A witness stated: “I surrendered to the Army at Puthukudiyiruppu on 15" May 2009 and
told them everything about me. The Army treated the injuries inflicted on my wife and children and gave us food and
allowed us to stay the night and on 16" May morning they sent us to Omanthai.”

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Ariyalai on 11" October. 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.10.10/01.
A representer stated that she had delivered her second child at Wattuwal hospital and on 17" May she had been taken to
Pulmoddai by the ICRC.
Mrs. Imelda Sukumar before the LLRC at Colombo on 04™ November 2010
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The Commission also inquired from a Senior Military Official*®? regarding the purported
allegations that persons who were surrendering were killed by the Security Forces. In
response he stated:

“....1don’t agree with that allegation ... because | told you that we went into action on this
humanitarian operation with a clear mind set and whoever surrendered was handed over
to the authorities and nobody was assassinated as surrendees.”

The Commission wishes to also refer to the incident narrated at paragraph 4.107 above
concerning an alleged attack on a boat carrying civilians which was flying white flags.

A detainee at Omanthai stated that when he was crossing to the Government held area
from Mullaivaikkal on 16™ May 2009 there were people in front of him carrying white
flags and there had been large numbers crossing. He also stated that the Army had
assisted them and advised them of the route to use and asked them to carry a white
flag.303

A civilian who had been working at the Puthumatthalan hospital and had crossed over
to the Government held areas on 18" March stated that they had held a white flag and
crossed over and that the Army had treated them well at the time.>*

A Government official who had crossed over to the cleared areas on 20™ April stated
that they had raised their hands and slowly proceeded towards the Army and the Army
had taken them.3%

On being questioned by the Commission as to whether there were any INGOs or other
independent organizations on the spot who would have witnessed the process of
surrender a Senior Military Official*® responded that there had not been any INGOs in
the vicinity.

Representations to the Commission regarding alleged disappearance after surrender/arrest

The representations referred to above by the Defence Authorities, civilians and
detainees must be viewed together with the following representations made by
relatives of former LTTE cadres who allege that LTTE cadres who had been asked to
surrender by the Security Forces and had done so, or who had been arrested by the
Security Forces were now missing.

302

Major General Kamal Gunaratne before the LLRC at Colombo on os™ September 2010

303 Representations made in camera.

304 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/15/21.08.11/01

305 Representations made by a government official before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
306 Major General Kamal Gunaratne before the LLRC at Colombo on og™ September. 2010
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The wife of a former LTTE cadre who appeared before the Commission on the 9™ of
October 2010 at the Batticaloa District Secretariat stated that on 17" May 2009, at
Wattuwal her husband who was a member of the LTTE had been taken by the Army
together with 8 others. She further stated that her husband had been injured and he
had been given medical treatment by the Army before being taken away. She went on
to say that she had wanted to go with her husband but had been told to take her
children and go to the welfare camp. When she had been in the camp persons who had
introduced themselves as CID officers had come to the camp asking her to come with
them to see her husband in hospital but she had been scared and had not gone.
According to her they had then gone and never come back and she has not heard of her

husband thereafter.3”’

The wife of another former LTTE cadre described a similar incident, to the Commission.
She stated that her husband had been identified and arrested by the Army on 17" May
2009 at Wattuwal. When she had wanted to go along with her husband the Army had
said that they were taking him for an inquiry and after the inquiry they would release
him and had asked her to go to the welfare camp with her children. She said she has not

had information so far about her husband.>®

During its sittings at St Anthony’s Church Kayts, the Commission heard representations
from a spouse of a former LTTE cadre, who stated that she and her family had entered
the Army held area at Wattuwal on 17" May 2009, and her husband had been taken in
for questioning by the Army on 19" May 2009. According to her the Army had said that
he would be released in 3 days but she still has no idea about his whereabouts.>*

During its sittings at Kudathanai East, similar representations were made by the spouse
of a former LTTE cadre. She stated that her husband who was a member of the LTTE was
disabled. He was an amputee. She further stated that he had surrendered on 17t May
2009 at the Wattuwal checkpoint and the Security Forces had said they would
investigate and release him but she had not had any contact with him since then.?!°

The wife of a former LTTE Political Wing member stated that her husband had
surrendered on 18" May 2009 at Wattuwal along with others — she said there was a
long queue may be thousands. She further stated that her child had been sick and she

307
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309
310

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Batticaloa on 09" October 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09.10.10/01
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Batticaloa on 09" October 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09.10.10/01
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kayts on 14" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01
Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kudathanai East on 13" November 2010.Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/13.11.10/01
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had explained this to the Army who had let her go and taken her husband in. She stated
that the following former LTTE cadres also surrendered with her husband — Kutty,
Elamparathy, Babu, Lawrence Thilakar and Yogi. Her husband had surrendered with
father Francis Joseph. According to her, when she had tried to follow her husband, the
Army officers had identified him and told her that she need not go with him. She said

she had had no news of her husband.?'*

The wife of another former LTTE cadre®'? appearing before the Commission at the
District Secretariat in Madhu stated that on 16™ May 2009 she and her three children
had come to Mullaittivu from Mullaivaikkal. Her husband had not accompanied them
but had joined them on 17" May 2009. On 18" May 2009 in the morning he had
surrendered to the Army at Mullaittivu together with some important LTTE cadres
(Elamparthy , Kumaran, Ruben, Babu and Velavan). They had surrendered accompanied
by Father Francis Joseph and had been taken away in a bus. She stated that she had not
heard from him since then. The Commission made inquiries regarding Father Francis
Joseph from Father Muralitharan the Parish Priest and Assistant Administrator of
Madhu Church, and he stated that Father Francis Joseph had been a political teacher of
the LTTE and people had told him that Father Francis Joseph had been in the conflict
area until the end with the LTTE and was supposed to have surrendered and since then
his whereabouts were unknown.

During its sittings in Ariyalai on 11" November 2010, the wife of a former LTTE member
stated that they had come to Wattuwal on 17" May 2009 and her husband had
surrendered to the Army on 18 May 2009. She said that the Army using loudspeakers
called people to surrender indicating that all those who surrendered will be given
common pardon. She further stated that the others who went with her husband in the
bus were Puthuvai Rathinathurai — LTTE poet, Lawrence Thilakar, and Baby

Subramaniam. She said that she has had no news of her husband.>*3

During its sittings in Kandawalai, the wife of an ex LTTE employee stated that on 17"
May 2009 she and her husband had crossed over to the Army held area at Wattuwal
and on 18" May 2009 in the morning there had been an announcement around 9.30
a.m. or 10 a.m. that anyone who was in the LTTE even for a day should surrender. She
further stated that her husband was not a member of the LTTE but a paid employee
who was in charge of taking photographs and operating videos for the LTTE. On that

31 Representations made in camera
312 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Madhu on og™ January 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/08.01.11/01
313 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Ariyalai on 11" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.10/01
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date a lot of people led by Father Joseph Francis had surrendered including Yogi and

Rathinathurai. She said that she has had no news of her husband.3'*

During its sittings in Kandawalai a mother made representations before the Commission
stating that Father Francis and Father Reginald had persuaded her son in law and his
entire family to surrender on 18" May 2009 at Wattuwal. She stated that she had
pleaded with Father Francis but he had insisted that the entire family should surrender
even though only her son in law was a member of the LTTE. Her daughter had been 26
years old and her daughter’s younger child had been born in 2006. She said that she has
had no news of them after they were taken from Wattuwal to Mullaittivu in 16 buses.?"

During its sittings in Ariyalai on 11" November 2010, another spouse of a former LTTE
cultural wing member stated that she had handed over her husband to the Army on 18"
May 2009, early in the morning with the assistance of Rev. Fr. Francis. She further
stated that she had no news of her husband. **°

During its sittings in Tellipalai on 12" November 2010, the Commission heard
representations from a civilian who stated that her son in law had said that he, his wife
and children had decided to surrender to the Army at Mullaivaikkal through a priest

317 The wife of a former LTTE cadre

from Caritas. She said she had no news of the family.
stated that her relatives had told her that her husband had surrendered to the Army on
17" May 2009 at Wattuwal with Father Joseph. She further stated that she had no news

of him.3*®

During its sittings in Velanai on 14™ November 2010, the wife of a former LTTE cadre
stated that on 17 May 2009 she had come to the Wanni checkpoint. While they were
sitting near the checkpoint the Army had come and dragged her husband away and she
had followed him. She further stated that when she had followed him the Army had
pushed her aside and put him in a bus. She added that she had no news of his
whereabouts. She also stated that he was no longer a member of the LTTE at the time
that he was taken away.?*

314

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19" September. 2010. Transcript No.

LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01

313 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19" September. 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01.

316 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Ariyalai on 11" November 2010 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.10/01
317 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Tellipalai on 12" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/12.11.10/01
318 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Neervely on 11" November. 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/11.11.10/02

319 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Velanai on 13™ November. 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/13.11.10/02
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During its sittings in Jaffna the Commission heard representations from the wife of a
former LTTE cadre. She stated that on 19" April 2009 her daughter had sustained
injuries and she had accompanied her daughter on the ship — her husband and son had
remained with relatives. She further stated that her relatives had said that her husband
and son had crossed over to the Army held area through Rettiwaikkal on 17" May 2009

320 Another spouse of an LTTE cadre

and surrendered but she had no news of them.
making representations before the Commission stated that her husband is supposed to
have surrendered to the Army on 18" May 2009 at Mullaittivu and she had no news

about him. She had been in hospital after the birth of her second child.?*

During its sittings at Neervely RDS, the Commission heard representations from a
spouse of another former LTTE cadre. She stated that on 17" May 2009 she, her
husband and children had surrendered to the Army at Wattuwal. After being taken to
the Welfare camp they had been brought to the Omanthai checkpoint for registration.
She said at this point her husband had been taken away and she and the children had
returned to the Welfare camp. She added that the Government people had been
treating her well but she wanted to trace her husband.??

Another spouse of a former LTTE cadre who appeared before the Commission at the
District Secretariat Batticaloa stated that on 17" May 2009 they had been stopped at
the Omanthai checkpoint and told that anyone who was associated with the LTTE
should come forward. She further stated that about 3,000 people had come with them
from Puthukudiyiruppu and about 700 including her husband had surrendered to the
Army. She and her children had been allowed to go. She stated that she has had no
news about her husband’s whereabouts.**

Two spouses of former LTTE cadres appearing before the Commission at the Divisional
Secretariat Eravur Pattu, Chenkalady made representations regarding the fact that on
17" May 2009 at the Omanthai checkpoint, their husbands had surrendered pursuant to
an announcement made by the Security Forces that anyone who had been associated
with the LTTE even for one day should declare himself. The wives had been asked to go

320

Representations made in camera.

321 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Ariyalai on 11" October 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.10.10/01

322 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Neervely on 11" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.10/02
323 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Oddamavaddy on 10" October, 2010. Transcript No
LLRC/IS/10.10.10/01
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to the welfare camps. They stated that they have had no news regarding the
whereabouts of their respective spouses.?**

During its sittings in the District Secretariat Madhu®®

, the mother of a former LTTE
cadre stated that her son had surrendered to the Army at the Madhu church in May
2009 and Father Desmond Kulas the Administrator of the Madhu church had witnessed
the surrender. The Army had told her that her son was being taken for some
investigations but she had not heard from him and he was not in any of the detention

centres.

A former senior LTTE cadre, who surrendered after the capture of Puthumatthalan in
April 2009, stated that none of the former LTTE cadres who crossed over to the
Government held areas with him were missing. They had been middle level LTTE cadres
and they had either been released or were in custody. He also stated that some of the
high ranking LTTE members surrendered at the latter stages of the conflict in May
2009°%°

Please also see Annex 4.15 for a list of more persons stated to have surrendered to
Army custody and alleged to be missing.
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Representations made by 2 civilians before the LLRC. At Chenkalady on 10" October 2010 Transcript No LLRC/IS/10.10.10/01

According to one of them another former LTTE cadre who had surrendered at the same time was in Boossa although she did
not name him.

32 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Madhu on og™ January 2011 Transcript No LLRC/IS/08.01.11/01

326 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01
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SECTION 1l

Evaluation of the Sri Lanka Experience in the context of allegations of
violations of IHL

Introduction

It has been stated that a State that is engaged in an armed conflict must ensure that
procedures and practices for identifying lawful targets are extremely robust. Advanced
technologies help to make targeting even more precise. The principle of distinction and
proportionality should not remain theoretical and should be implemented rigorously
throughout the planning and execution of military operations in order to ensure that
such operations are conducted in accordance with the applicable law.>?” These
propositions applicable to both international and non international armed conflicts, give
full meaning and content to the core principles of IHL.

Measures to safeguard civilians and avoid civilian casualties

In evaluating the Sri Lanka experience in the context of allegations of violations of IHL,
the Commission is satisfied that the military strategy that was adopted to secure the
LTTE held areas was one that was carefully conceived, in which the protection of the
civilian population was given the highest priority. In reaching this conclusion the
Commission has taken due account of all the material placed before it which had
outlined in detail, inter alia, steps taken to identify precise targets, such as deployment
of long range reconnaissance patrols, procedures followed in carrying out air strikes,
utilization of UAVs etc. The Commission has also taken cognizance of the fact that
substantial investment had been made by the Defence Establishment on sophisticated
surveillance equipment. The Commission also notes in this regard that the movement of
the Security Forces in conducting their operations was deliberately slow during the final
stages of the conflict, thereby evidencing a carefully worked out strategy of avoiding
civilian casualties or minimizing them.

These factors are consistent with the position that protection of civilian life was a key
factor in the formulation of a policy for carrying out military operations. They militate
against any proposition that deliberate targeting of civilians was part and parcel of a
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See for example response of Harold Koh Legal Advisor US State Department on questions raised regarding the lawfulness of

the US operation against Al Qaeda and Osama bin Laden. Refer http://opiniojuris.org/2011/05/19/the-lawfulness-of-the-US-
operation-against-osama-bin-laden

115


http://opiniojuris.org/2011/05/19/the-lawfulness-of-the-US-operation-against-osama-bin-laden
http://opiniojuris.org/2011/05/19/the-lawfulness-of-the-US-operation-against-osama-bin-laden

4.264

4.265

4.266

4.267

policy, although specific episodes which warrant further investigation are referred to
above in Section Il — vide paragraphs 4.106, 4.107, 4.109, 4.110, and 4.111.

To appreciate the challenge confronting the Security Forces, account must also be taken
of the fact that military operations had to be conducted against an enemy who had no
qualms in resorting to a combat strategy which paid little heed to the safety of the
civilian population and in fact made the civilian population very much a part of such
strategy.

The military policy referred to above, must be carefully examined in the context of the
multiple challenges arising from the ground situation which existed during the final
phase of the conflict, before reaching a definitive conclusion on whether in fact there

had been any violations of IHL during this period.
No Fire Zones (NFZs)

Among the critical situations presented by the ground realties which demanded the
particular attention of the Commission and a considered conclusion, was the civilian
presence in the NFZs and the surrounding areas.

The Commission notes that no formal agreement had come into existence between the
Government and the LTTE, regarding the promulgation of NFZs, which would normally
be the case in establishing such zones and which would have prescribed mutual rights
and obligations of the parties. However, the correspondence between the Commander
of the Army and the Head of Delegation of the International Committee of the Red Cross
(ICRC) made available to the Commission, has provided the Commission an insight into
the circumstances under which such zones were set up. In a letter dated 19" January
2009 from the Army Commander to the Head of Delegation of the ICRC it is stated that,
“with the intense fighting in the Wanni area, many civilians have moved from their
original lands and have become displaced mainly in and around the outskirts of
Visuamadu and Puthukudiyiruppu.” The letter further observes that with the progress of
the operations deeper into LTTE held territory, the presence of the IDPs and civilians
should be taken into account to guarantee their safety and security, in order to avoid
collateral damage. Accordingly, the letter suggests that considering the above and the
safety and security of IDPs, a “NFZ/Safe Area” for IDPs/Civilians be demarcated in order
to keep the IDPs/civilians away from the fighting and to reduce greatly the number of
potential casualties. The letter also reflects the fact that the first NFZ had been well
demarcated, and with much attention being paid to the requisite details.
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However, the material also revealed the fact that the NFZ was located in fairly close
proximity to the Army frontlines. The situation had become complicated by the fact that
the LTTE had moved into the NFZ together with their heavy weapons and placed them
amidst civilians. This had converted the NFZ into a virtual operational base from which
the LTTE had directed fire against the Security Forces.

This appeared to have led to a situation where the Security Forces had been compelled
to resort to return fire in response to LTTE attacks from within the NFZ, thereby
exposing the civilian being held hostage by the LTTE in the NFZ to danger.

The fact that the LTTE had moved heavy artillery into the NFZs and had taken cover
behind civilian lines and had used the NFZ to carry out attacks against the Security
Forces is reflected in the representations by a civilian, e.g.;

“in the NFZ, the LTTE comes and places their guns and when the LTTE comes and place their

guns in the midst of the people and they start firing at the Army, then the firing is

returned.”>?®

It further transpired from these and other representations that the Army had never
initiated attacks in the Safety Zones and return fire was in response to LTTE attacks.

It also became evident that the creation of the ‘safe corridors’ was to facilitate the safe
movement of civilians out of the NFZs into Government held areas. The material further
discloses that this in fact did happen until the LTTE resorted to the use of suicide cadres
and prevented the IDPs/civilians from moving, with a view to using them as a human
shield.

The material discloses the fact that, as the operations progressed, the LTTE had
continued to prevent the civilians from moving into the Government held areas and had
drawn them further into areas held by them. As a result of this, the Security Forces had
been compelled to re-demarcate the boundaries of the NFZ and create a second and a
third zone to match the evolving situation. This is evidenced by the correspondence
between the Sri Lanka Army and the Head of Delegation of the ICRC on the demarcation
329 Thus in a letter dated 11" February 2009 from the Army to the
Head of Delegation of the ICRC, it is stated, inter alia, “considering the intense fighting

of the No Fire Zones.

deeper into the LTTE held areas and safety and security of internally displaced persons
(IDPs)/civilians during operations, it is suggested that previously defined “No Fire
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Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/28.02.11/01
See SLA letter dated 19 January, 2010 to ICRC attached as Annex 4.3. See footnote 47.
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Zone/Safe Area” be modified to match with the present situation. This would not only
keep the IDPs/civilians away from the fighting, it would also reduce greatly the number
of potential civilian casualties.” The above must also be viewed together with the action
of the Security Forces to regularly air drop leaflets encouraging civilians to move to
Government held areas and assuring them of their readiness to receive them. This
manifests the continuing commitment of the Security Forces to take all feasible
precautions to protect civilians as the conflict evolved.

The conclusions to be drawn from these representations is that the conduct of the LTTE,
in gross violation of IHL obligations on the protection of civilians, radically transformed
the very character of the NFZ and made it an integral part of the LTTE’s combat
operations to achieve their military objectives. The necessary inference is that this
strategy was directed towards provoking the Army to return fire. Had the NFZs been
established following the general practice in inter - state conflicts i.e. through a mutually
negotiated agreement, the Government confronted with such a situation would have
been entirely justified in terminating the agreement and ceasing the protection afforded
to the NFZ, on the basis of a material breach of the agreement. These factors should not
however detract from the fundamental humanitarian considerations that need to be
taken into account, given the large concentration of civilians within the safety zones.

The forced movement of civilians generated by the LTTE, into a narrow strip of land
bounded on two sides by water, presented its own dynamics and challenges in terms of
terrain and geographical realities. This factor, taken together with the LTTE strategy of
continuing to place mobile artillery amidst civilians, the aggressive conscription of
civilians by the LTTE including young children from within the safety zones, the
continued provision, largely through coercion, of a range of support services by civilians
to the LTTE establishment and the LTTE cadres fighting in civilian clothing, combined to
present a complex challenge in the full realization of the humanitarian objective which
was the underlying basis for the creation of NFZs and the demarcating of the safe
corridors for civilians to move into Government held areas. This unprecedented
situation also brought to surface, the shortcomings of the existing IHL regime in its
application to internal conflicts between States and non State armed groups, an aspect
that is adverted to subsequently.

The material presented, discloses the fact that the objective behind the establishment
of the NFZs, namely the protection of civilian life, was realized when a large number of
civilians held as a ‘human shield’ by the LTTE came over to the Government areas using
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the ‘safe corridors’ demarcated to facilitate the movement of civilians into Government
held areas.

The sequence of events that followed after the creation of the First NFZ as described
above, and the LTTE practice of shooting civilians who were trying to escape into
Government held areas, and forcing them to move with the LTTE, and using suicide
bombers to discourage civilians moving into safe areas, presents a more complex
picture, which did not lend itself to well demarcated safe corridors, making the
movement of civilians into Government held areas more difficult, thus exposing the
civilians to danger, as the conflict intensified. Therefore the declaration of the Second
and Third NFZs appear to have been forced by the prevailing circumstances which left
no choice to the Security Forces. This was in contrast to the situation in the First No Fire
Zone. Nevertheless despite these challenges the fact remains that civilians continued to
move into Government held areas from various points in the Second and Third NFZs.

It would appear that given the conduct of the LTTE within the NFZs, particularly in the
Puthumatthalan stretch going down to Mullaivaikkal, which had the effect of merging
the NFZ into the theatre of military operations, the Field Commanders would have been
confronted with a difficult choice, i.e., either returning fire and neutralizing the LTTE gun
positions from which they were firing at the Security Forces or refraining from directing
return fire towards such positions. The first course of action, no doubt places the
civilians who would have expected conditions of safety in considerable jeopardy. At the
same time, the return fire to neutralize the LTTE gun positions would have been
necessary to preserve to the maximum extent possible the continued existence of the
NFZ for the protection of the civilians.

The second course of action of refraining from returning fire would have defeated the
very purpose of the entire objective of the operations, leaving the Security Forces no
option but to virtually surrender. As already explained, much would depend on the
precise circumstances prevailing at a given time and Field Commanders would be
presented with difficult choices between protecting civilians and also protecting their
own troops. In this regard it would also be pertinent to recall that several States have
interpreted the term ‘military advantage’ in relation to the Principle of Proportionality in
attack, as including the security of the attacking forces.**°
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Customary International Humanitarian Law. Volume 1 Chapter 4 page 50 footnote 30
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The Commission is constrained to observe that the above scenario presents a major
dilemma to Field Commanders, who would be required to take quick decisions in situ,
weighing contending considerations of ensuring the protection of civilians, while
securing a military advantage. Such decisions would have to be based on their
assessment of the information from all sources available to them at the relevant time. In
such circumstances it is not easy to second guess with the benefit of hindsight, difficult
decisions that are made in the heat and confusion of an armed conflict.

The Commission also notes in this regard a State’s obligation to select an objective, the
attack on which may be expected to cause the least danger to civilian lives, and to
civilian objects, is not an absolute obligation as it only applies when a ‘choice is

possible’. 3!

On consideration of all facts and circumstances before it, the Commission concludes
that the Security Forces had not deliberately targeted the civilians in the NFZs, although
civilian casualties had in fact occurred in the course of crossfire. Further, the LTTE
targeting and killing of civilians who attempted to flee the conflict into safe areas, the
threat posed by land mines and resultant death and injuries to civilians, and the perils
inherent in crossing the Nanthi Kadal Lagoon, had all collectively contributed to civilian
casualties. It would also be reasonable to conclude that there appears to have been a
bona fide expectation that an attack on LTTE gun positions would make a relevant and
proportional contribution to the objective of the military attack involved.

Having reached the above conclusions, it is also incumbent on the Commission to
consider the question, while there was no deliberate targeting of civilians by the
Security Forces, whether the action of the Security Forces of returning fire into the NFZs
was excessive in the context of the Principle of Proportionality. Given the complexity of
the situation that presented itself as described above, the Commission after most
careful consideration of all aspects, is of the view that the Security Forces were
confronted with an unprecedented situation when no other choice was possible and all
“feasible precautions” that were practicable in the circumstances had been taken.

In this context, the Commission wishes to recall the difficulties involved in the practical
application of the Proportionality Principle referred to in Section | above, in determining

31 Customary International Humanitarian Law Volume 1 Chapter 5 page 67 footnote 103 “......thus ‘an attacker may comply with
it if it is possible to do so, subject to mission accomplishment and allowable risk, or he may determine that it is impossible to

do so’.
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the excessiveness or otherwise of an attack in relation to incidental loss of civilian life,
much being left to the judgment of Field Commanders in a given situation.>*?

It would also be pertinent in this context to recall that, in determining questions of State
responsibility in respect of death, injury or property damage in the course of military
operations, international tribunals referring to doctrinal authorities, have described as
“next to impossible”, the obtaining of a re-construction in front of a tribunal of all the
conditions under which the “combat action” took place with an adequate reporting of
all accompanying circumstances.**?

Some Specific Instances of Death or Injury to Civilians

The Commission is faced with similar difficulties in attempting a re-construction of
certain incidents involving the loss of civilian lives which have been brought to the
attention of the Commission. While the Commission finds it difficult to determine the
precise circumstances under which such incidents occurred (as described in Section Il
above, vide paragraphs 4.106, 4.107, 4.109, 4.110, and 4.111) the material nevertheless
points towards possible implications of the Security Forces for the resulting death or
injury to civilians, even though this may not have been with an intent to cause harm. In
these circumstances the Commission stresses that there is a duty on the part of the
State to ascertain more fully, the circumstances under which such incidents could have
occurred, and if such investigations disclose wrongful conduct, to prosecute and punish
the wrong doers. Consideration should also be given to providing appropriate redress to
the next of kin of those killed and those injured as a humanitarian gesture that would
help the victims to come to terms with personal tragedy, both in relation to the
incidents referred to above and any other incidents which further investigations may
reveal.

Hospitals /Makeshift Hospitals

Hospitals providing care for the wounded and the sick, both civilian and non combatants
enjoy protection under IHL. The Commission received considerable material on
instances of shells falling on hospitals as described in Section Il above.

The overall picture that emerges from this material is as follows:
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IHL Principles Section |

333 |n the matter of arbitration between Asian Agricultural Products Ltd (AAPL) v. Republic of Sri Lanka, International Centre for
the settlement of investment disputes (ICSID) case no. ARB/87/3 June 27" 1990.
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(i) Intensive fighting was going on in close proximity to hospitals. The LTTE had gun
positions/armouries in close proximity to hospitals, including within the one
kilometer radius safe areas demarcated for certain hospitals. In one instance it
was stated that the LTTE had mounted heavy artillery at the boundary of the
hospital premises. In some other instances the LTTE had made use of hospital
premises for parking their vehicles and even ‘to lead operations against the

Army’.a":’4

(ii) These factors disclose a trend whereby the LTTE had merged protected premises
to be an integral part of their combat strategy;

(iii) The Commission also notes that some medical facilities described as ‘makeshift
hospitals’, although under the formal supervision of the Government Medical
Superintendant, the LTTE had exerted, de facto, considerable control over them.
This was evidenced also by the statement of one medical doctor who explained
to the Commission the difficulties encountered in working in a ‘hostile
environment’ where they had to satisfy two ‘governments’, the LTTE and the
Government and at the same time provide services to the people.a":’5

The Commission is satisfied, on a careful consideration of all the circumstances that
shells had in fact fallen on hospitals causing damage and resulting in casualties.
However, the material placed before the Commission points to a somewhat confused
picture as to the precise nature of events, from the perspective of time, exact location
and direction of fire.

There was a substantial volume of material relating to the damage caused to the
Puthukudiyiruppu Hospital and this is a matter of particular concern to the Commission.

In this backdrop, the challenge faced by the Commission is the determination of
responsibility for the acts in question, on the basis of concrete evidence.

It is well recognized that determining the precise source of shelling or direction of
artillery fire is a complex task and much would depend primarily on the correct technical
methodology, such as crater analysis being undertaken contemporaneously with an
incident, supported by witness testimony on the direction of fire, having regard to his or
her vantage point.

In making this determination, the difficulty faced by the Commission is twofold;
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Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/10.03.11/01
Dr T. Vartharajah before the LLRC at Colombo on 30" November. 2011
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(i) It is evident to the Commission that no immediate investigation in the nature of
a crater analysis had been undertaken, presumably given the intensity of the
conflict, in the areas in question.

(ii) None of the persons making representations was able to state with certainty
that they were in a position to definitely confirm that the shells which fell on the
hospitals, originated exclusively from the side of the Sri Lanka Army or from the
LTTE. Civilians who appeared before the Commission stated that there had been
shelling from both sides. One civilian stated that ‘when a shell lands, the general
anticipation was that it was the Army — cannot state exactly’.**® Another ex LTTE
cadre in the course of his representations had stated that the Puthumathalan
hospital was in fact accidentally shelled by the LTTE for which they had

subsequently apologized.**’

Thus the Commission’s task of reaching a definite conclusion as to who was responsible
for the shelling of hospitals and loss of lives / damage to property is made extremely
difficult by the non — availability of primary evidence of a technical nature and also the
fact that supportive civilian evidence is equivocal in nature and does not warrant a
definitive conclusion that one party or the other was responsible for the shelling.

Although the Commission is not in a position to come to a definitive conclusion in
determining responsibility that one party or the other was responsible for the shelling,
nevertheless given the number of representations made by civilians that shells had in
fact fallen on hospitals causing damage to the hospitals and in some instances loss or
injury to civilian lives, consideration should be given to the expeditious grant of
appropriate redress to those affected after due inquiry as a humanitarian gesture which
would instill confidence in the reconciliation process.

Supply of humanitarian relief, including food and medicine to civilians in conflict areas

The Commission wishes to note the strong humanitarian tradition and welfare policies
and practices in Sri Lanka in extending assistance to people in distress, whether during
conflict or during natural disasters such as the tsunami. It would be pertinent to recall in
this context that the UN Special Rapporteur Francis Deng had observed that “Sri Lanka
presents the unusual situation of a Central Government providing relief to aid persons
under the control of the main opposition group. In a world replete with examples of
Governments and rebel groups using food as a weapon against civilian populations, the
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Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No LLRC/IS/01.07.11/01
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Representations made in camera
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situation in Sri Lanka is one that deserves closer attention if not more publicity as an

11338

important precedent. Although the comment was made in 1991, the Commission

observed that successive Governments have continued to follow this policy.

Representations made before the Commission, especially by ordinary people and civil
society groups, have shown that this tradition and these practices have continued
during several decades of the conflict and against overwhelming odds, during the
terminal phase of the conflict. The Commission also wishes to note that there had been
no major concerns expressed by the international community regarding the supply of
humanitarian relief to affected persons whether due to the conflict or natural disasters
until the final phase of the conflict.

As observed above in Section |, IHL requires that parties to a conflict must allow and
facilitate rapid and unimpeded passage of humanitarian relief for civilians in need. In
this context, the Commission notes the large scale effort over the years by the
Government, civil society groups and other national and international agencies to
provide essential food, medicine and other supplies to the conflict affected areas with
the full knowledge that a certain portion of such supplies was being appropriated by the
LTTE in areas where they were dominant.

The Commission also notes that the supply of food to the civilians held by the LTTE up to
early 2009 was at reasonably adequate levels approximating by and large to the
internationally accepted nutrition intake for refugees. This was possible through the
food convoys sent by land up to January 2009. However, these adequacy levels appear
to have declined during the months of February, March, April and the first half of May
2009 as the conflict intensified and the Government was compelled to resort to a sea
supply route to provide essential supplies to a large number of people held by the LTTE
in the narrow stretch of land in Puthumatthalan area across the Nanthi Kadal lagoon. It
becomes evident to the Commission from the material before it that these supplies had
been taken despite enormous logistical difficulties of sustaining a continuous flow of
humanitarian supplies amidst an ongoing conflict.

It must be acknowledged that the maximum quantities of food supplies, that were
possible under the prevailing circumstances had been delivered by the sea route to
ameliorate the conditions confronting the affected civilians mainly due to the collective
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Report of the Representative of the Secretary General, Mr. Francis Deng submitted pursuant to the Commission on Human

Rights Resolution 1993/95 at the 50™ Session of the Commission on Human Rights relating to Internally Displaced Persons.
Available at http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G94/103/57/IMG/G9410357.pdf?OpenElement
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efforts of the Government, in particular the GAs and the Security Forces as well as
international agencies such as the ICRC and WFP, and other volunteers who had
provided selfless service on the spot in the final No Fire Zones.

Despite the unprecedented constraints imposed by the dynamics of the conflict and the
deficiencies in the distribution system evident under those circumstances, the practices
of the LTTE to appropriate food supplies that restricted a reasonable and equitable
distribution of the limited supplies available, the Government, especially the CGES, the
international agencies such as those referred to above and other volunteer
organizations, provided praiseworthy services and assistance in ensuring the maximum
possible supplies to those affected persons during the last several weeks of the conflict.

However, notwithstanding these efforts the fact remains that the civilians had been
affected in terms of the adequacy of readily available food supplies to meet their
nutritional needs particularly with the intensification of the conflict. The extreme
conditions which appear to have prevailed after February 2009 are set out in detail in
Section Il above.

The Commission wishes to recall in the above context, the well recognized requirement
that a State faced with difficulties of the type encountered by the Government in
providing humanitarian supplies, should seek necessary international assistance to
ensure uninterrupted supply of such assistance to affected civilians.**?

Having examined the material before it, the Commission is of the view that the
Government with the co-operation of the international community, in particular the
agencies referred to above as well as civil society groups had, in a spirit of international
co-operation and solidarity, taken all possible steps in getting food and medical supplies
and other essential items across to the entrapped civilians despite enormous logistical
difficulties of the operation.

The Commission also wishes to refer to the fact that it had before it material giving
varying estimates of the number of civilians who were held hostage by the LTTE in the
NFZs. Despite the Commission’s best efforts to verify the estimates with documentary
evidence from relevant civilian authorities, it has not been possible to secure any
original documentation. However, the non availability of such documentation does not

39 |n this regard see the General Comment No. 29 of the Human Rights Committee in the context of the Right to food under the
International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights.

“State Parties will take appropriate steps to ensure the realization of this right, recognizing to this effect the essential
importance of international co-operation based on free consent.’
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have a decisive bearing on the fact that what was practically feasible under the
circumstances was undertaken. The strenuous efforts taken by the Government in co-
ordination with international agencies such as the ICRC and WFP, as described above,
does not warrant any possible inference that there was a deliberate intention to
downplay the number of civilians in the NFZs for the purpose of starving the civilian
population as a method of combat.

In dealing with the question of Humanitarian Supplies, it is necessary for the
Commission to advert to the question of medical facilities and supply of medicines
during the final stages of the conflict. The overall picture that emerges from the material
before the Commission is that until January 2009, the necessary infrastructure to deal
with emergency situations had existed with permanent hospital infrastructure in the
Wanni by and large being used to cater to the evolving civilian needs. It also transpires
that the Ministry of Health had provided the necessary medicines and other supplies

required for hospitals.

However this position appears to have changed significantly as the conflict intensified,
the primary factor being the close proximity of the hospitals to the theatre of conflict,
which resulted in a need to ‘shift’ hospitals to makeshift facilities basically in school
buildings which could not under the circumstances replicate fully functional hospitals
with all attendant infrastructure facilities.

This situation was compounded by the fact that whatever supplies and facilities that
were available had to be shared in the treatment of civilians as well as injured LTTE
cadres. In fact there is material to show that even at the PTK hospital the LTTE had
maintained a separate ward for its injured cadres. While recognizing that non
combatants are entitled to medical treatment, it must be noted that this would have
exacerbated the demand for medical supplies and facilities under difficult circumstances
and to that extent, the availability of medical supplies and facilities for the treatment of
civilians would have diminished.

The Commission acknowledges that under these trying conditions, civilian patients had
undergone considerable hardship. In connection with the supply of medicines, the
Commission also notes the references made regarding the inadequacy of medicines,
referred to in Section Il above.>*
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See further paragraphs 4.186 — 4.189 above.
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Notwithstanding all these, the fact remains that civilians had received medical attention
to the extent practically possible amidst an on-going conflict and evacuation of patients
had taken place with the assistance of the ICRC, despite the LTTE imposing restrictions
on the movement of injured civilians. Medicines had also been supplied through the sea
route even as late as May 2009.

The only possible conclusion that the Commission could arrive at on a consideration of
all these factors is that by objective standards applicable under normal circumstances,
there appears to have been a paucity of medicines and the medical facilities appear to
have been inadequate. However this factor has to be placed in the context of the
extraordinary conditions which prevailed amidst the intensity of the conflict and the
proximity of the hospitals to the theatre of conflict.

The Commission also recognizes that given the inconclusive nature of the material
before it, and taking into account the humanitarian considerations, the issue of medical
supplies to civilians in the conflict areas during the final days of the conflict is a matter
that requires further examination. Such an examination should take into consideration
all relevant factors such as the number of civilians injured, the types of injuries, the
number of LTTE cadres injured and treated, and the capacity to treat the injured in the
makeshift hospitals, against which the actual supplies could be assessed.

Conclusions regarding the conduct of the Sri Lankan Security Forces during the movement of

civilians and combatants into cleared areas

4312
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The requirements of IHL pertaining to the treatment of surrendees are set out in Section
| above. These requirements would apply with equal force to civilians who moved into
the safety of cleared areas from the conflict zone.

On an examination of the totality of the material presented, it appears to the
Commission that until about January 2009, there had been a general adherence to
required procedures for registration of surrendees and of civilians who crossed over to
the safety of cleared areas. The material discloses that field headquarters in the
frontlines maintained detailed registers.

However, the situation appears to have changed thereafter when there had been an
influx of civilians coming over to the cleared areas. This situation had been compounded
by the fact that LTTE cadres had also intermingled with civilians who came over. It had
been complicated by several LTTE suicide attacks which had taken place in the midst of
civilians who were crossing over to cleared areas. Therefore detailed registrations had
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not been practically feasible and only headcounts had been taken — namely men,
women, children and families after which they had been transported to Omanthai
where detailed registrations had been done.

In the final few days in May 2009, with the huge influx, a situation had arisen where it
had been virtually impossible to carry out registrations in situ at the point of cross over
and civilians and combatants had been sent to IDP centres at Vavuniya.
Announcements had been made at these Centres requesting any person who had even
had one day’s association with the LTTE to declare themselves. According to several
detainees conditions had not been conducive to making a detailed statement at the
time of surrender regarding the nature and extent of their involvement with the LTTE,
whether they were conscripts or those who had joined voluntarily.

The Commission also received representations from both civilians and detainees
concerning the treatment accorded by the Army when they crossed to the cleared
areas. It was stated that those who waded across the Nanthi Kadal lagoon were rescued
by the Army and provided with food and medical assistance where required. Others
spoke of assistance rendered by the Army in helping civilians to avoid land mines as they
crossed over to cleared areas. In the Commission’s view this is exemplary conduct on
the part of the Sri Lanka Army which is consistent with the requirements of IHL and a
task undertaken under the constraints of a continuing conflict situation, even in some
cases exposing themselves to physical danger as the LTTE had been firing at civilians
who were crossing over to the cleared areas.

There were also representations made to the Commission by both civilians and
detainees which point to the fact that wherever civilians and combatants had crossed
raising a white flag when moving to cleared areas, the Army had facilitated their
movement. However one instance of an alleged firing by the Navy at a boat carrying
people trying to escape from the clutches of the LTTE while white flags were being
raised by the people in the boat, was brought to the attention of the Commission. In this
incident the Navy had apologized on the basis of a mistaken identity. The Commission’s
observations on this incident are set out in paragraph 4.286 above.

In the midst of these positive elements in the conduct of the Sri Lanka Army, there is a
matter of grave concern to the Commission from the IHL and HR perspective. The
Commission received a number of representations concerning alleged disappearances
of LTTE cadres who had surrendered to or had been arrested by the Sri Lanka Army
particularly in the final days. Family members of these cadres including some key
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members of the LTTE stated (refer Section Il paragraphs 4.242 to 4.258 and 4.260) that
when they along with their husbands had reported at Army points, they had been told
that their husbands were required for investigation and were being detained and the
family members were asked to proceed to the IDP camps. In some other cases, the
spouses had seen their husbands surrendering to the Sri Lanka Army. The Commission
also heard instances of families surrendering to the Army. The consistent theme that
emerges from these representations is that the last they had seen of their husbands was
their surrendering to the custody of the Sri Lanka Army but had not heard or seen them
since then.

The Commission must emphasize that in respect of these representations from a
number of people who stated that they had directly witnessed certain persons
surrendering to the custody of the Army, it is the clear duty of the State to cause
necessary investigations into such specific allegations and where such investigations
produce evidence of any unlawful act on the part of individual members of the Army, to
prosecute and punish the wrongdoers. The Commission must also stress in this regard
that if a case is established of a disappearance after surrender to official custody, this
would constitute an offence entailing penal consequences. Thus the launching of a full
investigation into these incidents and where necessary instituting prosecutions is an
imperative also to clear the good name of the Army who have by and large conducted
themselves in an exemplary manner in the surrender process and when civilians were
crossing over to cleared areas, which conduct should not be tarnished by the actions of
a few.

The Conduct of the LTTE

The grave violations of Human Rights by the LTTE have been dealt with in detail in the
succeeding Chapter on Human Rights and in the accompanying Annexes.

The grave violations of core Principles of IHL by the LTTE are referred to above,
particularly with regard to the NFZs as described in Section Il. However by way of
concluding observations, it is incumbent on the Commission to advert to the following:

The very fact of using civilians as human shields to advance their military strategy,
together with;

- the practice of placing and using military equipment in civilian centres,

- the shooting at civilians trying to escape into safe areas,
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- the conscription of young children to engage in combat even in the final stages of
the conflict,

- the laying of landmines and Improvised Explosive Devices (IEDs) knowing that
civilians would be exposed to danger even outside the conflict zone,

- the forcible use of civilians to provide support services to them to carry out their
military objectives — thereby making the identification of civilians and combatants an
almost impossible task particularly in the congested final NFZs, and

- the continued use of suicide attacks causing loss of innocent civilian lives,

underpins not only the blatant disregard of Principles of IHL by the LTTE, but also
highlights the task that the Security Forces were faced with in securing a military
advantage while combating an enemy which had no respect for civilian life.

In framing charges against LLTE cadres against whom investigations reveal prima facie
material for prosecution, due account must be taken of the violation of core Human
Rights and International Humanitarian Law Principles so that appropriate punishment,
commensurate with the grave nature of such crimes could be meted out.

The section that follows deals comprehensively with the lacunae in the existing legal
framework to deal with acts of Non State Armed Groups such as the LTTE and the
imperative need to address this issue.

Concluding Observations on the IHL regime in its application to Internal
Conflicts

In the light of what has been discussed above concerning the Sri Lanka experience, it
would be pertinent for the Commission to make some concluding observations on the
broader question of the application of IHL principles to internal conflicts involving non
state armed groups.

The question of NFZs in the Sri Lanka experience brings to the forefront the complexities
and challenges involved when applying IHL principles in internal conflict situations
where non state armed groups act in blatant disregard of the Principle of IHL. The laws
of armed conflict were conceived in the context of inter-state conflicts where clear
battle lines were drawn, with armies facing each other on the battlefield and where,
one’s enemy was clearly distinguishable. The civilian remained distant from the
battlefield. Traditional IHL principles and concepts such as the ‘Safe Zone concept’ were
accordingly developed in a context where the boundaries of the theatre of conflict were
well defined, and parties mutually agreed on well demarcated ‘safety’ or ‘neutralized’
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zones for the protection of civilians and which the States concerned respected in the
conduct of hostilities.

In the recent and growing phenomenon of internal conflicts involving States and non
state armed groups, the well demarcated traditional battle ground has receded to the
background. In this scenario a serious dimension emerges, where the civilian and civilian
installations including ‘Safety Zones’ merge into the theatre of conflict and are
integrated into the overall combat strategy of the non state armed groups, including the
use of civilians as human shields for the prevention of military advancement. In one of
the cruelest ironies of present times, laws meant to protect the civilian are cynically
manipulated by the non state armed groups for military advancement, to the ultimate
detriment of the civilian.>*!

In this context, it is interesting to note from the legal literature, that during the
Diplomatic Conference of 1977, which adopted Additional Protocols | and Il to the
Geneva Conventions, States, particularly those confronted with internal armed conflicts
adopted a somewhat cautious approach towards Additional Protocol Il applicable to
internal armed conflicts resulting in an instrument minimalist in nature in contrast to
Additional Protocol 1.>*

complexity involved in the application of some of these principles in an intra-state

This position could be explained, both on the basis of the legal

context, and more particularly, the political sensitivity of States, in the introduction into
the domestic domain, of a body of Principles which had emerged and traditionally
applied in the context of inter-state hostilities. Internal conflicts were generally treated
as a matter pertaining essentially to domestic law enforcement, hence the reluctance to
the formulation of an elaborate set of international legal principles relating to internal
conflicts. However, contemporary developments, as demonstrated above, require a
careful re-evaluation of these principles.

Given the rudimentary nature of the legal framework regulating internal conflicts
involving non state armed groups, issues which constantly arise in such situations such
as, the cynical disregard by the non state armed groups to the traditional protection
afforded to the civilian — e.g. integration of ‘Safety Zones’ into combat strategy and the

3 Underlining the complexities present in such situations the Legal Advisor to the US Department of State, referring to the Al
Qaeda and the killing of Osama Bin Laden has stated that “....this is a conflict with an organized terrorist enemy that does not
have conventional forces, but that plans and executes its attacks against us and our allies while hiding among civilian
populations. That behavior simultaneously makes the application of international law more difficult and more critical for the
protection of innocent civilians’. Refer http://opiniojuris.org/2011/05/19/the lawfulness of the US operation against Osama Bin

Laden
342

Additional Protocol 1 contains 80 Articles whereas Additional Protocol 11 a mere 15 Articles
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use of civilians as human shields, leave grey areas in the existing legal framework
applicable to internal conflicts involving states and non state armed groups. The
resulting position is that the civilian is placed in jeopardy when the state is compelled to
resort to counter measures to deal with the combat strategy of the non state armed
groups, such as in situations which require neutralizing military positions established
within civilian ‘Safety Zones'.

The Commission also notes in this regard that the ICRC has recently taken the initiative
of addressing these grey areas in the application of IHL principles to internal conflicts.
The “Interpretive Guidance on the Notion of Direct Participation in Hostilities under

International Humanitarian Law”3*

in addressing the issue of civilian participation in
hostilities, recognizes that recent decades have seen a significant change from the

traditional pattern where the civilians remained distant from the battlefield, and states:

‘a continuous shift of the conduct of hostilities into civilian population centres has led to an
increased intermingling of civilians with armed actors and has facilitated their involvement
in activities more closely related to military operations....all of these aspects of
contemporary warfare have given rise to confusion and uncertainty as to the distinction
between legitimate military targets and persons protected against direct attacks. These
difficulties are aggravated where armed actors do not distinguish themselves from the
civilian population, for e.g. during undercover military operations or when acting as farmers
by day and fighters by night. As a result, civilians are more likely to fall victim to erroneous
or arbitrary targeting, while armed forces — unable to properly identify their adversary — run
an increased risk of being attacked by persons they cannot distinguish from the civilian

population.”**

a) Common Article 3 to the 1949 Geneva Conventions, which is also recognized as
customary IHL, serves as a ‘minimum baseline” of applicable IHL rules concerning
the protection of the civilian. IHL requires that civilians must be protected ‘unless
and for such time as they take a direct part in hostilities’. Direct participation in
hostilities would make the civilian subject to the risk of attack, without enjoying the

343

Nils Melzer, Legal Adviser, ICRC, ICRC publication May 2009. The introduction to the publication states “The purpose of the

Interpretive Guidance is to provide recommendations concerning the interpretation of International Humanitarian Law (IHL) as

far as it relates to the notion of direct participation in hostilities. Accordingly the 10 recommendations made by the Interpretive
Guidance as well as the accompanying commentary, do not endeavour to change binding rules of customary or treaty IHL, but

reflect the ICRC's institutional position as to how existing IHL should be interpreted, in the light of circumstances prevailing in

contemporary armed conflicts.”

344

Interpretive Guidance on the Notion of Direct Participation in Hostilities under International Humanitarian Law — Nils Melzer

ICRC 2009 pp.11-12
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privileges afforded to combatants. It has been stated in this regard that, for the
duration of their direct participation in hostilities, these actors may be directly
attacked as if they were combatants.**

b) The lack of a definition of the term ‘direct participation in hostilities’ as well as the
terms ‘civilian” and ‘civilian population’ in the key IHL instruments pose a great
dilemma to States caught up in an armed conflict with an enemy who has no qualms
in using the civilian as part of its overall combat strategy. As the Sri Lanka
experience has shown, armed groups do not as a matter of strategy distinguish
themselves from civilians, conceal their identity amidst civilians, move their
weapons to civilian centres and fight in civilian clothes. Further, the involvement of
the civilian either voluntarily or under coercion in military operations of non state
armed groups or in activities related to military operations, ranging from gathering
intelligence, procuring weapons and logistical support as well as providing ancillary
services such as food and shelter, adds to the complexity of the problem and pose
difficult questions which are not susceptible to easy solutions within the existing
framework of IHL.

4.330 In addressing the uncertainty surrounding the meaning and content of the term ‘direct
participation in hostilities’ the Interpretive Guidance identifies the following three (3)
key legal questions:

Who is considered a civilian for the purposes of the principle of distinction;

What conduct amounts to ‘direct participation in hostilities’; and

What modalities govern the loss of protection against direct attack, and states that:

‘in non international armed conflicts organized armed groups constitute the armed forces
of a non state party to the conflict and consist only of individuals whose continuous
function it is to take a direct part in hostilities’ (‘continuous combat function’)

4.331 Thereafter the Guide deals with the constitutive elements of ‘Direct Participation in
Hostilities” and sets out the following cumulative criteria:

The act must be likely to adversely affect the military operations or military capacity
of a party to an armed conflict or, alternatively, to inflict death, injury, or
destruction on persons or objects protected against direct attack (threshold of
harm); and,

*> |nternational Humanitarian Law Research Initiative — Program on Humanitarian Policy and Conflict Research, Harvard

University (May 2008) page 3.
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there must be a direct causal link between the act and the harm likely to result
either from that act, or from a coordinated military operation of which that act
constitutes an integral part (direct causation); and,

the act must be specifically designed to directly cause the required threshold of
harm in support of a party to the conflict and to the detriment of another

(belligerent nexus).3*®

While the stated objective of the ICRC Guide is to provide greater clarity to the grey
areas which have arisen in the context of internal conflicts, the high threshold that has
been set such as the notion of ‘continuous combat function’; the ‘threshold of harm’;
‘direct causation’ and ‘belligerent nexus’ described above, is likely to have the effect of
excluding a range of activities where a ‘civilian’ is directly/indirectly involved in combat
related operations although they may not be in ‘continuous combat function’ as
stipulated by the Guide or meet the other threshold criteria set out above. In this sense,
the complex situation that arose in the Sri Lanka context, where the non state armed
group cynically manipulated the IHL concepts such as Safety Zones meant to protect the
civilian, for military advantage, remains unaddressed.

An issue of critical importance that must be addressed in the context of conflicts
between states and non state armed groups, is the question of declaring No Fire
Zones/Safety Zones in situations where the State is compelled to declare such Zones
unilaterally, when confronted with an intransigent armed group.

As the unprecedented Sri Lankan experience has demonstrated, where the non state
armed group has no intention whatsoever of agreeing to a negotiated declaration of
such zones providing for civilian protection and once unilaterally declared by the State,
utilize them to advance its combat strategy and operations (for example, using civilians
within the zone as human shields), the State and Field Commanders are faced with the
dilemma of protecting civilians on the one hand and neutralizing the enemy fire power
emanating from within the NFZ, on the other.

The Sri Lankan experience has in fact given rise to a debate as to whether, by unilateral
declaration of a No Fire Zone, the Government unwittingly provided the LTTE an
opportunity to consolidate itself amongst the civilian enclave for strategic purposes.

346 Interpretive Guidance on the Notion of Direct Participation in Hostilities under International Humanitarian Law — Nils Melzer
ICRC 2009
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A host of such difficult issues arise, including the question of verification of actions of
non state armed groups in relation to compliance with IHL requirements relating to the
preservation of the sanctity of No Fire Zones. The development of appropriate
standards and procedures to deal with such situations becomes an imperative need in
addressing contemporary challenges to the existing IHL regime in internal conflict
situations.

a) It is pertinent to note in this regard that Judge Richard Goldstone, who chaired the
UN Fact Finding Mission on the Gaza conflict, has recently observed: ‘ensuring that
non state actors respect these (IHL) principles and are investigated when they fail to
do is one of the most significant challenges facing the law of armed conflict. Only if
all parties to armed conflicts are held to standards, will we be able to protect
civilians who through no choice of their own are caught up in war.>*’

b) While these words echo the growing concern of the international community
regarding the contemporary realities of internal conflicts involving non state armed
groups, it is a matter of some doubt whether the law of armed conflict framed in the
post war period to address the realities of the day, could effectively make an impact
in addressing complexities which arise in present day internal conflicts, fought out
amidst the civilian population and carried out by combatants who in every aspect,
other than in their mind set, resemble the civilian.

The careful construction of a legal framework governing conflicts between States and
non state armed groups as in the case of general principles of international law
governing inter - state conflicts, taking into account all the complexities and challenges
posed by internal conflicts as described above, could provide the answer in ensuring
greater compliance with IHL principles by the non state armed groups. These complex
issues of contemporary relevance to the application of IHL must engage the immediate
attention of the international community of States and relevant international
organizations such as the UN and the ICRC, so that appropriate legal instruments are put
in place to fill the existing lacunae in IHL in its application to internal conflicts.

4.339 This is a clear lesson that could be learnt from the Sri Lanka conflict spanning 30 years

causing the tragic loss of innocent human lives. Formulating an effective legal

347

Richard Goldstone — Reconsidering the Goldstone Report on Israel and war crimes — 1 April 2011
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framework drawing from these experiences is a clear obligation that the international
community owes to all victims of conflict.
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SECTION IV
Casualties

4.340 A key gquestion that the Commission addressed in the light of the firsthand accounts
placed before it and published reports, was the scale of civilian casualties, especially
during the final phase of the conflict; January to May 2009. The Commission gave this
matter the highest priority given the conflicting nature of statements made by various
persons including media reports. The need to have an estimate of casualties was also
crucial to the mandate of the Commission in addressing the question of possible
violations of International Humanitarian Law and Human Rights Law during this period.

4.341 The Commission heard the presentations of senior officials of the Ministry of Health and
medical officers who were on site, senior military and other officials of the Ministry of
Defense, eye witnesses who were affected by the conflict, and other persons and
entities who have presented material on this subject. The Commission made a particular
effort to hear the eye witness accounts from civilians who had been in the IDP centres in
Vavuniya, as well as from those described by the authorities as hard core LTTE cadres.
The Commission heard the latter when it visited places of detention and rehabilitation
in Vavuniya and the detention facility at Boossa. In addition, the Commission examined
the video footage recorded by the UAVs of the Sri Lanka Air Force which reportedly
covered, on a real time basis, the areas of military operations and civilian movements.

4.342 The Commission also noted that a number of organizations outside Sri Lanka provided

‘rounded off’ estimates of civilian deaths in reports said to be based on ‘own sources’.

348 1349

These figures ranged from 40,000 to ‘tens of thousands’””. The Commission invited
350

some of these organizations™" to make representations regarding these figures and

related matters to facilitate its work but regrettably they have found reason not to do

351
SO. .

348 “Amnesty International says 7,000 to 40,000 are estimated to have died in the final five months as the two sides exchanged

artillery and other fire”. http://hosted2.ap.org/APDEFAULT/54828a5e8d9d48b7ba8bh94ba38a9ef22/Article 2011-03-05-
Sri%20Lanka/id-8e2ca01f23ef445986a9ca7bd91eb5eb
3% “\War Crimes in Sri Lanka” International Crisis Group, Crisis Group Asia Report No.191, 17 May 2010, Pg 5
30 Refer Annex 4.16. for letters inviting the International Crisis Group (ICG), Human Rights Watch(HRW), and Amnesty
International (Al) to make representations before the Commission

! Refer Annex 4.17 for replies to the Commission by International Crisis Group, Human Rights Watch and Amnesty
International and the response of the Commission
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It was also noted that there were media dispatches e.g. from the London Times®>>? and
the Independent®’ reporting alleged civilian death tolls of 20,000 and 40,000,
respectively. There was no specific time period provided for these figures. Other press
reports quoted an ‘internal document’ alleged to have been leaked by the UN office in
Sri Lanka®*, stating a figure of 2,683 civilian deaths for the period January to 7th March
2009, and another figure of ‘nearly 7000 civilian deaths in the No Fire Zone up to the

’35> The UN reportedly stated that
1356

end of April’ based on ‘confidential UN documents.
their figure was ‘far too questionable for official publication.

The U.S. State Department357 gave a figure of 6,710 deaths for the period Jan 20th to
April 20th 2009, stating that the source did not differentiate between civilians and LTTE
cadres. The UN Secretary General’s Panel of Experts on Accountability in Sri Lanka
estimated the figure to be both 40,000 and ‘in tens of thousands’ at different points in
the report358.

In response to press reports alleging ‘tens of thousands’ of civilians killed at that time, a
Government official was quoted as saying the range for estimated casualties was 3,000
to 5,000.%*

With a view to ascertaining the scale of the damage caused to civilian lives and property
the Commission conducted interviews with civilian officials, including Chief Secretaries,
District Secretaries and the Divisional Secretaries of the affected districts of Kilinochchi,
Mullaittivu, Mannar as well as with the senior officials of the Ministry of Health.

The representations made by other civilian officials to the Commission indicate that
they were not in a position, under the circumstances of conflict, to carry out any
assessment of civilian casualties. Consequently, no estimated or verified figures of
civilian casualties were available with them. The Ministry of Health was able to provide
the Commission with documented data of casualties based on hospital admission

352

Times.

The hidden massacre: Sri Lanka’s final offensive against Tamil Tigers” By Catherine Philip in Colombo May 29th, 2009 in The

353 ‘Up to 40,000 civilians 'died in Sri Lanka offensive', By Andrew Buncombe, Asia Correspondent, Friday, 12t February 2010 in
The Independent, and UN Statement on Former Spokesman’s Views, Office of the Resident/ Humanitarian Coordinator,
Colombo Sri Lanka, 15t February 2010.

354 ,

In Sri Lanka, UN Knows of 2,683 Civilian Killings This Year, Leaked Documents Show’ by Matthew Russell Lee of Inner City

Press at the UN, 18™ March 2009.

355

Times.
356 4

357

The hidden massacre: Sri Lanka’s final offensive against Tamil Tigers” By Catherine Philip in Colombo May 29™ 2009 in The

INTERVIEW-World may never know Sri Lanka death toll — UN” By Louis Charbonneau, Friday May 29th, 2009 (Reuters)
US State Department, Report to Congress on Incidents During the Recent Conflict in Sri Lanka 2009, pg 15.

38 Paragraph 137 and 195 respectively, in Report of the Secretary General’s Panel of Experts on Accountability in Sri Lanka, 31%
March 2011
39 «Sri Lanka says up to 5,000 civilians died in Tigers Battle”, By Julian Borger in the Guardian, Thursday 4™ June 2009
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records. Data was presented in terms of registration at medical units and hospitals
disaggregated by type of medical condition, gender and age. Records of deaths
disaggregated by cause of death and maintained by the medical units of the Ministry of
Health were made available to the Commission primarily by the Vavuniya Base Hospital
JMO unit. 1,353 deaths have been recorded as occurring post admission at the
Government hospitals in the Northern Province during the period January to June 2009
and a further 106 deaths of patients transferred to hospitals outside the conflict area®®”.
The Medico-legal examination data of the Vavuniya Base Hospital has registered a total
of 870 deaths during the same period. Of these 257 deaths have been registered as due

361

to firearm and blast injuries™". However, as medical care did not differentiate between

groups, records do not distinguish between civilians and LTTE cadres.

The MoD officials, who appeared before the Commission, stated that while data on
military and estimated LTTE deaths were available, an estimate of civilian deaths was
not available with them. They estimated LTTE deaths to be 22,247 for the period July
2006 to May 2009%°% while 4,264 have been confirmed by name for the period January
2009 to May 2009°%%. According to these submissions these LTTE cadres had perished
either in combat or in suicide action. The security forces casualties were given as 5,556
killed, 28,414 injured and 169 missing in action for the period July 2006 to May 2009,

Military officials who appeared before the Commission emphasized that the whole
strategy of the Security Forces was designed to avoid or minimize harm to civilians and
civilian property. They contended that, this strategy was carefully conceived and
executed as it would give confidence to the hundreds of thousands of people held
hostage by the LTTE, to move out of that situation into the safety of the cleared areas,
an element integral to both strategic and tactical objectives of the Government
Operation. They also maintained that measures such as the two No Fire periods
proclaimed by the Government (29" January to 1% February 2009 and 12" April to 14™
April 2009), the declaration of the non use of heavy caliber guns, combat aircraft and

3% "and the very initiative of declaring No Fire Zones

aerial weapons from 27" April 2009
or Safety Zones were manifestations of this policy. They further explained that the use
of small groups of infantry and Special Forces was a strategy adopted throughout the

military activities in the North to ensure precision where sensitive operations which

360

Calculated from Ministry of Health Database provided to the Commission, June 2011

*! Documents provided to the Commission by Ministry of Health, 7 April 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/07.04.11/01
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Source : Ministry of Defence

Government of Sri Lanka Press Release dated 27" April 2009
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could endanger civilian lives were involved. They pointed out that these measures were
implemented at considerable tactical and strategic cost to the military operation.3®

4.350 According to the material placed before the Commission by civilians, the LTTE was
violating the consecutive NFZs by amassing arms and ammunition and in particular
placing heavy weapons amongst civilians in the NFZs. These weapons were used to fire
at the Security Forces from behind civilian clusters in the No Fire Zones thus converting
the NFZ into a virtual operational base for military engagement with the security

367

forces™’. Several representations were also made that the LTTE was holding thousands

of civilians as a human shield both within and outside the NFZs>®,

4.351 Given the abuse of the sanctity of the NFZ by the LTTE, the absence of any agreed
arrangement to ensure the LTTE compliance with the intended humanitarian objectives
of the NFZs, and the fact that there was no verifiable way to ensure that the LTTE
complied with the status of the Government’s unilaterally declared NFZ arrangement, it
would be reasonable to conclude that civilian casualties must have occurred when
Security Forces returned fire at LTTE gun positions in the NFZ from which the LTTE was
firing.

4.352 There was no material placed before the Commission suggesting any policy or incident
of deliberately targeting civilian concentrations in the NFZs or elsewhere by the Security
Forces, except for three incidents described by three persons: One alluded to by an

9

LTTE inmate at the Boossa Campa'6 and two incidents of alleged Navy fire,>’° described

by civilians who appeared before the Commission.

4.353 Submissions by civilians to the Commission described how the LTTE was firing at people

who were trying to escape from the human shield situation and go across the front line

371

and the bund into the areas controlled by the Security Forces™ . There were many

accounts of the LTTE firing at civilians in order to prevent them from escaping the

36 Refer representations made by Mr. Gotabhaya Rajapaksa before the LLRC at Colombo on 17 August 2010; Lt. Gen. Jagath

Jayasuriya, Maj. Gen. Kamal Gunaratne, Maj. Gen. Shavendra Siva and Air Marshal WDRMJ Goonetilleke on og™ September
2010. Representation by a disabled soldier at Ragama on 04™ April 2011. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/04.04.11/01
*7 For extensive discussion see paragraphs 4.42 to 4.82
368 Representations before the LLRC by civilians at Kandawalai on 19" September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02;, at
Poonagary on 19" September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.10/01; at Colombo on 10" March. 2011. Transcript No.
LLRC/IS/10.03.11/01, video footage provided by Rupavahini Corporation.
369 Representations made in camera
370 Representations made by civilians at Kudathanai East on 13" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/13.11.10/01 and at
Mullaittivu on 20™ September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/20.09.10/01.

Representations made by civilians before the LLRC at Kandawalai on 19" September 2010. Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02, at Poonagary on 19™ September 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.09.2010/01, by Dr. S. Sivapalan at
Colombo on 24™ November 2010.

140



4.354

4.355

4.356

4.357

372

hostage situation created by the LTTE as part of its combat strategy. This was also

evident from the UAV footage seen by the Commission.

There was also material placed before the Commission that the LTTE had intensified
forcible recruitment of individuals including under age children, for combat duty during

d.>”® The LTTE strategy of suicide attacks on civilian targets continued

their last stan
during the last phases of the conflict as well. On oth February 2009, a female LTTE suicide
attacker who had entered the IDP reception centre at Suhandirapuram in the Mullaitivu

district posing as a civilian killed 8 and injured over 40 IDPs including children.

In the light of the above, the Commission sought to ascertain further information on the
scale and the nature of the casualties through interviews (some in camera) with eye
witnesses including those at the detention centres in Omanthai and Boossa.

A former LTTE cadre®”*, who claimed he was tasked by the LTTE to remove dead bodies,
stated that there were times he used to load 50 or more bodies into his truck. In
response to questions by the Commission, he stated that the increase in collection of
dead bodies happened during the month of May 2009. He indicated that from 1%
January 2009 to 10™ May 2009 (when he left the conflict zone) he had collected
altogether about 1,000 dead bodies. It is not clear if he was referring to civilians only or
LTTE bodies as well. A civilian who appeared before the Commission provided a figure of
200 to 350 casualties. He initially stated this was a daily count, subsequently revised his
position stating the incidents occurred about twice or thrice a week when there was
heavy fighting.>” An ‘Inquirer into sudden deaths’ who had been in the
Puthukudiyirrippu area from o9 January to o9 April when interviewed by the
Commission stated ‘in the Puthukudiyirrippu, Iranapali, Vallipunam and Thevipuram
area | have conducted more than 3,000 inquests .” He went on to state that the deaths
had been caused by shell injuries but could not conclusively identify whether the
deceased were LTTE cadres or civilians.>”®

With regard to estimating civilian deaths, civilians and the Defense Ministry officials who
appeared before the Commission submitted that towards the latter part of the

372 Representations made in camera.
373 Representations made by civilians at Neervely on 11" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/11.11.10/02, at Sittankeny on
12" November 2010.Transcript No. LLRC/FV/12.11.02/01 and by a disabled soldier at Ragama on 4" April 2011. Transcript No.
LLRC/04.04.11/01.
374 . .

Representations made in camera.
373 Representations made by a civilian at Poonagary on 19" October 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.10.10/01 and at Colombo
on 10" March 2011. LLRC/FV/10.03.1011/01

376

Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/1S/20.08.11/01
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operations the LTTE adopted a strategy of mingling with the civilians and were often
37 The MoD officials contended that it would be
extremely difficult, if not impossible, to distinguish between LTTE and civilian casualties.

seen fighting in civilian clothes.

A number of civilians and LTTE members who had witnessed the last few days of the
conflict, who appeared before the Commission confirmed the LTTE cadres’ practice of
fighting in civilian clothes®”® and the LTTE’s intensified forcible engagement of under age
children and other civilians in combat during the final phase of the conflict. Both these
points were confirmed in submissions by LTTE members®”®. Material placed before the
Commission by the military also pointed out to the long standing practice of the LTTE

accepting bodies in civilian clothes as its own cadre through the ICRC**°.

4.358 The Commission notes the following :

e The civilians who appeared before the Commission stated that there were many
civilian deaths and injuries during the final phase of operations.

e To the question posed by the Commission as to the extent of civilian casualties, the
answers were vague. People could not give numbers other than to say that there
was heavy firing from both sides. Some of the civilians gave accounts of what they
described as shells landing near them due to exchange of fire between the LTTE and
the Army.

e The civilian, LTTE and MoD submissions indicate that the LTTE cadres intentionally
located themselves among the civilians during the last months of the conflict,
particularly within the NFZs and in close proximity to some hospitals. The LTTE
cadres routinely wore civilian clothes during combat. This was evident when the
bodies of top level members of the LTTE hierarchy were identified in civilian clothes.

e A Large number of civilians, of all ages and gender, were conscripted by the LTTE to
engage in active combat or coerced to provide support services to the LTTE. This
practice gained momentum as the conflict intensified.>®*

4.359 Accordingly, the Commission has the following observations to make.

377 Representations made by a disabled soldier. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/04.04.11/01

Majority of representations made in camera show that LTTE cadres mingled with civilians during combat as well as during
the crossing towards the army lines.

379 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC. Transcript No. LLRC/IS/28.02.11/01. Representation made in camera. .
380 Maj. Gen. Shavendra Silva before the LLRC at Colombo on g™ September 2010 gave the example of Charles Antony etc.

381 Representations made before the LLRC by civilians at Vavuniya on 14" August 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.08.10/01; at
Nedunkerny on 15" August 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/15.08.10/01; at Poonagary on 19" September 2010 Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/19.09.10/02, and by a disabled soldier at Ragama on 04" April 2010. Transcript No.LLRC/1S/04.04.11/01. ;, “The
Landscape of the LTTE’s Last Redoubt, May 2009”, Michael Roberts, 7" June, http://thuppahi.wordpress.com/2011/06/07/the-
landscape-of-the-ltte%E2%80%99s-last-redoubt-may-2009/
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Based on the firsthand accounts and other material placed before it by the affected
civilians and detainees, it was clear to the Commission that despite the efforts by the

382

Security Forces to avoid harm to people™, there have been instances of exchanges

of fire over the civilian areas including NFZs causing death and injury to civilians.>®

When the NFZs were declared, the LTTE deliberately clustered the civilian population
into these zones and positioned their military hardware including long range
weapons, among the civilians. There was material to indicate that they had in fact

384

fired from among civilians™". It was also evident that the Security Forces had

returned fire.

Although the material before the Commission did not make it explicit whether the
LTTE intended to draw fire from the Security Forces when they fired from the NFZ,
and thereby cause civilian casualties in order to blame the Security Forces,
nevertheless this is a reasonable inference that could be drawn. The Security Forces
maintained that they had to return fire in order to neutralize those LTTE gun
positions and preserve the status of the NFZs (since the sole objective of the NFZ was
to create a safe area for protecting civilians) and not to provide ‘military advantage’
to the LTTE.

The representations heard by the Commission, clearly showed the complexity and
risks of unilaterally declaring an unverifiable NFZ in close proximity to the conflict
area, however laudable the intention may have been from the perspective of
protection of civilians. The Commission is of the view that this situation presents a
dichotomy that needs further study and clarification from the stand point of
humanitarian concern of protecting civilians on the one hand and the dilemma
confronting Field Commanders as to how best to approach the situation before them
in the context of an intra-state conflict, on the other. For further discussion on this
aspect see paragraphs 4.333 to 4.336.

The Commission heard no representations from civilians or LTTE cadres that the
Security Forces deliberately targeted civilians although most civilians referred to
much death and injury caused as a result of ‘shell fire’ between the Army and the

2 Representations made by 2 disabled soldiers before the LLRC at Ragama on 4" April 2011. Transcript No.
LLRC/1S/04.04.11/01.

383 Representations made before the LLRC by a civilian at Poonagary on 19" October 2010, Transcript No. LLRC/FV/19.10.10/02
and at Colombo on 10" March 2011, Transcript No. LLRC/IS/10.03.11/01. ; Mrs. Imelda Sukumar before the LLRC at Colombo on
04™ November 2010; Dr S. Sivapalan at Colombo on 24™ November. 2010; and representations made by 3 civilians at Kayts on
14™ November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01. See also Section Il of this Chapter

Representation made by a disabled soldier at Ragama on 4" April 2011, Transcript No. LLRC/FV/04.04.11/01.
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LTTE. The Commission also heard representations detailing tragic accounts of death
and injury caused due to cross fire and of humane endeavors of security personnel
risking their lives to take care of the civilian victims of this brutal conflict.

vi. The Commission considered the following three instances referred to previously385

with a view to ascertaining whether civilians had suffered harm by direct fire:

a. Anincident in which an allegation was made that civilians were compelled by
the Security Forces, to retrieve the dead body of a fallen army officer and in
the process, a group of civilians suffered death and injury, due to being
caught in the cross fire. However, the Commission was not able to verify and
confirm this account given by a person who described himself as an
‘intelligence officer of the LTTE'.

b. Two further incidents involved the Navy and both had occurred in the early
hours of the morning, stated as around 2 a.m. and 3 a.m. It appeared to the
Commission to be a case of mistaken identity by the Navy and not one of
deliberate targeting. The fact that the affected persons themselves stated
that the Navy had subsequently rescued them and provided medical care
becomes particularly relevant in this regard.

vii. However, the civilians described many instances where the LTTE was deliberately
firing at people held hostage by them when civilians attempted to flee into the ‘Army
controlled areas’. Accounts by LTTE members and civilians®® and the UAV footage
seen by the Commission confirm these instances of deliberate firing by the LTTE.

viii. The Commission noted that taking into account the large number of LTTE cadres
involved in the conflict, as against the numbers that have surrendered and LTTE
bodies identified by the military, a considerable number of LTTE cadre would have
been among any estimate of casualty figures®®’.

ix. The Commission recognizes the complex challenge faced by the Security Forces in
neutralizing a suicide cult based terrorist group seeking security behind a human
shield. It also appreciates that the priority, and indeed the natural instinct, of the

3 See paragraph 4.352.
386 . .
Representations made in camera.
B ps per MoD estimates LTTE cadre in the North was 21,500 and 4,264 bodies have been identified as LTTE, surrendered LTTE
cadres 11,700.
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Xi.

Xii.

Security Forces and other authorities was to ‘save lives rather than count bodies.”**®

The Commission however notes with regret that there is no official record or a post
conflict estimate of civilian casualties either by the civilian administrative authorities
in the area or by the defense authorities. Whilst the Security Forces had their own
casualty figures and an estimate of the LTTE casualties, the absence of authoritative
civilian casualty records, with the exception of the limited data from the Ministry of
Health, has led to widely varying figures of civilian casualty estimates by different
entities, media organizations and authorities.

The Commission is also cognizant of the fact that the United Nations Humanitarian
Agencies who had had in situ information about the casualty figures from January to
April 2009 and thereafter ‘secondary source’ information from April to May, have
indicated that whilst there must have been significant civilian casualties, it is not
possible to establish a verified figure given the difficult circumstances of the
situation, and the fact that UN representatives were not there on the ground during
the final stages.>®

The fact that there was no proper verification process, either by the civilian
administration or by the military has contributed to the unverified sweeping
generalizations, of a highly speculative nature as regards casualty figures.

It is the considered view of the Commission however, that eye witness accounts and
other material available to it indicate that considerable civilian casualties had in fact
occurred during the final phase of the conflict. This appears to be due to cross fire,
the LTTE's targeted and deliberate firing at civilians, as well as due to the dynamics
of the conflict situation, the perils of the geographical terrain, the LTTE using civilians
as human shields and the LTTEs refusal to let the hostages get out of harm’s way.

Recommendations

4.360 The Commission therefore recommends that action be taken to;

Investigate the specific instances referred to in observations at paragraphs 4.359, vi (a) and (b)

above and any reported cases of deliberate attacks on civilians. If investigations disclose the

%88 Government Press Release dated 27" April 2009 “our security forces will confine their attempts to rescuing civilians who are
held hostage and give foremost priority to saving civilians.” There was substantial material placed before the Commission by
IDPs, medical personnel as well as the military that the priority was given to saving lives and attending to injured rather than
collecting data.

389 Briefing to the Security Council on the humanitarian situation in Sri Lanka Statement by Mr. John Holmes, Under Secretary-
General for Humanitarian Affairs and Emergency Relief Coordinator, 26™ March 2009
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2)

commission of any offences, appropriate legal action should be taken to prosecute/punish the
offenders.

Conduct a professionally designed household survey covering all affected families in all parts of

the island to ascertain first-hand the scale and the circumstances of death and injury to civilians,
as well as damage to property during the period of the conflict.
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4.361

4.362

4.363

4.364

4.365

SECTION V

Channel 4 Video

In the context of dealing with humanitarian matters and IHL issues, the Commission
took into account a range of audio visual material which it considered to be relevant.
These included the video footage recorded by the UAV’s of the Sri Lanka Air Force
covering the last several weeks of the conflict, the TV footage recorded by embedded
television journalists accompanying the Security Forces during that same period, and
what has become known as the Channel 4 video aired by a British TV broadcaster
containing scenes claimed to be from a conflict zone, images of alleged summary
executions and alleged sexual violence.

The first two video footage were taken into account by the Commission in its
consideration of IHL issues and humanitarian assistance to the conflict affected areas.
The “Channel 4 Video” which has generated much discussion and controversy was also
considered by the Commission.

Although no person appearing before the Commission referred to the Channel 4 Video
or to the substance of allegations contained therein, the Commission nevertheless
considered the material relevant to its Warrant, given the gruesome nature of the
images and the fact that the video is claimed to contain scenes of alleged summary
executions of persons in captivity and of potential sexual abuse during the last stages of
the conflict.

Representatives of the Government have made public statements emphasizing that the
video consists of ‘fake images’ or staged incidents or events electronically constructed
through video data manipulation and tampering®®.

The Commission wrote to The Independent Television Network (ITN), United Kingdom
requesting a copy of the original broadcast footage and whatever other information the
Network can share with the Commission including the dates, location etc related to the
alleged incidents. This request was made in order to facilitate the Commission’s
consideration of the matter in all its aspects. The Network did not send a copy of the
original broadcast video but in its response states “the videos in question are on the

390

Secretary, Ministry of Defence, 16™ June 2011, and Minister of Mass Media & Communications, 29" July 2011
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Channel 4 News Website and we consent for you to download that footage from the

internet for the purposes of the Inquiry”>**

4.366 In the absence of a copy of the broadcast footage, the video as available in the public
internet domain was used for viewing and analysis by experts invited by the
Commission®®. The footage contains basically three segments aired by Channel 4 in
installments at different locations, i.e. a segment containing images depicting alleged
summary execution of persons in captivity; a video containing images of dead females
allegedly the subject of possible sexual assaults as well; and thirdly, scenes purported to
be from a conflict zone with images showing suffering civilians. The Commission’s views
on the protection issues and civilian hardships are contained in the Sections of the
Report dealing with Humanitarian Law Issues, Casualties and Human Rights.

4.367 Inits deliberations on the ‘Channel 4 video’, the Commission considered the following:
a. The video footage available on the Internet.

b. Various public statements made by Government spokesmen and expert views
obtained and furnished by the Government contending that the footage has
been tampered with and that the video is faked.

c. A video produced by the MoD of Sri Lanka titled ‘Lies Agreed Upon’, highlighting
contradictions and internal inconsistencies in the Channel 4 video in both
substantive as well as technical terms and implying also that the LTTE itself may
have executed the Government Security Forces personnel it was holding
prisoner.

d. Report by the UN Special Rapporteur Mr. Philip Alston>®® containing the views of
technical experts enlisted by him and a second report by his successor, Special
Rapporteur Mr. Christopher Heynsa'94 giving further expert views on the matter.
Both Rapporteurs contend that despite certain unexplained technical
ambiguities including the contradictions brought up by the Government experts,
the videos can be considered as authentic.

e. At the invitation of the Commission, an independent opinion was provided by Dr.
Chathura de Silva, Director of the Centre for Instructional Technology and Senior

1| etter dated 21% February 2011 from the ITN.

32 50 paragraph 12.
393 (http://www?2.ohchr.org/english/issues/executions/docs/TechnicalNote.doc)
39% (A/HRC/17/28-Add.1)

148



4.368

4.369

4.370

4371

4.372

Lecturer, Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University of
Moratuwa, Sri Lanka. His view is that segments (of the video) appear to have
been recorded in a natural environment but that at least some events are staged
ones and that there is much manipulation and tampering.

The Commission was cognizant of the fact that the video under reference has generated
much controversy in Sri Lanka and abroad in terms of authenticity, motive and the
gruesome nature of the alleged incidents, real or staged.

The Commission also took note of the fact that the Government and certain technical
experts have taken the view that the video footage has extensive technical and forensic
ambiguities suggesting that the alleged incidents and the video tape are fakes. Experts
commissioned by the Special Rapporteurs however take the view that these ambiguities
are not significant enough to invalidate their contention that the footage appears to be
authentic and that technical parameters like ‘file integrity must not be confused with

authenticity'395.

The Commission having gone through the available material and representations before
it, including the independent view expressed by Dr. Chathura de Silva of the University
of Moratuwa, found that there are strongly argued points supporting and opposing the
integrity of the video and the authenticity of the ‘events recorded’.

The Commission was therefore of the view that given the widely differing but strongly
argued contentions on the subject, primarily based on highly technical aspects of the
video and related forensic considerations, a further independent technical opinion
should be obtained by the Commission in order to facilitate its consideration of this
matter. This course of action was deemed necessary in view of the disturbing nature of
the images, the serious potential implications they entail both in terms of IHL and the
polarizing impact this whole question could have on the much desired reconciliation
effort here in Sri Lanka.

Accordingly, the Commission took steps to obtain a further independent opinion from
Professor E. A. Yfantis, Professor of Computer Science, of the University of Nevada, Las
Vegas, USA, and Director of the ICIS**® Laboratory. Professor Yfantis who is an expert in
the field of digital image processing with vast experience in consulting for governmental
and private sector organizations in the USA including NASA, in his report states that

395

Page 15, Technical Note of experts of UN Special Rapporteur Mr. Philip Alston,

(http://www?2.ohchr.org/english/issues/executions/docs/TechnicalNote.doc)
39 . . .
Image Processing Computer Graphics Intelligent Systems Laboratory
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4.373

4.374

‘based on mathematical analysis, blood in the 3GP videos is not real blood. It is not clear
if the blood in the 3GP scenes is water with red dye or digitally constructed or edited
video blood.” He further states that “...videographic and mathematical analysis of the
two 3GP videos show that the videos either were edited, or staged, or both” and the
report concludes that the “Careful analysis of the two 3GP videos which included both
frame by frame visual inspection as well as the robust mathematical attributes of the
video frames, has led us to the conclusion that this is a very deliberate and orchestrated

V|de0 7397 398

Dr. Chathura de Silva stated that “... video footages are not authentic in terms of
integrity of the media files and the authenticity of their content. The events shown in
these footages are staged, manipulated with special digital effects and finally trans-

coded to a mobile format to depict as being recorded through a mobile phone”3®.

The Commission, having taken account of the above has the following observations/

recommendations to make:

a. The images contained in the footage are truly gruesome and shocking,
irrespective of whether the incidents are ‘real’ or ‘staged’ ones.

b. While the Government emphatically stated that the video seeks to artificially
construct the incidents, the technical experts commissioned by the UN Special
Rapporteurs emphasise that the video provides prima facie material on possible
summary executions and sexual assault involving people who appear to be in
captivity. Both the Government as well as the Rapporteurs’ experts, however
point to several technical ambiguities in the video which remain un-clarified.

c. There are further technical issues and forensic questions brought out by
independent experts, Dr. Chathura de Silva and Prof. E. A. Yfantis that cast
significant doubts about the authenticity of the video, especially the probability
of electronic tampering, and the artificial construction of the ‘blood effect’ in the
video.

d. The non-availability of a copy of the broadcast footage has not helped in finding
conclusive clarification of such technical ambiguities.

397
398
399

Report of Prof. E. A. Yfantis, page 35 and page 104
Full reports by Prof. E. A. Yfantis and Dr. Chathura de Silva are enclosed as Annexes 4.18 and 4.19.
Dr. Chathura R. De Silva — Executive Summary
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e. The Commission finds that there are troubling technical and forensic questions

of a serious nature that cast significant doubts about the authenticity of this
video and the credibility and reliability of its content. It is also observed that
trauma evident on the bodies of victims does not appear to be consistent with
the type of weapon used and the close range at which the firing is seen to have
taken place. The Commission wishes also to note however that someone had
recorded or otherwise produced these images and the video and made it
available to the Broadcaster concerned. One expert enlisted by the Commission
observes that “the segments of the footage appear to have been recorded in a

2400

natural environment and that some of the bodies of alleged victims show ‘no

artifacts of manipulation’ either physically or by digital means*’,

The Commission regrets the fact that the Broadcaster did not respond positively
to the request made by the Commission to provide more comprehensive
information. Greater cooperation by the organization that provided to the
television stations these video images and by the Producer/Broadcaster that
aired this footage is essential to establish facts of this case.

4.375 Based on the available material and taking into account the above considerations, the

Commission wishes to recommend that the Government initiate an independent

investigation into this matter to establish the truth or otherwise of the allegations

arising from the video footage.

4.376 The Commission considers this course of action as necessary and urgent for two

reasons:

a.

Firstly, if as claimed by the informants who supplied the images and by the experts
enlisted by Messers Alston and Heyns, the footage reflects evidence of real incidents
of summary execution of persons in captivity and of possible rape victims, it would
be necessary to investigate and prosecute offenders as these are clearly illegal acts.
It is also the obligation of the Government to clear the good name and protect the
honour and professional reputation of soldiers who defended the territorial integrity
of Sri Lanka and particularly the many thousands of soldiers who perished carrying
out their combat duties cleanly and professionally against a widely condemned

400

Dr. Chathura R. De Silva — Executive Summary - “There is no evidence to determine that the scene background depicted in

the footage in general is computer generated or created in a studio environment. The segment of the footage appeared to be
recorded in a natural environment”

401

Dr. Chathura R. De Silva — Executive Summary - “Some of the bodies of alleged victims portrayed in the footage show no

artifacts of manipulation either physically or through digital special effects. However fresh blood stains in the nearby ground
showed evidences of using blood substitutes”
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terrorist group who used most inhumane tactics in combat. Offences if any, of a few
cannot be allowed to tarnish the honour of the many who upheld the finest
traditions of service.

b. Secondly, if on the other hand the footage is artificially constructed or the incidents
are staged as contended by several experts, the issue becomes even more serious
and the need to establish facts of this case, equally compelling. The Commission
shares some of the significant doubts expressed on the integrity of the video and
feels strongly that if that were to be the case, whoever constructed the video and
the organization that broadcast it should be held responsible for a serious instance
of gross disinformation. Such conduct would constitute grave damage and injustice
to the people of Sri Lanka and to those soldiers who fought professionally and
sacrificed their lives in order to save other innocent lives from the LTTE stranglehold.
Equally, it would also represent a body blow to the notion of the Freedom of
Expression. From the perspective of its Warrant, the Commission is also concerned
that such acts would seriously prejudice and place major obstacles in the way of the
ongoing efforts, both national and international, to promote and consolidate a
viable process of reconciliation, healing and reconstruction in Sri Lanka.

4.377 The Commission therefore recommends that the Government of Sri Lanka institute an
independent investigation into this issue with a view to establishing the truth or
otherwise of these allegations and take action in accordance with the laws of the land.
Equally, the Commission feels that arrangements should be made to ensure and
facilitate the confidentiality and protection of information and informants. The
Commission strongly urges all those concerned, especially the organizations that
provided the original images and the broadcasting organization, to extend fullest
cooperation by providing the necessary information to facilitate this work.
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5.1

5.2

5.3

Chapter 5 - Human Rights

Introduction

The Commission considered a number of key human rights issues arising out of the
conflict. In its consideration of these issues, it took into account the principles of human
rights law as contained in the core international human rights instruments and other
international obligations that Sri Lanka has undertaken since independence, as well as
relevant provisions of the Constitution and other laws. During the public sittings and its
field visits to conflict affected areas, a large number of representations were made
before the Commission alleging the violation of fundamental rights and freedoms of
people affected by the conflict. These include abductions, enforced or involuntary
disappearances, arbitrary detention, conscription of underage children, extrajudicial,
summary or arbitrary executions, violation of the freedom of expression, movement,
association, freedom of religion and the independence of the media etc.
Representations were also made on issues pertaining to the rights of IDPs, and other
vulnerable groups such as women, children and disabled. The Commission considers
that its recommendations on these human rights issues are critically relevant to the
process of reconciliation.

Being a party to the following seven core international human rights instruments, Sri
Lanka has given effect to the obligations under these Conventions through legislative
measures, including the Constitution as well as executive and administrative measures:

International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or
Punishment

Convention on the Rights of the Child

g. International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and
Members of Their Families

®ao oo

b

Sri Lanka therefore has constitutional and international obligations for the effective
national implementation of these core conventions both during times of peace and war,
and in the latter situation, together with applicable International Humanitarian Law. The
protection of human rights of civilians in situations of armed conflict has gained
increasing recognition in recent times (See Chapter 4 on Humanitarian Law Issues).
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5.4

5.5

5.6

Hundreds of persons who appeared before the Commission clearly articulated the
critical importance of re-dedicating ourselves to the task of promoting and protecting
human rights as a catalyst for bringing about reconciliation, lasting peace and security.
The Commission also got the clear impression that the current period, which is the
immediate aftermath of a traumatic conflict, is an opportune and a decisive moment for
this task. The Commission also notes that the concept of human rights is not an ideal
that is alien to the socio-cultural ethos of Sri Lanka, or one that belonged to a particular
part of the world, Western or other, but one deeply embedded in the core values and
ethics espoused by Buddhism and other religions practiced in Sri Lanka. As the Sri
Lankan Constitution devotes an entire chapter to the promotion and protection of
human rights, the representers pointed out that it is vital for the State, civil society and
the citizenry to do all they can to ensure the effective compliance with and the strict
observance of human rights as an integral part of the reconciliation effort under way,
aimed at preserving Sri Lanka as a multi — ethnic nation at peace with itself. In this
context, particular emphasis was placed on the State’s responsibility towards the
effective enjoyment of human rights by all communities in order that the post-conflict
rebuilding process leads to a nation unified in hearts and minds, and in equity and
justice.

The Commission fully endorses these sentiments articulated before it and urges State
institutions, civil society and citizenry of the country to exert all possible efforts towards
this end. The Commission’s observations and recommendations are derived from these
broad objectives.

There is an urgent need to assist the victims and their families to overcome the trauma
they suffered due to the conflict, and to bring the perpetrators of any human rights
violations to justice. There is also the essential need to ensure that lessons from these
past incidents be learnt in a manner that they will never be repeated again. The
Commission considers that a strong foundation should be built upon to further promote
and protect basic human rights and fundamental freedoms as a key component of the
reconciliation process, which will enhance the confidence of all people living in the
country that they could live in dignity and be treated equally before the law. The
Commission considers that its observations and recommendations, which appear below,
will serve that purpose.
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Human rights issues arising from the conflict

5.7 Alarge number of people who made representations before the Commission, especially
during its field visits to the conflict affected areas, provided disturbing accounts of the
loss of their family members, including women, children and elderly, during the conflict.
Most of these victims were ordinary citizens who lived in conflict areas under
tremendous hardships.

5.8 Further representations were also made on behalf of thousands of innocent civilians
who lived outside the conflict affected areas and who fell victim to indiscriminate bomb
attacks and other violent killings carried out by the LTTE over three decades. A detailed
account of the atrocities committed by the LTTE is annexed".

5.9 The Commission heard representations concerning allegations pertaining to a range of
human rights violations, including extrajudicial killings, abductions, arbitrary arrests and
detentions, and disappearances committed by the LTTE, and allegations concerning
human rights violations by Security Forces. There are also IDPs and other vulnerable
groups, such as women and children, who have suffered human rights violations due to
the conflict.

5.10 The Commission also heard representations by the Ministry of Defence on the emphasis
placed on familiarizing the military - Army, Navy and Air Force - on the human rights
obligations of the military forces during armed conflict. A programme in 2003 for this
purpose was started with the assistance of the Red Cross and the ICRC.?

5.11 On the overall human rights situation, which has arisen consequent to the conflict, the
Commission heard representations from several person53 that there has been an overall
erosion of values consequent to the conflict, and human rights has become a casualty.
The view was also expressed that the respect for fundamental rights was a major
feature ingrained in the religious and cultural ethos of Sri Lanka. Therefore there was a
need for these rights to be respected and observed in times of peace.

! See Annex 3.1

2 Mr. Gotabaya Rajapaksa, before the LLRC at Colombo on 17" August 2010. See also the details on human rights education
programmes for the Security Forces in Chapter 4.

® Rt. Revd. Dr. Kingsley Swamipillai, before the LLRC at Colombo on 3" November 2010; Mr. B H P S Abeywickrema, before the
LLRC at Colombo on 5™ October 2010; Mr. Mahen Dayananda of the Friday Forum, before the LLRC at Colombo on 1 October
2010; Mr. Gomin Dayasiri, before the LLRC at Colombo on 28" October 2010; Dr. Kumar Rupasinghe, before the LLRC at
Colombo on 20" October 2010
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5.12

5.13

5.14

5.15

Allegations concerning missing persons, disappearances and abductions

During the public sittings and its field visits to conflict affected areas, the Commission
was alarmed by a large number of representations made alleging the violations of
fundamental rights and freedoms of people affected by the conflict. The Commission
also heard a substantial number of allegations of abductions and disappearances by the
LTTE®. A large number of representations were made with regard to those whose
whereabouts are unknown, sometimes for years, as a result of abductions, unlawful
arrests, arbitrary detention, and involuntary disappearances.

Many persons who made representations impressed upon the Commission that
definitive action against alleged cases of disappearances as well as preventive measures
would have a significant impact on the reconciliation process. Repeated reminders were
also made during the course of representations on the fundamental need to ensure that
lessons from past experiences be learnt so as to prevent any recurrence.

Alleged disappearances and abductions

During the Commission’s visit to Ampara®, a representation was made on behalf of a
number of missing persons from the Monaragala district. In this regard, reference was
also made to the reluctance of people to come forward and make complaints about
these incidents due to fear.

According to the representations made before the Commission during its sittings in the
Batticaloa district®, there were at least 12 cases of alleged abductions by the Security
Forces or the Police. The whereabouts of the alleged victims are unknown. The
Commission also noted that some of these incidents are related to the arrest of LTTE
suspects by the Security Forces, and they are believed to be under detention. According
to the representations made in this district, at least 4 more cases of abductions by
unknown persons were also reported. An organization called the Batticaloa Peace
Committee also made a representation’ on behalf of “many thousands” of disappeared
persons. According to the representation, the victims were innocent civilians going
about their daily lives. It was claimed that despite many complaints, the whereabouts of
these disappeared persons are still unknown. A question was raised as to what the

4Transcripts Nos LLRC/FV/14.08.10/01, LLRC/FV/18.09.10/01, LLRC/FV/20.09.10/02
> Representations made by a member of the clergy before the LLRC at Ampara on 25" March 2011 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/25-

03-11/01

b see representations made in Batticaloa on 9" October 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09.10.10/01
7 Representations made by a representer of the Batticaloa Peace Committee, before the LLRC at Batticaloa on 9™ October 2010
- Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-10-10/01
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5.16

5.17

5.18

5.19

Government intended to do with regard to the cases reported in the previous
Commissions of investigation as it impacts on the reconciliation process.

Representations were made during the Commission’s sittings in the Jaffna district® on
behalf of at least 9 persons who have allegedly been abducted by unknown parties at
various times of the conflict, and their whereabouts are unknown. The number of
missing persons reported was around 12. In the same district, when making a
representation before the Commission, an individual stated :

“Another issue we are facing is a large number of persons missing and there is no
information available on their whereabouts. Parents, wives, and relatives of these people
live in anxiety and worry. Please help to resolve this human suffering.”®

Representations were made during the Commissions’ visit to the Jaffna district with
regard to two cases of abduction®® in which the family members of the victims alleged
that a person who presented himself by the name of “Major Seelan” engaged in an act
of extortion, offering them to get the victims released from the 51 Division where he
claimed that the victims were being detained. They also gave a detailed description of
the ransom demanded and handed over to “Major Seelan”. They said that an officer
from the 51 Division has informed them that there was no such person by the name of
“Major Seelan” in that Division. Pursuant to this representation and on the initiative of
the Chairman of the Commission, the Deputy Inspector-General of that area conducted
an investigation and subsequently reported that an accomplice of “Major Seelan” has
been taken into custody.

A person who made representations before the Commission at Jaffna made the
following remarks™*:

“Disappearance is far worse than death, because when a person dies, when | know that, so
and so is dead, the story ends and somehow or other we close the chapter. But when a
person has disappeared, it is an eternal suffering.”

A person who made a representation on the alleged disappearances in Kilinochchi
stated:

& See representations made in Jaffna District, including Ariyalai (11th November 2010), Neervely (11th November 2010),
Gurunagar (12th November 2010), Sittankerny (12th November 2010), Jaffna (12th November 2010), Telippalai (12th November
2010), Chavakachcheri (13th November 2010), Velanai (13th November 2010), Kayts (14th November 2010). Transcript Nos.
LLRC/FV/11.11.10-01/02, LLRC/FV/12.11.10-01/02/03, LLRC/FV/13.11.10-01/02, LLRC/FV/14.11.10/01

® Prof. Balasundaram Pillai, before the LLRC at Jaffna on 12" November 2010. Transcript No. LLRC/Fv/12.11.10/02

10 Representations made by 2 civilians before the LLRC at Telippalai on 12" November — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/12-11-10/01

M Mr. A Santhiapillai, before the LLRC at Jaffna on 12" November 2010
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“Most of us have come here with the same problem — either it is a disappearance of a
person or a missing person or someone who is in detention now. Land problem is not very
serious. That is not the main problem we are facing. Difference being the person
representing the problem being a mother, wife, father etc.”

5.20 On the same issue, another person made the following remarks™®:

“In this area, boys and girls are still missing. They have not died. There is no document to
say that they have died and we are still thinking that they are still alive. But we don’t know
where they are. Someone says that they may be living in some camps, and some say they
are with the Government. Is it true but we don’t know. Every day we read in the papers
that there is an unknown camp near the Batticaloa side and our people are being kept
there. You ask independently these people as to how many children they have lost and they
are without any information — even little information. They are expecting that their sons
and daughters will come back. Every day they are waiting for them. Please help them. Ask
them independently who are missing. With permission they can go and see these people
who are being kept at these camps. This is our grievance. We are also Sri Lankans. We are
still being neglected...”

5.21 During the Commission’s visit to Mannar, a member of the clergy making a
representation'® submitted a list of 100 persons reported to have disappeared and
observed that the actual numbers could be much more. During the same visit in Madhu,
a person who was speaking on behalf of families of missing persons®® requested to make
appropriate arrangements to let the people know whether their loved ones were alive
or dead as they were still searching for them. He mentioned the incidents where
telephone calls were received from unknown persons claiming that they could help find
the missing persons if payments are made. He stated that,

“Even during the Mass when we pray for the dead, they have doubts whether they are
dead or alive. Therefore, our urgent appeal to you is to help our people by finding the
whereabouts of those who are still missing and to inform whether they are still alive or
dead.”

12 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kilinochchi on 18" September 2010 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/18-09-
10/01

13 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Kilinochchi on 18" September 2010 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/18-09-
10/01

1 Representations made by a member of the clergy before the LLRC at Mannar on gt January 2011 - Transcript No.
LLRC/FV/08-01-11/01

1 Representations made by a member of the clergy before the LLRC at Madhu on ot January 2011 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-
01-11/01
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5.22

5.23

5.24

5.25

5.26

During the Commission’s visit to Madhu®, representations were made on behalf of 13
missing persons.

A person made representations on behalf of a ‘society of parents for kidnapped or

117

disappeared persons in Trincomalee’™" with 74 members whose loved ones are still

missing. He stated that,

“Even if they have done any offence, allow us to go and meet them and to speak to them.

We have full confidence and trust in the Commission. We have come here now, as we have
nowhere to go. Whatever happened to us we are not frightened because we have lost
everything. Before this Commission, we can ask for some relief.”

During the Commission’s visit to Muttur'®, representations were made on behalf of at
least 17 people who are reportedly missing due to abductions and arrests made by
unknown parties, the Security Forces or Police. Their whereabouts are unknown.
Similarly, during its visit to Vavuniya, including Chuttikulam, Menik Farm, and
Nedunkernylg, representations were made on behalf of at least 7 people who are
missing due to abductions and arrests allegedly made by unknown parties, the security
forces, or the police.

LTTE abductions

According to the representations made a substantial number of cases of abductions
involving the LTTE were reported during the Commission’s visits to Batticaloa®®, Jaffna®’,
and Muttur? .

People who have voluntarily surrendered

During the Commission’s sittings in conflict affected areas, a number of representations
were made concerning people who have voluntarily surrendered to the Security Forces
during the final stage of the conflict in response to the Government’s public appeal for
such surrender?®. Many stated that their efforts to trace these people at various places

6 see representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Madhu on 9t January 2011 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-01-11/01
v Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Trincomalee on 13" December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/03-12-

10/01

B see representations made in Muttur on 4™ December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/04-12-10/01

¥ see representations made in Vavuniya on 14" August 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/14-08-10/01

P see representations made in Batticaloa on 9" October 2010 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-10-10/01

2 see representations made in the Jaffna District on 11" — 14™ November 2010. Transcript Nos. LLRC/FV/11.11.10-01/02,
LLRC/FV/12.11.10-01/02/03, LLRC/FV/13.11.10-01/02, LLRC/FV/14.11.10-01/02

2 see representations made in Muttur on 4™ December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/04-12-10/01

2 Eor example, see representations made in camera at Boossa on 30" December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/CS/30-12-10/01
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5.27

5.28

5.29

of detention proved unsuccessful. (For details see paragraphs 4.242 to 4.260 in
Humanitarian Law Issues - Chapter 4).

Alleged “White van” abductions

With regard to the allegations concerning so-called “white van abductions”, during the
Commission’s visits in the Jaffna district?®, 6 such allegations of “white van” abductions
were reported. Representations were made during the Commission’s visit to Batticaloa®
with regard to several cases of abductions involving the use of so-called “white vans”.
During its visit to the Madhu area®®, the Commission was informed that two persons
have been abducted in “white vans”. In Muttur®’, there were representations on behalf
of at least 3 persons who had been abducted involving “white vans” (See paragraphs
5.66 to 5.78 on lllegal Armed Groups for further details).

Clergy

A number of representations?® were made with regard to clergy in all religious faiths
who have allegedly been killed or found missing during the conflict, including the cold-
blooded murder of Buddhist monks at Arantalawa and Anuradhapura carried out by the
LTTE.

The Commission having listened to hundreds of persons during its field visits to conflict
affected areas as well as in Colombo, giving disturbing accounts of the family members
whose whereabouts remain unknown, felt that the most cogent summary description of
this concern was articulated by the organization “Mothers and Friends of Missing

Persons in Batticaloa”?’

which outlined in detail the extent and the depth of suffering of
the family members due to such disappearances of their loved ones. They requested the
establishment of a mechanism exclusively devoted to addressing the issue of

involuntary disappearances. In that regard, a representative of the organization stated :

“1 think this is probably in our lifetime the best Commission that we have ever seen who has
really come to districts, interacted with the people ... so we know that something is really,
really happening ... what we request you is to recommend to the President to appoint a

2 See representations made in the Jaffna District on 11" - 14™ November 2010. Transcript Nos. LLRC/FV/11.11.10-01/02,
LLRC/FV/12.11.10-01/02/03, LLRC/FV/13.11.10-01/02, LLRC/FV/14.11.10-01/02

5 see representations made in Batticaloa on 9" October 2010 — Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-10-10/01

% see representations made in Madhu on gt January 2011 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/09-01-11/01

7 see representations made in Muttur on 4™ December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/FV/04-12-10/01

% See representations made by His Eminence Cardinal Malcolm Ranjith before the LLRC at Colombo on 03™ November, 2010;
Mr. Austin Fernando before the LLRC at Colombo on 18" August 2010; Mr. D. Ahangamaarachchi before the LLRC at Colombo
03" January 2011; Mr. Tassie Seneviratne before the LLRC at Colombo on 24" January 2010.

» Spokeswoman for the Group of Mothers and Friends before the LLRC at Colombo on 20" January 2011
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Special Commission to get into the disappearances more deeply because each story needs a
lot of time. You just can’t get those facts within five minutes. You need very deeper
attentive listening, so that is the process. This Special Commission should listen deeply to
each story, verify facts through a process of inquiry and investigation, establish
responsibility, verify the truth, analyze the root causes, and share the lessons learned to
make necessary changes in the legal system.”

5.30 A number of parents who appeared before the Commission stated that their children
were fighting cadres of the LTTE and other illegal armed groups, and the whereabouts of
them are not known. These parents requested the Commission’s assistance to find
them.

5.31 Among the many disturbing allegations concerning missing persons submitted to the
Commission by the general public, especially during its visits to conflict-affected areas,
the case of Mr. Razik Pattani in Puttlam® is referred to here on account of the
Commission's own disappointing experience concerning that case. It highlights the
deplorable absence of conclusive law enforcement action, despite the Commission itself
bringing this case to the attention of the concerned authorities of the area. Mr. Razik’s
body was reportedly discovered while the Commission was writing its report. Timely
action could probably have saved this life.

5.32 Mr. Razik who had been an official of an NGO providing assistance to the IDPs in
Puttalam was abducted allegedly due to the fact that he had questioned the manner in
which some of the expenditures have been incurred by the NGO as well as the purchase
of some properties under the names of some of its directors. When inquires were made
from the relevant Deputy Inspector-General of Police in the area as to why there was a
delay in arresting the alleged abductor following a court order, he has reportedly said
that the police was not aware of the suspect’s whereabouts and if the people know
where he was, let the police know so that they could arrest him. It was alleged in this
regard that the suspect evaded arrest due to his “political connections”. If this is
established, it must be mentioned that such an attitude would completely erode the
public confidence, in particular in the Police, and make the maintenance of law and
order much more difficult. The Commission is equally concerned that undue political
interference has also contributed to the lapses on the part of the Police.

5.33 There were strong concerns among members of public who made representations that
criminal investigations, law enforcement, and the police administration have been

30 Representations made by a civilian before the LLRC at Puttalam on 7t January 2011 - LLRC/FV/07-01-11/01
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5.34

5.35

5.36

adversely affected due to political interference resulting in an erosion of confidence in
the criminal justice system.

Note: Please see Annex-5.1 containing the Tables 1-8 for a statistical analysis of the representations made
before the Commission in writing with regard to alleged cases of missing persons, which do not
necessarily include the information provided by individuals and organizations by way of oral
representations made before the Commission, which are reproduced in the relevant transcripts. In certain
cases, representations included more than one case.

Observations/Recommendations

During the public sittings and its field visits, including to the conflict affected areas, the
Commission was alarmed by a large number of representations made alleging
abductions, enforced or involuntary disappearances, and arbitrary detention. In many
instances, it was revealed that formal complaints have been made to police stations, the
Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka and the ICRC. In some cases, submissions had
also been made to the previous Commissions of investigation. Yet, the next of kin
continue to complain that the whereabouts of many of those missing persons are still
unknown. The Government therefore is duty bound to direct the law enforcement
authorities to take immediate steps to ensure that these allegations are properly
investigated into and perpetrators brought to justice.

The Commission emphasizes that it is the responsibility of the State to ensure the
security and safety of any person who is taken into custody by governmental authorities
through surrender or an arrest.

A comprehensive approach to address the issue of missing persons should be found as a
matter of urgency as it would otherwise present a serious obstacle to any inclusive and
long term process of reconciliation. It is noted that given the past incidents of
disappearances from different parts of the country and investigative efforts thereon, the
past Commissions have recommended, inter alia, a special mechanism to address this
issue and deter future occurrences’. These recommendations warrant immediate
implementation, as these will help address this serious issue, which has arisen in the
human rights context and left unimplemented by successive Governments. Continued
failure to give effect to such critical recommendations of past commissions gives rise to

*! Final Report of the Commission of Inquiry into Involuntary Removal and Disappearance of Certain Persons (All Island),
Volume-1, March 2001 (Sessional Paper No 1-2001)
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5.37

5.38

5.39

5.40

understandable criticism and skepticismg’2 regarding Government appointed
Commissions from which the LLRC has not been spared.

The Commission also emphasizes that the relatives of missing persons shall have the
right to know the whereabouts of their loved ones. They also have the right to know the
truth about what happened to such persons, and to bring the matter to closure.
Reconciliation is a process. Closure is the first difficult emotive step in that long and
complex journey irrespective of whether they are victims of conflict or victims of LTTE
terrorism. This will also enable them to seek appropriate legal remedies including
compensation.

All efforts should be made by the law enforcement authorities, in cooperation with
relevant agencies, especially the ICRC, to trace the whereabouts of the missing persons
and ensure reunification with their families. The families should be kept informed of the
progress being made in that regard.

The issuance of death certificates and monetary recompense where necessary should be
addressed as a matter of priority, taking into account applicable international standards.
In this regard, the Commission notes the recent amendment to the Registration of
Deaths Act®*, which provides for the next of kin to apply for a Certificate of Death in
respect for a person who is reported missing and not been heard of for a period
exceeding one year by those who would naturally have heard of him/her, and his/her
disappearance is attributable to any terrorist or subversive activity or civil commotion
which has taken place in Sri Lanka. All measures necessary for the effective
implementation of this law must be taken at the administrative level within a published
timeframe. In particular, adequate publicity should be given to the relevant provisions of
this Act through the media, Grama Niladharis etc., especially in the conflict affected
areas, in order to facilitate access to the procedures and remedies provided under this
Act.

The Commission heard a number of allegations concerning persons taken into custody
without any official record. The Commission therefore recommends that applicable legal
provisions should be adhered to by the law enforcement authorities when taking
persons into their custody, such as issuing of a formal receipt regarding the arrest and
providing details of the place of detention. Such persons should be detained only at

2 For example, see the report published by the Law and Society Trust titled “A Legacy to Remember: Sri Lanka’s Commissions
of Inquiry”
3 Registration of Deaths (Temporary Provisions) Act No 19 of 2010
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formal places of detention declared under the law. Adequate publicity should be given
to such authorized places of detention, with access to next of kin.

5.41 In keeping with the obligations Sri Lanka has undertaken in applicable international
human rights instruments, and in accordance with the requirements of its national laws,
the following measures should be taken:

a. An arrested person should be promptly produced before a Magistrate to be dealt
with in accordance with the law.

b. Any change of the place of detention should be promptly notified to the family of
the arrested person34 and the Human Rights Commission of Sri Lanka.

c. Magistrates should visit the places of detention every month.
Release from detention should be done through courts.

5.42 The failure or refusal by the police to record an arrest, detention and transfer or to
record complaints of abductions and failure to investigate the same would constitute a
criminal offence and steps should be taken to prosecute such wrongdoers.

5.43 The Commission also heard allegations that a number of persons have been taken into
custody and detained under the Emergency Regulations although the facts of some
cases do not disclose any offence related to public security. In this regard, the
Commission takes note of the Government’s decision to lift the Emergency Regulations
as a significant and a positive step towards reconciliation and restoration of normalcy.
Many representations made before the Commission gave a clear impression that with
the ending of the LTTE terrorism, the people’s preference was that the governance be
carried out under the normal laws of the land that will uphold the supremacy of the Rule
of Law. The Commission also expresses the hope that the civilian life will receive the
fullest benefit of the lifting of the Emergency Regulations and that any further
regulations would not impair the full enjoyment of such benefits.

5.44 The Commission has observed instances of persons being detained in custody for a long
period of time under the Prevention of Terrorism Act (PTA). In this regard, the
Commission recommends that an Independent Advisory Committee be appointed to
monitor and examine detention and arrest of persons taken into custody under any
regulations made under the Public Security Ordinance or the PTA.

3* Also see the Interim Recommendations of the LLRC at Annex 1.5.
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5.47

5.48

5.49

The families need to be assisted to deal with the trauma of not knowing the
whereabouts of their family members, in some cases for years. They could also be
assisted financially in situations where the missing persons had been the breadwinners.
Legal aid should also be provided as and when necessary.

In order to address this issue comprehensively and to eliminate this phenomenon in the
future as well as to fill an existing lacuna, the Commission strongly recommends that
domestic legislation be framed to specifically criminalize enforced or involuntary
disappearances.

There is also a fundamental need to ensure that lessons from these past incidents be
learnt in a manner that they will never be repeated again. In this regard, the
Commission also stresses the need for comprehensive, island wide human rights
education programmes targeting the school children, youth, members of the Security
Forces, and the Police.

Given the complexity and magnitude of the problem and considering the number of
persons alleged to have disappeared, and the time consuming nature of the
investigations involved, the Commission recommends that a Special Commissioner of
Investigation be appointed to investigate alleged disappearances and provide material
to the Attorney General to initiate criminal proceedings as appropriate. The Office of the
Commissioner should be provided with experienced investigators to collect and process
information necessary for investigations and prosecutions. This mechanism should also
devise a centralized system of data collection at the national level, integrating all
information with regard to missing persons currently being maintained by different
agencies.

Treatment of detainees

According to the Commissioner General of Rehabilitation®, the Commission
understands that there were 11,954 former LTTE combatants undergoing rehabilitation
after they surrendered or who were otherwise taken into custody. It has also been
informed that as of 26" September 2011, a total number of 8,240 of those former
combatants have already been rehabilitated and left the rehabilitation centers. There
are 2,727 former combatants still undergoing rehabilitation and are expected to be
released in the future on the completion of the programme.

» Report received from the Commissioner General for Rehabilitation dated 27" September 2011
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5.53

5.54

The Commission visited several rehabilitation centers and was impressed by the
professional and caring manner in which the programmes are being conducted. The
goodwill and confidence generated and the vocational capacity building resulting from
these programmes will certainly contribute towards reconciliation.

The Commission also visited a number of places of detention and had discussions with
inmates as well as relevant officials. Among the representations made by the detainees
at the Boossa Detention Center where hardcore LTTE suspects have been detained,
were those narrated by several young inmates of the circumstances under which they
were forcibly conscripted by the LTTE, their attempts to escape from the LTTE’s clutches
and how they were re-recruited. They have spent long periods in detention without
charges being preferred and consequently their educational prospects have been
severely affected. This matter has already been dealt with under the Interim
Recommendations of the Commission where it recommended that a special mechanism
be created to examine such cases on a case by case basis and recommend a course of
action in regard to disposal of each case, as appropriate.

One detainee>® stated that he did not join the movement with a “clear mind” at the age
of 15 and escaped after five months of training. He was subsequently arrested by the
LTTE and sent to the Forward Defence Lines in the Wanni and Mannar. He had sustained
injury due to an attack in Mannar, and as a result, was subsequently able to leave the
movement and surrendered to the Security Forces during the final stage of the conflict.
He expressed his desire to enhance his skills in handicraft and be released at an early
stage.

Another detainee®’ stated that he was forcibly recruited by the LTTE at the age of 17
and was given training in throwing hand grenades. When he escaped, the LTTE arrested
and assaulted him. When he escaped for the second time, the LTTE arrested him again
and sent him to the FDL where he sustained injury. After 6 days in hospital, the LTTE had
put him in jail from where he escaped, and subsequently surrendered to the Security
Forces during the final stages of the conflict.

Yet another detainee® stated that he was forcibly recruited by the LTTE while he was
studying for his A/L examination and given training on handling a AK 47, and sent to the

*® An ex-LTTE combatant making representations in camera at Boossa on 30™ December 2010 - Transcript No. LLRC/CS/30-12-

10/01
7 Ibid
* Ibid
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FDL. He escaped the movement and was subsequently arrested by the LTTE and jailed,
and sent to the frontline. He later surrendered to the Security Forces.

5.55 During the Commission’s field visits in the conflict affected areas, it was noted that most
of the representations on the issue of detainees focused on:

a. The whereabouts of the detainees, especially those who have surrendered
voluntarily:

According to the representations made before the Commission during its visits in the
Batticaloa district®’, there had been at least 5 cases of alleged arrests by the armed
forces/police and in most of these cases the whereabouts of the detainees are
unknown. In this regard, it was claimed that there were 4 cases of arrests (LTTE
suspects) by the armed forces at the Omanthai checkpoint during the final days of the
conflict. Some of those who made representations expressed the desire to know the
detention centre in which these detainees have been placed.

b. The difficulty of getting definitive information for the family members with regard to
the place of detention of the detainees, especially when they have to travel very far:

During the Commission’s visit to the Jaffna district*’, a woman making representations
stated that her husband and son were believed to be at the Boossa Detention Centre,
and having visited the center all the way from Jaffna, she was not allowed to see them
and was told outside the camp that both her son’s and the husband’s names were
in the list of detainees. Her 21 year old daughter is still to be traced since 11" April
20009.

During the Commission’s visit to Kandawalai*!, a representation was made by a woman
who informed the difficulties 